FEDERAL STATE BUDGETARY INSTITUTION OF SCIENCE N.P. BECHETEREVA INSTITUTE OF THE HUMAN BRAIN RUSSIAN ACADEMY OF SCIENCES

manuscript copyright

CHEREDNICHENKO DENIS VLADIMIROVICH

MODERN TECHNOLOGIES OF MEDICAL AND BIOLOGICAL CONTROL OF THE PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGICAL STATE OF ATHLETES

3.1.33 – rehabilitation medicine, sports medicine, therapeutic exercise, resortology and physiotherapy, medical and social rehabilitation

DISSERTATION

submitted in conformity with the requirements for the degree of doctor of medical sciences

Translation from Russian

Scientific consultants: Doctor of medical sciences, Professor Didur Mikhail Dmitrievich

> Doctor of biological sciences Kireev Maksim Vladimirovich

Saint-Petersburg

2024

Table of contents

INTRODUCTION	6
CHAPTER 1 LITERATURE REVIEW	. 29
1.1. Main trends in the development of scientific studies in the field of sports	
medicine	. 29
1.2. General issues of terminology and structuring of the technologies for medical	
and medico-biological monitoring of the functional condition as applicable to	21
1.2. A solution the efficience of design tific collidity of medical mentions	. 31
technologies of the sportsmen's functional condition	38
1.4 Human brain control functions in context of medico-biologic monitoring of th	
sports activities	47
1.5. Inhibitory control mechansms in the healthy human brain	52
1.6. Changes in the human brain control functions in generalized anxiety disorder.	. 57
1.7. The Go/NoGo functional test in the studies of inhibitory control in sportsmen	. 62
CHAPTER 2. METHODS OF THE STUDY	. 66
2.1. General characteristics of the study	. 66
2.2. Psychodiagnostic investigation of highly qualified sportsmen	. 69
2.3. Psychophysiological investigations of human using the method of functional	
magnetic resonance tomography	. 74
2.3.1. The study of functional patterns of the human brain nonselective inhibitin control system associated with generalized anxiety disorder when controlling	ıg
actions under conditions of the two-stimulus Go/NoGo test	. 74
2.3.1.1. Healthy subjects and patients with generalized anxiety disorder	. 74
2.3.1.2. The fMRI test task under conditions of two-stimulus Go/NoGo test	. /4
2.3.1.3. Specifications of data recording using functional magnetic resonance tomography	76
2.3.1.4. Preliminary preparation and statistical analysis of fMRI data recorded under conditions of the activation investigation using the two-stimulus Go/NoGo test.	1 76
2.4. A series of studies for selecting regions of interest in order to analyze function connectivity of the human brain in the rest condition basing on fMRI data in health subjects and patients with GAD	nal ny 82
2.4.1. Study of changes in the human brain functional connectivity in the rest condition associated with social intelligence level	82
-	

2.4.1.1. Recording fMRI data in the operational rest condition when analyzing the association between the social intelligence level and human brain functional
connectivity
2.4.1.2. Preliminary fMRI data processing and statistical analysis in the operational rest condition when analyzing the association between the social intelligence level and human brain functional connectivity
2.4.2. fMRI investigation of the local activity and modulated human brain
functional connectivity in social interactions under conditions of the Taylor test
task
2.4.2.1. The test task of the fMRI investigation for social interactions under conditions of Taylor aggression paradigm
2.4.2.2. Statistical analysis of fMRI data obtained in the studies aimed at
revealing the elements of brain systems providing for socially significant
information processing under conditions of the Taylor test task
2.4.3. fMRT investigation for revealing the elements of the brain system providing for executive control processes performed under conditions of resolving lexical ambiguousness in healthy subjects
2431 The test task aimed at revealing the elements of the brain systems
providing for executive control processes using the model for studying lexical
ambiguousness resolution processes as a sing the model for studying textear 93
2.4.3.2 Statistical analysis of fMRI data obtained in the investigation aimed at revealing the elements of the brain systems providing for executive control processes, using the model for studying lexical ambiguousness resolution processes
2.5. Analysis of the human brain functional connectivity in the operational rest
condition using the regions of interest revealed at previous study stages within the
limits of a clinical model of GAD-associated changes in the brain provision of control functions
2.5.1. Statistical processing of fMRI data obtained in the operational rest condition
CHAPTER 3 RESULTS OF OWN STUDIES. PSYCHOLOGICAL INVESTIGATION
OF HIGHLY QUALIFIED SPORTSMEN
3.1. Results of psychological investigations of women gymnasts
3.1.1. Personal characteristics of investigated women gymnasts 102
3.1.2. Investigation results of psychological defenses and coping-strategies in
women gymnasts 106

3.1.3. The emotional burnout parameters and peculiarities in quality of life self- assessment in highly qualified representatives of precise sports
3.1.4. The correlation analysis results of the women gymnasts' psychological status
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS OF OWN STUDIES. PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGICAL
INVESTIGATIONS OF HEALTHY VOLUNTEERS AND PATIENTS WITH
GENERALIZED ANXIETY DISORDER
4.1. Revealing the elements of the brain nonselective inhibitory control system in patients with generalized anxiety disorder
4.1.1. Behavioral data of the Go/NoGo test task in patients with GAD and healthy subjects
4.1.2. Analysis results of fMRI data obtained when fulfilling the Go/NoGo test in
patients with anxiety disorder as compared to the norm: analysis of changes in
local activities and functional connectivity
4.1.3. The NSIC elements revealed in patients with generalized anxiety disorder when fulfilling the Go/NoGo test
4.1.4. The relationship between the human brain activity during fulfillment of the Go/NoGo test in patients with generalized anxiety disorder and their behavioral,
psychodiagnostic data and autonomic nervous system activity parameters 132
4.2. The results of the study series involving healthy subjects for selection of human brain structures associated with socially significant information processing and
executive control of cognitive activities
4.2.1. The human brain structures associated with provision of behavior under conditions of social interactions
4.2.1.1. The social intelligence level and human brain functional connectivity pattern in the operational rest condition
4.2.1.2. Revealing the human brain structures associated with provision of social interactions under conditions of Taylor test task
4.2.2. Human brain structures associated with provision of executive control
processes during cognitive activity under conditions of ambiguous speech stimulus
processing
4.2.2.1. The results of fMRI investigations of human executive control processes
during cognitive activity under conditions of ambiguous speech stimulus
processing
4.3. The intergroup analysis results of functional connectivity in healthy subjects and
patients with generalized anxiety disorder in the operational rest condition

4

4.3.1. GAD-associated changes in the human brain functional connectivity
between the elements of the brain nonselective inhibitory control system in the
operational rest condition159
4.3.2. GAD-associated changes in the human brain functional connectivity
between the elements of the system providing for socially significant information
processing associated with social intelligence164
4.3.3. GAD-associated changes in the human brain functional connectivity
between the elements of the brain executive control provision systems of cognitive
activity in the operational rest condition167
4.3.4. GAD-associated changes in human brain functional connectivity in the
operational rest condition between regions of interest covering the whole brain 173
4.4. Individual diagnostics of functional condition of the brain structures providing
for control functions using rest fMRI data in healthy subjects and patients with
generalized anxiety disorder
SUMMARY
CONCLUSIONS
Practical recommendations
REFERENCES

INTRODUCTION

Rationale of the study topic

"The Procedure for Healthcare Delivery to Persons Doing Gymnastics and Going in for Sports" (Procedure) is the base for organization and delivery of healthcare to sportsmen in the recent years and especially after adoption of the Federal Law No. 323-FZ dated 21.11.2011 "On Fundamental Healthcare Principles in the Russian Federation". [3, 10]. Many researchers and specialists in practice sports medicine note that in the current Procedure the interrelation between evidence-based methods for assessment of the somatic health (sportsman's physical condition) has absolute imbalance in favor of parameters of sportsman's physical working capacity and somatic health (physical qualities) as compared to evaluation of psychic functions and psychological condition. [407, 464, 488]. At the same time, the Procedure accumulates modern expert concepts of priority importance and validity of certain technologies for monitoring of the sportsman's physical condition and his somatic health but the content of the psychological control (psychological condition monitoring) and the necessity to perform it are mentioned only in the group of highly qualified sportsmen and are not described at all both regarding to monitoring procedures and applicably to other sportsmen groups with other qualification level. Urgency of the legal and methodical harmonization of procedures for diagnostics and correction of changed functions, when organizing the medical and biological followup of sportsmen, is emphasized by many researchers [455, 459].

The modern development strategy of sports medicine (SM) determines multidisciplinary nature and scientific validity of basic measures for medico-sanitary, medico-biological and medical provision of the sports activity. Such approach includes obtaining and introduction of urgent scientific achievements in the field of medicine and related sciences (psychology of sports activities, neurophysiology and psychophysiology) [443, 504]. But most specialists acknowledge the fact of significant deficit of evidence-based procedures for psychophysiological investigation of sportsmen. [396, 439].

Urgency of studies in this area is confirmed by recent state decisions concerning introduction of new scientific specialties (5.12.2 – Interdisciplinary studies of brain)

which should provide for accumulation of the scientific data on "study, diagnostics and correction of cerebral cognitive function disorders in acute and chronic stress", what is especially urgent for sports medicine. The development of electrophysiological methods for studying the brain and cognitive functions is stated as one of priority fields for the new group of scientific specialties ¹.

Thus, there exists a state requirement to solve an important scientific and practical problem of performing fundamental studies in the field of the sportsman's psychophysiological and cognitive activities ².

The degree of scientific development of the research topic

It is a generally recognized opinion that there exists the influence of the sportsman's psychological condition and specific features of the cognitive functions on implementation of the sports activities. The known results of psychological studies show that relatively more high-level sportsmen leave behind less accomplished sportsmen regarding the results of sports-specific psychological test tasks requiring the use of sports skills, [199] e.g., tests associated with episodic time or spatial elimination of a video clip presented visually with a task to prognosticate further movement of a rival or a gymnastic apparatus. [123]. The similar comparative studies of basic cognitive functions show that while the higher class of a sportsman is characterized by better levels of inhibitory control processes and cognitive flexibility parameters, other processes associated with the working memory, attention and metacognitive assessment, as a rule, do not exhibit such difference between sportsmen of different level [77, 121]. The results of recent metaanalytical research of respective psychological studies [257, 314], are evidence of the fact that the test tasks aimed at assessment of decision-making processes allow to differentiate better the highly and relatively less accomplished sportsmen than the parameters of psychological tests for general cognitive functions (including those associated with executive control processes). But it is stated that insufficient number of such psychological studies does not allow to establish reliably the cause-effect relationship

¹ https://vak.minobrnauki.gov.ru/searching#tab=_tab:materials~

² Decree of the Government of the Russian Federation No. 3081-r dated November 24, 2020 "Strategy for Development of Physical Culture and Sports in the Russian Federation for the Period till 2030"

between such behavioral parameters of psychological tests and the efficiency of implementation of the sports activities [314]. Taking this into account and also considering the variability of psychological data observed in different studies, at present an opinion dominates in many reports that it is early to introduce the existing psychological testing approaches into the monitoring practice of sportsmen's cognitive functions which could be used as reliable efficiency and productivity predictors of the sports activities.

Neurophysiological studies, which use the levels of total electrical activity of the brain as objective parameters in the comparative analysis of sportsmen having different levels of mastery, report also the high variability of experimental data and its insufficient volume for establishing the cause-effect relationships with sports productivity. It is considered that the higher the sportsman's professional level is, the more effective the brain functioning is in the process of activities provision what is reflected in lowered latency and increased amplitude of components of event-related potential (ERP), e.g. recorded when performing the Go/NoGo task [200, 205, 486]. A similar effect of training level also is often observed in the frequency EEG analysis, in which sportsmen, who are more effective from viewpoint of sports actions, are characterized by high values of theta and alpha rhythm power with lowered values of EEG beta rhythm. However in the literature there are not rare reports also about opposite directions of these effects [239]. The contradictory nature of change direction in the total electrical activity of the brain is observed also when analyzing EEG coherence: some studies demonstrate increased coherence values in highly accomplished sportsmen and other studies vice versa reveal its lowering [336].

So, similar to results of psychological studies, the pattern of experimental effects of the EEG activity looks contradictory what prevents the establishment of a specific relationship between certain EEG activity parameters and productivity of the sports activities.

The comparable nature of experimental data is observed also in the studies using the tomographic neurovisualization methods which are applied mainly for: 1) structural MR neurovisualization of the training level effect of characteristics of the cerebral gray matter,

2) for comparative fMRI investigations of sportsmen having different level of sports mastery and productivity. The studies within the first area report gray matter restructuring in the human brain associated both with long trainings [230, 283], and short-term effects of the training process [153]. And the higher individual learnability parameter values are during such trainings in sportsmen, the more pronounced cerebral structure changes are, which are associated with provision of the respective motor activity [106]. Researchers report, as a rule, direct relationship between the gray matter volume in the human cerebral structures, which are important for provision of the motor activity types which are associated specifically with the sport under study. They include: cerebellum [35, 133], somatosensory cortex and supplementary motor area [284], hippocampus [269] etc. At the same time, the functional activity level recorded in fMRI investigations demonstrates vice versa the opposite relationship: its high values are observed in sport beginners as compared to more experienced sportsmen [158]. But such type of the relationship is seen not in all fMRI investigations. Some links in the neuronal fronto-parietal action perception system (so-called action observation network [302]), e.g. the posterior insula region, are more active in sportsmen of the higher level as compared with less experienced sportsmen [30]. The structures of the ventral and dorsal information processing paths manifest themselves differently. So, the highly accomplished elite sportsmen are characterized by the increased activity level in the brain regions involved in the dorsal path, including the structures of the occipital cortex, temporoparietal junction [19]. But the effect of increased activity in relatively less accomplished sportsmen is reported for the brain structures included in the ventral information processing path in the inferior frontal gyrus, ventral prefrontal cortex, primary motor cortex, etc.

In accordance with the above data, other fMRI investigations found that the higher the expertness level in the motor activity was, the higher activity level was in the structures of the motor and premotor cortex in the human brain [63, 339]. According to fMRI findings, functional interactions of the brain structures in the condition of operational rest demonstrate a similar nature of the dependence on productivity level of highly qualified sportsmen: the swimmers being at the top rating positions have the higher level of thalamocortical functional connectivity with the somatosensory cortex [266, 297]. The similar dependence on the professional level of sport fitness and productivity is demonstrated by the functional connectivity between the links of the neuronal system providing for the central autonomic regulation.

Notwithstanding the certain efficiency of tomographic neurovisualization methods, when they are used to determine the structural and functional characteristics of some brain structures, which are important for productivity of the sports activities, small number of such studies does not allow to state possible prognostic signs of the registered brain activity, which could evidence the potential risk of lowered efficiency of the sports activities.

important defects in the One of the most above psychological and neurophysiological studies consists in uncertainty of the cause-effect relationships between the revealed changes in the course of psychological processes and functional brain activity when comparing sportsmen having different professional level and sports The effects observed in such studies may be associated both with productivity. sportsmen's innate individual peculiarities (e.g., level of aptitude or ability to somatic recovery after intense loads, psychological personal peculiarities) and with some factors related, e.g., to difference in the total duration of completed training preparatory cycles or competition experience, their success, etc. Besides that, the issue on, whether the observed effects of changes in the brain activity can be used for individual monitoring during the complicated training process, remains not studied. In other words, the issue on which of the neurophysiological effects discussed in literature and in which brain structures/systems can be markers of lowering of the sports activities productivity both for highly qualified sportsmen of international class and for those who only begin the professional sports career, remains unsolved.

Thus, at present it is not evident, to which degree the results obtained in such comparative psychophysiological studies can be used for introduction into the practice of medico-biological support of sportsmen's training. Just this is one of the causes preventing the introduction of the objective monitoring of the cognitive functions condition [261] as an integral part of the medico-biological support regarding the objective monitoring of the sportsman's condition during the training process [228]. This

is caused to a great extent by the fact that the knowledge degree of brain provision patterns of implementation of the sportsman's activity under conditions of the training process and competitions is insufficient for the full scale and effective use of neurophysiologic methods for assessment of the brain activity in diagnostics of its condition associated with the productivity.

The professional sportsman functions under conditions of constant competitive stress (pressure of the necessity to achieve sports results), high of extreme physical loads, what poses high requirements to the optimum psychophysiological condition both during the preparatory training cycles and in the period of competitions. Deviation from the optimum condition can negatively tell upon not only sports results but also the skills formation process, which are critical for the professional sports activities. Such deviations can be associated with changes of normal cognitive functions, related to activities monitoring (e.g., executive control), which manifest not always evidently at the behavioral level or in psychological diagnostics. E.g., lowered efficiency of activities implementation or even destroying of a sensorimotor skill can be observed under conditions of the competitive pressure (competitive stress), which can be associated with the activities monitoring disturbance. In particular, the involvement of implementation monitoring processes of skills with the high automation degree can result in disturbance of their implementation [54]. One of the hypothetic mechanisms for implementation of such influence consists in an excessive control hypothesis leading to choking under pressure [364, 409] what results in increase of the response rate and mistakes, which are the behavioral signs of lowered activity efficiency and productivity. But comparative studies of professional sportsmen do not allow to determine possible parameters of the functional brain activity, which could be considered as signs of such or comparable change in the control functions associated with the involvement of control influences leading to lowering of the sports activity productivity. It is evident that the principal possibility of adequate diagnostic monitoring of conditions characterized by such changes in the control functions, in which it is possible to correct the sports productivity, is extraordinarily demanded in the medico-biological sports control.

Thus, modern psychophysiological studies aimed at investigations of the neuronal base of the efficiency of sports activities are focused mainly to search for differences between the various level of sports mastery associated with the sports productivity, what is insufficient for development and introduction of neurodiagnostic methods into the practice of medico- biological monitoring of signs evidencing the lowered efficiency of implementation, which critical for realization of sports skills. In the literature some authors report that the development of methodical approaches allowing to perform individual diagnostics is a necessary but still not elaborated area. The PCA-based scaled subprofiled model (SSM-PCA [222, 273, 274, 275]) can be one of such methodical approaches. It allows to translate the results obtained in group studies of the functional brain condition to the individual diagnostics level.

Objective of the study

Increasing the efficiency of technologies for medical and medico-biological monitoring of sportsmen's psychofunctional condition by the development of new methodical and diagnostic approaches using different models of somatic and psychological status in the norm and pathology.

Tasks of the study

1. To analyze the structure and scientific validity of the medico-biological monitoring of sportsmen from viewpoint of clinical medicine and rapidness of modern technologies transfer associated with diagnostics of the psychophysiological status and neurovisualization of psychic functions basing on the data of fundamental scientific studies.

2. To perform psychological investigation of highly qualified sportsmen in order to determine factors influencing the efficiency and productivity of implementation of the sports activities and, taking into account the obtained results, to determine the target function, psychophysiological monitoring of which will have diagnostic value regarding the assessment of the sportsman's functional state associated with the productivity of the sports activities. To suggest a clinical model of change in brain provision of the target function associated with the activities productivity basing on the obtained results.

3. To substantiate selection of the test task and neurovisualization method allowing to assess objectively the selected target function and its brain provision under conditions of change in it activity which are associated with the disease under study within the limits of the suggested clinical model.

4. To determine the human brain structures, the activity of which is associated with change in the work of the selected target function in setting of a test task creating conditions for its involvement in provision of the behavior of a sick and healthy human. To establish patterns of changes in the activity of the human brain structures providing for changes in the work of the studied target function which are associated with the disease under study.

5. To suggest and test a neurovisualization method the use of which allows to take into account the revealed patterns in changes of the brain provision of the target function under study and provides for their effective transfer to the practice of the thorough medical examination of a sportsman for monitoring of his psychophysiologic condition associated with diagnostics of the target function condition.

6. To test the suggested neurovisualization method in the working clinical model using the comparative analysis parameters values of healthy normotypical subjects and patients with disturbed activity of the selected target function.

7. To determine a set of human brain structures and diagnostically significant parameters of their functional activity the use of which in the psychophysiologic monitoring of the target function is promising for revealing the signs of lowered productivity of the sports activities.

Scientific novelty of the study

The study suggested for the first time a clinical model of brain mechanism restructurings of action executive control in case of anxiety change allowing to assess at the individual level changes of the sportsman's functional condition linked with lowering of the activities implementation efficiency and productivity.

Within the limits of studying the peculiarities in the structural and functional organization of the brain nonselective inhibitory control (NSIC) system, for the first time

in investigation of pathophysiology of generalized anxiety disorder (GAD), we revealed GAD-associated extension of the element composition of this brain system when implementing the activity for inhibition and performing actions prepared in advance under conditions of the Go/NoGo test task. Such extension was realized due to additional (relative to the norm) inclusion of elements localized in the anterior insula and inferior frontal gyrus of the right hemisphere of the human brain.

It was possible to establish this fact thanks to a new statistical approach to functional mapping of the human brain developed by us and allowing to reveal statistically significant absence of brain activity changes (so-called ROPE-mapping) on the base of interval statistics.

We showed for the first time that the above GAD-associated NSIC elements demonstrated differently directed changes in functional connectivity in GAD as compared to the norm when recording the brain activity with the help of fMRI in the operational rest condition. The obtained new data suggests the compensatory nature of the revealed element composition reorganization of the neuronal system of nonselective inhibitory control in the human brain in case of generalized anxiety disorder which can be associated with non-optimum regimen of the brain provision of the control functions which is linked with lowered activities productivity.

As a result of the study series performed by us we suggested for the first time a set of the human brain structures, fMRI monitoring of the functional connectivity of which can be valuable for diagnostics of the change in the sportsman's functional condition linked with lowering of activities efficiency and implementation productivity.

For the first time we suggested a diagnostic approach, which combines recording the brain activity in the operational rest condition using fMRI, calculation of amplitude of low-frequency fluctuation of BOLD signal in the set of human brain structures suggested by us and a diagnostic criterion/parameter based on the combined use of the PCA-based scaled subprofiled model (SSM-PCA) which allows to detect at the individual level possible signs of change in the control functions associated with lowered productivity.

Methodology and methods of the study

The thesis study was performed in accordance with the topic plan of research works, within the limits of the state task of the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Russian Federation ("Brain provision of nonselective inhibitory control in the norm and pathology" (topic of fundamental scientific studies FMMW-2022-0002 (2022–2024)) and within the limits of the research work "The development of new methods and technologies for diagnostics and treatment of brain diseases basing on multi-method investigation of change patterns of functional brain activity reorganization and brain system connectomics (FMMW-2022-0003) (state registration number of the topic: 122041500044-1).

The study was planned and performed according to the principle of successive actualization of a three-level pyramid of the data bank and diagnostic methods, which are prioritized in the field of sports medicine.

The pyramid base included the methods (technologies) of medico-biological monitoring (MBM) having the long history of scientific studies, many-year practice of use and presented in different versions of "Procedures of Healthcare Delivery to Sportsmen"; the middle part of the pyramid included technologies having modern interpretation and adapted to sports medicine basing on the experience of clinical medicine and neurophysiology and modern technology transfer through the example of neurovisualization of psychic functions based on fundamental studies was positioned at the pyramid apex. It is to be noted that the work included all modern types of scientific medical studies: fundamental, observational, experimental studies, systematic reviews.

The study presents successively the results of many-year observations for the period from 2011 to 2023 describing the areas for increasing the efficiency of medico-biological monitoring from metabolism disorders at the level of the organism main systems to assessment of anxiety parameters using the modern procedures for neurovisualization of the higher control psychic and behavioral functions which are critical in the sports activities and the least scientifically developed and methodically substantiated.

The study was performed taking into account the accepted and regulated ethical norms, with participation of patients and healthy subjects with different level of sports qualification. We studied the possibility to use the developed neurophysiologic approach for solving the problems within the limits of the through medical examination of sportsmen. The retrospective data analysis obtained during the experimental studies was performed. The diagnostic and testing methods were used, which are allowed for application and used in scientific and clinical studies. In order to confirm confidence of the results the mathematical and statistical data processing methods, recommended for medical and psychophysiological studies, were used. The modified assessment method based on Bayesian interval statistics was used for some studies. The brain activity was recorded using the method of functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI). In order to confirm confidence of the results we used the mathematical and statistical data processing methods of psychological and fMRI investigations. In order to solve the tasks of our thesis study we suggested a new approach to mapping of the human brain functions basing on the interval statistics using fMRI data (ROPE-mapping [244]) which was methodically tested within the limits of study of the brain nonselective inhibitory control system in patients with obsessive compulsory disorder (OCD) [156]. In order to go over from group studies of fMRI data to individual diagnostics we suggested a diagnostic approach for introduction into the technology for medico-biological monitoring of the sportsman's functional condition with the help of PCA-based scaled subprofiled model (SSM-PCA [259]), which was methodically tested by us on the material of PET data [222]. To analyze psychological data of healthy subjects the k-means++ clustering algorithm was used, which was methodically tested by us within the limits of psychophysiological studies of the relationship between the individual psychologic features and brain gray matter structure [91].

Applicant's personal contribution. The author himself organized and performed a cycle of studies for determination of diagnostically significant parameters of the sportsmen's somatic and psychophysiological condition for 15 years. The dissertator substantiated and determined the main areas of studies in different periods of legal

regulation of procedures for healthcare delivery to sportsmen. The author of the thesis study performed analysis of the statutory documents regulating the medico-biological support of sportsmen and of the scientific literature basing on the results of which the objectives and tasks of the study were stated. The methods for analysis of the brain functional activity were selected and their methodical testing was performed. The studies were performed, the experimental data was processed and generalized. A new method for mapping of human brain functions using the so-called interval statistics was suggested. The dissertator made a crucial contribution to each of the thesis study stages, made conclusions and stated the main provisions to be defended and also practical recommendations. The author suggested a methodical approach for determining the functional state of the human brain structures which can be linked with change in the control functions.

The confidence degree and results testing

The confidence degree of the study results is ensured by the correct design of the work, proper use of approved technologies, the use of metrologically certified equipment, a significant number of many-year observations, substantiated methods for data processing and statistical analysis in accordance with the accepted principles. This allowed to obtain confident results, suggest a diagnostic approach based on the combined special organized analysis of fMRI data, which will make it possible to improve the efficiency of existing medical technologies aimed at increase of the functional readiness of highly qualified sportsmen engaged in different sports.

The performance of the study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Bekhtereva Institute of Human Brain of the Russian Academy of Sciences.

The results obtained during the implementation of the thesis study were reported and discussed at the following conferences and scientific and practical events:

 II All-Russian Congress (with international participation) "Medicine for Sports", May 31 – June 01, 2012; IV International Scientific and Practical Conference "Modern Approaches of Rehabilitation, Adaptive Physical Culture in the Work with Persons Having Health Limitations", Nizhny Novgorod, 2013;

International Scientific and Practical Conference "Safe Sports – 2014", St.
 Petersburg;

 First National Congress on Cognitive Studies, Artificial Intelligence and Neuroinformatics. Ninth International Conference on Cognitive Science: Moscow, October 10–16, 2020;

– International Scientific Conference "34th European College of Neuropsychopharmacology", October 2–5, 2021;

– XVII International Scientific Conference on the State-of-Art and Perspectives for
 Development of Medicine in the High Performance Sports "SportMed-2022", December
 8–9, 2022, Moscow;

X International Congress "Safe Sports-2023. Overtraining in Sports.
 Interdisciplinary Approach", St. Petersburg, 2023;

 XIV All-Russian Scientific and Practical Conference "Olympic Readings: from Sports Results to Pedagogical Achievements", St. Petersburg, February 29, 2024;

 – III International Congress "Medical Rehabilitation: Scientific Studies and Clinical Practice", St. Petersburg, March 21–22, 2024.

Introduction of the results into practice. The materials of the thesis study during its performing were introduced in:

- Order of the MoH of Russia No. 1144n dated 23.10.2020 "On approval of the procedure for healthcare delivery to persons doing gymnastics and going in for sports (including during training and conducting athletic events and sports events) including the procedure for medical examination of persons wishing to have sports training, do gymnastics and go in for sports at organizations and/or reach the norms of trials (tests) of the All-Russian Sports Complex "Ready for Labor and Defense (RLD)" and forms of medical conclusions on admission to participation in athletic and sports events";

methodical recommendations: A.V. Kalinin, M.Yu. Lobanov, E.V. Lomazova,
 V.I. Danilova-Perley, E.V. Bryntseva, D.V. Cherednichenko. Methodical

recommendations for conducting the stage and current medical investigations, medical and pedagogical observations in persons doing gymnastics and going in for sports at the initial training level // Health Committee of St. Petersburg Government, Physical Culture and Sports Committee of St. Petersburg Government, St. Petersburg State Budget-funded Health Institution "City Exercise Therapy Centre". – 2022. – 37 p. UDK 61:796/799;

methodical recommendations: E.V. Lomazova, A.V. Kalinin, N.V. Melnichuk,
E.V. Bryntseva, O.N. Sokolova, M.Yu. Lobanov, D.V. Cherednichenko. Methodical recommendations for revealing sportsman's fatigue (medical service B03.020.007 – Revealing sportsman's fatigue) // Health Committee of St. Petersburg Government,
Physical Culture and Sports Committee of St. Petersburg Government, St. Petersburg State Budget-funded Health Institution "City Exercise Therapy Centre". – 2022. – 15 p. UDK 61:796/799;

– methodical recommendations: A.V. Kalinin, M.Yu. Lobanov, E.V. Lomazova, V.I. Danilova-Perley, E.V. Bryntseva, D.V. Cherednichenko. Methodical recommendations for conducting the stage and current medical investigations, medical and pedagogical observations in sportsmen of sports representative teams of St. Petersburg // Health Committee of St. Petersburg Government, Physical Culture and Sports Committee of St. Petersburg Government, St. Petersburg State Budget-funded Health Institution City Exercise Therapy Centre. – 2022. – 60 p. UDK 61:796/799;

- St. Petersburg State Budget-funded Health Institution "City Exercise Therapy Centre";

 St. Petersburg State Budget-funded Health Institution "Interdistrict City Exercise Therapy Centre No. 1";

– Department of Physical Methods of Treatment and Sports Medicine of the Faculty of Post-graduate Education, Federal State Budget-funded Educational Institution of Higher Education "First Pavlov St. Petersburg State Medical University" of the Ministry of Health of the Russian Federation;

St. Petersburg State Budget-funded Vocational Educational Institution "School of Olympic Reserve No. 1";

 Department of Medical Rehabilitation of the Federal State Budget-funded Institution of Science "Bekhtereva Institute of Human Brain" of the Russian Academy of Sciences (IHB RAS).

Registration certificate of the BAYINF TOOLBOX program for electronic computing machine was received; this program implemented a new method for functional mapping of the human brain on the base of Bayesian interval statistics: Registration certificate of the program for electronic computing machine RU 2023665868, 20.07.2023. Application No. 2023663641 dated 29.06.2023.

Association with the scientific topic of the organization where the work was performed. The study was performed in accordance with the topic plan of research works approved by the Institute of Human Brain of the Russian Academy of Sciences as per the state task of the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Russian Federation and supported by scientific foundations of the Russian Federation, including the following topics: 1) Systemic organization patterns of brain provision mechanisms of human higher psychic functions using the data of quantitative EEG and functional MRI (FMMW-2022-0001); 2) Brain mechanisms of the cognitive control, inhibitory control and predictive coding for construction of new artificial intelligence architectures and diagnostics of psychic and neurological diseases (FMMW-2022-0002); 3) Functional organization of brain provision systems of interpersonal interactions under conditions of the virtual environment: effect of anonymity and deficit of socially significant information (No. 19-18-00436, Russian scientific foundation); 4) Inapparent elements of the human brain systems: fMRI investigation of specific features of interregional interactions under conditions of complicated verbal and non-verbal information processing (No. 19-18-00454, Russian scientific foundation).

Compliance of the thesis with the certificate of scientific specialty 3.1.33. Rehabilitation medicine, sports medicine, therapeutic physical training, spa medicine and physiotherapy, medico-social rehabilitation. The thesis study is complex and includes analysis of specific features in the use of modern methods for diagnostics of the sportsmen's somatic and psychophysiological condition during through medical examinations what is in accordance with items 5–7 ("The development of

methods for rational use of physical exercises, other means of physical culture and sports for health strengthening, prevention and treatment of diseases, improvement of physical working capacity. Determination of effective measures for prevention of diseases and injuries in sportsmen, the most expedient hygienic conditions for physical education. The development of means and methods for medical control of the functional condition of persons going in for sports and also sportsmen's disturbed functions recovery and rehabilitation programs". "The development of new and improved medical technologies for medico-biological support of sportsmen in all age categories and in the wide range of sports. Study of the influence exerted by external and internal factors on the structural peculiarities, functioning and pathologic signs of the sportsman's organism". "The development of evidence-based problems of medico-biological support including problems of organization and optimization of medico-biological support when conducting mass athletic and sports events").

Volume and structure of the study

The thesis consists of introduction, 4 chapters, summary, conclusions, references. The main content of the study is presented in 270 pages of typed text; the thesis is illustrated with 26 tables, 46 figures. The bibliographical index contains 541 references including 217 Russian and 324 foreign ones.

Publications. The results, methodical approaches and basic provisions of the thesis study were published in 35 printing works including 1 monograph, 3 methodical recommendations, <u>14</u> articles in the scientific journals recommended by the Higher Attestation Commission under the Ministry of Science and Higher Education (9 of them were published in the scientific journals indexed in the WOS/Scopus) of the Russian Federation for publishing the basic scientific results of doctoral theses, and one result of intellectual activity (certificate for tollbox Bayinf):

1. Autoimmune reactions in athletes with inflammatory periodontal diseases / P.G. Nazarov, M.Y. Levin, D.V. Cherednichenko, I.A. Afanasyeva // Teoriya i praktika fizicheskoy kultury. - 2012. - № 9. - P. 58-61.

2. Autoimmune processes in athletes of the highest qualification in different periods of the training cycle / M.Y. Levin, P.G. Nazarov, D.V. Cherednichenko, I.A. Afanasyeva // Teoriya i praktika fizicheskoy kultury. - 2012. - № 9. - P. 54-57.

3. Cherednichenko, D.V. Endothelial dysfunction - is it the result of damage in physical exercise? / D.V. Cherednichenko, M.D. Didur, V.N. Lebedev // Sportivnaya meditsina: nauka I praktika. - 2013. - № 1. - P. 301.

4. On the legal harmonisation of medical massage activity in structural units of manual therapy and osteopathy / Didur, M.D., Kurnikova, M.V., Cherednichenko, D.V., Kravchenko, A.S. // Manualnaya terapiya. - 2020. - № 3-4. - P. 65-70.

5. Providing Evidence for the Null Hypothesis in Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging Using Group-Level Bayesian Inference / R. Masharipov, I. Knyazeva, Y. Nikolaev [et al.] // Frontiers in Neuroinformatics. – 2021. – Vol. 15. – P. 738342. – DOI. 10.3389/fninf.2021.738342.

Chutko, L.S. Neurological aspects of anxiety disorders / L.S. Chutko, S.Y. Surushkina, E.A. Yakovenko, Cherednichenko D.V. // Meditsinskiy alfavit. - 2022. - № 10.
 - P. -11.

7. Features of emotional regulation in children with anxiety disorders / S.Y. Surushkina,
L.S. Chutko, E.A. Yakovenko, [et al.] // Zhurnal nevrologii i psikhiatrii im. S.S. Korsakova
2021. - Vol. 121. - № 11-2. - P. 95-102.

8. The Interaction Between Caudate Nucleus and Regions Within the Theory of Mind Network as a Neural Basis for Social Intelligence / M. Votinov, A. Myznikov, M. Zheltyakova [et al.] // Frontiers in Neural Circuits. – 2021. – Vol. 15. – P. 727–960. – DOI: 10.3389/fncir.2021.727960.

9. Suppression of non-selected solutions as a possible brain mechanism for ambiguity resolution in the word fragment task completion task / M. Kireev, V. Gershkovich, N. Moroshkina [et al.] // Scientific Reports. – 2022. – Vol. 12, № 1. – DOI: 10.1038/s41598-022-05646-5.

10. Social Interaction With an Anonymous Opponent Requires Increased Involvement of the Theory of Mind Neural System: An fMRI Study / M. Zheltyakova, A. Korotkov, R.

Masharipov [et al.] // Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience. – 2022. – Vol. 16. – P. 807599. – DOI: 10.3389/fnbeh.2022.807599.

11. Features of the choice of functional criteria evaluating the direct effect of manual influence / M.D. Didur, M.V. Kurnikova, D.V. Cherednichenko, A.S. Kravchenko // Manualnaya terapia. - 2022. - Vol. 86. № 2. - P. 10-14.

12. Impaired Non-Selective Response Inhibition in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder / R.S. Masharipov, A. Korotkov, I. Knyazeva [et al.] // International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. – 2023. – Vol. 20, N_{2} 2. – P. 1171. – DOI: 10.3390/ijerph20021171.

 Parkinson's Disease-Related Brain Metabolic Pattern Is Expressed in Schizophrenia Patients during Neuroleptic Drug-Induced Parkinsonism / Kotomin I., Korotkov A., Solnyshkina I., Didur M., Cherednichenko D., Kireev M // Diagnostics. – 2023.
 Vol. 13. – P. 74. – DOI:10.3390/diagnostics13010074.

14. Dark triad personality traits are associated with decreased grey matter volumes in 'social brain' structures / Myznikov A., Korotkov A., Zheltyakova M., Kiselev V., Masharipov R., Bursov K., Yagmurov O., Votinov M., Cherednichenko D., Didur M. and Kireev M. // Front. Psychol. – 2024. – Vol. 14. – P: 1326946. DOI: 10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1326946.

15. Bayinf toolbox. Masharipov R., Kireev M.V., Korotkov A.D., Knyazeva I.S. Cherednichenko D.V. Certificate for toolbox registration RU 2023665868, 20.07.2023. Claim № 2023663641 from 29.06.2023.

Main scientific results

1. A systematical analysis of the structure and content of modern approaches to medical care for athletes, using the results of our own studies on the peculiarities of lipid metabolism, endothelial dysfunction, autoimmune processes and the state of cardiovascular systems of athletes (see publications No. 2-4 from the list of published papers - references [351, 352, 530] on pp. 39, 40, 195, 196), revealed not only a significant delay in the transfer of new scientific data on key physical functions of the organism into the system of medical and biological control, which was traced back to three revisions of

the Procedures of Medical Care for Athletes, but also a complete focusing on somatic indicators to the detriment of psychophysiological ones. We found that sports activity leads to unfavourable immunological shifts, for example, year-round presence of the athlete's heart under constant autoimmune attack, due to high physical and psychoemotional loads. Diagnosis of endothelial dysfunction has not received adequate attention in the orders governing advanced medical examination. Our comprehensive studies reflect a general picture of the problem of limited transfer and regulatory consolidation of basic research results into medical technologies. This trend is most pronounced in the area of athlete psychophysiological monitoring (see section 1.3. on pp. 38-47, the author's personal contribution – 70%).

2. Methods of legal and terminological regulation, are discussed at all stages of work, and are universal normative transfer of scientific data into the practice of sports medicine and rehabilitation. Successfully implemented approaches are not only reflected in publications (see publication No. 5 and 12 from the list of published works - references [455] and [459] on pp. 6, 31, 195, 198), but also reflected in normative and methodological documents (order of the Ministry of Health, the author's personal contribution – 50%).).

3. The results of our research on gymnasts of the St. Petersburg and national teams have shown that one of the key factors affecting the performance of highly skilled athletes is personality anxiety (see sections 3.1.2.-3.1.3 on pp. 102-108, the author's personal contribution - 60%). It has been found (see publication No 7 from the list of publications – reference [535] on pp. 60, 62) that anxiety-related disorders are characterised by impairments in executive functions and inhibitory control (manifested as emotional dysregulation, reduced memory function and perceptual processes, and increased impulsivity), accompanied by certain rearrangements of rhythmic brain activity (e.g., reduced spectral power of the theta and alpha ranges of the EEG (see publication No 8 from the list of publications - reference [461] on pp. 68, 61)), which allows GTR to be considered as a clinical model for alterations in executive functions.

4. Using a new method for functional brain mapping using functional MRI data which was developed and tested in the present research (see publications No. 6 and No.

13 from the list of publications - references [244] and [156]) on pp. 16, 56, 74, 76, 80, 111, 118, 176, 179 and 16, 56, 76, 80, 117, 118, 122, 176, 177 respectively), which is implemented on the principles of interval statistics, we, for the first time, revealed not only the fact of involvement of the brain system of non-selective inhibitory control (NSIC) in the pathogenesis of generalised anxiety disorder (GAD), but also the fact of GAD-induced expansion of this neuronal system. Relative to the healthy control, the GD patients in the settings of uncertainty associated with the need to inhibit a prepared action performing Go/NoGo task, were characterized by the involvement of additional nodes of the NSIC network. Those nodes were localised in the anterior insular cortex and orbital part of the inferior frontal gyrus of the right hemisphere of the human brain (see Section 4.1.3 on pages 128-130, the author's personal contribution - 80%).

5. Our analysis of functional connectivity (FC) performed on fMRI data in resting state allowed us to establish that the node of NSIC network located in the right anterior insula is the only one of all other nodes of this neural brain system that demonstrates an increase in functional connectivity of FC in GAD patients (as compaed with healthy subjects), which could be considered as an evidence of the compensatory nature of involvement of this node in the action control at GAD (see Section 4.3.1 on pp. 159-164, the author's personal contribution - 95%).

6. In a series of studies we established the locations of a nodes of the neuronal systems of the human which undery the processing of: 1) socially significant information (see publications No. 9 and No. 11 from the list of publications - references [303] and [270] on pp. 66, 82, 86, 138, 150, 164, 175, 179, 181 and 66, 82, 140, 145, 148, 166 respectively), 2) executive control of cognitive activity (see publication No. 10 from the list of publications - reference [285] on pp. 66, 82, 93, 95, 151, 153, 167, 179). The analysis of resting state functional connectivity of these nodes allowed us to establish a GAD-related decrease in their functional connectivity relative to the healthy contol (Sections 4.3.2 and 4.3.3 on pp. 164-173, the author's personal contribution - 80%).

7. Using resting state fMRI the analysis of functional state of human brain allowed us to reveal brain stuctutres as candidates for objective monitoring of changes in control functions, associated with a possible decrease in the efficiency of activity and performance (section 4.3.4 on pp. 173-185, the author's personal contribution - 95%).

8. Based on the obtained results of resting state fMRI data, a separate study was conducted to develop a diagnostic approach using multivariate factor analysis, which consisted of: 1) preliminary testing of the k-means++ machine clustering method on the material of psychodiagnostic data used in neuroimaging research (see publications No. 15 of the list of publications - reference [91] on pages 16, 189, 190), and its application for selection of subjects with low values of trait anxiety as a control group, 2) preliminary testing of the SSM-PCA method on the experimental material of PET study of drug-induced parkinsonism (see publication No. 14 of the list of publications - reference [222] on pp. 12, 16, 186, 188), and its application to the resting state data of amplitude of low-frequency oscillations of BOLD signal (ALFF) healthy subjects with low values of personality anxiety and GAD patients. As a result we developed a diagnostic approach based on GAD related SSM-PCA pattern for ALFF data, which can be used as an objective marker of an athlete's functional state related to the control functions of the human brain (Section 4.4 on pages 183-192, author's personal contribution - 90%).

Main theses to be defended:

1. The content and structure of the medico-biological monitoring of sportsmen do not meet the modern needs and trends in the development of sports medicine, especially due to pronounced disbalance of diagnostic approaches and procedures between somatic and psychophysiological parameters what requires formation of new methodical approaches regarding procedure unification, accumulation of data and method bank, development of clinical recommendations and expert opinions applicably to operational and successive accumulation and transfer of new scientific data into the practice of sports medicine and regulatory documents.

2. The personal anxiety level, which is closely associated with the control functions, whose parameters of brain provision mechanisms are a promising diagnostic criterion, is an important psychological factor influencing the

efficiency and success of implementation of the highly qualified sportsmen's competitive activities.

3. The high anxiety level in patients with generalized anxiety disorder is characterized by restructuring of functioning of the brain nonselective inhibitory control system, which results in extension of its element composition and such extension has a partially compensatory nature associated with the intensified control of the current activities what can be an objective indicator of lowered efficiency of its implementation and productivity.

4. The change in the functional activity level and functional connectivity of the anterior insula/frontal opercular cortex revealed using fMRI at rest is a sign showing activation of compensatory mechanisms of nonselective inhibitory control. The characteristic of the functional activity level and functional connectivity of this brain region was used in the practice of thorough medical examination of a sportsman for monitoring of his psychophysiological condition associated with the target function at rest.

5. The investigated set of the brain structures providing for both control functions through the brain processes of inhibitory and executive control of the activities and processing of socially significant information demonstrates the unidirectional nature of changes in the functional connectivity when the personal anxiety level is increased. The combined/cumulative lowering of the functional connectivity between these brain structures in subjects with increased personal anxiety levels revealed in the operational rest condition suggests the diagnostic significance of established parameters of functional interactions between these structures in psychophysiological monitoring of the sportsman's control functions.

CHAPTER 1 LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1. Main trends in the development of scientific studies in the field of sports medicine

At the modern stage sports medicine (hereinafter referred to as SM) is one of the most actively developing interdisciplinary fields of science and professional medicine, whose all types of activities are aimed at health preservation and strengthening, prevention and treatment of diseases and simultaneous improvement of control efficiency of sports events and training measures in persons doing gymnastics and going in for sports ¹ [406, 407, 433, 457].

Professor S.M. Razinkin, Head of the Laboratory of Experimental Sports Medicine at the Federal State Budget-funded Institution "State Scientific Center – Federal Medical Biophysical Center n/a A.I. Burnazyan" of the Federal Medical and Biological Agency of Russia [407] offers to distinguish the following modern conceptual areas for development of SM: occupational health of the professional sportsman; health strengthening of the healthy human doing gymnastics and going in for sports; sportsman's physical and medical rehabilitation.

In the Russian Federation the strategy for development of the medical and medicobiological support of high performance sports in accordance with modern trends in SM development in the world is formed by the Federal Medical and Biological Agency (FMBA of Russia). FMBA of Russia, within its authorities and together with other departments [4], implements different programs within the limits of the scientific and medical activities, in which case the following areas are emphasized:

1. Multidisciplinary approach to medico-sanitary, medico-biological and medical support of professional sports and high performance sports including obtaining and introduction of urgent scientific achievements in the field of medicine and related sciences (biomechanics and biomechanical analysis of movements using the latest movement video analysis systems, functional diagnostics and its modern equipment,

¹ As applicable to the sports and training activity, characteristics of the examined contingent, the thesis text will use concepts and terms established in the Federal Law No. 329-FZ dated 04.12.2007 "On Physical Culture and Sports in the Russian Federation" [2].

pharmacology in the field of sports medicine, psychology of sports activities, neurophysiology and psychophysiology, high technology treatment and rehabilitation methods, measures for prevention of sports injuries and diseases).

2. Wide introduction of molecular genetics methods in the high performance sports.

3. Individualization of the medico-biological sportsman support including that basing on medical and genetic data.

It should be noted that the explosive growth of scientific studies in SM fell on the period of development of a principally new "three P" strategy, i.e. predictive, preventive and personalized medicine (PM) [379, 510], which evolved rapidly from 3P medicine to 4P (participatory) medicine and then to translation, integrative medicine ending with precision medicine [537]. Individualization of approaches and principles of predictive medicine are of special importance for SM.

The prominent scientists in the field of investigation of the human genome [79, 80, 88, 226, 537] consider that the glory days of predictive medicine will come in 5–10 years and 4P medicine will evolve gradually into 10P medicine and involve actively patients themselves [511]. 10P medicine will include such sections as [467]: predictive; preventive; personalized; participatory (with participation of the patient); practical; permanent; proactive; positive; precision; promotional medicine [88, 253]. The studies in this area at the population level are very promising in solving many applied aspects in the practice activity of SM: selection in sports, specialization criteria and determination of prospectivity, key health parameter monitoring, prevention of genetic and sports-associated diseases, withdrawal from the professional sports activity etc.

4. The active development of the information and technological support of sports medicine (generation of electronic sportsmen's health certificates, providing for the development of information technologies in accordance with the requirements of the federal legislation [3], generation of data bases on the grounds of "special standards" conception as applicable to sports developing different physical qualities and requiring different somatometric characteristics). But the preparatory work for generation of electronic sportsmen's certificates has been lasting already for more than 20 years, it was suspended many times and did not lead yet to planned results. The "special standards"

conception has been discussed also for several decades but out analysis of the practice of home SM did not reveal any examples of development of such standards [491].

It is evident that the planned programs cannot be implemented without systemic introduction of the modern evidence-based methods and technologies for control of the sportsman's physical and functional condition. The present study is just devoted to solution of this scientific and medical problem; the literature review for the present study was formed taking into account modern recommendations [434], and, considering the many-year performance of the work, it contains references to the authors studies performed earlier within the limits of implementation of the study working hypothesis regarding the development of diagnostic algorithms.

1.2. General issues of terminology and structuring of the technologies for medical and medico-biological monitoring of the functional condition as applicable to scientific medical studies in the field of sports medicine

The term "technology" is widely used in medico-biological studies, in which case it is applied in very different contexts and not always for a good reason. Inclusion of this term into the title of our study is not the mechanical following the formed trend in the working practice and study areas in the healthcare and sports activities systems but an emphasis to the conceptual essence of the term as applicable to medico-biological studies basing on understanding of the main physiologic mechanisms just in the field of sports medicine.

One should discuss briefly the issues of legal and conceptual regulation of this term because inconsistent attempts to regulate this term were made in the healthcare system over the last 20 years, therefore, when analyzing information sources in the regulatory documents and scientific studies, one can find word combinations "new technology" [16], "new medical technology" [7], "medical technology", "psychological technology" [5] and other variations with the term "technology" which are not statutory or conceptually established [455, 459].

At the legislative regulation level, the Federal Law No. 127-FZ dated 23.08.1996 (version dated 17.02.2023), [1] Article 2, includes the technological activities in the

scientific and technical and innovation activities: "The scientific and technical activities are the activities aimed at obtaining and use of new knowledge for solving technological, engineering, economic, social, humanitarian and other problems, for providing for functioning of science, engineering and production as a single system". The term "technologies" is also presented in different articles of direct and indirect operation of this federal legislation.

The Federal Law No. 323-FZ dated 21.11.2011 (version dated 28.12.2022) "On Fundamental Healthcare Principles in the Russian Federation" [3] describes in detail different aspects of technologies used in the medical activities. E.g., "The high technology medical aid being a part of specialized medical aid includes the use of new complex and/or unique treatment methods and also resource-demanding treatment methods with scientific-based efficiency including cell technologies, robot-assisted equipment, information technologies and genetic engineering methods developed on the base of advances of medical science and related fields of science and technology" (Article 34, version dated 25.11.2013). Telemedical technologies and artificial intelligence technologies are regulated in Articles 36.1–36.2. The assisted reproductive technologies (Article 55), complex medical technologies (Article 34) and information technologies (Article 91) are also regulated by this law.

According to studies found in the literature and dedicated to the development of new medical technologies, when developing them, special attention is paid to terminology, according to which, any technology and, especially a new technology, should be just a technology and it should be "described in terms known in science and medicine, without using references to transcendent factors, mysticism and chance events", to studies with low evidentiality level [381,420]: broadly speaking, "the generally accepted definition of the term "Technology" (from Ancient Greek τέχνη – art, mastery, skill; $\lambda 6\gamma o\varsigma$ – thought, cause; procedure, method of production) is a totality of methods, processes and materials used in any branch of activities and also the scientific description methods for technical production or achievement of the preset result; in the strict sense it is a complex of organizational measures, operations, techniques, interventions aimed at production, servicing, repair and/or operation of an article with the rated quality and optimum

expenses and determined by the current level of science, technics and society on the whole".

The conceptual limits of the technology in its initial meaning within the limits of medico-biological and especially psychological studies can be defined as "a science on the mastery to carry out transformations in the preset space of problems, objects, knowledge or information" [429].

The detailed statutory regulation for the specific technology form, i.e. medical technologies, is contained in GOST R 56044-2014. National Standard of the Russian Federation. Assessment of medical technologies. General provisions [15]. This GOST defines medical technologies as methods for diagnostics, medicinal and non-medicinal treatment, prevention and rehabilitation, health protection and strengthening systems used in the healthcare service. One of the key tasks for introduction of GOST R 56044-2014 consists in "planning scientific studies in healthcare service".

According to this GOST, a quite wide range of substantiated regulated medical and organizational interventions are referred to medical technologies. These interventions include "– the use of devices (computer tomograph, …, technical devices ad applications for mobile telephones and mini-computers; – therapeutic and surgical procedures (acupuncture, plasmapheresis, endoscopic cystectomy, methods for psychological action)".

According to our opinion, inclusion of methods for psychologic action in the section of therapeutic and surgical procedures is not completely substantiated because, e.g., the list of methods for psychologic diagnostics and action for sports medicine is not established yet and its formation has been lasting already for several decades [412].

The document defines also that the potential of a medical technology represents effects caused by the use of the medical technology under conditions of controlled clinical trials [12] and efficiency of a medical technology means effects caused by the use of the medical technology under conditions of typical clinical practice (real world).

It is obvious that all listed items are referred to the activities of specialists in the field of sports medicine.

Basing on the above, a medical technology (MT) should contain the description of its applicability conditions including determination of the disease and condition range at diagnostics and treatment of which it is aimed, i.e. it should meet the criteria set for prevention, diagnostics, treatment and rehabilitation technologies. In particular, positive effects caused by the use of a medical technology should be reproducible irrespective of the place of their practical application (healthcare facility). And the obtained effects should be associated with improved accuracy of diagnostics or treatment and prevention efficiency. As MT are introduced into practice, the accumulated data on the results of its use should be generalized; this data should enrich the respective clinical experience and optimize the conditions and parameters of using MT. In accordance with the above, today the "Procedure for Healthcare Delivery to Sportsmen" [10] accumulates, in the essence, the whole list of MT generally accepted by the professional community and having a certain scientific evidence base.

In psychological practice, the "technology" means generation of "well operationalized concepts about target direction of influences, methods and procedures for their implementation including organizational aspects of use and ways for obtaining the adequate feedback, whose integrated application provides for successful solution of some or other human problems" [429]. In case of the directed action of the psychological sphere, this is a problem region of human condition control in which the most effective method consists in teaching of skills of own condition self-regulation [429].

The term "medical-biological support" (MBS) has a complex history of legislative establishment in the healthcare service and sports [3, Art. 39]. MBS is defined as "a complex of measures aimed at sportsmen's working capacity and health recovery, including medical interventions, measures of psychologic nature, systematic sportsmen's health condition control, provision of sportsmen with drugs, medical products and specialized foodstuffs, performing scientific studies in the field of sports medicine, and implemented in accordance with requirements concerning prevention of use of performance-enhancing drugs in sports and fight against them established by the legislation on physical culture and sports..." [3, Art. 42.1]. Medical interventions have distinct statutory regulation in the healthcare system [] but the list of measures of

psychologic nature is not scientifically substantiated yet either regarding diagnostics or regarding correction and remains unformed [413].

MBS and MBM (medico-biological monitoring) are an integral part of the more general concept of "control". Any monitoring is carried out with the purpose to achieve the targeted changes in the organism condition or a functional system [462]. The term "control" in medical studies is defined as "a process of change in the biological object or individual system condition resulting in achievement of a certain purpose" [477, 500].].

The basic term "control" has been in the professional use and nomenclature of scientific specialties in the field of medico-biological scientific studies for more than 25 years. E.g., theses were actively defended in the specialty 05.13.09 - Control in biological and medical systems and at the junction of scientific specialties from late 90s of the past century [371, 387, 403, 413, 426, 440, 450, 456, 379, 490, 517]. Forty eight theses on these topic were defended in the period from 1998 to 2000¹.

The control theory is being actively introduced into the medical practice and used in medico-biological scientific studies what is a typical example of interdisciplinary interaction [477]. In this situation, the leading role of control consists in thinking optimization and making the most reasonable decisions [444].

General principles of control of biological systems, to which the human also belongs, assume: availability of the data on "assessment of the initial, intermediate and final conditions (what is, in essence, MBM); development of a general control algorithm; carrying out the operational and integrative monitoring (MBM components) during prevention, treatment and optimization of the training or rehabilitation programs" [477, 526].

As applicable to control in sports medicine, the main task of MBM consists in achievement of the desired or preset effect in the controlled biological object or system [451, 477] and the achieved effect can be training, preventive, therapeutic or rehabilitation one [457, 462].

¹ https://freereferats.ru/index.php?cat=270&cPath=1_155_263_270&sort=year&direction=desc

The great majority of applied control tasks in the modern medical practice is solved by a doctor in sport medicine and members of the interdisciplinary team basing on the personal experience and knowledge and extremely rarely relying on evidence-based algorithms. In this situation, a doctor acts as a specific (intellectual) and at the same time subjective control factor in the control system [348]. Sports medicine needs the development and testing of a wide range of methodical and organizational models allowing to assess the condition and dynamics of changes in the most important functional systems using mathematical methods. This is an urgent problem solution of which will make is possible to objectivize and enhance the efficiency of control process of the sportsman's organism functional systems.

Solving the problem of achieving a preset result with preservation of certain psychic and somatic health parameters is associated very closely with diagnostics and prognostication tasks [173]. Diagnostics of conditions (initial, intermediate, final ones) is a key aspect of prognostication at different stages of the training process and formation of the optimum control algorithm, which is important for its planning. If necessary, this allows to return to the tasks solved earlier at different rehabilitation stages (diagnostics and prognostication of control efficiency) [169]. In this situation diagnostics should reveal the reserve and adaptation possibilities of the sportsman's organism on the whole and/or its basic systems.

The use of control theory assumes the "optimum combination of training or rehabilitation actions in order to bring the organism into a preset condition change the structural and functional optimum of its systems" [413, 450, 472, 477]. The theory of functional modelling and its methods allow to overcome a contradiction between complexity (and, consequently, insufficient knowledge of biological objects and their behavior) and the need to control these objects in the best way already today, not making this dependent on the time when an adequate analytical theory of their functioning is created [466].

The functional modelling is based on a wide range of experimental studies and procedures tested using the maximally approximated models. The mathematical description of such studies has only information similarity with a biological object or system. Such models allow to assess qualitatively and quantitatively dynamics of selected parameters irrespective of the object complexity and influence of the main acting factors.

Specificity of human organism condition control using MBM is determined by the structural and functional complexity, multidimensionality, multi-parameter nature and multiple connectivity [516]. Many parameters and variables of the controlled functional systems change over time with different speed and dynamism. Functional changes in the cardiorespiratory system during physical activities are an example of operative dynamism but changes associated with the training or physical rehabilitation process reflect long dynamism. The necessity to maintain homeostatics of other parameters comes into dialectic conflict with dynamism of change in the parameters of different functional systems under the influence of sports training means. The analysis should take into account the nature of adaptation changes which affect both constantly changing and homeostatic parameters [456, 477].

The various different-level systems are functioning simultaneously in the human organism. Both substantial (hormone and biologically active substance concentration in different organism media) and energy (mechanical vibration, physical load, sound, electric current, light, etc.) and information factors (words, sentences, commands) can act as control signals for these systems [350].

The human is an hierarchical complex of media of various complexity and with different nonlinearity and basing on synergetics concepts – self-organization theory, the path to a complex system is a path to media with large nonlinearities and, consequently, new properties [341, 421, 423]. The human organism functions in a model of "ordered chaos" and consists of certain functional units, which are the structures being simultaneously dynamic variables. Attractors are distinguished among such structures; they are peculiar points of attraction which cause specific metabolic and functional responses at the given moment. Complex nonlinear systems have multistability, what is in compliance with existence of many attractors each of which has its own region of attraction. Thanks to this, chaotic systems can function in a wide range of different conditions and, therefore, they are able to adapt to changing conditions of the external
environment and internal medium. Any disturbance of the functional system adaptation means loss of multistability and development of greater orderliness and in this situation some attractors assume unduly great significance (from viewpoint of the health state and adaptation mechanisms). Therefore, these synergetics patterns cause the influence of physical loads aimed at trainings or recovery of the organism adaptation reserves, i.e., finally, at multistability restoration. Basing on the literature data, one can suppose that final action mechanisms of such externally different factors as physical loads, psychologic stress, physical rehabilitation means are characterized by principal similarity. All these methods influence the stress-limiting systems; at the same time there is no direct dependence on the "dose" and the effect is not rarely achieved by just small influencing factors materializing thanks to phenomenon of "growth of a little" which is typical of nonlinear systems [435, 509]. In this situation, dosed physical loads are in the essence a trigger for sanogenesis and multistability recovery process taking into account the "vegetative memory" of neurons and autoregulation principles.

In the recent years researches focus more and more often on SM problems from biocybernetical and neurophysiologic viewpoints and distinguish a common mechanism for many physiological and pathophysiological conditions, namely, the system's ability to learning and control. In this case, learning is understood as a system's ability for form different physiological and pathophysiological stereotypes from the whole arsenal of determined biological reactions. Therefore, e.g., the overtraining condition is considered as a polytrigger multi-level pathologic system which is capable of both negative learning, i.e. chronification, and positive learning, i.e. recovery [469, 479, 498

1.3. Analyzing the efficiency and scientific validity of medical monitoring technologies of the sportsmen's functional condition

The normative documents regulating the content of medical examinations of sportsmen accumulate the basic achievements of medical and physiologic science and also opinions of leading experts and professional communities, therefore, we analyzed three versions of "Procedures" [6, 9, 10] which were in force in the period from 2010 to 2023; this analysis showed that the list of diagnostic methods and parameters was

increased gradually as the scientific data was accumulated. But parallelism between the results of scientific studies accumulated in clinical medicine and sports medicine is not observed. E.g., the scientific data on functioning of the immune and metabolic system in the sportsman's organism remain beyond normative consolidation for a long time though genetic analysis of hereditary risk factors (as medically required) is included in the last version of the "Procedure".

Such situation is illustrated by the example of introduction of the results obtained by studies of the immune system functioning into the development of new diagnostic methods within the limits of MBM of highly qualified sportsmen. So, in the period from 2010 to 2015 we studied actively peculiarities of lipid metabolism, endothelial dysfunction, autoimmune processes, immune system functioning in highly qualified sportsmen at different stages of the training cycle in order to broaden the diagnostic algorithms [398, 399, 527, 528, 529, 530, 531]. Our previous studies [351] have shown that high physical and psycho-emotional loads influencing the organism of highly qualified sportsmen cause considerable immunological readjustment which is manifested: firstly, by intensified tissue destroying what is confirmed by appearance of autoantigens of different tissue origin in the sportsmen's blood, and, secondly, by the autoimmune response involving both T-lymphocytes (what is evidenced by presence of T-cell sensitization to tissue antigens in leukocyte migration inhibition test (LMIT)) and B-lymphocytes, the number and activity of which in sportsmen increases what is accompanied by total production intensification of immunoglobulins of different classes and autoantibody production against tissue autoantigens. Accordingly, it is important to specify that T-cell sensitization of the myocardium tissue is characterized by greater duration as compared to sensitization to other tissue antigens. At the same time T-cell sensitization to the cardiac tissue is not reduced but even increases during the transitional period of the training cycle. So, it was found that the sportsman's heart was under constant T-cell autoimmune shock all the year round [351].

We also have shown in another series of studies that parodontium diseases are accompanied by the development of autoimmune processes which can be a leading factor for chronification of inflammatory diseases of the parodontium and a significant component in its pathogenesis and also exert a pathologic effect on the cardiovascular system [352].

We also found that hyperhomocysteinemia being one of the typical signs of early atherosclerosis and thrombus formation due to unfavorable damaging effect on the vascular endothelium and blood coagulation factors, intensified thrombocyte adhesion, is revealed in 60.6% of sportsmen. Our results were confirmed in more recent studies [454]. In this regard it is important to note that increased blood level of D-dimers, the fibrin cleavage products being a typical sign of venous hemostasis activation (thrombus formation) is revealed in every forth sportsman (27.3%) [530].

The totality of the above facts suggests the need to include these parameters in the thorough medical examination (TME) but this did not receive due attention and none of the "Procedure" versions issued from 2010 mention any endothelial dysfunction and coagulogram parameters. Such situation is an example of certain disagreement between the level and results of modern scientific studies and the content of documents regulating medical examinations of sportsmen. It is evident that there is a certain delay between the achieved level of professional knowledge and diagnostic algorithms included in TME programs and the regulatory documents.

The current "Procedure for Healthcare Delivery to Persons Doing Gymnastics and Going in for Sports" [10] is in compliance with the above conceptual scheme of human functional state control (diagnostics, control action, change monitoring) and provision of high quality and evidence-based MBM by the performance regulation, grouping of the subjects ad observed contingents. These approaches have been used in the practice of sports medicine in our country already for more than 30 years. In this situation, an emphasis in diagnostics and control of the functional condition is made on somatometry parameters, assessment of clinical-and-laboratory and functional-and-diagnostic parameters providing for sports implementation of the sportsman's main physical qualities (endurance, strength, coordination, flexibility, speed) and basic functional systems (Table 1.1).

But a paradox situation is formed when one of the most important principles of Olympic sports stated by Pierre de Coubertin already in 1886: "Psychology wins in the

struggle of equal rivals" [cited according to 491] gains new urgent significance and requires evidence-based methodical, neurophysiological and diagnostic sense.

Many researchers note [407, 415, 493] that inclusion of the instructions concerning participation of a medical psychologist/psychotherapist in TME in the Procedure and inclusion of a diagnostic method "Investigation of the psycho-emotional status" in TME of Russian representative teams without describing its content are evidently insufficient for high quality assessment of the sportsman's psychologic condition and for performing his functional state monitoring aimed at health preservation and achievement of the preset sports result.

Procedure requirements	Training stages				
	Ι	II	III	IV	V
Frequency of medical examinations (TME)	annuall y	annually	every 6 months	every 6 months	every 6 months
Number of specialist doctors	2	8 (+4) ¹	$11 (+3)^2$	≥ 14	≥14
Number of diagnostic methods (parameters)	10	13 Complete blood count Blood biochemistry (22) U/S (three organs)	14 Blood biochemistry (28)	17 Blood biochemistry (28)	24 ³ Complete blood count (max) Blood biochemistry (60) U/S (nine organs)
Psychological monitoring	-	-	Medical psychologist/ps ychotherapist	Medical psychologist/psy chotherapist	Medical psychologist/psyc hotherapist Investigation of the psycho- emotional status

 Table 1.1. Analysis of the Procedure requirements to TME at different training stages

¹ Henceforth the number of specialist doctors participating in TME as medically required

² Medical psychologist/psychotherapist are included in the medical team and at stages III–V and the content of their work and diagnostic methods used by them are not established by the Procedure.

³ The "Investigation of the psycho-emotional status" is included in a group of diagnostic methods and concerns only members of the Russian representative teams (stage V), and the content of this diagnostic investigation is not described in the Procedure.

In 2015 a group of leading specialists prepared clinical recommendations which specified maximally the content of psychological monitoring in sportsmen taking into account the regulatory documents in the field of medical service nomenclature which were valid at that time [415].

But, taking into account the actual financing of healthcare to the sportsman, only Procedure provisions, which are obligatory for fulfilment, are used in practice till now while the clinical recommendations are advisory and do not have the financial provision mechanism what prevents often their actual introduction into practice.

By the regulated extent of diagnostic investigations, the assessment of the sportsman's physical (somatic) condition, when implementing the "Procedure for Healthcare Delivery", takes more than 99%, and psychological investigations take only 1%. While it is evident that achievement of the sports result, provided that the somatic and psychic health parameters are preserved, is possible only in case of the sportsman's certain psychophysiological condition in most sports. This is associated to the large extent with the fact that the search for and development of objective biomarkers of psychophysiological condition are considerably difficult notwithstanding the recent significant advances in the technology for collection and analysis of neurophysiologic data including that with the use of methods for functional mapping of the human brain functions. This is also associated with the fact that, on the one hand, the tools for assessment of the psychophysiological condition used in SM are transferred mechanically from clinical medicine or general psychology and do not consider many aspects of sports selection and peculiarities of the sports activities [162, 173, 205, 233, 236], and, on the other hand, the so-called psychophysiological problem of the relationship between the psychic activity patterns and their neurophysiological, brain provision is far from At the same time it is considered that resources of such functional resolution. neurovisualization methods as functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), quantitative electroencephalography (qEEG), magnetic encephalography and functional near infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) have a great potential for solving the problem concerning the development of the sportsman's psychophysiological condition biomarkers. The use of such methods allows to study in detail brain functioning at the

systemic level of its organization under conditions of materialization of the higher psychic activity types which are critical for the sports activities.

The consideration of brain mechanisms from viewpoints of the modern ideas about organization of the brain functional systems providing for the higher nervous activity makes the base for the detailed characteristics of the brain control systems and study of peculiarities of their functioning in association with human individual peculiarities and their restructurings in the behavior dynamics [365, 366, 414, 438]. All these factors determine a potential, but yet not fully known, efficiency of use of just functional neurovisualization methods for creation of specific neurotechnologies for SM.

Investigating the association between characteristics of the psychic activity course and efficiency of the sports activities implementation is a focus for a large number of psychological and neurophysiological studies what allows in principle to outline several investigational directions having the potential for inclusion in TME. Nevertheless, the selection of a target function, the objective psychophysiological assessment of which would allow to suggest possible candidates for the role of diagnostic criteria (whether an individual parameter of the brain total electric activity or characteristic of the neurophysiologic activity in a specific brain region) is difficult to a certain degree due to absence of a consensus regarding the nature of some or other psychic processes or mechanisms associated with such function.

Within the limits of this thesis study we suggested a function of behavior control or action control processes as such target function. As we shall show below, the study included the analysis of informal description of the control processes (and also psychologic operations associated with them), their neurobiological support and also factors influencing their functioning.

Changes in functioning of action control processes play an important role in lowered productivity of the sports activities. The failure of automatic skills materialization, when destroying of a sensorimotor skill occurs under conditions of the competitive stress, is an example of such situation. Several quite widespread viewpoints on the problem of lowered efficiency of the sports activities implementation under conditions of competitions can be for clarity called the "resource" ones. E.g., in accordance with such

viewpoints, the lowered efficiency of the current activities implementation or even destroying of a highly professional sensorimotor skill under conditions of the competitive pressure can be associated with disturbance of the activities control. First of all, the matter concerns the distraction theory within the limits of attentional control, when resources (e.g., of the working memory) are spent to anxiety associated with possible defeat and, among other issues, emphasize the role of anxiety condition in lowered efficiency of the activities (see, e.g., [38]). These mechanisms are associated with so-called bottom-up or ascending neurophysiological information processing processes. The conditions of ignoring the influence or processes distracting from fulfillment of a test task, the so-called tasks for ignoring as, e.g., in situation of dichotic listening to verbal stimuli of different loudness, are an example of such situation [318]. A stimulus not favoring the achievement of the purpose of the current cognitive activity or the anxiety condition can take away the resources required for implementation of the purposeful activity and result in lowering of its efficiency and productivity (see also [125]).

In accordance with other concepts, the lowered productivity of the current activities implementation is associated with the arousal caused, e.g., by the financial reward (e.g., the situation of high rates) (see, e.g., [176]). In other words, one can find study results in the literature, which are interpreted both from viewpoints of excessive influence of the affective-motivation component associated with avoidance of loss (penalty – [206]) and with viewpoints of the resource approach, i.e. the results are interpreted as control process disorder [178].

Lately an approach is developed from viewpoint of peculiarities of activities control which is closely associated with the concept of cognitive control (see, e.g., [236]), which means the individual's ability to carry out the operative control of own cognitive activity in order to achieve the set tasks [405]. There exists many synonyms for the concept of cognitive control. It is limited in some cases only by peculiarities of attention processes and specifics of information processing associated with them, etc. But there exists also the broader understanding of cognitive control when an emphasis is made on flexible distribution of mental resources for control of thoughts and actions for achieving the set purposes [73], and also control and information retrieval from the long-term memory and

its correlation with the current purposes [329]. So, e.g., Baumeister's theory [54] states that destroying of a skill under stress conditions is associated with an attempt of conscious control of the processes, which develop automatically. But the causes for activation of such control are not described.

At the same time, psychological studies of repeating mistakes in somatosensory learning suggest explanations for the phenomenon of lowered efficiency and productivity of formed skills implementation [374]. Greshkovich et al. suggest to consider the his sportsman's condition basing on two concepts concerning possible psychophysiological condition. The sports activities under conditions of competitions differ greatly from similar activities under conditions of the training process, because, in accordance with one of viewpoints (distraction theory, processing efficiency theory [123]), the sportsman is distracted by many distracting factors which are absent during trainings, when a skill is being formed. As a result, materialization of the purposeful task suffers because of attention distraction, what, as a consequence, leads to lowered efficiency of the activities implementation and increased number of mistakes. In accordance with the considered alternative viewpoint (explicit monitoring theory, reinvestment theory [187]), such lowered efficiency of the activities implementation is associated with choking due to enhanced control. As it is known, control enhancement is accompanied by the extension of reaction or response time and also, under certain conditions, by increased number of mistakes (e.g., during implementation of complicated sensorimotor skills in musicians or sportsmen). Such opinion about the problem is in compliance with provisions developed in the works of N.A. Bernstein who noted that "directing the conscious attention to baseline movement levels almost always exert the distorting action" [364]. This conforms to opinion of E.P. Ilyin [409] who emphasized in his report that excessive control associated with high significance of the skill implementation (during competitions) was observed the most often in sportsmen going in for technically difficult sports such as jumps, gymnastics, shooting, etc. This agrees to a significant degree with purposeful studies of lowering of sports activities efficiency through the example of shooting, which showed that a threat of penalty resulted in lowered accuracy due to provocation of increased number of checking operations [374].

In other words, the excess of checking operations modelled by the instructions before the study can evidence in favor of existence of ineffective strategies for activities control. In some cases, choking can occur under external (e.g., muscle condition) or internal conditions [409] such as the emotional condition (e.g., anxiety) what can also result in enhanced control of the current activities implementation.

Another aspect of the problem of control functions is closely connected with the issue of the relationship between conscious and non-conscious cognitive control which is not always distinguished in the scientific literature. E.g., cognitive control is understood as a broad totality of interconnected processes which are responsible for planning, cognitive flexibility, abstract thinking, selection of relevant sensory information, etc. [243]. But the available data shows also that cognitive control can function also with non-conscious information. The influence of subthreshold primes and implicit regularities on the behavior is explained by this [112, 142, 157, etc.]. No consensus exists also relative the fact what specifically is done by non-conscious cognitive control. Some authors acknowledge that the nature of cognitive control in unclear (e.g., [335]). Other authors speak of a serious theoretical crisis in concepts of cognitive control [405]. The third authors consider cognitive control even as a theoretical construct, which is inaccessible for scientific knowledge [49, 217 etc.].

The concept of cognitive control and its brain provision as applicable to the tasks of the present thesis study will be considered in more detail in the sections below. It should be mentioned here that absence of generally accepted understanding of psychologic patterns in the activity of the control function mechanisms and their brain provision is a very urgent problem in psychophysiology, what cannot fail to tell upon introduction of methods for objective assessment of the sportsman's psychophysiological condition into the regulated TME practice.

Considering the above, the present study is aimed at the development of potential candidates for the role of diagnostically significant parameters of the brain functional activity reflecting such condition of the structures regulating its behavior, which can be evidence of a possible change in the sportsman's psychophysiological condition associated with worsened implementation of the sports activities.

Within the limits of this study it is suggested to solve the above problem in several stages associated with determination of the factors which are crucial for implementation of the control functions, changes in the activity of which can be potentially related to lowered efficiency of sports activities, on the one hand, and selection of an adequate clinical model and test conditions allowing to assess efficiently and/or visualize the brain provision condition of mechanisms for such functions implementation at the accessible level of neurophysiological objectification, on the other hand. Basing on the above, the next section is dedicated to more detailed consideration of neurophysiology of human brain control functions.

1.4. Human brain control functions in context of medico-biologic monitoring of the sports activities

The idea of the brain control function is one of the central concepts in the modern understanding of the human higher nervous activity. The concepts and definitions of the behavior control function gained different terminological designation depending on traditions formed in one or another field of sciences about the brain and psychic. A conception of executive functions came into being thanks to appearance of the discipline "neuropsychology" the founder of which is A.R. Luria [48, 164, 437]. As a rule, executive functions are understood as a wide range of processes and operations which allow to regulate proactively and reactively the current behavior through planning and programming the actions, monitoring of their implementation, their inhibition and selection. This totality of processes is designated often by terms used interchangeably: cognitive control/functions [437], executive control/functions [344, 436, 487], control functions [354, 380, 436]. The relatively recent analysis of the Pubmed base has shown [437] that the term "cognitive" and "executive" control is often used for designation of these functions depending on the field of studies. E.g., the term "cognitive control" is more often used in the field of psychology, neurovisualization and so-called computational neurosciences, and the term "executive control" got more widespread use in neuropsychology. Notwithstanding the certain terminological ambiguity, in accordance with common concepts, the "cognitive"/"executive functions" are provided

for in general by the structures of the prefrontal, frontal cortex and basal ganglia of the human brain (see, e.g., [140, 436]). It is difficult to overestimate the role of executive functions in behavior regulation and just their major disorders are observed in many psychic and neurologic diseases. Therefore, it is important to specify exactly what kind of processes and psychological operations is associated with executive functions.

As a rule, in order to study the executive functions, different researchers specify processes or operations which are related to implementation of the target-oriented behavior through selection, coordination and monitoring of actions [111]. These operations can be involved in two functioning regimens, one of which precedes a targetoriented action/act (proactive regimen) and the second one reactively follows its implementation (reactive regimen) [64, 137, 172, 213]. The proactive cognitive control assumes formation or retention of the purpose of activity (including planning) in the memory, formation of waiting for forthcoming stimuli and preparation of responses to them [21, 330], ignoring the distracting stimuli and focusing the attention on the relevant current task in the environmental region, making decisions, etc. The reactive cognitive control is associated with such operations as action monitoring and conflict monitoring (interferences between relevant and irrelevant information or between several variants of actions) and detection of mistakes [55, 116, 321], selection of one of variants among available variants of action (including that through overcoming the interference), suppression of the prepared (prepotent) response or suppression of irrelevant actions not selected for implementation [43, 48, 51, 52, 323] and also switching over between the tasks. The so-called cold and hot executive functions are distinguished additionally. The latter are understood as the affective aspect the above processes associated with the emotional reaction and the motivation component. It is evident that involvement of the listed processes in the flexible regulation of target-oriented behavior is impossible without such psychological mechanisms as attention, memory and control. In accordance with this, at the modern stage it is considered however that inhibitory control, working memory and cognitive flexibility are the key components of executive functions [94, 95, 160, 312]. A special role in implementation of cognitive control processes or executive functions is assigned just to inhibitory control. Several authors distinguish inhibitory

control as a central mechanism for implementation of cognitive control and cognitive activity on the whole providing for focusing and concentration on the current task, the ability to suppress irrelevant actions (including those which are prompted by distracting stimuli) or actions which lost their urgency in connection with the current purposes [95, 108]. Just disorders in the function of inhibitory control are one of frequent manifestations in the diseases associated with impulsivity (e.g., attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder [119]), obsessions [57, 76, 104, 218, 249, 301] or pathologic gambling addictions [104]. The function of inhibitory control during provision of executive functions consists in suppression of motor or cognitive variants of actions (e.g., mental operations when selecting one of potential variants of the task being solved) which are not appropriate to the current situation. Taking into account the fact that involvement of inhibitory control processes can be realized in the proactive and/or reactive regimens and just inhibitory control is a key process providing for flexible behavior regulation basing on the purposes of the activity. This explains also the great interest to studying the relationship patterns between characteristics of inhibitory control and efficiency of the activities implementation in sportsmen including sportsmen of high class. Taking into account the known data on disorders in the function of inhibitory control it is reasonable to suppose that "high" characteristics of its functioning are associated with the optimum nature of the activities implementation in professional sportsmen.

Lately the association between characteristics of functioning of inhibitory control and quality of activities implementation was actually studied quite actively. The efficiency of self-regulation processes under conditions requiring endurance when the sportsman is in condition of fatigue (as, e.g., in case of long distance running) is associated with the efficiency of voluntary target-oriented attention and also suppression of distracting environmental stimuli and also ignoring the predominant desire to lower running intensity in case of limiting levels of long-term physical load. The enhanced efficiency of self-regulatory processes in professional sportsmen is considered as reflection of the interrelationship between the efficiency of inhibitory control functioning and success of self-control during long running requiring endurance [315]. A similar correlation between inhibitory control and the quality of activities implementation is observed also when analyzing the self-control quality during autonomous trainings [65, 221]. The above statement is true also for games-based ports, e.g., football. So, the study performed by Albuquerque et al. [46] showed that those sportsmen, who demonstrated better parameter values of tactic actions during the play, were characterized by enhanced individual parameter values of inhibitory control.

It follows quite reasonably from the above that individual parameters characterizing the ability to inhibitory control can serve as predictors of success in activities implementation under conditions of sports competitions. This can be evidenced by the results of certain studies which demonstrated such relationship for different sports: accuracy of shooting [313], number of effective balls or number of goals in football [86, 120, 181] and also sports rating [166, 167]. The experimental results obtained in the above studies allow to speak of the fact that inhibitory control has an optimizing and modulating effect on tactic decision-making processes associated with perception processes and cognitive functions [325]. The professional sportsmen is often under conditions of high physical loads (and, consequently, fatigue), competitive stress pressure, rapidly changing environment and time deficit for making a decision (especially in games-based sports at high professional level), what determines the high requirements to optimality of such decisions. This requires also the optimum and stable activity of executive functions on the whole and, in particular inhibitory control, because the latter is important for regulation of not only the motor activity but also the mental activity. Therefore, it is not surprising that in the literature one can find the data evidencing the availability of a positive statistical relationship between the expertness level (sportsman's professional level) and inhibitory control characteristics [120, 168, 237]. It follows from this that more cognitively "loaded" activities, such as in game-based sports (hockey, basketball, football, etc.) in the permanently dynamically changing environment will depend on individual characteristics of inhibitory control to a greater degree as compared to other individual sports. Such requirements to executive functions will be relatively lowered, e.g., in case of running, swimming, etc. under conditions of relatively stable environment not assuming constant assessing and reacting to context changes (including that to behavior dynamics of the team partners). In fact, the studies comparing two sportsmen

groups showed that these assumptions were true. The study [161], which used the findings of stop-test (assessing the ability to interrupt implementation of a prepared action), demonstrated positive statistical relationship between the sportsman's professional level self-assessment rating and his evaluation by coachers in game-based sports (football, rugby, basketball). The recent meta-analytical study of literature data, which evaluated the behavior parameters (response time, number of mistakes) reflecting the efficiency level of inhibitory control processes also confirmed this assumption: the higher parameter values of inhibitory control were typical of more high-level sportsmen [110, 333]. The totality of the above data complies with the concepts according to which the sportsmen with relatively better parameter values of inhibitory control in game-based sports are characterized by superiorities in perception and decision-making processes under conditions of dynamically changing environment [46, 315]. The latter include also the actions of other opponent players which should be adequately taken into account to optimize the behavior strategy.

There exist also opposite observations. E.g., in several studies the patterns discussed above were manifested only in the group of young developing sportsmen [206, 227], and such changes were not revealed in relatively older, formed sportsmen. In addition to importance of considering the dynamics of individual psychophysiological development, this data suggests that behavioral parameters not always are a reliable indicator of the condition/working capacity or efficiency of executive functions evidencing directly the sports productivity. E.g., the study of sportsmen from such individual sports as badminton and fencing, did not reveal significant group parameters of inhibitory control (response time in the stop-signal test task) between sportsmen groups of different professional level [45, 249]. And the study [111], which involved sportsmen-badminton players, revealed a difference only between professional sportsmen and amateurs. Thus, taking into account the available contradictions, one can conclude that only behavioral data (response time, number of mistakes) obtained within the limits of common test tasks, in principle is not a reliable indicator of the executive functions condition. One should mention here that the following behavioral tests are used to assess inhibitory control characteristics: Stroop test task [280], Simon test task [268], Eriksen flanker test [115],

Go/NoGo test tasks [324] and stop-signal test task [182]. But, as it is noted in several studies, the results obtained when fulfilling these test tasks not always agree with each other what is manifested by weak statistical correlation between them [197, 216]. Thus, the behavioral parameters of executive functions are characterized by such level of intersubject variability that this does not allow to consider them as a highly reliable indicator or predictor of the optimum condition of the brain control functions. At the same time, at the modern level of psychophysiological studies, the approaches are available, which use methods of tomographic functional neurovisualization and allow not only to determine a set of the brain structures being the key elements in the inhibitory control system but also to obtain the characteristic of their functional condition. At the same time, this aspect associated with the use of these parameters for assessing the executive function condition remains beyond the attention of researchers. One of significant limitations in the use of the data on brain provision of inhibitory control in the assessment of the executive function condition consists in absence of non-contradictory concepts concerning the element composition of the brain inhibitory control system and characteristics of its functioning when the brain control functions are changed. This issue will be considered in the next section of the literature review.

1.5. Inhibitory control mechansms in the healthy human brain

When speaking about the brain provision of inhibitory control processes, it is necessary to consider a problem of selective and nonselective inhibition. It is considered, as a rule, that nonselective inhibition is involved in those situations when it is necessary to suppress all components of the probable behavior (action, response). E.g., when a potential threat is detected, it is necessary to stop all current activities for selecting the further nature of behavior implementation (e.g., selecting the strategy "to run away" or "to struggle", etc.). The selective inhibition is involved in relatively more complicated situation, under conditions, when action suppression assumes suppression of only a part of response components (see [58]), e.g., for complicated coordination of actions when selecting one of several variants of actions with different effectors (extremities). A situation of driving a motorcar is often presented as a variant of such situation, when

control of a steering wheel, handle of gear change and brake and accelerator pedals is distributed in a certain way between the arms and legs. The selective inhibition can be used to coordinate effectively the activities for driving a motor car (e.g., to suppress selectively the process of steering wheel control).

Thus, selective inhibition is realized as a cognitive control mechanism at the stage of perception or at the motor stage of behavior regulation. The selectivity can be associated with a certain set of behaviorally significant stimuli at the perceptive control level [58] or during suppression of one of preliminarily prepared action variant at the motor control level [89]. The combination of these inhibition processes allows to regulate almost the whole range of behavioral reactions and acts but the experimental data is known which suggests that such selective inhibition can result in a nonselective effect, namely suppression interference to other behavior components what leads to their slowed down implementation [82, 229]. This emphasizes a complex nature of the interrelationship between selective and nonselective inhibition which depends on the context of the current behavior and which can differently tell upon the balance between selective and nonselective inhibition [118, 327, 328, 338]. E.g., in the context of stimulusselective interruption of the activities, the inhibition processes are investigated using special test tasks for inhibitory control, in which implementation of a preliminarily prepared action is controlled by specialized stimuli of the "to ignore" or "to continue" type [103, 118, 172]. In other words, in order to fulfill a test task correctly, it is necessary to carry out discrimination (categorization) of such control stimuli and only after than to implement or stop implementation of such action prepared for implementation. From viewpoints of concepts of selective inhibition, such strategy is called sometimes "discriminate-then-stop" [58]. From viewpoints of concepts concerning nonselective inhibition such situation is considered somewhat differently, and, namely, as a strategy of "stop-then-discriminate" type [300], in accordance with which the occurrence of a control stimulus at first initiates automatically activity inhibition and only after that there takes place (or does not take place) restart of the motor program if the stimulus is not identified as a "stop-signal". Under conditions of the test task with Go/NoGo stimuli, such situation is manifested a extension of the response time to Go stimuli. The extension

of the response time to Go stimuli is observed at the level of motor inhibition similarly as a result of selective inhibition interference. The matter concerns just involvement of nonselective inhibition in both listed cases.

Thus, an issue on the relationship between selective and nonselective inhibition is one of the central problems for studying the inhibitory control. And, what is more important, if conditions for involvement of nonselective inhibition occur, it influences the efficiency of planned actions implementation. In a wider context, nonselective inhibition is one of key factors for effective activities regulation and it occurs both at the moment of action implementation and in case of their suppression.

It is considered that action inhibition due to involvement of selective inhibition is provided for by the neuronal network consisting of the so-called hyperdirect and indirect pathway which includes the human brain cortical structures and basal ganglia (see e.g., [131]). The hyperdirect pathway, which is believed to provide for reactive inhibition, includes such brain regions as the right inferior frontal cortex, pre-supplementary motor cortex and subthalamic nuclei. Functional specialization of these brain regions connected with white matter fibers is associated with provision of rapid and global inhibition of the motor activity (see, e.g. [196]). While the proactive, relatively slow and purposeful inhibition of the motor activity is associated with functioning of the indirect inhibitory pathway, which is provided for by the activity of subthalamic nuclei and striatum (see, e.g., [179]). The selective inhibition processes are provided for by the brain structures included in both the direct and hyperdirect pathways [134, 319]. At the same time, individual behavioral manifestations of inhibition interference correlate negatively with the tract thickness of the brain white matter connecting the structures of the hyperdirect pathway [33, 134]. This suggests the potential association between the hyperdirect pathway and nonselective inhibition [148]. As concerns selective inhibition, a relationship with similar pattern is demonstrated for the indirect inhibitory pathway for values of response time under conditions of the stop-signal test task [33, 134]. The latter is in compliance with the data on functioning of the inhibitory control in the proactive context, when preparation for selective inhibition of one of action variants was characterized by greater levels of the striatum functional activity [319].

Thus, it is considered that interaction between the hyperdirect and indirect pathways of inhibitory control provides for the dynamic balance between selective and nonselective inhibition processes. E.g., according to the theoretical action inhibition model, which was called "pause-then-cancellation" [258], cancellation of a planned action consists of two complementary stages of involvement of nonselective and selective inhibition (see, e.g. [96]). The stage "pause" is characterized by involvement of the hyperdirect inhibitory pathway structures [127, 144] providing for rapid global inhibition, e.g., in response to actuation of a distracting but valuable for the current behavior stimulus according to orientation response type. At the same time, relatively slower processes provided for by the indirect inhibitory pathway are associated with selective inhibition with involvement of the brain structures included in the cortico-basal neuronal system [41].

But under conditions of uncertainty of whether it is necessary to inhibit or implement the forthcoming action, nonselective inhibition processes begin to play the leading role in the inhibition processes. As recent fMRI investigation under conditions of the Go/NoGo test task [118] using the so-called mapping based on the region of practical equivalence or null hypothesis (ROPE mapping) showed, the human brain structures associated with provision of inhibitory control demonstrated practically equivalent activity level both in Go and NoGo tests. These were the brain structures which were associated with provision of inhibitory processes in several previous fMRI studies using the Go/NoGo test: right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, inferior frontal lobe, temporoparietal junction and also left inferior frontal gyrus (including frontal operculum) and frontal eye field. In the essence, this is the first tomographic study, which demonstrated the direct evidence in favor of involvement of these brain structures in provision of nonselective inhibition and confirmed the assumptions suggested earlier by other researchers [177, 262, 271, 295]. One should pay attention to the fact that just the right inferior prefrontal cortex is considered a key element in the brain action inhibitory control system among the above listed regions. Though the role of this brain structure was demonstrated both in the studies involving healthy volunteers using the stop-test [42, 280] and in patients with brain damages, the issue on the nature of its functional specialization regarding inhibition processes remains the subject for active discussion

[194, 287, 288, 144, 145]. In this context, the data evidencing the role of the contralateral inferior frontal gyrus in provision of nonselective control broadens the concepts concerning the element composition of the brain inhibitory control system on the whole.

Thus, the selective inhibitory control processes have been studied by now relatively more comprehensively as compared to nonselective inhibition (and also interactions between them). This is associated to a significant extent with the fact that, as a rule, the tests, in which it is necessary to suppress the response, are relatively rare in the test tasks for inhibitory control. At the same time, the tests with equally probable presentation of Go and NoGo tasks are relatively not numerous (see, e.g., [118]). And only the use of just this modification of the GoNoGo test task and a specially developed statistical method for assessment of the so-called null effects [118] allowed for the first time to prove experimentally the association between the brain structure activity and functioning of nonselective inhibition which is involved in processing of not only NoGo stimuli but also Go stimuli. This demonstrates clearly functioning of the neuronal inhibitory control system in the nonselective regimen, i.e., global inhibition regimen.

At the same time, there are few studies in this area and the issue on the nature of interrelationship between functional characteristics of the brain system providing for nonselective inhibition and the efficiency of the implemented activity is to be investigated E.g., it was shown that the neuronal inhibitory control system in the in future. nonselective regimen could be reorganized in obsessions [156]. We tested a developed new approach to the so-called ROPE mapping within the limits of this study for the first time for the clinically-oriented studies [244]. We found for the first time that extension of the element composition of the brain inhibitory control providing for nonselective inhibition was observed under conditions of the equally probable Go/NoGo test task in patients with obsessive compulsory disorder (OCD), one of the important signs of which is inhibitory control process disturbance and uncertainty intolerance [156]. The neuronal system providing for nonselective inhibition in patients with OCD includes the regions of the anterior cingulate cortex and inferior frontal gyrus (tectum zone) of the right hemisphere as compared to healthy subjects. And the more pronounced disorders in functioning of inhibitory control are (in terms of response time), the lower the activities

of the element in the region of the right anterior cingulate cortex are. The obtained data not only suggests involvement of restructuring of the brain nonselective inhibitory control system in pathogenesis of obsessions but also demonstrates a possible potential of using the functional parameters of this system as an objective indicator showing the efficiency of the executive control functioning. In this connection it should be specified that OCD is a quite severe psychic disorder with highly pronounced disturbances in the behavior control processes, inhibitory control, action monitoring, etc. At the same time the task to reveal signs of lowered activities implementation efficiency and productivity in sportsmen does not imply gross disturbances in the inhibitory control functioning, in addition to specifics of the sports activities. Basing on the above, the further development of studies in this area and achievement of the objectives of our thesis study require to use a clinical model which allows to generate the conditions for studying changes in the brain provision of the control functions on the whole and, in particular inhibitory control, which are associated with lowered efficiency and productivity of the implemented activities. Such clinical model should demonstrate reliably the parameters and indicators of the brain activity (markers) reflecting changes in the functioning of the elements of the brain inhibitory or executive control system or possible reorganization of this system which could be used in future as a "diagnostic" sign showing lowered efficiency of the executive/inhibitory control. The present thesis study selected generalized anxiety disorder as such clinical model of restructurings in the brain mechanisms of action executive control. The association of this disorder with changes in the activity of executive functions will be considered in detail in the following section.

1.6. Changes in the human brain control functions in generalized anxiety disorder

Anxiety disorders, which are one of the most frequent diseases, are characterized by disturbances of control functions. So, every third resident of well-developed countries (33.7%) has anxiety disorders during the life, and this pathology is observed 1.5 times more often in women than in men [129]. E. Ramon-Arbues et al. report revealing of moderate anxiety in 18% of students [310], and different anxiety disorders are diagnosed

in 7–15% of children [461]. Our analysis of literature dedicated to studying anxiety disorders [534] shows that, according to generally accepted viewpoint, anxiety is defined as a subjectively unpleasant emotional condition: feeling of uncertainty, waiting for bad events, difficult to define apprehensions. It is considered that pathologic anxiety is the leading symptom of anxiety disorders; according to R. Lieb and G.-U. Wittchen, its basic signs are: "1) an anxiety response and avoidance behavior are experienced by the people suffering from this disease as unjustified, inadequately intense reactions occurring too often, 2) they begin to avoid situations causing anxiety and lose control of anxiety, 3) anxiety responses develop successively and last longer that usually and 4) results in lowered life quality" [430, 534]. According to S. Kierkegaard, anxiety is generated by freedom of selection, is a result of human's encounter with diversity of possibilities [427], what, in its turn, in the essence, is an example of uncertainty situation. This is associated to a great extent with the fact that selection of one out of possible action variants is linked, as a rule, with result uncertainty what favors the development of anxiety. It is noted also that during the COVID-19 pandemic the incidence of anxiety disorders increased considerably [239, 242].

Generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) is one of the most frequent variants of clinical anxiety manifestation [304]. The prevalence of GAD over the life varies from 0.1 to 8.5% and is on average approximately 5% of cases in the adult population. GAD takes a considerable percentage (from 12 to 25%) among other anxiety disorders. This pathology is characterized by anxiety which has generalized and stable nature while not being restricted to any certain situations. That is, anxiety has "free floating" character [50]. It was shown that GAD is observed more often at the age from 20 to 40 years. In this situation, the average age of disorder onset is 15.6 years and onset of GAD was observed before the age of 20 years in 75% of cases [32]. GAD incidence increases with age reaching maximum at the middle age. The leading symptoms of GAD include internal strain, high concerns, different apprehensions and unjustified worry because of different causes which are experienced for not less than 6 months. Patients with GAD complain the most often of constant nervousness feeling linked with muscle strain and shiver, palpitation, dizziness and sweating. GAD begins often at the young age and develops as

a chronic disease. Patients with GAD tolerate uncertainty very difficultly [141]. Patients with GAD represent in advance the most unfavorable variant out of all in principle possible variants of the course of events [507]. A.B. Kholmogorova reports that pronounced chronic uncontrollable worry poorly responding to the therapy has become a special feature of this type of anxiety disorders [524]. The external signs in a patient with GAD include usually uneasy movements, restlessness, habit to fumble something, finger tremor, knitted brows, stiff face, deep sighs, or hurried breathing, pale face, frequent swallowing movements.

The main distinguishing feature of GAD is the fact that vegetative symptoms in patients with GAD are observed only permanently but not as paroxysms [373]. Different headaches are frequent comorbid disorders in GAD. Our earlier studies showed that headaches were observed in 87% of patients. In this situation, tension headaches (THA) were observed the most often (63% of cases) [418]. Migrainous pains were noted in 34% of patients with GAD. Twenty nine percent of patients with GAD had cervicocranialgia (pains localized in the cervical and occipital regions with irradiation to the parietal region which develop in forced static head and neck positions and become more intense during movements). It should be mentioned that 24% of patients with GAD had several headache types simultaneously [512]. The HADAS multi-center study involving patient with tension headaches revealed signs of GAD in 19% of cases [150]. The significant increase of anxiety level in patients with chronic THA as compared to patients with episodic THA is reported also by other researchers [39]. Sleep disorders are also a frequent cause for visits of patients with GAD to a neurologist. Sleep disorders were reported by 60–70% of patients with GAD, and insomnia appears with simultaneous development of GAD in most cases [81, 162]. The studies reveal often awakenings, extended time of falling asleep and keeping wake in the sleep period, reduced representation of deep (delta) sleep. These are so-called adaptation changes associated with the high level of cerebral activation observed both in case of anxiety and in proper insomnia [473].

An important aspect in investigation of GAD consists in description of accompanying changes in both cognitive functions (including executive control) and emotional hypersensitivity [331], disposition toward focusing on potential hard or danger of stimuli, especially under conditions of result uncertainty [141]. According to B.A. Volel, cognitive disorders are a quite often and stable symptom in patients with anxiety disorders which has a negative effect on the patients' everyday life [419]. Anxiety disorders were shown to be linked with attention disorders [369], according to type of hyperfocus to stimuli characterized by a potential threat [71]. Moreover, it is considered that such patients have transition from automatic (or not evident) to controlled (or evident) regimen of cognitive processing of the coming information. But the more processes need voluntary control, the greater the cognitive load degree and energy consumption are and the lower the possible information processing rate is [264]. Researchers report [135] the significant role of control function disorders ("executive dysfunction"), the complex of capabilities required for control and self-regulation of behavior and emotions.

According to the model of K. Cicerone et al., four aspects are distinguished in the composition of control functions: 1) control cognitive functions associated with control and planning, purposefulness of the activities; 2) behavior self-regulation functions associated with emotional reinforcement; 3) functions regulating activation i.e. providing for the initiative and behavior activation; 4) metacognitive processes [78].

Our analysis of the literary data [535] shows that observed emotional dysregulation of the activities in affective disorders is linked often with such cognitive disorders as impaired working memory, disturbed perception processes of spatial relations and behavior control processes. As a rule, such changes are accompanied by prevalence of negative emotions and anxiety-depressive conditions [470]. Generalized anxiety disorder is manifested by change in the human brain total electrical activity in the form of increased EEG (electoencephalogram) power spectrum practically in all frequency ranges. E.g., prevalence of slow-wave activity predominantly in the region of central frontal and parietal leads is often observed in GAD in the condition of operational rest. Some authors report possible involvement of the human brain hypothalamic-septohippocampal system structures in GAD pathogenesis what is reflected by increased power spectrum in EEG theta range [538]. Moreover, the EEG functional connectivity in the theta range in the operational rest in GAD is lowered relative to standard values [408]. But when patients with GAD are involved in the activity implying emotional reacting the increase of EEG power spectrum in theta range is observed, on the contrary, what is considered as GAD – associated hyperactivity of the human brain cortical-hippocampallimbic system [538]. Such picture of changes in the brain rhythmical activity in the operational rest is observed not only in adults but also in children with GAD [461]; it is accompanied by impulsivity at the behavior level what can suggest GAD-associated lowering of functional efficiency of inhibitory control processes. Moreover, as the results of our studies show the effective pharmacological correction of anxiety disorders in children is accompanied by lowering of impulsivity and EEG power spectrum in alpha and theta ranges what, can reflect, probably, the normalized control function activity [461]. Thus, under conditions of the high individual level of nonspecific activation, patients with anxiety disorders are characterized by low energy reserves and disposition to formation of protective inhibition what is manifested by increased slow-wave activity index in EEG.

The analysis of studies using functional tomography and aimed at revealing functional pattern of certain brain structures in GAD and also their interactions can be divided for clarity into studies evaluating the effect on the functional activity level of certain structures in case of involvement in the activities or the force of functional connectivity between the elements of the functional brain systems in the operational rest. E.g., under experimental conditions requiring emotion regulation, researchers report disturbances in the process of involvement into these processes of the dorsal part on the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), lateral frontal cortex and inferior parietal cortex in GAD [170, 207]. The above brain structures are the part of the so-called fronto-parietal system, which is considered to be involved in provision of cognitive control processes (processes of inhibitory control, working memory, action monitoring and their selection). In this context it is not surprising that local activity in these brain structures is lowered in GAD. Convergent findings obtained by EEG and fNIRS methods also suggest inhibitory control disorders in GAD [207].

Thus, the currently available experimental clinical and psychophysiological data not only suggest the presence of correlation between GAD symptoms and inhibitory control processes [535] but demonstrate also adequacy of our selected clinical model of GADassociated changes in the brain provision of the human inhibitory control. Taking this into account, GAD is suggested within the limits of our thesis study as the key aspect in the clinical model of inhibitory control process disturbance. It is supposed within the limits of the present study that neurovisualization signs of the disturbed brain provision of inhibitory control, which are planned to be established when studying patients with generalized anxiety disorder, can be used as potential indicators showing changes in control functions associated with changes in the inhibitory control activity and lowered efficiency of the current activity implementation. Basing on the fact that the issue on functional patterns of the brain inhibitory control system in the nonselective regimen (global inhibition regimen) in GAD conditions remains insufficiently investigated, the experimental work within the limits of this thesis study relies on the study results of nonselective inhibition under conditions of the Go/NoGo test task in healthy subjects. The previous fMRI studies, involving healthy subjects and using the modified twostimulus Go/NoGo test [172] and a new method for brain mapping based on Bayesian statistics developed by us earlier [118], established for the first time a set of elements of the brain inhibitory control system which are involved in provision of the nonselective regimen of this mechanism functioning under uncertainty conditions which are modelled by equally probable presentation of Go and NoGo stimuli. The issue of how functioning of the neuronal system changes in GAD under conditions of nonselective regimen of inhibitory control functioning remains uninvestigated. Moreover, it should be mentioned that the Go/NoGo test is the most promising for assessing the efficiency of inhibitory control processes in professional sportsmen what should be considered in more detail.

1.7. The Go/NoGo functional test in the studies of inhibitory control in sportsmen

In addition to studying the relationship between sports activities efficiency parameters and functioning of the inhibitory control mechanism, which was considered above, the nature of association between them is studied from viewpoints of the influence exerted by the complicated activities (including sports activities) on the inhibitory control parameters. One of the approaches to studying this issue consists in assessment on the influence exerted by training, aimed at improving the efficiency of fulfillment of the Go/NoGo behavioral tests and stop-test, on the functional efficiency of inhibitory control under other conditions [215]. The matter concerns the so-called "transfer" effect, when training using test tasks for inhibitory control exerts a general optimizing effect on the activities in general what can be manifested, e.g., as response time decrease what is linked with plastic changes in functioning of the respective brain structures providing for inhibitory control [148]. The Go/NoGo test task is one of the tests frequently used in the studies in this area [56]. It was shown in a group of elite fencers that trainings, aimed at optimization of inhibitory control, could be accompanied by changes in the activity of the frontal cortex and basal ganglia [286] and anterior cingulate cortex [205]. So, it was found that, as compared to the control group, elite fencers were characterized by larger N2-P3 component amplitude of event-related potentials (ERP) in NoGo tests, in which a prepared action was inhibited under conditions of Go/NoGo test task. In spite of the fact that the similar increase of these components amplitude is quite reproducible when studying just elite fencers, the study of, e.g. boxers, did not reveal such amplitude changes [98]. This is in compliance the findings of the studies which did not reveal the effect of training using the Go/NoGo test task on the inhibitory control characteristics [215]. One of the possible causes of such results consists in the fact that not the amplitude of respective ERP components but their latency is a relatively more reliable indicator of inhibitory control efficiency [332]. A series of studies concerning the influence of the professional sports activities on characteristics of the functional activity of the brain structures compared the highly qualified sportsmen with a healthy subject group [201, 205, 286]. The analysis of two sportsmen groups (basketball and table tennis) used the Go/NoGo test to compare with sportsmen from the endurance group (running, swimming, etc.) [301]. It was found that the best parameter values in terms of the response time were demonstrated for tennis players. Moreover, this sportsmen group showed less latency of ERP components associated with decision making in the time window, in which ERP components associated with inhibitory control are usually recorded.

It should be mentioned also that parameters of inhibitory control functioning can vary significantly depending on the sports. So, e.g., the comparative study of fencers and boxers using the Go/NoGo test task showed that the latter demonstrated worse parameter values [93]. In particular, boxers (as compared to fencers), whose sports activities are linked with permanent head traumatization, showed increased latency of P300 component for NoGo stimuli, which was comparable by its amplitude with the results of control subject group not being sportsmen. The obtained data was considered by the authors as reflection of the negative influence exerted by repeating brain concussions on the inhibitory control processes. Also in this context, the Go/NoGo test is an adequate way for revealing changes in the control functions associated with brain traumatization due to professional sports activities. One should mention the good perspectives of the Go/NoGo test for studying the traumatization consequences in sports and this can be one of the study areas where this test task is effective for assessing the functioning of inhibitory control mechanisms. At the same time, it is worth mentioning that we did not find similar works in this area using functional tomography methods, which would allow to reveal the brain structures associated with provision of the effects discussed above.

Thus, the above allows to conclude that the neuronal activity recorded under conditions of fulfillment of the Go/NoGo test task can be a reliable indicator of the brain inhibitory control system condition. The considered studies show either the effect of exerted by inhibitory control optimization on characteristics of the sportsman's professional activities or productivity lowering associated with negative consequences of the sports activities. Moreover, studies aimed to revealing characteristics of the element composition of the brain systems providing for inhibitory control in case of lowered productivity of the sport activities implementation and also characteristics of the functional activity of such elements were not performed (including studies using the Go/NoGo test tasks which demonstrated their adequacy in assessment of inhibitory control mechanism functioning).

The state-of-art in this study area is such that the necessity to establish typical neurobiological signs of changes in the brain provision of inhibitory control associated

with potentially suboptimal regimen of the current activities implementation becomes evident. The present study is dedicated to solving this scientific problem.

CHAPTER 2. METHODS OF THE STUDY

2.1. General characteristics of the study

To solve the tasks set in this thesis two series of studies were performed: 1) Psychodiagnostic investigations of highly qualified representatives of precise sports (rhythmic-sportive gymnastics); 2) psychophysiological investigations using fMRI data obtained within the limits of the clinical model of GAD-associated changes in the brain provision of executive control, using intergroup data comparison of healthy subjects and patients with GAD in two experimental conditions, i.e. when performing the test task for inhibitory control (two-stimulus Go/NoGo test) and in the operational rest condition. The psychophysiological investigation was performed in several stages which are presented in Fig. 2.1. The first stage implied performing the comparative study of patients with generalized anxiety disorder (24 study participants) and healthy subjects (35 study participants). At the second study stage the fMRI data, obtained in independent samples of healthy subjects, was used for searching for the brain structures the activity of which makes a key contribution to provision of the higher activity types, changes in which can be caused by GAD: 1) socially significant information processing processes, which are important, first of all, for game-based sports [270, 303], 2) executive control processes under conditions of the cognitive activity on the material of multiple-meaning verbal information processing [285]. The brain structures revealed in these studies and also in investigations of the first stage of our thesis study were used at the third stage, i.e. intergroup comparative study of fMRI data of patients with GAD and healthy volunteers recorded in the operational rest condition. It was planned to use the fMRI data obtained in the operational rest condition for assessment of the influence exerted by GAD on characteristics of functional connectivity of the elements of the brain systems for nonselective inhibitory control, socially significant information processing and also executive control. We planned to use the results of the studies, performed in our clinical model of GAD-associated changes in the brain provision of the control functions, for assessing the possible diagnostic value of analyzing the functional connectivity of the above elements when solving the task on assessment of the sportsman's

psychophysiological condition regarding possible disorders in parameters of the integrative activities of the brain systems associated with behavior control (including general cognitive and social aspects (which are important, in particular for game-based sports)).



Figure 2.1. Study design. Designations: GAD – generalized anxiety disorder, FC – functional connectivity.

2.2. Psychodiagnostic investigation of highly qualified sportsmen

the first series investigations of the thesis study performed in 2010–2012 [425] involved 31 women-gymnasts from representative teams of Russia (n = 18, age: 16.2 \pm 0.3 years (henceforth, mean \pm standard deviation)) and St. Petersburg (n = 13, age: 18.1 \pm 0.4 years). To solve the tasks of the present thesis study we performed the comparison of psychometrical data reflecting anxiety level in highly qualified representatives of precise sports of different qualification representative team of Russia – representative team of St. Petersburg [425, 532].

The precise sports as, e.g., rhythmic-sportive gymnastics, were selected as a model for this psychological investigations because these sports make high requirements both to motor (physical) qualities and to controlled characteristics of the psychologic condition in the process of training and competitive activities. Female sportsmen – members of the representative team of the Russian Federation (RF) in rhythmic-sportive gymnastics (RSG) were selected for the comparative study of psychological characteristics of the highly qualified representatives of precise sports; their parameter values were compared to those of women-gymnasts from the representative team of St. Petersburg (SPb). The period in sports of all female sportsmen included in the study was more than 10 years, the level of sport qualification: Candidate Master of Sports (CMS), Master of Sports (MS), Master of Sports of International Class (MSIC). Psychological diagnostic investigations were performed in the beginning of the second preparation stage of the annual training cycle using the Spielberger-Khanin Personal and Situational Anxiety Scale and Martens Competitive Personal Anxiety (CPA) Scale adapted by Yu.L. Khanin [523].

It should be mentioned that, as it is known, the Spielberger-Khanin Personal and Situational Anxiety Scale is intended to assess the anxiety condition taking into account its deepness, what is made in order to reveal the necessity to provide psychological aid. The use of these psychometrical parameters allows to reveal the conditions and factors under the influence of which there occurs the high anxiety condition, and also the degree of possible personal deadaptation in case of a psychotraumatic situation. Additionally, the personal and situational anxiety scale makes it possible to reveal personal characterological peculiarities, which can be useful for the sportsman's psychological condition monitoring: lack of confidence, susceptibility to suggestion, dependency in making decisions and actions, etc. This procedure consists of two questionnaires, which allow to determine the personality's situational anxiety level under conditions of a difficult psychological situation, personal anxiety level as an individual feature which does not depend on a specific situation [359].

The Eysenck Personality Inventory (EPI [505]) was used to assess the possible influence of the individual's characterological features on the signs of the anxiety condition (which is manifested in certain situations and defined as anxiety) [431]. This questionnaire was used to assess such characterological features of the female sportsmen involved in the study as extraversion-introversion and neuroticism-stability. Taking into account the main principles of the so-called resource approaches, which emphasize the role of anxiety condition, the relative intensification of which is associated with lowered activities productivity (see, e.g. [38]), the increased levels of personal anxiety could be an indicator of lowered efficiency of activities implementation within the limits of this study. Moreover, the sportsman's professional level (the representative team at the level of the country and city) can be an indirect efficiency indicator.

The individual characteristics of psychological defense were assessed additionally on the base of coping-strategies. It is known that the so-called Stress Coping Strategies Indicator is one of the procedures for diagnostics of stress-coping behavior. This procedure based on studying the basic variants of coping-strategies was developed by James Amirkhan in 1990 [36] and later it was adapted by N.A. Sirota [499] and V.M. Yaltonsky [540] for use in Russian. The procedure is a brief self-assessment questionnaire consisting of 33 statements determining characteristics of basic coping-strategies, their degree in the structure of the stresscoping behavior. The three-staged factor analysis of various situation-specific responses to stress allowed J. Amirkhan to determine three basic coping-strategies: solving problems, search for social support and avoidance (evasion). It is known that this questionnaire can be used effectively both for investigation of adolescents and young adults and adults [541], what determines adequacy of its use in sports medicine and makes it appropriate for the objectives of the the present study.

The Plutchik-Kellerman-Conte (the so-called Life Style Index, (LSI)) developed in 1979 is another one of the methods for assessment of coping-strategies which are widely used and which showed their efficiency. This tool can be used to diagnose the wide range of manifestations of the psychological defense mechanisms: to determine the strain level of eight basic psychological defenses, investigate the hierarchy of the psychological defense system and assess the total strain of all measured defenses (TSD), i.e. arithmetic mean of all measurements of eight protective mechanisms. According to Chudnovsky and Sutomina, "several scientists state that compensation and rationalization are the most constructive psychological defenses and projection and repression are the most destructive ones" [533].

Taking into account that several previous studies [362, 385, 422, 503] have found that most professional and highly qualified sportsmen leave sports quite early from the viewpoint of age periodization, this is associated to a great extent with psychological fatigue, i.e. emotional burnout [363]. The high emotional and psychological loads of highly qualified sportsmen require large physical and psychic energy consumption. The long-term emotional strain without due psychological support or in case of incorrectly developed recovery program can promote formation of emotional burnout syndrome.

Emotional burnout is a psychological defense mechanism generated by a personality in the form of complete or partial exclusion of emotions in response to selected psycho-traumatic factors [372]. This mechanism allows the human to dose and use sparingly the energy resources. But at the same time, its dysfunctional consequences can occur when burnout tells negatively upon implementation of the professional activities and in relations with the sports team members.

A series of studies performed by E.I. Grin [389, 390, 392] analyzed the personal resources for coping with psychic burnout in sportsmen. While investigating the influence of gender, age and qualification on emotional burnout in sportsmen, the author considered specific features of psychic burnout in representatives of the team and individual sports. It was shown, in particular, that representatives of individual sports had emotional burnout relatively more often as compared to group sports. A similar effect was demonstrated for sportsmen of mass athletic titles as compared to highly qualified sportsmen. Moreover, men are susceptible to emotional burnout to a greater degree than women.

In accordance with the above A.G. Barabanov and N.YU. Veprintseva [358] "revealed negative correlations between the levels of adaptation potential and symptoms of emotional burnout: sensation of being entrapped in a cage, anxiety and depression, emotional deadaptation, extended sphere of emotion sparing, emotional deficit" when investigating female sportsmen of the "Smena" team of Top League in women's hockey. The results obtained by the authors substantiated the need to use Boiko questionnaire in the psychological monitoring system [370]; it allows to determine the leading symptoms of emotional burnout and the burnout level on the whole.

At the same time, one cannot say that diagnostic significance of emotional burnout in highly qualified representatives of precise sports is studied comprehensively. Therefore, it seemed urgent to study the parameters of emotional burnout syndrome and the possibility to use them within the limits of psychological monitoring in the complex monitoring in rhythmic-sportive gymnastics basing on the experimental psychodiagnostic data obtained in the above sportsmen contingent.

Taking into account that the procedures based on assessment of the life quality are quite widely used for the complex evaluation of diverse aspects of the lifestyle and risk factors for health worsening [345, 360, 367, 402], we analyzed the life quality parameters what included assessment criteria of individual psychic and social wellbeing, functional adequacy of the specific organism systems and also subjective assessment reflecting all mentioned concepts. It should be mentioned that two aspects can be distinguished in understanding of life quality problems: objective and subjective (psychological). Therefore, the life quality is studied basing on two conceptual models: objectivistic model (official statistical data block) and subjectivistic (psychological) model using sociological survey, i.e. people's opinions about their life. Accordingly, the life quality is assessed by two methods, i.e. with the help of objective indicators and subjective estimates.

The assessment of the life quality associated with the health in different population groups is one of the used approaches [384, 452, 474]. The medical concept of the life quality includes parameters determined by the health condition (health related quality of life) and reflects the level of physical and social activities, emotional wellbeing and also subjective perception of own health.

The Russian version of SF-36 questionnaire was used to assess subjective parameters of the life quality.

Considering the above, we investigated self-assessment of the health related quality of life depending on the professional success of highly qualified representatives of precise sports . For this purpose, we performed questioning of the cohort including the women gymnasts from the representative team of RF (18 female sportsmen) and representative team of SPb (13 female sportsmen) investigated in this thesis study.

The correlation analysis was performed to assess a possible relationship between the analyzed psychodiagnostic parameters. Differences/correlation coefficients at p < 0.05 were considered significant both when analyzing each test and when assessing the correlations.
2.3. Psychophysiological investigations of human using the method of functional magnetic resonance tomography

2.3.1. The study of functional patterns of the human brain nonselective inhibiting control system associated with generalized anxiety disorder when controlling actions under conditions of the two-stimulus Go/NoGo test

The investigations at this stage of the thesis study were aimed at revealing the elements of the brain nonselective inhibitory control (NSIC) system in patients with generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) and comparison with the data obtained in health subjects (see items 1.1–1.3 in Fig. 2.1).

2.3.1.1. Healthy subjects and patients with generalized anxiety disorder

The study used the data collected at the Institute of Human Brain of the Russian Academy of Sciences earlier from healthy right hand subjects and we also performed a study involving patients with generalized anxiety (hereinafter referred to as patients with anxiety). The health subject group included 34 subjects (10 males, 24 females, average age: 25.9 ± 5.2 years) and the patient group with generalized anxiety involved 25 persons (9 males and 16 females, average age: 37.2 ± 11.9 years). All study participants were right-handed. Manual dextrality was assessed using the Oldfield inventory [219]. The performance of the study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Bekhtereva Institute of Human Brain of the Russian Academy of Sciences. All study participants signed the informed consent form for participation in the study.

2.3.1.2. The fMRI test task under conditions of two-stimulus Go/NoGo test

The test task represented two-stimulus modification of the Go/NoGo test (see Fig. 2.2) [171]. The first, preparatory stimulus warned the subjects about appearance of the second, imperative stimulus or indicated absence of the necessity of any response to the second stimulus. The investigation included two variants of the test task fulfilled by the subject during two different sessions. At session No. 1 (see Fig. 2.2. A), the subject performed action after appearance of the image pair "animal-animal" (A-A Go tests) and suppressed the desire to perform action after appearance of the pair "animal-plant" (A-P NoGo tests). At session No. 2 (see Fig. 2.2. B) the

subject performed action when the pair "animal-plant" was presented (A-P Go tests) and suppressed action when the pair "animal-animal" was presented (A-A NoGo tests). At both sessions, presentation of the first stimulus in the form of "plant" image meant that the subject should not perform any actions after presentation of the second stimulus, i.e. the subject ignored the second stimulus waiting for the nest stimulus pair (P-A Ignore and P-P Ignore tests).

Fifty stimulus pairs of each type were presented at random at each session. The order of fulfilling the instructions was alternated among different subjects. A cross for glance fixation appeared in the center of the screen when there was no stimulation. Images were presented for 100 ms, the inter-stimulus interval was 1,000 ms; the interval between presentation of stimulus pairs varied from 2,800 to 3,200 ms with increment of 100 ms. Besides that, in order to improve the efficiency of the study design, 50 blank tests (cross for glance fixation) with duration ranging from 3,000 to 5,000 ms with increment of 500 ms were presented at random between stimulus pairs. Performing action meant pressing a button by the thumb of the right hand. The scheme of the task is presented in Figure 2.2.



Figure 2.2. Study design Go/NoGo.

2.3.1.3. Specifications of data recording using functional magnetic resonance tomography

Recording and preliminary processing of fMRI images. The investigation was performed using the Philips Achieva 3.0 Tesla tomograph. Structural T1-images were recorded with parameters: field of view (FOV) – 240×240 mm; repetition time (TR) – 25 ms; echo time (TE) – 2.2 ms; 130 axial slices 1 mm thick with pixel size of 1×1 mm; flip angle – 30°. Echo planar single-pulse sequence was used to record functional T2*-images. The data recording time from 32 axial slices was 2 s (TR = 2 s, TE = 35 ms). FOV – 200×186 MM, flip angle – 90° . Voxel size – $3 \times 3 \times 3$ mm.

The specifications of fMRI data collection presented in this section were used in all fMRI investigations of activation type (implying recording fMRI data when the activity of the test task is implemented) in this thesis study. Their methodical aspects will be provided below.

2.3.1.4. Preliminary preparation and statistical analysis of fMRI data recorded under conditions of the activation investigation using the two-stimulus Go/NoGo test.

The preliminary processing of fMRI images obtained when involving the study participants in performing the activities control (performing and suppression of actions under conditions of the Go/NoGo test task [156]), included: realignment of images, correction for the recording time of one image slices, co-recording of structural and functional images, segmentation of structural images into different tissue types, normalization relative to standard coordinate space of the Monreal Neurological Institute (MNI) and spatial smoothing (Gaussian filter with width of 8 mm). The image processing and statistical analysis were performed using SPM12 (Statistical parametric mapping) package (http://www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm) [279].

The intra-subject or the first analysis level of the BOLD-signal changes using fMRI data was carried out with the help of classical frequency statistics. The intersubject or the second analysis level was done using Bayesian statistics [244]. At the first stage the brain activity associated with performing the test tasks was determined for each volunteer. The general linear model (GLM) included regressors for analyzed experimental test conditions. The regressors convoluted with the canonical hemodynamic function. To take into account the influence of movement artifacts 24 regressors were used according to Friston et al. [198]. The GLM regressor parameters were converted in percentage of BOLD-signal (blood-oxygen-level-dependent signal) change relative to mean signal values in the whole brain volume at the baseline [233].

As it was already said above, the first analysis level was carried out using frequency statistics and the second analysis level was performed with the help of Bayesian statistics [72, 203, 279]. At the first stage the brain activity associated with performing the test tasks was determined individually for each volunteer. The general linear model (GLM) [195] included several regressors for different experimental conditions: "A-A Go", "A-P NoGo", "A-A NoGo", "A-P Go" and also "P-A Ignore", "P-P Ignore" separately for sessions No. 1 and No. 2 (see items describing the Go/NoGo test task). Mistakes in performing the test task were indicates in a special regressor. The regressors convoluted with the canonical hemodynamic function. Six regressors of the head position shifts calculated at the stage of realignment, were introduced to GLM additionally to consider the influence of movement artifacts [72]. Basing on determined parameter values of GLM regressors, linear contrasts of the following type: $[0.5^{*"}A-P NoGo" + 0.5^{*"}A-A$ NoGo" – 0.5^{*} "A-A Go" – 0.5^{*} "A-P Go"] were calculated for each subject. These contrasts were used as a variable for testing hypotheses on selective and nonselective inhibitory control.

When performing group comparison, we analyzed only those voxels which were referred to the brain gray matter, for which purpose a mask was generated basing on the structural T1-images segmentation data of each subject. If posterior probability map (PPM) for the contrast larger than a certain value γ exceeds the probability threshold $\alpha = 95\%$ set by us, the hypothesis on presence of the "NoGo > Go" effect is accepted. If the contrast value falls within the interval [- γ ; γ] with probability of more than 95%, the null hypothesis on absence of the "NoGo = Go" is accepted and we can speak of practical equivalence of two tests. The use of such threshold is in compliance with False Discovery Rate (FDR) approach with correction of multiple comparisons [139]. The present study used the threshold of $\gamma = 0.1\%$ of the BOLD-signal change [72]. The obtained statistical images for two different sessions (1 and 2) were binarized and multiplied together (logic "T") for obtaining conjunction static maps of "NoGo > Go" type and "NoGo = Go" type [Nichols, 2005]. Selectivity implies selective intensification of neuronal activity in response to presentation of NoGo-stimuli as compared to Go-stimuli ("NoGo > Go", PPM(contrast>0.1) > 0.95). Nonselectivity implies practically equivalent neuronal activity level in Go and NoGo tests ("NoGo = Go", PPM(-0.1<contrast<0.1) > 0.95).

In order to perform group analysis, we used linear contrasts of compared experimental test conditions converted to percentage of the mean general brain activity at the baseline. Conversion of the linear contrasts in percent signal change (PSC) was performed using the following equation [186, 233]:

$$PSC_{ki} = SF * \frac{b_{ki}}{\sum_{k=1}^{m} b_{kconst}} * 100\%$$

where bki - parameter assessment for k^{th} voxel in the ith experimental condition; SF - scaling factor (SF = 0.21), denominator – baseline activity value averaged by all m voxels of the brain image.

When using classical statistics for tomographic data, the least square method (LSM) is applied for each voxel of the analyzed 3D image to assess parameters β i, at which sum of squares of random errors Ei reaches minimum. It is supposed that error has normal distribution (while LSM corresponds to the method of maximum likelihood): p(E)~N(0,\sigma_e^2).

The classical approach does not any additional assumptions on parameter β distribution or one can say that the assumption of continuous equally probable distribution of parameters ("Flat Prior") is used. Bayesian approach makes a posterior assumption on nonuniform distribution of parameters. The posterior assumption can be made basing on the data itself if the data is arranged hierarchically. The parametric empirical Bayesian estimation (PEB) is used in this case. Parameters are updated basing on hyperparameters corresponding to them and

obtained at the higher level of hierarchy (parameter variability). When performing intra-subject analysis, the parameter assessment for ith voxel can be updated basing on their variability among adjacent voxels. When performing inter-subject analysis, the parameter assessment can be updated basing on parameter variability among all subjects in the whole brain volume. The parameters are updated using Bayes formula: $p(\beta|Y) \sim p(y|\beta)p(\beta)$, where $p(\beta|Y)$ – posterior probability, $p(\beta)$ – prior probability, $p(Y|\beta)$ – probability to obtain data Y with parameters β .

In frequency statistics the effect is fixed and equal to zero. A conclusion is made basing on the probability to obtain data with the preset effect: $p(Y | \mu [PSC]=0) \le \alpha$. If $\alpha = 0.05$ it is expected that the effect is not equal to zero in 95 measurements out of 100. Besides that, is should be considered that the conclusion is made for many voxels, therefore, one should use correction for multiple comparisons (reduce α for each of comparisons), i.e. the classical conclusion depends on the volume of the investigated brain region. In Bayesian statistics, on the contrary, data Y is fixed (specific data is considered but not multiplicity of repeated measurements) with the effect taking random values. These values – the probability to obtain an effect of a certain size for recorded data – is characterized by posterior probability distribution. We are interested in changes in the neuronal activity [post PSC] exceeding a certain value γ exceeds the probability threshold $(1 - \alpha)$ preset by us we accept a working hypothesis on presence of the effect (so-called activation): $p_act=p([post PSC]>\gamma | Y)\geq (1-\alpha)$.

The hypothesis on presence of a negative effect (so-called deactivation) is accepted provided that: $p_{deact}=p([post PSC] < -\gamma|Y) \ge (1-\alpha)$.

The use of such threshold corresponds to correction for multiple comparisons using the method for control of false discovery rate (FDR) of the null hypothesis used in classical statistics [139]. Thus, Bayesian conclusion does not depend on the volume of the investigated brain region because it allows to go around the problem of multiple comparisons [72]. Besides that, acceptance of the null hypothesis becomes possible. For this, the condition shall be met: p_null =p(- $\gamma < [post PSC] < \gamma | Y) \ge (1-\alpha)$.

This condition means that the effect size falls in the interval $[-\gamma: +\gamma]$, which is called the region of practical equivalence (ROPE), hereinafter referred to as practical equivalence), with probability of more than $(1 - \alpha)$ (e.g., > 95%). Increase of the threshold γ and, consequently, extension of ROPE results in a stricter criterion of activation selection and more liberal threshold for accepting the null hypothesis. The opposite picture is observed in case of decrease of the threshold γ and narrowing of ROPE. In this situation there occurs a problem of selecting such threshold γ , at which the balance between sensitivity to detection of activation and null effect would be observed. Standard thresholds used in the SPM12 software are calculated basing on the information on effect distribution in the whole brain volume. At the group analysis level, the standard threshold corresponds to one posterior standard deviation prior $\sigma\beta$ con [72].

Thus, a new method for brain function mapping – ROPE mapping developed by us was used in order to reveal brain structures associated with nonselective inhibitory control [244]. This mapping method was methodically tested in independent studies of healthy subjects and patients suffering from obsessions [156] who fulfilled the Go/NoGo test task used in the present thesis study. This work resulted in obtaining a certificate of state registration of the BayInf toolbox program allowing to carry out this type of mapping basing on fMRI findings [496]. The results obtained at this study stage are presented in section 4.1.2, chapter 4.

The next stage of the thesis study associated with the comparative analysis of BOLD-signal level recorded under conditions of the Go/NoGo test task (see item 1.2 in Fig. 2.1) was performed by the method of direct intergroup comparison: the classical frequency conclusion was used (two-sample t-test). Thus, this analysis was used with the help of frequency parametric statistics. We compared linear contrasts "Go+NoGo > baseline" and also contrasts "Go > baseline" and "NoGo > baseline" calculated for the groups of healthy volunteers and patients with anxiety disorder. The intergroup comparison was performed with correction for multiple comparisons

using the method of Family-Wise error correction with significance level of 0.05 at the cluster level. Besides the comparative intergroup analysis of the brain local activity in patients with GAD and healthy subjects, we assessed functional connectivity at the moment of fulfillment of the Go/NoGo test task for two different experimental sessions differing in the cognitive load level (pressing the button to identical successively presented stimuli (session AAGO) or when stimuli of two categories APGO were presented). The parameters of preliminary data processing and its statistic analysis are presented below in section 2.4; they were similar to those, which are used in the operational rest condition.

The analysis of correlations between local BOLD-signal values of the brain structures revealed at the above study stages (see item 1.3.1 in Fig. 2.1) was performed with the help of multiple regression using frequency parametric statistics. In order to determine the relationships between fMRI signal level in the Go and NoGo tests we used a linear regression model with behavioral data (mean response rate and number of mistakes when performing the Go/NoGo test) and also with the data on the age and gender as non-interesting variables (covariates). The relationship was considered between the contrasts "Go+NoGo > baseline", "Go > baseline", "NoGo > baseline" and the following psychometric and physiologic parameters: personal and situational anxiety according the Integrative Test for Anxiety, vigilance according to Melbourne Decision Making Questionnaire anxiety assessed by Hamilton Anxiety Scale, general wall internality assessed by Level of Subjective Control Questionnaire and Kerdo index. This analysis type was carried out so that the mean BOLD-signal value in the statistical cluster revealed at the previous stage was used as one of variables (in addition to parameter of psychodiagnostic testing). The results of this study stage are presented in section 4.1.3, chapter 4.

Additionally, voxel-based correlation analysis was used with the help of the multiple regression model which, besides to above regressors, included the ones associated with covariates of interest (see item 1.3.2 in Fig. 2.1): data of psychodiagnostic investigation and physiologic monitoring as variables of interest.

For this analysis, correction for multiple comparisons was applied using the method of Family-Wise error correction with significance level of p-FWE < 0.05 at the cluster level. The results of this study stage are presented in section 4.1.4, chapter 4.

2.4. A series of studies for selecting regions of interest in order to analyze functional connectivity of the human brain in the rest condition basing on fMRI data in healthy subjects and patients with GAD

At this stage of the thesis study we performed a series of independent studies of the brain provision for those variants of the cognitive activity, which, to our opinion: 1) are associated with implementation of sports activities (socially significant information processing under conditions of social interactions [270, 303] and executive control processes under conditions of the cognitive activity [285]), 2) and their brain provision, according to the selected clinical model, can be restructured in case of changes in control functions caused by generalized anxiety disorder. The performed independent studies were aimed at revealing the brain structures – regions of interest which were used at the third stage of the psychophysiological investigation, which consisted in intergroup comparison of fMRI data of healthy subjects and patients with GAD recorded in the operational rest condition.

2.4.1. Study of changes in the human brain functional connectivity in the rest condition associated with social intelligence level

The study involved 42 healthy subjects at the of 24.6 ± 3 years (henceforth mean \pm standard deviation), 27 of whom were women [303]. Manual dextrality was assessed using the Oldfield inventory [219]. The performance of the study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Bekhtereva Institute of Human Brain of the Russian Academy of Sciences. All study participants signed the informed consent form for participation in the study.

During the fMRI in the operational rest condition, patients were asked to lie maximally still with opened eyes fixing their glance to the white cross located on a black background of the monitor screen. The scanning duration was 5 minutes.

2.4.1.1. Recording fMRI data in the operational rest condition when analyzing the association between the social intelligence level and human brain functional connectivity

For all subjects functional T2*-images were collected under conditions of operational rest (with opened eyes and glance fixation) using echo planar imaging (EPI) of pulse sequence (repetition time [TR] = 2,500 ms; echo time [TE] = 35 ms; flip angle = 90°; 32 slices, field of view [FOV] = 208×208 mm; matrix = 128×128 , slice thickness = 3 mm, distance between slices = 4 mm). For all subjects, 120 dynamic volumes of human brain images were collected, which covered the hemispheres and superior cerebellum regions.

The specifications presented in this section were used to obtain fMRI data in all cases when the operational rest conditions were analyzed (provided in the section describing the third stage of the psychophysiological investigation).

This study used the standardized Guilford-Sullivan Four Factor Test of Social Intelligence [220], which allows to assess in a complex the human social intelligence level separately from his general intelligence. This test is based on the D. Guilford's social intelligence model. According to this model, the social intelligence includes 30 capabilities four of which can be assessed quantitatively using 4 subtests. These subtests assess the 1) capability to classify different manifestations of mental conditions (Expression Groups test); 2) capability to understand logics of development of social interactions (Histories with Addition subtest); 3) capability to forecast consequences of social behavior (Histories with Completion subtest); 4) capability to understand similar verbal responses depending on the situation context (Verbal Expression subtest). The subtests include 14, 15, 12 and 14 tasks, respectively: the sum of raw scores for all subtests is transformed into a composite assessment of the social intelligence from 1 (minimum) to 5 (maximum). The above subtests are characterized by different modality of stimulus material (verbal and visual) and types of tasks (grouping, forecasting, interpretation). They are closely connected with tasks aimed at measurement of capabilities [220] associated with formation processes of conceptions on the content of opponents' intentions and thoughts (the totality of such processes is designated in the English literature by a term "Theory of Mind"). E.g., the Expression Groups subtest is similar to the Reading Mind in the Eyes (RMET) test while the Histories with Addition and Histories with Completion subtests are used separately from each other to assess the development of capabilities associated with TOM [66, 211, 247]. The subtest variants are presented in Fig. 2.3.



Figure 2.3. Examples of measurements in the Guilford-Sullivan test. Task A represents the Cartoon Predictions subtest, where participants must select one of three cartoons that most appropriately describes the outcome of the suggested situation. Task B represents the Missing Cartoons subtest, where participants are

required to choose one of four cartoons, which correctly fills the suggested sequence of cartoons

It should be mentioned here that this test was successfully used earlier when studying the relationship between the social intelligence and morphological peculiarities of the human brain gray matter [208]; the results of this study were used for selecting regions of interest for analysis of the functional connectivity at this stage of the thesis.

2.4.1.2. Preliminary fMRI data processing and statistical analysis in the operational rest condition when analyzing the association between the social intelligence level and human brain functional connectivity

The preliminary rest fMRT date processing was performed in the CONN Functional Connectivity Toolbox package [334]. Realignment and slice-timing correction were performed for all functional images. The parameters of spatial normalization to the standard anatomic space were calculated for all anatomic images, after that these parameters were applied to functional images. Then a smoothing Gaussian filter with point size of 8 mm was applied to all functional images. After preprocessing all images were subject to the denoising procedure. In order to remove signals not associated with neuronal activity, the CompCor strategy was used [17], which allows to extract the signal part from the white matter ad cerebrospinal fluid. Six movement parameters and their first-order derivatives were used as regressors of the general linear model. The last stage consisted in the use of a frequency filter with frequency range of 0.008–0.09 Hz.

The analysis between the regions of interest and other voxels of functional images (ROI-to-voxel) was performed in order to measure the functional connectivity between the caudate nuclei and brain regions. The selection of regions of interest (ROI) for analysis in the region of the caudate nuclei was caused by the results of the previous study [208], which used voxel morphometry and revealed statistically significant difference in the caudate nuclei volume when comparing the subject groups with high and low social intelligence level. Spherical masks with radius of 5 mm localized in the region of the bodies and heads of the caudate nuclei

were used as ROI in accordance with the study of Seitzmann et al. [22]. The selection of ROI was based by the anatomical division of the caudate nuclei. ROI in the region of the tail of the caudate nucleus were not used because of their anatomical peculiarities: this structure is represented by a narrow stipe of the gray matter and is characterized by the position near the lateral ventricle wall as a result of which its ROI localization is subject to the effect of partial volume [260].

The functional connectivity maps between the signal within ROI (averaged by all voxels of the analyzed region of interest) and other voxels of functional images were formed for each subject by transformation of Pierson correlation coefficients r to z-values. The multiple regression analysis with the help of the general lineal model (implemented in CONN package) was used to reveal correlation between the social intelligence level and FC between the caudate nuclei and other brain regions. The total assessment of the social intelligence was transformed into z-values and used as a variable of interest. Raw score distribution according to the Guilford is presented in Figure (Fig. 2.4). The gender and age were used in the analysis as ignorable variables. The functional connectivity of the caudate nuclei at rest was analyzed additionally. Two t-contrasts for a respective variable were used to reveal the positive and negative correlations between z-values of the assessment of the social intelligence and FC between ROI in the caudate nuclei and other voxels of the functional images. Statistical parametric maps were constructed using the uncorrected threshold of p < 0.001 at the voxel level with subsequent correction for multiple comparisons at the cluster level according to the Family-Wise error (FWE) method with the threshold of p < 0.5 (see section Methods in the report of [303]). The analysis results were visualized using the MRIcron software package.



Figure 2.4. Guilford test values distribution obtained from the healthy subjects.

2.4.2. fMRI investigation of the local activity and modulated human brain functional connectivity in social interactions under conditions of the Taylor test task

The study involved 42 healthy right-hand volunteers (26 females and 13 males at the age of 24.5 ± 3.6 years) without history of psychiatric or neurological disorders and currently not taking drugs. Manual dextrality was assessed using the Oldfield test [219]. All study participants signed the free informed consent form before beginning of the study. All procedures were performed according to Helsinki Declaration and approved by the Ethics Committee of Bekhtereva Institute of Human Brain of the Russian Academy of Sciences. After the investigation the subjects filled in questionnaires concerning their strategy and opinion about the opponent.

2.4.2.1. The test task of the fMRI investigation for social interactions under conditions of Taylor aggression paradigm

This study used a modified version of the test task, which is known from the studies of aggression and called Taylor aggression paradigm, hereinafter referred to as TAP-investigation [121, 130]). The investigation participants were informed of the fact that they would play a game for response rate with an opponent. The test task was divided in four sessions. A volunteer played with an anonymous (Anon)

opponent in two of them and with a known (Known) opponent in other two sessions. Each test (game round) consisted of four phases (see Fig. 2.5).



Figure 2.5. Taylor aggression paradigm task scheme.

In the first phase (hereinafter referred to as "Decision" phase) the monitor screen showed avatar of anonymous opponent or photo of an actual opponent done before beginning of the investigation on the day of scanning, and a message: "Decide how much money you will take away from your opponent". During the "Decision" phase, according to the instruction, a volunteer had to select that amount which he wished to take away from the opponent in case of victory in this round. During the second phase (hereinafter referred to as "Scale" phase), the monitor screen showed a gradually filling scale with amounts of 0, 20, 80, 100 roubles. At that moment, when the scale corresponded to the amount, selected earlier during the "Decision" phase, a volunteer pressed a manipulator button with the right index finger. During the third phase (hereinafter referred to as "Game" phase) the image of a football appeared at random in one of the four angles of the playing ground on the monitor screen. The task for the volunteer was to press the button with the right index finger quicker than his opponent having seen the ball but at the same time he should not press the button prematurely (before appearance of the ball). During the fourth phase (hereinafter referred to as "Feedback" phase) the monitor screen showed avatar of the anonymous opponent or photo of the actual opponent and a message: «The opponent took 0/20/80/100 away from you!» or «You won 50 roubles!».

According to the instruction, the selection of the amount by the volunteer in the beginning of the round influenced the fact of how much roubles the opponent would lose in case of the volunteer's win. In its turn, the amount which was taken away from the volunteer in case of his defeat depended on the selection of his opponent. The prize of the volunteer and opponent did not depend of their selection. The prize was fixed and equal to 50 roubles.

Actually, the number of tests with the prize of 50 roubles and loss of 0/20/80/100 roubles was preprogrammed by the researchers and did not depend on the volunteer. These tests were presented at random. The number of tests with the win among all four sessions was 60, the number of tests with loss of 0 and 100 roubles was 24 each, with loss of 20 and 80 roubles – 26 each. The number of tests could change only in case, when the volunteer did not press the button when catching the ball. In such case 0 or 20 roubles was always taken away from the volunteer in the "Feedback" phase.

The duration of the "Decision" phase was 2 s, duration of the "Scale" phase was 2.8 (the first amount of the scale appeared at second 1, three subsequent amounts at millisecond 600); the duration of "Game" phase was 1.55 s (absence of the ball in the screen for 700–1,200 ms, the ball appeared in the screen at millisecond 600), the duration of "Feedback" phase was 2 s. The interval between the "Decision" and "Scale" phases varied from 2 to 5 s and was 3.5 s on average. The interval between "Game" and "Feedback" phases was 1 s. The interval between "Game" and "Feedback" phases varied from 2 to 5 s and was 3.5 on average. The interval between the tests varied from 2 to 5 s and was 3.5 on average.

2.4.2.2. Statistical analysis of fMRI data obtained in the studies aimed at revealing the elements of brain systems providing for socially significant information processing under conditions of the Taylor test task

The specifications of fMRI data collection and also the stages of its preparation to statistical analysis are presented above in section 2.3.1.3, chapter 2.

Firstly, statistical analysis was performed for each participant separately and individual general linear models (GLM) were generated. The same GLM models

with 11 regressors representing time characteristics of the experimental phases were generated for anonymous and known opponents. The events were classified similarly to GLM generated by Wagels et al. [121] who also used version of TAP task which was compatible with fMRI. Namely, the event were modelled with occurrence in the beginning of the experimental phase and duration equal to zero. The "Feedback" phase (provocation) corresponded to three regressors of GLM: low provocation (loss of 0 and 20 roubles), high provocation (loss of 80 or 100 roubles) and absence of provocation (prize). The "Decision" and "Scale" phases were sorted in accordance with provocation in the previous test: low, high and absence of provocation. A separate regressor corresponded to the "Game" phase. GLM included also individual regressors for six parameters of the head movement obtained during preprocessing at the stage of realignment [195]. Then regressors were convoluted with the standard hemodynamic response function (HRF).

Secondly, beta-values of regression coefficients for regressors in GLM were assessed at the individual analysis level. We calculated linear contrasts of betacoefficients for each game phase and initial BOLD-signal level which were used as a variable for the analysis of the second (group) level. When analyzing the random effects of the second level, the models were constructed for each interesting game phase ("Decision", "Scale" and "Feedback") separately and included two factors with two levels: "provocation" (high and low) and "opponent" (known and anonymous). F-contrasts for the main effect of the opponent, main effect of provocation and interaction of two factors were calculated.

Finally, the obtained F-contrasts were used for the statistical conclusion by voxels at the group level. Uncorrected threshold of p < 0.001 was used at the level of voxels, and the threshold of p < 0.05 with correction for multiple comparisons by the Family-Wise error method (FWE) was used at the level of clusters. The mask of the gray substance generated using segmented structural images was used for

selection of voxels within the gray matter in all objects. Xjview Toolbox2¹ was used to determine anatomical position of voxels with significant changes in the local neuronal activity. The REX set of tools was used for illustration of differences in beta-coefficient values in obtained clusters of BOLD-signal changes.

The generalized analysis of psychophysiological interactions (gPPI-analysis) using the program for SPM12 was performed in order to assess the influence of the opponent anonymity on changes in modulated functional connectivity between the brain regions [20]. This method allows to discriminate context-dependent changes of the functional interaction force from simple coactivations and correlations of spontaneous signal fluctuations observed in the rest condition. The regions of interest (ROI) were selected basing on two criteria. Firstly, ROI should be a TOM network node. Secondly, ROI should be characterized by differential neuronal activity during interaction with the known anonymous opponent obtained in the present study. One cluster including the right inferior frontal gyrus (IFG) met the above criteria because it was characterized by differential activity in our study and was referred to the TOM network in previous meta-analyses [183, 224]. Besides that, the local BOLD-signal in the right IFG was intensified when observing provocation on the part of the anonymous opponent as compared to the known opponent: the contrast "Anonymous opponent" > "Known opponent" calculated to the phase "Feedback" (see The influence of the opponent anonymity on changes in the local brain activity when obtaining social provocation ["Feedback" phase in section 3.2). Thus, we selected UFG cluster with center in coordinates MNI x = 57, y = 11, z = 14 as a e ROI in gPPI-analysis.

In gPPI-analysis, specific GLM described above included additional regressors: physiologic regressor and PPI regressors. Physiological regressor Xphysio(t) represents a temporal series of BOLD-signals in ROI. In order to generate PPI-regressor XPPI(t), the temporal series of BOLD-signal from ROI were subjected to deconvolution (\otimes^{-1}) with HRF(t) in order to reveal the underlying

¹ https://www.nitrc.org/projects/xjview

neuronal activity Zphysio(t): Zphysio(t) = Xphysio(t) \otimes ^-1 HRF(t) [191]. The obtained signal was multiplied by the temporal characteristics of experimental events Zpsy(t). The result of this multiplication was the psychophysiological interaction at the level of neuronal activity. In order to model this interaction at the level of the BOLD-signal is was subject to the procedure of convolution with XPPI(t) = (Zphysio(t) · Zpsy(t)) \otimes HRF(t). PPI-regressors were generated separately for anonymous and known opponents for regressors of interest including the "FeedBack" phase with low and high provocation. The analysis was performed for the "FeedBack" because considerable changes in the local BOLD-signal were recorded for this phase of obtaining provocation from the anonymous opponent.

Similarly to the analysis of changes in BOLD-signal, group models included two factors with two levels: "provocation" (high and low) and "opponent" (known and anonymous). F-contrasts for the main effect of the opponent, main effect of provocation and interaction of two factors were calculated.

The uncorrected threshold p < 0.001 was used at the voxel level and the corrected FWE threshold p < 0.05 was used at the cluster level. The mask of the gray matter generated of segmented structural images was used for selection of voxels within the gray matter in all subjects. xjView Toolbox¹ was used to determine the anatomical position of voxels with significant changes in the local neuronal activity. In order to interpret and illustrate the results from viewpoint of the fact which clusters obtained by analysis of the whole brain are localized in the TOM neuronal system, we used statistical maps of seven regions associated with TOM (right temporoparietal junction (rTPJ) and left TPJ, precuneus, dorsal, medial and ventral components of the medial prefrontal cortex and the region of the right superior temporal sulcus) [267] downloaded from https://saxelab.mit.edu/use-our-theory-mind-group-карты/. The results obtained in the current study were superimposed on the regions obtained by [267]. Only those clusters, which coincided with TOM regions by their localization, were interpreted as ones localized in the TOM system.

¹ https://www.nitrc.org/projects/xjview

The REX¹ tools were used to illustrate differences of regression coefficients in the obtained clusters of changes in the functional interactions.

2.4.3. fMRT investigation for revealing the elements of the brain system providing for executive control processes performed under conditions of resolving lexical ambiguousness in healthy subjects

fMRI investigations involved 48 healthy volunteers (20 males and 28 females at the age of 26.7 ± 5.3 years (the data of four of them was excluded later from the analysis)) [285]. All subjects were right handed, and manual dextrality was assessed using the Oldfield inventory [219]. The performance of the study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Bekhtereva Institute of Human Brain of the Russian Academy of Sciences. All study participants signed the informed consent form for participation in the study.

2.4.3.1. The test task aimed at revealing the elements of the brain systems providing for executive control processes, using the model for studying lexical ambiguousness resolution processes

The task for the subjects consisted in the necessity to end the pairs adjectivenoun with dropped letters in Russian. E.g., the fragments *c-xoe ви-о* or *c-xoe -ино* (*-ry wi-e*) were shown in the screen and the participants had to determine the dropped letters saying the word combination: *cyxoe вино (dry wine)*. The subjects were instructed to say the first occurring solution in order to induce the implicit processing and avoid realization of several solutions. There was always only one solution for adjectives. Nouns had one or two solutions depending on the experimental condition but the adjective prioritized one of them in each fragment. In the above examples, *ви-о* (wine) can be ended only as "вино" (wine) (control condition), but *-ино* can be also ended as "кино" (film) (not single meaning condition).

The phrases adjective-noun used as stimuli were generated as follows. At first we used the StimulStat database [34] to select noun pairs differing in only one letter, e.g. "вино" (wine) and "кино" (film). All nouns consisted of 4–5 letters, their frequency varied from 5 to 100 incidence per million (ipm) (according to frequency

¹ http://www.nitrc.org/projects/rex/

dictionary [432]). The difference in frequency between two nouns in each pair never exceeded 50 inches per minute. For each noun we selected an adjective which is often combined with it and is incompatible in the pair with another noun. E.g., for the noun "вино" (wine) we selected "сухое" (dry) and for "кино" (film) we selected "интересное" (interesting).

We performed the pilot study involving 22 volunteers (adult healthy Russian native speakers who gave the informed consent), in order to check whether selected adjectives were actually closely associated with one noun in the pair but not with another. They did not participate in the main experiment. During this study, fragments adjective-noun in ambiguousness condition were shown in the computer screen one after another at random. The participants were asked to end them as soon as possible but time limitations were not included in the experimental procedure. As a result, 48 sets of stimuli (consisting of two nouns and two adjectives) were selected basing on the following inclusion criteria: more than 70% of correct answers for both combinations adjective-noun within 5 second interval after presentation of the fragment.

Out of these 48 sets 15 included noun pairs differing in the first letter. The last letters of nouns were different in 7 sets; the difference in the middle letter was in other 26 sets. For each set, 4 fragment stimuli were generated: two in ambiguousness condition (e.g., *c-xoe -uHo (dry wine), u-mepecHoe -uHo (interesting film)* and two in the control condition (e.g., *c-xoe ви-о (dry wine), u-mepecHoe ки-о (interesting film)*). The noun-stimuli were identical in two ambiguous fragments (e.g., *-uHO)*. So, if one of them is presented after another, it is possible to investigate, how the same ambiguous stimulus is processed the first and the second time in two different contexts (generated by adjectives).

During the fMRI investigation each participant was offered to complete 96 fragments, i.e. all adjective and noun combinations generated by us (in one of the two experimental conditions). Two word combinations from the same set were always separated by three other stimuli and demonstrated in the same condition, i.e., those subjects, who saw *c-xoe ви-o (dry wine)*, also saw *u-mepechoe \kappa-но*

(interesting film) (both fragments in the control condition); those, who received *cxoe -uho (dry wine)* saw also *u-mepechoe -uho* (interesting film) both fragments in ambiguousness condition). This provides us four variants for each set of stimuli: e.g., presentation of the fragment "вино" (wine) before or after fragment "кино" (film) in ambiguousness or control condition. We generated four experimental lists using the principle of Latin square. We generated three different sequences of stimuli presentation for each list making sure that two fragments from each set were separated by three stimuli. The more detailed information concerning the lists of used word combinations is presented in appendix to the publication of the study results [285].

So, we obtained four types of experimental tests (Fig. 3.1):

– Ambig1st – the first fragment from the set in ambiguousness condition (e.g., *c-хое -ино (dry wine)*);

Ambig2ndt – the second fragment from the set in ambiguousness
 condition (e.g., *и-тересное -ино (interesting film)*);

Control1st – the first fragment from the set in control condition
 (e.g., *c-xoe ви-o (dry wine)*);

– Control2nd – the second fragment from the set in control condition (e.g., *u-mepechoe ки-o (interesting film)*).

In the tests Ambig1st, the noun can be ended in two different ways but the context (i.e., adjective) favors unconscious selection of one variant (e.g., the word "вино" (wine) in Fig. 3.1). In order to check, whether the second variant (the word "кино" (film)) was suppressed as a result of such selection, the tests Ambig1st were compared with tests Control1st, in which one could not expect suppression (but the same adjectives and nouns were used in order to avoid any mixed factors). To check also, whether the selection process in the test Ambig1st complicated the selection of presumably suppressed variant in the next test Ambig2nd, i.e. negative aftereffect, we performed the additional analysis. For this purpose, the tests Ambig2nd were compared with tests Control2nd, in which one could not expect effects of previous

suppression. The interval of three tests was selected as relatively short but not immediate.



Figure 2.6. The experimental design of the fMRI study. The table illustrates four different trial types. The pictures in the lower part illustrate two variants of completion of the noun -ino (vino 'wine' or kino 'movie').

Each fragment adjective-noun was presented in the screen for 5 s. The participant had to press the button of the MR-compatible controller and say an ended phase within this time. Pressing the button was included into the task in order to measure possible changes in the response time as we expected potentially negative consequence in the condition Ambig2nd caused by the supposed suppression of unselected ending in the condition Ambig1st. Verbal answers were recorded and later analyzed for revealing mistakes in finding solutions for word fragments. It was expected that memory blocking effects would be associated with intrusion mistakes, i.e. with repeating the solution found for the fragmented noun in the condition Ambig1st but irrelevant for condition Ambig2nd.

The stimulus did not disappear after pressing the button and remained in the screen for 5 s. A fixation cross was presented in the screen during inter-stimulus intervals. In order to improve the sampling frequency of hemodynamic function response its length varied at random from 3 to 8 s with equally probable increment of 500 ms. The total duration of one fMRI session was 16.8 min.

After completing the investigation, the participants received a printed list of all stimuli (in the order of presentation) and indicated for which ambiguous fragments they understood that two variants of ending were possible. The participants reported very small number of such cases which we excluded from the subsequent analysis. Of course, we could not guarantee that they remembered accurately all such cases but we wished to make every efforts to exclude them, because we were specially interested in unconscious processes of ambiguousness resolution in this investigation.

2.4.3.2 Statistical analysis of fMRI data obtained in the investigation aimed at revealing the elements of the brain systems providing for executive control processes, using the model for studying lexical ambiguousness resolution processes

The specifications of fMRI data collection and also the stages of its preparation to statistical analysis are presented above in section 2.3.1.3, chapter 2.

This analysis type was carried out in two stages. At the first stage the brain activity associated with performing the test tasks was determined individually for each volunteer. The general linear model (GLM) [279] included regressors corresponding to four variants of the experimental conditions described above (see Fig. 2.6): Ambig1st and Ambig2nd and also Control1st and Control2nd. In addition to these regressors, we included a regressor in the form of parametric modulator (hereinafter referred to as PM) reflecting response time (times of pressing the button by the subject before saying a phase ending variant were used).

Additionally, basing on the questioning results after the investigations, the tests of Ambig1st type, in which the subjects noted availability of two noun completion variants, were isolated as a separate regressor ("DoubleMeaning"). Also the tests, in which the subjects gave incorrect answers (i.e. not corresponding to the adjective)

and tests, in which the subjects did not answer, were isolated as a separate regressor ("Mistake"). Six regressors of the head position shifts calculated at the stage of realignment, were introduced to GLM additionally to consider the influence of movement artifacts [195].

The standard function of hemodynamic response and stimulus screen presentation time were used to construct regressors. The differences of betacoefficients obtained at the individual level, when calculating the linear contrasts of the kind "Type of experimental test" > "Rest condition", reflecting changes in the BOLD-signal in relative units, were used as variables for the second, group stage of the statistical data analysis. The group data analysis was performed in voxel-based regimen taking into account the inter-subject variability (random effect analysis). The statistical conclusion was made using Bayesian statistics with log posterior odds threshold > 5 (posterior probability of obtaining the effect 0.99) what corresponds to "very strong" effect and also the effect size Hz > 0.

The contrasts of Ambig1st>Control1st type and Ambig1st<Control1st type (experimental test) were analyzed in order to check the above hypotheses on the mechanisms of the brain provision for unconscious word meaning selection processes. It was supposed that, if the hypothesis on the determinant role of selection processes (without involvement of suppression) was true, significant changes in the BOLD-signal should be revealed only in the comparison Ambig1st>Control1st, as when presenting a noun with a dropped letter with several completion variants, several meanings were actualized (activated), out of which meaning was selected which was the most appropriate to the context. It was supposed that such BOLD-signal changes would be observed in the prefrontal cortex structures which are associated with provision of selection processes and also in the temporal and prefrontal brain regions associated with provision of semantic word analysis.

If the hypothesis is true, in accordance with which during unconscious selection of one meaning there occurs suppression of other meaning, it was supposed to reveal in the contrast Ambig1st>Control1st intensification of BOLD-signal in the brain structures associated with inhibition provision (e.g., the right supplementary motor cortex or right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex).

2.5. Analysis of the human brain functional connectivity in the operational rest condition using the regions of interest revealed at previous study stages within the limits of a clinical model of GAD-associated changes in the brain provision of control functions

The control group included fMRI data in the operational rest condition of 100 healthy subjects without neurological pathology (the ratio of males and females = 50:50, average age: 24.7 ± 4.2 years), and the group of patients with generalized anxiety included 25 persons (9 males and 16 females, average age: 37.2 ± 11.9 years). All study participants were right-handed. Manual dextrality was assessed using the Oldfield inventory [219]. The performance of the study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Bekhtereva Institute of Human Brain of the Russian Academy of Sciences. All study participants signed the informed consent form for participation in the study.

2.5.1. Statistical processing of fMRI data obtained in the operational rest condition

The specifications of collection and preparation of fMRI data in the operational rest condition are presented in 2.4.1.1.

For additional control of the movement artifacts in functional images, the image volumes with maximum shift (> 0.5 mm) and maximum change in the global signal intensity (z-value of global signal intensity > 3) were determined for each subject; they were not taken into account when calculating individual values of functional connectivity. The subjects, for whom the number of outlier dynamic images exceeded 25% (> 30) were excluded from the further analysis. Additionally, the framewise displacement (FD) [277] was calculated for each subject; it was used as an ignorable variable in the intergroup analysis.

The analysis of functional connectivity between regions of interest – the brain structures of and analyzed brain systems and other brain voxels – was performed for the following regions of interest:

1.1. Brain structures providing for nonselective inhibitory control (under conditions of Go/NoGo test) (see sections 4.1.2–4.1.4, chapter 4).

1.2. Brain structures providing for socially significant information processing in social interactions (see section 4.2.1, chapter 4).

1.3. Brain structures providing for executive control of cognitive activity when resolving ambiguousness (see section 4.2.2, chapter 4).

Regions of interest (ROI) represented spheres with diameter of 10 mm, whose coordinates of center corresponded to coordinates of cluster peak obtained in the studies described above. Before determination of the region of interest, a group mask of gray matter was formed so that ROI should contain only gray matter. The following was used additionally as ROI: 1) Collection of anatomical charts aal3 (automated anatomical labeling) [47], 2) set of 300 spherical ROI according to Seitzman et al. [22].

Both the analysis of FC between ROI (ROI-to-ROI) and analysis of FC between ROI and other voxels of functional images (ROI-to-voxel) were used to reveal differences in the degree of functional connectivity (FC) between groups of patients with anxiety disorder and healthy subjects. Two-sample t-test was used to compare groups; gender, age and FD parameter were used as ignorable variables. The following was used for the first type of analysis: 1) statistical threshold p < 0.05 with correction for multiple comparisons by the false discovery rate method (FDR) at the level of separate relationships and 2) p < 0.05 without correction for multiple comparisons by the FDR method at the cluster level with threshold p < 0.05. For the second type of analysis, statistical parametric maps were constructed with the voxel-based uncorrected threshold p < 0.001, with subsequent correction for multiple comparisons by the FDR method at the cluster level with the voxel-based uncorrected threshold p < 0.001, with subsequent correction for multiple comparisons by the FDR method at the cluster level with the voxel-based uncorrected threshold p < 0.001, with subsequent correction for multiple comparisons by the FDR method at the cluster level (p < 0.05).

If clusters were revealed, in which the functional connectivity values differed significantly between two compared patient groups with anxiety disorder as compared to health subjects, correlation analysis was performed using the data of psychometric investigations of the patient group with anxiety. The functional connectivity values expressed in the form of Pierson correlation coefficient were transformed into Fischer z-values and averaged for such clusters. The obtained values were used as variables for calculation of Pierson correlation coefficient with values of psychometric parameters and Kerdo index.

CHAPTER 3 RESULTS OF OWN STUDIES. PSYCHOLOGICAL INVESTIGATION OF HIGHLY QUALIFIED SPORTSMEN

3.1. Results of psychological investigations of women gymnasts

3.1.1. Personal characteristics of investigated women gymnasts

Our analysis of literature data [532] showed that coping with action of stressor factors associated both with strain of training processes and result pressure during competitions could be materialized due to changed anxiety condition [19, 349, 404] or, according to English reports, sports anxiety [276]. The anxiety as a personality feature is associated with genetically determined properties of the human brain functional activity and, as a rule, high anxiety is often caused by the intensified sensation of emotional arousal and anxiety emotions [349, 478] which tell upon the quality (efficiency) of sports activities [255, 276].

According to opinion of some authors, the increased anxiety level can be considered as one of the main markers of lowered efficiency and productivity of the competitive activities [184]. The increased anxiety level often has a negative influence on the sportsmen's capabilities self-assessment and productivity of their activities [255, 276, 394].

The problem of relationship between efficiency of implementation and productivity of sports activities and anxiety level still remains one of controversial issues in sports medicine and psychology [276, 337]. E.g., increased personal anxiety level is not certainly an unfavorable factor promoting unsuccess in competitions. On the contrary, according to Yerkes–Dodson law [411], there exists the individual optimum level of "useful anxiety" at which anxiety has a mobilizing action on the sportsman stimulating the fulfillment of the set tasks and achievement of the best result [370]. Moreover, both increase of anxiety and lowering of the activities implementation efficiency are observed as motivation grows (see Fig. 3.1).



Figure 3.1. Schematic representation of the Yerkes-Dodson law

As the results of experimental studies show, this law reflects the relationship between changes in anxiety levels and sports productivity and also training efficiency [441] and are evidence of existence of a certain optimum. This correlates to a significant extent with the Khanin's theory of individual zones of optimal functioning [146] when the efficiency peak of sports activities is achieved when a certain individual ratio between excitability and anxiety is present. The more complex picture of cognitive and somatic anxiety aspects is considered within the limits of the Martens multidimensional anxiety theory [184] when lowered efficiency of sports activities is observed in case of cognitive manifestation of increased anxiety level and the inverted U-relationship is noted in case of somatic/vegetative manifestation how it is established in Yerkes–Dodson law.

At the same time, one can find reports in the literature, according to which linear growth of the sports activities efficiency is observed when competitive anxiety (associated with sports activities) increases [152]. Or, e.g., it is considered that somatic anxiety is correlated with sports activities according to Yerkes–Dodson law only at low individual anxiety levels (it its cognitive aspect) (see Hardy and Parfitt catastrophe theory [147]).

Basing on the above one can conclude that the problem of relationship between sports activities productivity and anxiety remains unsolved [276, 337]. But the available data of the experimental studies on this problem are quire contradictory [74], which is, probably, associated with a relatively small number of neurobiological/psychophysiological studies and, as a consequence, lack of neurophysiological objectivization of the principles developed in the above theories and laws.

At the same time it should be mentioned that regulatory requirements set in the "Procedure for Organization of Medico-Biological Support of Sportsmen from the Sports Representative Teams of the Russian Federation" imperatively determine "Measures of Psychological Nature" [11], which include: 1) psychological and psychophysiological diagnostics (individual, group) of personal features and professionally important characteristics of sportsmen; 2) psychological training aimed at prevention of deadaptation conditions and improvement of sportsmen's professionally important qualities determining success of the sports activities; 3) psychological and psychophysiological correction of unfavorable changes in psycho-emotional conditions, prenosologic psychosomatic and diseases. But, as it was mentioned above in chapter 2, the regulatory requirements of departmental orders did not find proper scientific substantiation yet.

Our psychodiagnostical investigation showed [532] the increased level of personal anxiety (PA), as it was mentioned above, reflecting individual-specific features was significantly higher in women sportsmen from the representative team of SPb (score: 46.3 ± 2.6 vs. 37.8 ± 2.3 , p < 0.05). When assessing the prevalence of the high and low PA level is was found that the high PA level was observed in 33.3% of female sportsmen from the representative team of SPb vs. 10% in female sportsmen from the representative team of RF (see Table 3.1).

	Groups of sportsmen			
Anxiety	Team SPb (π = 13)	Team Russia (π = 18)	Significance of differences (t Student)	
Situational	40,9 ± 3,0	33,5 ± 1,7	p<0,05 (2,15)	
Personal	46,3 ± 2,6	37,8 ± 2,3	p<0,05 (2,45)	
Competitional	22,3 ± 1,3	16,1 ±0,8	p<0,01 (4,06)	

Table 3.1. Indicators of the anxiety level among the examined gymnasts (points)

Situational anxiety (SA) characterizing peculiarities of the personality condition in a specific behavioral situation (including situation, which is difficult for the personality) also proved to be confidently higher in female sportsmen from the representative team of SPb (score: 40.9 ± 3.0 vs. 33.5 ± 1.7 , p < 0.05). Similarly to personal anxiety, the prevalence of confidently higher competitive anxiety level was found in female sportsmen for SPb 33.3% vs. 5.5% in the representative team of RF (1 women gymnast MSIC, 17 years old, p < 0.05) (Table 3.2).

Table 3.2. Analysis of the occurrence of athletes with high and low anxiety in

 the examined group of gymnasts

Anxiety	Team SPb (π = 13)		Team Russia (π = 18)	
	High	Low	High	Low
Personal	33,3*	-	11	22,2
Situational	33,3*	7,7	5,5	33,3
Competitional	77*	7,7	17	28

Note: significance of differences between groups * - p<0.05, all values are expressed as a percentage of the total number of study participants

Our literature analysis [532] suggests that Martens Competitive Personal Anxiety (CPA) Scale adapted by Yu.L. Khanin can be used effectively in in studies of anxiety in sportsmen going in for different sports [388, 417, 492, 506]. The use of this questionnaire allows to parametrize personal characteristics of sportsmen's reacting to stressor conditions of competitions in terms of the anxiety level. This psychodiagnostical tool is specialized just for assessment of the sportsmen's condition and can be used as an additional test of generalized (personal) anxiety. The results of our studies [532] (Table 3.2) show relatively higher level of competitive anxiety in women gymnasts from the representative team of St. Petersburg (77% of investigation participants) as compared to women gymnasts from the representative team of the country (17% of investigation participants).

The obtained results allow to conclude that high sports productivity making it possible to achieve the level of the representative team of the country is linked with mean anxiety level. According to Yerkes Dodson law, this is in compliance with the optimum anxiety level while increase of this level is associated with lowered productivity.

3.1.2. Investigation results of psychological defenses and coping-strategies in women gymnasts

The concept of coping-strategy, by its content is close to the concept of psychological defense. The main difference of protective mechanisms consists in unconscious or conscious activation of the coping-strategy mechanism of psychological defense [410]. The psychological defense mechanism based on coping-strategy is a complicated response to action of stressogenic factors (including those of psychological nature). The issue on dynamics of psychological processes considered within the limits of coping-strategy is associated directly with the prognosis problem of some or other human behavior in stress situation. The longterm action of a stressogenic factor can exhaust the coping-resource at a certain time moment and, in spite of the fact that coping-strategy of the protective behavior is aimed at optimization of the personality's adaptation possibilities, this process can result in deadaptaion [377]. The issue of psychologic defense efficiency is associated directly with the concept and characteristics of coping-strategies. Thus, copingstrategies can be defined as a totality of approaches and way with the help of which there takes place the process of conscious and unconscious overcoming a stress situation [395].

Basing from the above, we studied basic coping-strategies in the sportsmen contingent involved in the study of anxiety: highly qualified female sportsmen of the RSG representative team of RF (18 women gymnasts) and representative team of SPb (13 women gymnasts). The analysis of questionnaire data showed that coping-strategy "solving problems" is observed significantly more often in the group of adult sportsmen as compared to women sportsmen of the representative team of SPb (score: 28.9 ± 0.5 vs. 26.4 ± 1.1 , p < 0.05) and, on the contrary, such non-constructive coping-strategy as "avoidance" is found significantly rarer (score: 17.8 ± 0.5 vs. 19.8 ± 0.8 , p < 0.05) (Table 3.3).

Table 3.3. Comparative analysis of basic coping strategies among the examined highly qualified representatives of sports requiring complex $(M \pm m)$

Coping-strategies, points	Team Russia (n = 18)	Team SPb (n = 13)	Significance of differences
Problem solving	$28,9 \pm 0,5$	$26,4 \pm 1,1$	p<0,05
Seeking social support	$22,8 \pm 1,0$	$22,7 \pm 1,3$	p>0,05
Escapism	$17,8 \pm 0,5$	$19,8 \pm 0,8$	p<0,05

Thus, basing on the obtained data it is possible to note a complex copingstrategy pattern characterizing, most likely, a possible trend to such their combination in relatively higher-level sportsmen, in which the levels of "solving problems" are maximized and the degree of avoidance coping-strategy is minimized. It should be specified regarding the above that gymnastic training begins in young age, when psychological defense mechanisms are not finally formed yet, what, on the one hand, can increase probability of psychological defense inefficiency (what can cause psychological adaptation) and, on the other hand, can leave little chances for development of their optimum combination in the process of moving into adulthood. This determined the necessity to control these parameters for timely correction both in young and adult highly qualified women gymnasts.

The analysis of the obtained data within the limits of this procedure showed that there were no significant differences by the parameter of total strain of basic psychological defenses between female sportsmen of the representative teams of SPb and RF (Table 3.4).

Types of psychological defenses, points	Team Russia (n = 18)	Team SPb (n = 13)	Significance of differences
Displacement	$26,2 \pm 2,6$	$20,2 \pm 3,3$	p>0,05
Regression	$28,3 \pm 3,1$	$31,1 \pm 2,9$	p>0,05
Substitution	$21,5 \pm 3,9$	$25,4 \pm 3,8$	p>0,05
Negation	$42,2 \pm 2,7$	$48,3 \pm 3,3$	p>0,05
Progection	$62,1 \pm 3,1$	$53,2 \pm 3,9$	p>0,05
Compensation	$51,5 \pm 2,9$	$42,3 \pm 3,8$	p>0,05
Hypercompens	$38,5 \pm 3,2$	$30,7 \pm 4,6$	p>0,05
ation			

 Table 3.4. Profiles of psychological defenses intensity among the examined athletes

3.1.3. The emotional burnout parameters and peculiarities in quality of life self-assessment in highly qualified representatives of precise sports

The study results showed that signs of emotional burnout were in average less pronounced in female sportsmen from the representative team of RF than in female sportsmen from the representative team of SPb due to lower values of strain and exhaustion phases (scores: 16 ± 2.1 and 23 ± 2.9 vs. 26.6 ± 2.8 and 31.3 ± 3.1 , p < 0.01-0.05) (Table 3.5). It should be mentioned that, as a rule, "unsatisfaction with oneself" and "sensation of being entrapped in a cage" and "personal disengagement" are not typical of leading women gymnasts.

D hagag of	Groups		
Phases of emotional burnout, points	Team SPb $(n = 13)$	Team Russia (n = 18)	Significance of differences
Tension	$26,6 \pm 2,8$	$16 \pm 2,1$	p<0,01 (T=3,03)
Resistence	46,85 ± 6,6	37 ± 4,3	p>0,05 (T=1,25)

 Table 3.5. Indicators of emotional burnout among the examined athletes

Burnout	$31,3 \pm 3,1$	$23 \pm 2,9$	p<0,05
			(T=1,95)
Total	$20,9 \pm$	$154 \pm 17,2$	p<0,05
	21,7		(T=1,98)

The analysis results of health self-assessments in both respondent groups were approximately at the same level and did not differ significantly between the compared groups. Similarly, we did not find differences also in current health self-assessment, role limitations due to emotional problems (RE) and relationship between physical and psychic components of quality of life (QL).

Thus, our results show that increased emotional burnout levels in less productive female sportsmen are combined with increased anxiety level.

3.1.4. The correlation analysis results of the women gymnasts' psychological status

The assessment of highly qualified female sportsmen's psychological status using correlation analysis showed that the members of the representative team of RF had statistically significant positive correlation (r = 0.83, p < 0.05) between situational anxiety and exhaustion phase of emotional burnout syndrome. The obtained result suggests possible interrelationship between these parameters and is in compliance with the analysis results of the emotional burnout levels. Correlations were revealed also between situational anxiety and competitive anxiety parameter values (r = 0.66, p < 0.05) and also strain phase (r = -0.51, p < 0.05) and resistance (r = 0.58, p < 0.05). At the same time our data shows that there was not a single statistically significant correlation for the personal anxiety parameter. At the same time, in spite of this fact, competitive anxiety in the considered group correlates with situational anxiety (r = 0.65), exhaustion phase (r = 0.66) and also strain phase (r = 0.40).

A different correlation pattern between psychodiagnostical parameters was revealed for women gymnasts from the representative team of St. Petersburg: positive correlation was revealed between all anxiety types – personal and situational

108
anxiety (r = 0.7, p < 0.05) and also between personal and competitive anxiety (r = 0.75, p < 0.05). It was found additionally that competitive anxiety correlated with emotional burnout parameters – resistance phase (r = 0.58, 0.05) and strain phase (r = 0.49, 0.05).

The performed analysis of the psychodiagnostical investigation data reflecting the anxiety level suggests that that the personal, situational and competitive anxiety level in female sportsmen of the representative team of RF is lower than in women gymnasts from the representative team of St. Petersburg. While this can be caused by the factors associated with the psychologist's work, more strict selection to the representative team and intense competition schedule, to our opinion, the obtained data can be considered also as evidence in favor of the fact that sportsmen at the level of the representative team of the country are characterized by relatively more effective adaptation to stressor psycho-emotional loads. This is in compliance with the provision on the necessity to adapt not only to physical but also to psychological loads in the process of the training and especially competitive activities.

Thus, our studies found that emotional burnout in female sportsmen from the representative team of RF was less pronounced than in female sportsmen from the representative team of SPB with lower values of strain and exhaustion phases. The correlations between the anxiety level and emotional burnout syndrome have their peculiarities in female sportsmen from the representative team of RF and SPb. So, competitive anxiety in the members of the representative team of RF did not correlate with personal anxiety but at the same time it had positive correlation with the exhaustion phase of burnout syndrome. The competitive anxiety in the members of the representative team of RF burnout syndrome. The competitive anxiety in the members of the representative team of RF burnout syndrome. The competitive anxiety in the members of the representative team of SPb correlates with resistance phase and with personal anxiety. Moreover, the competitive anxiety in all women gymnast groups has strong positive correlation with situational anxiety being its specific case.

At the same time, our results of psychological investigation allow to conclude that even with the same level of sports mastery, the most productive female sportsmen training in the representative team of RF, have signs of more effective adaptation to stressor psychic loads. This can be evidence of the fact that a considerable role in the practice of selection and preparation of the reserve for high performance sports is played by the sportsman's psychophysiological status determining the sports productivity. And the psychophysiological status monitoring can be of great diagnostic importance in the sportsman's preparation process. Moreover, the results of our study suggest the important role of anxiety levels.

The study of revealed correlations between strain of psychological defenses with characterological features of women gymnasts demonstrated that parameters of the coping-strategy "solving problems" in the representative team of RF correlate negatively with both emotional stability parameter values (r = -0.62, p < 0.05) and introversion levels (r = -0.52, p < 0.05). The women gymnasts preferring the coping strategy "search for social support" show positive correlation with parameter values of of coping strategy "avoidance" (r = 0.54, p < 0.05). The female sportsmen characterized by relatively high extraversion levels exhibit positive correlation with neurotism parameter levels (r = 0.58, p < 0.05). Moreover, introverts (r = 0.52, p < 0.05) and emotionally stable sportsmen (r = 0.50, p < 0.05) are characterized by correlations with psychological defense strain levels.

A somewhat another correlation pattern is observed in the members of the representative team of SPb, because all significant correlations with the considered parameters were inverse (negative) and their number was relatively less (3 vs. 6). But it is important to mention that absence of statistically significant effects is not the evidence in favor of absence of analyzed statistical relationships [244]. So, female sportsmen from the representative team of SPb preferring the constructive coping strategy "solving problems" are characterized by negative correlation with psychological defense strain (r = -0.55).

The performed analysis of correlations between anxiety level parameters and personal characteristics of the investigated sportsmen cohort demonstrates the complex nature of their structure. Moreover, if it is difficult to describe psychological mechanisms of formation of these parameters without contradictions only basing on our psychological data, the study results demonstrate confidently the necessity to consider these parameters anyway associated with anxiety with the purposes of the sportsman's psychological condition monitoring. At the same time it is known that implementation of physical qualities in the sports activities is impossible without high quality professional interdisciplinary control of psychic functions. Basing on the above, we can speak of the fact that the development of a procedure for psychological preparation individualization taking into account specifics of precise sports is a very urgent scientific and practical problem at all preparation stages of the sports reserve and representative teams of the country [342, 355, 441].

The results obtained by us at the stage of the psychological investigation are in compliance with modern concepts of the anxiety influence on characteristics of sports activities and on the results of experimental studies of the relationship between anxiety condition and productivity of sports activities. Notwithstanding the available contradictions in the experimental data of medico-psychological investigations of sports activities, the obtained results suggest concordantly that the influence of the anxiety factor is nonuniform for different sports, i.e. the influence nature of the increased anxiety level is manifested differently in various sports. So, e.g., high requirements to anxiety condition are noted for those sports, where the key role is played by subjective officials' assessments (e.g, gymnastics or figure skating) and also in individual sports as compared to commend sports [87]. It is known also that the higher the traumatism of sports activities is, the higher the prevalence of anxiety is, what is typical for contact sports (box, football) [82, 84].

In addition to sport-specific factors, the influence of the anxiety condition on sports activities depends on personal characteristics. E.g., it is known that relatively higher anxiety levels and lower levels of confidence in own forces are demonstrated by female sportsmen (as compared to males) and also relatively less experienced and younger sportsmen (as compared to more experienced and older sportsmen) [92]. Moreover, elite sportsmen control better anxiety condition as compared to other highly qualified professional sportsmen [114].

An important aspect of influence exerted by anxiety consists in its connectivity with the sportsman's traumatic experience – athletes with history of injuries or brain

concussion [85] are characterized the increased personal anxiety levels [276, 305]. It is known that diagnostics of anxiety is associated not only with possible limitation of the sportsman's potential but also with increased risk of musculoskeletal injuries. [276, 305]. Thus, if anxiety level is increased, besides changes in sports activities efficiency, a situation of vicious circle can be formed, when increased anxiety level causes the risk of traumatization, and injuries, in their turn, promote the development of anxiety condition. This is especially important in connection with the fact that competitive anxiety can be characterized by comorbidity with generalized anxiety disorder [255]. This aspect is of importance because the development of diseases anyway associated with the development of anxiety conditions may vary considerably for different sports (it is important to take this into account when organizing medico-biological monitoring of sportsmen). E.g., several recent studies showed that relatively higher risk of generalized anxiety disorder is observed in individual sports as compared to team sports: 13% vs. 7%, respectively [87, 294]. Besides that, the higher risk of such diseases is observed in such sports where aesthetics is important (gymnastics, figure skating) [245]. A similar trend is observed also for female sportsmen [245].

Basing on the above, it becomes clear why the results of the performed psychological studies enable us to speak of the fact that relatively more effective sportsmen (of the level of the country representative team) are characterized by relatively less pronounced anxiety levels. Although, strictly speaking, the use of the correlation analysis method does not allow to establish cause-effect relationships between the personal parameters and anxiety levels. But, taking into account the necessity to search for a potential diagnostically effective parameter of the psychophysiological status, the obtained results can be considered as evidence suggesting the possible existence of such association. Therefore, their use is justified within the limits of the present thesis study as pivotal data for search for a suitable clinical model to develop an approach to psychophysiological monitoring of the sportsman's condition. Thus, taking into account the contradictory nature of experimental data and continuing discussions on psychological patterns underlying

the association between the development of competitive anxiety and productivity of sports activities, the search for psychophysiological markers of increased anxiety level is one of the possible areas for further studies.

From this viewpoint, the patterns of anxiety level change in sportsmen of different productivity degree (and also their correlations with other psychodiagnostical parameters) revealed in our study allow to select generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) as a key element in the clinical model of changes in the brain provision for control functions within the limits of our thesis study. Thus, search for neurophysiological manifestations of increased anxiety level, which would suggest the possible association between GAD and structural and functional organization of the brain human activities control systems can be used, in its turn, to establish potentially diagnostically significant signs of changes in the control functions which can be evidence of possible lowering of activity control efficiency and its productivity. Moreover; such search cannot fail to consider the complicated nature of established correlations between personal anxiety and other personal characteristics (coping-strategies, emotional burnout), which are manifested differently depending on qualification of the analyzed groups of highly qualified sportsmen (women gymnasts of the city representative team vs. country representative team). This warrants broadening of studies for search for the brain substrate beyond the limits of brain activities control systems, the focused psychophysiological monitoring of which would be suitable for objectives of the present thesis study. Moreover, it is important to broaden a set of potential targets for such monitoring up to brain structures which can be associated with provision of behavior aspects which are significant for provision of skills and actions, which are important for sports activities, and possible modulating influence of anxiety (resulting, in some cases, in the development of disease according to vicious circle principle). The socially significant information processing and cognitive activities executive control processes were selected as such aspects of activities in this thesis study.

Thus, the results obtained at the psychological stage of the present thesis study allow to state the demand for the development of potential markers of the sportsman's psychophysiological condition associated with those behavioral aspects, which can be modified due to change in anxiety level.

An important methodical study aspect consists in selection of the optimum psychophysiological monitoring method taking into account limited time for the investigations of highly qualified sportsmen due to the intense schedule of training cycles. Functional MRI at rest (operational condition according to Ukhtomsky [514], is one of the methods widely used in modern psychophysiological investigations of the healthy and sick human brain. During such fMRI investigations BOLD-signal fluctuations recorded in the operational rest condition are used to analyze the correlation between two temporal series of BOLD-response from different brain regions (called regions of interest (ROI)). The correlation parameters obtained in such a way are called as functional connectivity reflecting functional integration between large-scale brain regions in the operational rest condition [136]. Many important and new facts on the brain integrative activity were obtained since introduction of this analysis method. So, wide use of fMRI method in studying the operational rest condition basing on the functional connectivity data allowed to reveal several unions of human brain structures (called as networks or systems). It is considered that availability of correlations between separated sets of structures has functional sense. So, e.g. the DMN-default mode network [515], sensorimotor system, executive control network (ECN), visual, auditory, speech systems, etc. are distinguished [251].

In contrast to the activation approach, as follows from the name, fMRI in the operational control condition is performed without use of a test task, what makes it easier to a significant extent to perform this procedure in a wide range of patients. The activation investigations often use a test task making certain requirements to the subject's involvement which can be fulfilled not always in conditions of neurological or psychological deficit. So, e.g., the prevalence of aphasic disorders in patients with glial mass lesions according to some studies is up to 48% being the most frequent neurological disorder in this cohort [241]. Severe aphasic disorders can make it impossible to perform test tasks within preoperative mapping of

functionally significant verbal zones using activation fMRT [316]. In addition to specific function disorder (speech or sensorimotor), barriers to use of activation fMRI in the clinical practice include also patient's age (in particular, children) and long scanning duration requiring high attention concentration and correct performing the test task what is not always possible, e.g., psychiatric patients [251]. It is possible to overcome the above defects of activation fMRT using fMRI in the operational rest condition.

Besides that, a so-called pathoconnectivity model becomes more and more common recently [151]. This model assumes existence of different human brain networks, changes in which are associated with the development of one or another disease symptom. The above networks consist of a set of anatomical structures which can be included in composition of different networks. At the initial stages of the disease one or several networks are partially affected by pathologic changes which spread then gradually inside the network. This disturbs normal functioning of the network, what results in occurrence of a specific symptom. Moreover, if several networks are involved in the pathologic process (through disturbed function of common nodes), a symptom complex will be associated with it, what, possibly, will lead to development of typical syndrome or clinical diagnosis of concomitant diseases. Thus, the use of fMRI in the operational rest condition in order to assess the condition of these networks can be of importance both in diagnostics of individual diseases and in estimation of their prognosis, because the analysis of functional connectivity in the operational rest condition allows to obtain information both on the interaction strength (functional connectivity) and direction (effective connectivity) of connection between all human regions [128].

Basing on the above and peculiarities of the present study tasks, just the operational rest condition was selected as conditions for fMRI scanning for establishing potential neuromarkers of the sportsmen's psychophysiological conditions basing on the neurovisualization studies using a clinical model of GAD-associated changes in the brain provision for control functions. The results of these studies are presented in the next chapter.

CHAPTER 4 RESULTS OF OWN STUDIES. PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGICAL INVESTIGATIONS OF HEALTHY VOLUNTEERS AND PATIENTS WITH GENERALIZED ANXIETY DISORDER

At the first stage of a psychophysiologic investigation series, we tested the hypothesis on the fact that patients with generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) have changes in functioning of the brain inhibitory control system as compared to healthy subjects. Basing on the fact that one of GAD aspects consists in uncertainty intolerance, we supposed that such change in anxiety level concerns the brain provision for nonselective inhibitory control processes of actions. As it is known that nonselective inhibiting is involved in provision of behavior control processes, when there is no certainty regarding the fact which action should be implemented (or suppressed). For this purpose, we used the Go/NoGo test task with equally probable presentation of control Go and NoGo stimuli what allows to model the uncertainty conditions. Besides that, the selection of just this test task variant was associated with the fact that the possibility of involvement of the brain nonselective inhibitory control (NSIC) system was demonstrated earlier exactly using such modification of the Go/NoGo test [118, 156]. The hypothesis tested at this stage of studies is substantiated by the fact that, as it was discussed above, change in personal anxiety level can influence the behavior not only in psychoneurological disease but in the conditional norm, i.e. in the healthy human (including a person engaged in professional sports activities). This is in compliance with the fact that anxiety factor is one of considerable regulatory factors influencing the efficiency of professional sportsmen's activity implementation [87, 276, 425]. Taking into account that the brain nonselective inhibitory control system, the existence of which was directly proven in experimental studies [118, 156], is involved in providing for both suppressed and implemented actions, it was supposed that the increased anxiety level could not fail to interfere with the function of this system. One should emphasize once more that the latter aspect is of special importance because socalled uncertainty intolerance is observed under conditions of anxiety disorders. In accordance with concepts of psychologic GAD mechanisms, uncertainty intolerance is manifested as trend to emotional negative waiting associated with an uncertainty situation which provokes avoidance of such situation [67, 163]. If there is a minimum chance to obtain a negative action result, such action is perceived as unsuccessful what results in permanent search for an ideal solution (which, as a rule, is not an action or is its suppression (situations were observed with probability of 50%)).

Thus, considering the above, we revealed the elements of the neuronal NSIC system in a patient group with anxiety using fMRI data recorded under conditions of the two-stimulus Go/NoGo test task with equally probable presentation of Go and NoGo stimuli. As it was demonstrated earlier in the studies involving healthy subjects [118] and patients with obsessions [156], such test task design allows in principle to model the uncertainty situations and is effective in determining the element composition of NSIC. Besides that, to solve this task, we used the developed statistical approach based on interval statistics and Bayesian data analysis allowing to reveal the brain regions demonstrating statistically significant practically equivalent level of fMRI signal [244], i.e. ROPE mapping ¹ [496]. At the first stage, to classify the brain regions revealed by such ROPE mapping as structures providing for just action inhibition, we compared statistical practical equivalence maps of fMRT signal in the Go and NoGo tests with the results meta-analysis published in the literature (statistical map constructed based on literature data) dedicated to studying the brain substrate of nonselective inhibitory control using the comparable experimental conditions [118, 156]. At the next stage, the obtained result was compared with the findings of the similar analysis performed only for a healthy subject group [118, 437].

Simultaneously with fMRI data analysis, we assessed behavior parameters of efficiency when fulfilling the Go/NoGo test task within the limits of intergroup comparison of patients with generalized anxiety disorder and healthy subjects: the analysis included values of response time and number of mistakes with incorrect

¹ https://github.com/Masharipov/Bayesian_inference

pressing the button during the NoGo tests and failures to press the button in the Go tests.

Thus, this stage of our study required answers to the following questions: 1) does generalized anxiety disorder tell upon the efficiency of activities implementation, 2) does varying efficiency of activities implementation agree with varying characteristics of the autonomic nervous system condition, 3) with which peculiarities in brain functioning during fulfillment of the Go/NoGo test task can the lowered activities efficiency in case of change in personal anxiety levels in GAD be associated.

At the next stage a question arose for us, whether change in the brain provision of cognitive functions implementation at increased anxiety levels is accompanied by changes in functioning of the neuronal nonselective inhibitory control system and/or brain structures related to providing processes of inhibition and cognitive/executive activities control. For this purpose, we performed direct intergroup comparison of fMRI signal level during fulfilling the Go/NoGo test task by healthy subjects and patients with generalized anxiety.

Also the studies were performed to investigate signs of changed functioning of the brain systems providing for cognitive functions in GAD in the operational rest condition using fMRI data. To solve this task we used the data on element composition of: 1) neuronal nonselective inhibitory control system (basing on the data of statistical parametric maps constructed when analyzing fMRI findings obtained under conditions of the Go/NoGo test task); 2) neuronal socially significant information processing system determined by the data of statistical parametric maps constructed when analyzing fMRI findings constructed when analyzing fMRI findings constructed when analyzing fMRI findings during assessment of the influence exerted by social intelligence level on the functional connectivity in rest condition and fMRI findings obtained under conditions of Taylor paradigm; 3) neuronal cognitive activity executive control system established basing on the data of statistical parametric maps constructed using fMRI data obtained under conditions of resolving lexical ambiguity.

In order to investigate the nature of influence exerted by GAD on the integrative activity patterns of revealed elements of the above brain systems according to fMRI

data recorded in the operative rest condition, we analyzed correlations between psychodiagnostical and neurophysiological signs of generalized anxiety and the functional connectivity level. Besides the question associated with study of the possible contribution of changed brain provision of inhibitory control to GAD pathogenesis, this stage of the study was called upon to assess potential possibilities to use fMRI in operational rest condition for practical diagnostics of signs of lowered activities efficiency and productivity. We had to answer a question whether it is possible to use this method for diagnostics or revealing signs of changed functioning of the brain systems providing for cognitive activities, the activity of which is modulated by changed anxiety level and which could be used in the practical medico-biological support of sportsmen.

At the final stage of the psychophysiological investigation we compared directly the data of functional connectivity basing on fMRI findings in the operational rest condition between healthy subject group and patient group with generalized anxiety disorder.

4.1. Revealing the elements of the brain nonselective inhibitory control system in patients with generalized anxiety disorder

4.1.1. Behavioral data of the Go/NoGo test task in patients with GAD and healthy subjects

At the beginning of the psychophysiological stage we analyzed behavioral data obtained when fulfilling the two-stimulus Go/NoGo test task. Our studies revealed that direct intergroup comparison of behavioral data of patients with GAD with health subjects regarding the response rate when fulfilling the Go tests did not allow to establish statistically significant differences. The mean response rate values in the healthy subject group and patient group with anxiety disorder and the results of their statistical analysis are presented in Table 4.1 and Fig. 4.1.

	t- value	p- value	Average difference	Cohen's d
Average reaction time	1,293	0,201	22,833	0,341
Errors Go	- 0,945	0,349	-0,851	-0,249
Errors NoGo	0,665	0,509	0,127	0,175
Errors Ignore	- 1,050	0,298	-0,155	-0,277

 Table 4.1. Results of intergroup comparison of Go/NoGo task performance



Figure 4.1. Average reaction time in a group of healthy subjects and patients with generalized anxiety disorder (GAD). GAD – data from a group of patients with GAD, Norm – data from a group of healthy subjects.

We also did not find statistically significant differences between the compared groups regarding the number of mistakes in the Go, NoGo and Ignore tests (see Table 4.1).

Thus, we did not reveal signs of lowered activities efficiency in the terms of slowed response time when performing the Go/NoGo test task at the intergroup analysis level of the behavioral data (response time and number of mistakes), i.e., when comparing the healthy subject group and patient group with generalized anxiety. The obtained results are in compliance with the results of previous

behavioral studies of inhibitory control in patients with GAD using the Go/NoGo test task [74], which was similar to the Go/NoGo test variant used in the present study. This is evidence of the fact that patients with GAD did not show rough behavioral disorders associated with relatively simple activities for suppression and implementation of actions. At least, this is true for conditions of Go/NoGo test by the behavioral data of which one can judge about the efficiency of action inhibitory control. So, e.g., it is known that in patients with obsessions, where increased personal anxiety levels are ones of the frequently observed symptoms, the lowered activities efficiency is manifested as increased response time in the Go tests [132, 156].

As a result of comparing the behavioral data of the Go/NoGo test with psychodiagnostic data in patients with generalized anxiety disorder, a significant correlation was found between these parameters. So, patients with GAD showed significant negative correlation between the number of mistakes in the NoGo tests and Kerdo index (correlation coefficient = 0.57 (p < 0.05). At the same time any significant correlations were not detected between other parameters of the test task and psychometric parameters including response time in the GO tasks of Go/NoGo tests.

4.1.2. Analysis results of fMRI data obtained when fulfilling the Go/NoGo test in patients with anxiety disorder as compared to the norm: analysis of changes in local activities and functional connectivity

As a result of our direct intergroup comparison of the brain activity in the equally probable Go and NoGo tests (analyzed in combination) in patients with GAD as compared to healthy volunteers we revealed statistically significant BOLD-signal decrease in the following brain structure: left caudate nucleus, thalamus, primary motor cortex and premotor cortex and also bilaterally in the visual cortex (cuneus, lingual gyrus), supplementary motor cortex and anterior cingulate gyrus (see table 4.2, Fig. 4.2).

Table 4.2. Areas of the brain that show decreased activity in patients with GAD compared to healthy subjects for the contrast «Go + NoGo > baseline»

No	Cluster	pFWE cluster	Location (L – left hemisphere.	t-value	Local max coordinates in MNI			
0 (1	size, mm'	level	R – right hemisphere)	max	x y		Z	
1	14985	0,0001	L/R: SMA, Pre-SMA, Primary motor cortex, Premotor cortex	4,79	9	-1	68	
			L/R: ACC	4,72	-3	23	32	
2	18819	0,0001	L/R: Visual cortex (cuneus, lingual gyrus)	4,48	0	-70	20	
3	5724	0,047	L: Head of the caudate nucleus	4,33	-18	8	17	
			L/R: Thalamus	4,20	-3	-19	14	



Figure 4.2. Areas of the brain that show decreased activity in patients with GAD compared to healthy subjects for the contrast «Go + NoGo > baseline». PMC

– premotor cortex; IPL – inferior parietal lobule; DLPFC – dorsolateral prefrontal cortex; AI – anterior insula; L/R – left/right hemisphere.

The lowered local brain activity revealed by separate analysis of the Go and NoGo tests was observed also in patients with GAD as compared to the data of healthy subjects. When analyzing the Go tests, lowering was found in the left caudate nucleus, left and right thalamus, left primary motor cortex and premotor cortex, left superior parietal lobule (associative somatosensory cortex), and also bilaterally in the cerebellum, visual cortex, supplementary motor cortex and anterior cingulate cortex (see Table 4.3, Fig. 4.3).

Table 4.3. Areas of the brain that show decreased activity in patients with GAD compared to healthy subjects for the contrast «Go > baseline»

Nº	Cluster	pFWE cluster	Location (L – left hemisphere,	t- value of	cool	Local dinate MNI	max es in
	size, iiiii	level	R – right hemisphere)	local max	X	У	Z
			L/R: Thalamus	5,10	-3	-19	14
1	29160	0,0001	L/R: Visual cortex (cuneus, lingual gyrus)	4,17	-3	-70	11
			L/R: Cerebellum	4,05	3	-64	-16
			L: Head of the caudate nucleus	3,84	-18	17	17
2	8748	0,008	L/R: SMA, Pre-SMA, Primary apical cortex, Premotor cortex	4,92	6	-1	68
			L: Superior parietal lobule	3,58	-24	-40	53
3	8262	0,011	L/R: ACC	4,46	-3	23	32



Figure 4.3. Areas of the brain that show decreased activity in patients with GAD compared to healthy subjects for the contrast «Go > baseline». SMA – supplementary motor area; ACC – anterior cingulate cortex; M1 – primary motor area; PMC – premotor cortex; L/R – left/right hemisphere.

We found that separate analysis of NoGo tests revealed statistically significant lowering of BOLD-signal level in patients with GAD (as compared to the norm) which was localized bilaterally in the visual cortex, additional motor cortex and anterior cingulate cortex (see Table 4.4, Fig. 4.4).

Table 4.4. Areas of the brain that show decreased activity in patients withGAD compared to healthy subjects for the contrast «NoGo > baseline»

	Clust er size, mm ³	pF WE cluster	Location (L – left hemisphere, R – right hemisphere)	t-value of local max	COOI	Local dinate MNI	max es in
		level	noninspiror ()		X	У	Z
	12285	0,001	L/R: Visual cortex (cuneus, lingual gyrus)	4,45	0	-70	23
	10233	0.003	L/R: SMA, Pre-SMA	4,36	6	8	59
Ī	10200	0,000	L/R: ACC	4,12	-3	23	32



Figure 4.4. Areas of the brain that show decreased activity in patients with GAD compared to healthy subjects for the contrast «NoGo > baseline». SMA – supplementary motor area; ACC – anterior cingulate cortex; L/R – left/right hemisphere.

Thus, our comparative analysis shows that lowering of the local brain activity in GAD does not involve NSIC elements revealed in this patient group. This is evidenced by absence of crossings between the brain regions which showed lowered brain activity in patients with generalized anxiety disorder (as compared to the norm), and the brain regions referred to the NSIC system.

This, firstly, suggests that very pronounced changes in the functioning of this system are not observed in GAD.

Secondly, basing on the obtained data one cannot conclude that hypoactivation observed in GAD under conditions of implementation and suppression of prepared actions during fulfilling the Go/NoGo test task, concerns the brain structures providing for involvement of nonselective inhibition processes, i.e. possible inhibition control process deficit in GAD does not concern NSIC.

At the same time, in the anterior cingulate cortex, our studies revealed crossing between the brain structures, in which the lowered activity is observed in patients as compared to the norm for contrasts "Go > baseline" and "NoGo > baseline", and the brain regions providing for action inhibitory control according to meta-analysis of 20 fMRI studies using the Go/NoGo task [**118**] (see Fig. 4.5), which was used in the

present study to reveal the NSIC structures as potentially associated with inhibition processes.



Fig.4.5. Spatial overlap of human brain areas in which there is a decrease in activity in patients with GAD compared to healthy subjects for the contrasts "Go > baseline" and "NoGo > baseline", which are as well related to the inhibitory control system according to a meta-analysis of 20 fMRI studies (contrast "Go /NoGo > Go-control"). SMA – supplementary motor area; ACC – anterior cingulate cortex.

Thus, basing on our data it is possible to conclude that GAD is accompanied by changes in the brain structure function in the anterior cingulate cortex associated with provision of inhibitory control (NoGo tests) and executive control (Go tests). Because of the fact that revealed BOLD-signal changes do not correspond to NSIC elements by localization, the obtained results can be considered as reflection of the deficit in provision of the activities control in GAD not associated with disturbed functioning of the neuronal nonselective inhibitory control system. Taking into account the fact revealed by us that NSIC in GAD is wider by its element composition as compared to standard values the observed characteristics of BOLDsignal changes can suggest the compensatory nature of such NSIC element composition extension. This is in accord with the fact that anxiety can result in increased activities control. The content of this extension consists of additional involvement of the insular cortex and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex of the right hemisphere. It should be mentioned that, in accordance with the available literature data, just these brain structures are quite often mentioned because of their involvement in provision of anxiety feeling in GAD. In particular, exactly these activity patterns of insular cortex are associated with the effect of uncertainty intolerance [132] and also fear emotions in case of specific types of phobias (when they are provoked in the experiment) and so-called social anxiety [117, 210]. Our result is also in accord with literature data on the fact that insula is of the human brain structures which exhibits lowered brain gray substance density in GAD [193, 214]. It is known also that anxiolytic action of citalopram is manifested as a suppressing influence on insula hyperactivation in response to speech stimulation provoking the anxiety feeling [19]. It is important to mention also that increased functional connectivity between the anterior cingulate cortex and anterior regions of the insula and medical dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, which is similar by its localization with our study results, was observed earlier when anxiety was provoked by the method of threatening image presentation [272]. The increased activity of the insula and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex was also observed when presenting faces expressing a threat (expression of malice) [320].

At the next stage of the study, fMRI data was used to analyze the functional connectivity parameters between the elements of the nonselective inhibitory control system, which were compared between the GAD patient group and healthy subjects: 1) the NSIC elements were established in a separate investigation including fulfillment of the Go/NoGo test task; 2) the functional connectivity was analyzed for two sessions of the Go/NoGo test task (see section 2.3.1.4, chapter 2).

Our analysis of the functional connectivity between NSIC elements, when comparing healthy subjects and patients with anxiety disorder fulfilling different sessions of the Go/NoGo test task, revealed three correlations, the strength of which differed between comparison groups.

So, we showed that in GAD the functional connectivity is lowered between the left insula/frontal operculum and two structures located in the right hemisphere (see

Fig. 4.6): 1) frontal motor field/premotor cortex; 2) inferior parietal lobule. Moreover, the multidirectional changes were observed in the functional connectivity between the structures of the right dorsolateral cortex and right temporoparietal junction. The relative lowering of the functional connectivity in GAD as compared to the norm was observed for a relatively less difficult AAGO test task variant, and, on the contrary, growth of the functional connectivity in GAD as compared to the norm was found for relatively more difficult APGO test task variant.



Figure 4.6. The effect size for the identified statistically significant changes in the functional connectivity between the nodes of the NSIC in patients with GAD, compared with healthy subjects. PMC – premotor cortex; IPL – inferior parietal lobule; DLPFC – dorsolateral prefrontal cortex; AI – anterior insula; FO – frontal operculum; TPJ – temporo-parietal junction; L/R – left/right hemisphere.

4.1.3. The NSIC elements revealed in patients with generalized anxiety disorder when fulfilling the Go/NoGo test

We determined the brain regions belonging to NSIC system in patients with generalized anxiety disorder using spatial overlap of statistical parametric maps calculated as a result of statistical meta-analysis of literature data which compared the experimental conditions of type Go/NoGo>Go-control and Bayesian ROPE analysis of contrast NoGo = Go (basing on the data of our fMRI investigation). The revealed NSIC structures, among others, included the following: right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, inferior parietal lobule, frontal oculomotor field, premotor cortex, left and right anterior insula/frontal operculum (see Table 4.5., Fig. 4.7).

Location (L – left hemisphere, R – right	Cluster	Local max coordinates in MNI				
hemisphere)	5120, 11111	X	У	Z		
R: Inferior parietal lobule	1107	28	-60	40		
R: Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex	756	32	36	32		
R: Frontal oculomotor field, premotor cortex	675	38	4	44		
R: Anterior insula, frontal operculum	378	28	28	4		
L: Anterior insula, frontal operculum	243	-36	30	4		
R: Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex	162	26	54	16		

Table 4.5. Human brain regions related to the NSIC system in patients with generalized anxiety disorder



Figure 4.7. Human brain regions related to the NTSK system in patients with generalized anxiety disorder. FOF – frontal oculomotor field; PMC – premotor cortex; IPL – inferior parietal lobule; DLPFC – dorsolateral prefrontal cortex; AI – anterior insula; FO – frontal operculum; TPJ – temporo-parietal junction; L/R – left/right hemisphere.

Thus, the NSIC system in patients with anxiety disorder includes the same elements as in the norm but it also includes additionally the element in the right anterior insula/frontal operculum. The obtained result can be considered as a specific sign evidencing of both GAD presence and possible change in the brain

130

provision of inhibitory control associated with lowered activities efficiency and productivity.

Moreover, as compared to NSIC element distribution in healthy subjects, the elements of this system in patients with GAD are localized either in adjacent brain regions, or occupy an anatomically large territory, or are located in the brain structures not revealed in healthy volunteers. So, the additional NSIC elements in GAD as compared to the norm, are observed in the right insula and right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (see Fig. 4.8). This, GAD is characterized by NSIC network extension as compared to the norm.



Figure 4.8. The comparison of localizations of NSIC nodes in healthy subjects and patients with GAD. Green indicates brain regions that are part of the neural system of NSIC, identified in patients with GAD; Red indicates brain regions of the NSTC neural system in healthy subjects; L - left hemisphere; R - right hemisphere.

4.1.4. The relationship between the human brain activity during fulfillment of the Go/NoGo test in patients with generalized anxiety disorder and their behavioral, psychodiagnostic data and autonomic nervous system activity parameters

The relationship between the brain activity during fulfillment of the Go/NoGo test and behavioral and psychodiagnostic parameters of personal anxiety level and also Kerdo index was determined in our studies by analyzing the BOLD-signal level

in certain regions of interest (basing on the data of the previous study stage) and also with the help of voxel-based analysis.

We selected as regions of interest the brain regions, whose belonging to the NSIC system in patients with GAD was established by us above (see Fig. 4.7, Table 4.5 presented above) and also the region of lowered local brain activity in GAD (as compared to the norm) overlapped with meta-analysis results for revealing structures-candidates to NSIC elements (see Fig. 4.5).

It is important to mention that in the NSIC system statistically significant relationships between local element activity and both behavioral and psychodiagnostic data were revealed by us only for two brain structures: 1) significant negative correlation was observed between the activity in the right inferior parietal lobule and mean response rate (r = -0.41, p < 0.05); 2) significant positive correlation was found between the activity in the right frontal operculum/anterior insula and internality parameters (r = 0.397, p < 0.05).

The same picture of statistical relationships was revealed also when studying the brain activity in the NoGo tests associated with inhibition. Our analysis allowed to establish correlations for the following two regions of the NSIC system: 1) negative correlation was revealed between the activity in the right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and number of mistakes in Ignore tests (r = -0.42, p < 0.05); 2) positive correlation was detected between the activity in the right frontal operculum/anterior insula and both the number of mistakes in Go tests (r = -0.43, p < 0.05).

Taking into account a large number of compared variables in the correlation analysis, the results of which are presented above, later we were especially interested in the results obtained in the voxel-based analysis because the methods for statistical correction for multiple comparisons, allowing to reduce significantly the number of false-positive findings, were used for their obtaining.

The voxel-based correlation analysis revealed clusters with significant negative correlation between the brain activity in patients in the Go tests and the anxiety Hamilton scale score (see Table 4.6; Fig. 4.9).

Any other statistically significant correlations between the brain activity and behavioral parameters and also psychometrical parameters and Kerdo index were not revealed.

Table 4.6. Areas of the human brain in which a negative correlation is observed between the level of the BOLD-signal in patients with GAD in Go tests and the anxiety rating on the Hamilton scale

Cluste	pF WE	Location (L – left hemisphere, R	t-value	Local max coordinates in MNI			
r size, mm ³	cluster level	– right hemisphere)	of local max	X	У	Z	
14040	0,0001	L: Posterior insula, putamen	5,84	36	-25	20	
		L: Precentral gyrus	4,25	36	-10	44	
5859	0,025	L: Anterior cingulate cortex	5,70	15	11	47	



Figure 4.9. Negative correlation between the level of the BOLD-signal in patients with GAD in Go tests and anxiety scores on the Hamilton scale.

Besides that, we should mention our comparison of obtained correlation analysis results and changes in the local activity in GAD, which revealed partial spatial overlap between the cluster with negative correlation between BOLD-signal and Hamilton scale score and cluster of GAD-associated BOLD-signal lowering in the anterior cingulate cortex (see **Fig. 4.10**).



Figure 4.10. The location of brain regions in patients with GAD in which there is a decrease in the BOLD-signal relative to healthy subjects for all contrasts: "Go > baseline", "NoGo > baseline", and brain regions in which a correlation was found between the BOLD-signal and anxiety scores on the Hamilton scale.

Our results of correlation analysis between functional connectivity for separate sessions of the Go/NoGo test task (AAGO and APGO) between revealed NSIC elements and psychodiagnostic, behavioral parameters revealed only negative correlation with vigilance questionnaire score (Melbourne Decision Making Questionnaire): the higher these values were, the more functional connectivity parameter value lowered between the right insula and frontal oculomotor field/premotor cortex (r = -0.52, p < 0.05, Fig. 4.11).



Figure 4.11. Scatterplot of the psychological indicators on the strength of human brain functional connectivity between the nodes of the NSIC system in patients with anxiety disorder. Abbreviations: FOF – frontal oculomotor field; PMC – premotor cortex; AI – anterior insula; FO – frontal operculum; L/R – left/right hemisphere; r – Pearson correlation coefficient.

Summarizing the interim results of this study stage we can conclude that we established the element composition extension of the brain nonselective inhibitory control system for the first time in studying neurobiology of the modulating effect exerted by anxiety on the activities control. As it is known, this brain system is involved in suppression of prepared actions and their implementation. The obtained results are evidence of the fact the brain NSIC system is extended in GAD by additional involvement of the insular and dorsolateral cortex of the right hemisphere, i.e. brain structures associated closely with functional brain activity when worry, emotional response and anxiety are provoked in patients with GAD (as compared to the norm). Most likely, such extension is compensatory as intergroup comparison of patients with GAD and healthy subjects revealed lowered brain functional activity in GAD under conditions of action implementation and suppression (in case of their combined and separate analysis) in the brain structures associated also with provision of inhibitory control but not included in NSIC. Basing on this, one can speak of the fact that the

observed extension of the NSIC element composition in GAD reflects a typical effect of increased activity control, which is spread not only to suppression but also to implementation of actions, what is important.

So, the result demonstrated by us in the clinical model of GAD- associated changes in the brain provision of control functions is an example of the possible implementation mechanism of the modulating influence exerted by anxiety on the brain provision of the activities leading to behavior hypercontrol what, in its turn, tells negatively upon the implementation efficiency and productivity of precise motor activity types which are typical of sports activities. The effect revealed by us is confirmed additionally by the data on lowered functional connectivity at the moment of activities implementation between NSIC elements and inverse correlation of their local activity and functional connectivity with psychodiagnostic parameters. The characteristics established by us are obtained for the first time and are in accord with modern understanding of the fact that frequently observed emotional-affective behavioral and neuronal signs of GAD can be the result of GAD-associated changes in the brain control functions on the whole and, in particular, inhibitory control [19, 37, 193].

4.2. The results of the study series involving healthy subjects for selection of human brain structures associated with socially significant information processing and executive control of cognitive activities

At this stage of the psychophysiolocal investigation using fMRI in independent healthy subject groups we established the brain structures: 1) changing significantly the functional connectivity level depending on social intelligence, 2) involved in the executive control processes of cognitive activity for modelling of which we used speech activity for verbal completion of ambiguous phrases with dropped letters. The brain structures revealed at this stage of the thesis study were selected by us to form regions of interest, the functional connectivity of which was assessed in the comparative intergroup analysis of healthy subjects and patients with GAD. The selection of exactly social interactions as a test task was caused by great importance of opponent's intentions perception processes and the role in games-based sports. It is known that the brain structures providing for executive control of the cognitive activity play an important role in ensuring any types of highly professional activity associated with the high requirements to coordination of the motor acts (sports, dances, playing musical instruments). Thus, the revealed involvement of these brain structures in the processes related to GAD- associated FC change in the operational rest condition can be used for extension of a diagnostically significant set of brain regions (targets) for psychophysiological condition monitoring of sportsman's control functions.

4.2.1. The human brain structures associated with provision of behavior under conditions of social interactions

4.2.1.1. The social intelligence level and human brain functional connectivity pattern in the operational rest condition

At this investigation stage we established characteristics of the human brain functional connectivity in healthy subjects in the operational rest condition depending on the social intelligence level according to the Gielford-Sullivan test [220].

Analyzing the functional connectivity of the regions of interest (ROI) in the head of the right caudate nucleus revealed positive and negative correlations with z-values of Gielford-Sullivan test score [303]. The positive correlation between these scores and FC level with the right caudate nucleus was revealed for the following human brain structures: right superior temporal gyrus, precuneus of the right and left hemispheres, right precentral gyrus and left postcentral gyrus (Table 4.7). Moreover, the negative correlation between the social intelligence level and FC of the right caudate nucleus head was established for the pole of the right occipital lobe. After correcting for multiple comparisons at the cluster level using FWE method with threshold p < 0.05, the results for only two clusters (right superior temporal gyrus, precuneus) were statistically significant (Fig. 4.12). Fig. 4.13 also presents and z-values of Gielford-Sullivan test scores with the purpose of visualization.

№	Location (L – left hemisphere, R –	Local max coordinates in MNI					
	right hemisphere)	X	У	Z			
1	R: caudate nucleus	11	6	9			
2	R: superior temporal gyrus	64	-40	16			
3	R, L: precuneus	6	-48	44			

Table 4.7. Results of functional connectivity analysis for the region of interest in the head of the caudate nucleus in the right hemisphere of the human brain

Right superior temporal gyrus



Figure 4.12. Statistical parametric maps of correlation analysis results between z-scores according to the Guilford-Sullivan test and functional connectivity values for the region of interest in the head of the right caudate nucleus and the remaining voxels of functional images, p<0.001 at the voxel level without correction for multiple comparisons, p<0.05 at the cluster level with the FWE correction for multiple comparisons.



Figure 4.13. Scatterplots between Guilford-Sullivan test z-scores and functional connectivity between regions of interest in the head of the right caudate nucleus and 1) precuneus, 2) right superior temporal gyrus. Red – trend line.

The analysis of functional connectivity for ROI in the body of the right caudate nucleus revealed only positive correlation between z-values of Gielford-Sullivan test score and functional connectivity between this ROI and the right postcentral gyrus, right cerebellar hemisphere (VIII), left cerebellar hemisphere (Crus I), right superior occipital gyrus. The negative correlation was obtained for cluster in the right angular gyrus. But after correcting for multiple comparisons using FWE method with threshold p < 0.05 at the cluster level, these clusters became not significant.

Similarly for ROI in the head of the left caudate nucleus with uncorrected threshold p < 0.001 we revealed negative correlation between z-values of Gielford-Sullivan test score and functional connectivity between ROI and the right angular gyrus; the revealed cluster also proved to be statistically insignificant after correcting for multiple comparisons at the cluster level using the FWE method with threshold p < 0.05.

The analysis of functional connectivity for ROI in the body of the left caudate nucleus revealed (with uncorrected threshold) negative correlation between z-values of Gielford-Sullivan test score and functional connectivity between ROI and the left cerebellar hemisphere (IV–V). The revealed cluster also proved to be statistically insignificant after correcting for multiple comparisons at the cluster level using FWE method with threshold p < 0.05.

As it was already mentioned above, our results were used later to form regions of interest applied for analysis of the functional connectivity in patients with anxiety disorder in the rest condition. The information on localization and coordinates in the standard anatomical space of the Montreal Neurological Institute for those clusters, which were corrected for multiple comparisons is presented in Table 4.7.

4.2.1.2. Revealing the human brain structures associated with provision of social interactions under conditions of Taylor test task

At the first stage of analysis we assessed the influence exerted by the opponent's anonymity factor on changes in the human brain local activity when making a decision on the penalty amount for the opponent in case of his defeat ("Decision" phase, see Fig. 2.5 and section 2.4.2.1., chapter 2) [270].

The influence exerted by the factor "opponent" on BOLD-signal change at the stage of making a decision was observed. This stage of the test task included time, when the participant thought about the money amount which should be taken away from the opponent having seen his provocation. The mental selection of response to provocation of the known opponent was associated with increased BOLD-signal in the fusiform gyrus bilaterally as compared to the anonymous opponent (see Fig. 4.14 and Table 4.8). Not a single one of analyzed voxels of fMRI images demonstrated significant BOLD-signal increase when the participants thought about the amount which should be taken away from the anonymous opponent. The study did not reveal statistically significant changes in relation to the factor "provocation" (high or low) and interaction of the factors "opponent" and "provocation" at the "Decision" phase.



Figure 4.14. Results of the group-level BOLD signal analysis. Clusters of increased BOLD signals associated with decision-making after being provoked for the F-contrast "Known opponent vs. Anonymous opponent" (uncorrected p < 0.001 at the voxel level, FWE-corrected at the cluster level p < 0.05, k = 15). Plots show effect sizes with 95% confidence intervals. L/R, left/right hemisphere; g., gyrus; Anon, anonymous opponent; Known, introduced opponent.

 Table 4.8 Results of the group-level analysis of the BOLD signal associated

 with decision-making after being provoked (uncorrected p<0.001 on the voxel level,</td>

 FWE

						Pea	ak M	NI		
	Clust	ter		Peak			coordinates			
Brain	p(FWE-									
area	corr.)	k	p(unc.)	\mathbf{F}	Ζ	X	У	Z		
'Decision	<i>'Decision' phase: Known opponent > Anonymous opponent</i>									
L										
Fusiform										
g.	< 0.001	160	< 0.001	36.21	5.47	-36	-46	-19		
R										
Fusiform										
g.	0.001	143	< 0.001	34.71	5.37	39	-64	-16		
No s	ignifican	t chang	ges were	obtain	ed for	the 'I	Decis	ion'		
pha	phase: Anonymous opponent > Known opponent									

corrected at the cluster level p < 0.05, and k = 15)

Denotations: k – cluster size in voxels; FWE – familywise error correction; L/R – left/right hemisphere; g. – gyrus.

Then the study assessed the influence exerted by the money amount of provocation on changes in the human brain local activity when selecting the punishment ("Scale" phase). The influence exerted by the factor "punishment" on the BOLD-signal change at the stage of selecting punishment was observed. Taking away a large money amount (80 or 100 roubles) was associated with increased BOLD-signal in the left putamen (see Table 4.9) as compared to a small amount (0 or 20 roubles), irrespective of the opponent type. The study did not reveal a significant increase of BOLD-signal when selecting a small amount as compared to a large amount. Any statistically significant changes related to the factor "Opponent" or factor interaction for "Scale" phase were not revealed.

Table 4.9. Results of the group-level analysis of the BOLD signal associated with selection of punishment (uncorrected p<0.001 at the voxel level, FWE-corrected at the cluster level p<0.05, and k = 15)

	Clust	er	Peak			Peak MNI coordinates			
Brain	p(FWE-								
area	corr.)	k	p(unc.)	F	Ζ	X	У	Z	
6	'Scale' phase: High provocation > Low provocation								
LPutamen	0.018	106	< 0.001	26.49	4.73	-18	11	8	
No significant changes were obtained for the 'Scale' phase: Low									
	provocation > High provocation								

Denotations: k – cluster size in voxels; FWE – familywise error correction; L/R – left/right hemisphere.

Then we analyzed the influence exerted by the opponent's anonymity on changes in the human brain local activity when a social provocation ("Feedback" phase) was received. The influence of the factor "opponent" on the BOLD-signal change at the stage of observing the provocation was assessed. Receiving the provocation from the anonymous opponent was associated with increased BOLD-signal in the right IFG as compared to the known opponent (see Fig. 4.15 and Table 4.10). As compared to anonymous opponent, receiving the provocation from the known opponent was associated with the increased BOLD-signal in the right fusiform gyrus similarly to the results observed during the "Decision" phase. We did not find also any statistically significant changes related to factor interaction for "Feedback" phase.



Figure 4.15. Results of the group-level BOLD signal analysis. Clusters of increased BOLD signals associated with the observation of provocation for the F-contrast "Anonymous opponent vs. Known opponent" (uncorrected p < 0.001 at the voxel level, FWE-corrected at the cluster level p < 0.05, and k = 15). Plots show effect sizes with 95% confidence intervals. L/R, left/right hemisphere; g., gyrus; IFG, inferior frontal gyrus; Anon, anonymous opponent; Known, introduced opponent.

Table 4.10. Results of the group-level analysis of the BOLD signal associated with the observation of provocation (uncorrected p<0.001 at the voxel level, FWE corrected at the cluster level p<0.05, and k = 15)

	Cluste	er	Peak			P Co	NI tes		
Brain area	p(FWE-	k	p(unc.)	\mathbf{F}	Ζ	Х	У	Z	
	corr.)								
'Feedback' phase: Anonymous opponent > Known opponent									
R Inferior	0.009	111	< 0.001	29.65	4.99	57	11	14	
frontal g.									
'Feedback' phase: Known opponent > Anonymous opponent									
R Fusiform	0.005	126	< 0.001	58.47	6.76	39	-52	-19	
g.									

Denotations: k – cluster size in voxels; FWE – familywise error correction; L/R – left/right hemisphere; g. – gyrus.

Then the influence exerted by the money provocation size on changes in the brain local activity, when receiving social provocation ("Feedback" phase), was analyzed. The analysis revealed statistically significant influence exerted by the factor "provocation" on BOLD-signal change at the stage of selecting punishment.

When observing the provocative feedback, the high provocation level (taking away 80 or 100 roubles) was associated with increased BOLD-signal in the angular gyrus and supplementary motor cortex as compared to low provocation level (taking away 0 or 20 roubles) irrespective of the opponent type (see Table 4). As compared to the high provocation, receiving the low provocation was associated with increased BOLD-signal in the right medial frontal gyrus, left IFG, left angular gyrus and right precuneus (see Table 4.11). Among these human brain structures, the right angular gyrus, left angular gyrus and right precuneus are localized inside the right TPJ, left TPJ and right precuneus included in the TOM system [267, 270]. Any statistically significant changes related to factor interaction for "Feedback" phase were not revealed.

Table 4.11. Results of the group-level analysis of the BOLD signal associated with the observation of provocation (uncorrected p<0.001 at the voxel level, FWE-corrected at the cluster level p<0.05, and k = 15)

	Cluster		Peak			Peak coordina	ntes	MNI		
Brain area	p(FWE- corr.)	k	p(unc.)	F	Z	X	У	Z		
'Feedback' phase: High provocation > Low provocation										
R Angular g.	< 0.001	502	< 0.001	48.33	6.23	48	-52	29		
R SMA	0.001	173	< 0.001	40.66	5.77	6	11	62		
'Feedback' phas	e: Low provoc	ation	> High pr	ovocati	on					
R Middle										
frontal g.	< 0.001	749	< 0.001	48.12	6.21	39	20	44		
L Angular g.	0.001	166	< 0.001	29.15	4.95	-54	-58	38		
L Inferior										
frontal g.	0.001	176	< 0.001	24.95	4.60	-39	20	32		
R Precuneus	0.002	151	< 0.001	24.84	4.59	6	-55	41		

Denotations: k – cluster size in voxels; FWE – familywise error correction; L/R – left/right hemisphere; g. – gyrus; SMA – supplementary motor area.
The further analysis was related to searching for changes in functional connectivity of the right inferior frontal gyrus of the human brain depending on the influence exerted by the opponent's anonymity factor on receiving social provocation during the "Feedback" phase. As compared to the known opponent, receiving the feedback from the anonymous opponent was associated with increase in the functional connectivity between the right and left IFG (see Fig. 4.16 and Table 4.12). But any significant change in functional connectivity of the right IFG for the known opponent was not revealed as compared to the anonymous opponent.



Figure 4.16. Results of the group-level gPPI analysis with the ROI in the right IFG. Clusters of significant changes in functional connectivity, with the right IFG associated with the anonymity of the opponent (uncorrected p < 0.001 at the voxel level, FWE-corrected at the cluster level p < 0.05, and k = 15), are shown in red. The ROI in the right IFG is presented in blue. The plot shows effect sizes with 95% confidence intervals. L/R, left/right hemisphere; g., gyrus; ROI, the region of interest; Anon, anonymous opponent; Known, introduced opponent.

Table 4.12. Results of the group-level gPPI analysis with the ROI in the right IFG, associated with the observation of provocation from anonymous and known opponents (uncorrected p<0.001 at the voxel level, FWE-corrected at the cluster level p<0.05, and k = 15)

	Clust	er	Peak			Peak MNI coordinates		
	p(FWE-							
Brain area	corr.)	k	p(unc.)	\mathbf{F}	\mathbf{Z}	Х	у	Z
'Feedba	'Feedback' phase: Anonymous opponent > Known opponent							
L Inferior								
frontal g.	0.011	91	< 0.001	22.20	4.34	-39	41	5
No significant changes were obtained for the 'Feedback' phase:								
Known opponent > Anonymous opponent								

Denotations: k – cluster size in voxels; FWE – familywise error correction; ROI – region of interest; L/R – left/right hemisphere; g. – gyrus.

The analysis of changes in functional connectivity of the right inferior frontal gyrus in the human brain established the influence pattern exerted by the provocation level on receiving social provocation during the "Feedback" phase. In accordance with the obtained data when observing the provocation feedback, low provocation (0 or 20 roubles) was associated with increased functional connectivity of the right IFG with the right superior temporal gyrus and left cerebellum as compared to high provocation (80 or 100 roubles) irrespective of the opponent (see Table 4.13). At the same time we did not reveal any significant changes in functional connectivity of the right IFG when low provocation from the opponents was received as compared to high provocation.

Table 4.13. Results of the group-level gPPI analysis with the ROI in the right IFG, associated with the observation of different levels of provocation (uncorrected p<0.001 at the voxel level, FWE-corrected at the cluster level p<0.05, and k = 15)

							Peak M	ÍNI
	Cluste	r	Peak		coordina		ates	
	p(FWE-							
Brain area	corr)	k	p(unc)	\mathbf{F}	Z	X	У	Z
'Feedback' phase: Low provocation > High provocation								
R Superior								-
temporal g.	0.054	59	< 0.001	22.87	4.41	51	-10	4
								-
L Cerebellum	0.002	133	< 0.001	20.36	4.16	-6	-49	4
No significant changes were obtained for the 'Feedback' phase: High								
provocation > Low provocation								

Denotations: k – cluster size in voxels; FWE – familywise error correction; ROI – region of interest; L/R – left/right hemisphere; g. – gyrus.

Then we assessed changes in functional connectivity of the right inferior frontal gyrus: interaction between opponent's anonymity and provocation level when social provocation during the "Feedback" phase was received. As a result of the study we revealed significant changes in functional connectivity for ROI in the right inferior frontal gyrus (IFG) associated with interaction between the "opponent" and "provocation" factors [270]. The right inferior frontal gyrus changed functional connection with bilateral cerebellum, precentral gyrus and supplementary motor region; left fusiform gyrus and superior temporal gyrus; right medial frontal gyrus, insular cortex, precuneus and angular gyrus (see Table 4.14). Among these structures, the right angular gyrus and right precuneus are localized in rTPJ clusters and precunei of the TOM system in accordance with masks developed by Dufour et al. [267] (see Fig. 4.17). When provocation from the anonymous opponent was perceived, functional interactions increased between the right IFG and the above regions under conditions of high provocation (as compared to low provocation). Moreover, this interaction was inverse when provocation from the known opponent

was observed. We did not observe any significant results for other comparison directions.

Table 4.14. Results of the group-level gPPI analysis with the ROI in the right IFG for the interaction between the level of observed provocation and the anonymity of the opponent during the 'Feedback' phase (uncorrected p<0.001 at the voxel level, FWE-corrected at the cluster level p<0.05, and k = 15).

	Cluster	r		Peak		Peak MI coordina		NI ates	
	p(FWE-								
Brain area	corr.)	k	p(unc.)	\mathbf{F}	Z	х	У	Z	
R cerebellum	< 0.001	457	< 0.001	57.83	6.72	9	-37	-22	
L cerebellum	0.019	80	< 0.001	48.98	6.26	-30	-58	-34	
R angular g.	0.001	150	< 0.001	48.16	6.22	42	-61	29	
R middle frontal									
g.	0.054	59	< 0.001	45.84	6.08	30	32	44	
L precentral g.	< 0.001	195	< 0.001	38.10	5.60	-36	-16	50	
R insula	< 0.001	363	< 0.001	37.96	5.59	36	8	2	
R SMA	0.010	95	< 0.001	36.68	5.51	12	8	47	
L fusiform g.	0.041	64	< 0.001	26.57	4.74	-30	-49	-16	
L superior									
temporal g.	< 0.001	232	< 0.001	26.46	4.73	-51	2	-13	
R precuneus	< 0.001	190	< 0.001	25.84	4.68	12	-58	53	
R precentral g.	0.020	79	< 0.001	24.47	4.55	39	-4	50	
L SMA	0.002	127	< 0.001	20.80	4.21	0	-10	56	

Denotations: k – cluster size in voxels; FWE – familywise error correction; ROI – region of interest; L/R – left/right hemisphere; g. – gyrus; SMA – supplementary motor area



Figure 4.17. Results of the group-level gPPI analysis with the ROI in the right IFG. Clusters of significant changes in functional connectivity with the right IFG, associated with the interactions between the level of observed provocation and the anonymity of the opponent (uncorrected p < 0.001 at the voxel level, FWE-corrected at the cluster level p < 0.05, and k = 15), are shown in red. The TOM system clusters are presented in green according to the results of Dufour et al. [267]. The plot on the lower right side indicates effect sizes with 95% confidence intervals. L/R, left/right hemisphere; g., gyrus; TPJ, temporoparietal junction; SMA, supplementary motor area; ROI, region of interest; Anon, anonymous opponent; Known, introduced opponent; High, high provocation; Low, low provocation.

Thus, we established a set of human brain structures associated with provision of socially significant information processing. Firstly, this is the set of brain structures associated with provision of the opponent's intention formation processes (the so-called theory of mind) [238, 259], whose functional connectivity correlates positively with the social intelligence [303]. Our result for the first time demonstrated and proved in the experiments the existence of connection between the brain activity associated with the capability to attribute thoughts and intentions to the opponents (so-called theory of mind) and human social intelligence parameters. Taking into account special significance of these processes for a quite wide range of sports activities types, the human brain structures revealed at this stage

149

were selected as the regions of interest, i.e. potential brain structures – candidates for psychophysiological monitoring tested at the next stage of intergroup comparison of patients with GAD and healthy subjects in the rest condition. Besides that, it is important to emphasize here that so-called social anxiety disorder (SAD) is one of disorders closely associated with GAD; it can also develop in sportsmen by the "vicious circle" mechanism. Taking into account the public character of some sports activities types, and especially the sports being assessed like sportive gymnastics (as also figure skating), the use of data on localization of brain structures revealed by us at this study stage demonstrated their diagnostic potential at the next stage of the thesis study.

4.2.2. Human brain structures associated with provision of executive control processes during cognitive activity under conditions of ambiguous speech stimulus processing

At this stage of studies, the investigational model of ambiguity resolution negative aftereffect was selected to reveal the brain structures associated with provision of the executive control of cognitive activity. The experimental modelling of these processes was carried out using the developed test task for completion of fragmented phrases with dropped letters [285].

The analysis if the response rate (RR) using using non-parametric Mann– Whitney U test did not reveal any significant differences between Ambig1st and Control1st tests (group medians: 1,777 ms and 1,730 ms, p=0.75), between Ambig2nd and Control2nd (group medians: 1,907 and 1,665 ms, p=0.053) and also between Ambig1st and Ambig2nd tests (p=0.22).

In our studies the number of "ambiguous" tests, in which the subject reported that they noted that the presented fragmented noun has two solutions did not differ significantly between conditions Ambig1st and Ambig2nd (group mean percentage of the total test number for Ambig1st and Ambig2nd: 4.2% and 3.8%, p = 0.53).

While analyzing mistakes of completion, we divided them in: (1) misses, i.e. not giving the answer within the time allowed (both at the first and second

appearance of the fragmented noun); (2) intrusion, i.e. repeating the previous solution which is irrelevant in the new context; (3) incorrect solutions, i.e. solutions not associated with the previously presented and orthographically close fragmented noun. The number of incorrect solutions was significantly larger under conditions Ambig1st (mean for the group: 7.7%, standard deviation (SD) 6.7%) that under conditions Control1st (mean for the group: 1.9%, SD 3.3%) according to assessment using Mann–Whitney U test (z = 4.93, p < 0.001). A similar analysis of mistakes related to misses revealed significantly greater (z = 2.5, p = 0.01) frequency of mistakes under conditions Ambig1st (mean for the group: 4.5%, SD 5.4%).

The mistakes under condition Ambig2nd related to repeating the solution from the condition Ambig1st were observed in 36 subjects while other 12 subjects did not have intrusion mistakes at all. Mean percentage of mistakes of this type i the group was 7.7% with SD = 7.9%. The mistakes of this type can be expected only under condition Ambig2nd, therefore, instead of comparing their frequency under different conditions, we compare intrusion mistakes with other incorrect solutions below. Incorrect solutions under conditions Ambig2nd and Control2nd did not differ significantly and were observed relatively rarely with means for the group being 1.1% (SD 2.1%) and 1.6% (SD 3.3%), respectively. The miss mistakes under conditions Ambig2nd (mean for the group: 8.1%, SD 8.3%) were significantly more numerous (z = 2.4, p = 0.02) as compared to condition Control2nd (mean for the group: 4.5%, SD 6.6%). The frequency of miss and intrusion mistakes did not differ considerably under condition Ambig2nd but both types were more common than incorrect solutions (z = 5.38, p < 0.001 and z = 5.21, p < 0.001, respectively). Finally, there was no significant difference between Ambig1st and Ambig2nd regarding miss mistakes.

4.2.2.1. The results of fMRI investigations of human executive control processes during cognitive activity under conditions of ambiguous speech stimulus processing

Significant BOLD-signal changes were revealed in the linear contrast Control1st>Ambig1st using Bayesian inference [285]. Searching for solutions for fragmented word pairs, in which nouns had two possible completions, was characterized by decreased BOLD-signal in the anterior part of hippocampus, amygdaloid body and planum temporale bilaterally, in the right supplementary motor cortex, putamen and insular cortex, cuneus and cerebellum and also left precuneus, superior parietal lobe and precentral gyrus (Fig. 4.18, Table 4.15). The inverse linear contrast Ambig1st>Control1st did not reveal any significant changes in BOLD-signal. The additional analysis of psychophysiological interactions of human brain caudate nuclei revealed lowed functional connectivity of this structure with prefrontal cortex when solving the task for completion of the fragmented phrase having several variants for completion (Ambig1st) as compared to control test (Control1st) [246].



Figure 4.18. Changes in the BOLD signal associated with processing of a nonselected non selected solutions for the word pair fragments. Clusters of significant t-contrast Control1st > Ambig1st presented over a template brain image. Blue color bar represents the value of Log Odds Bars represented the sizes of effect in arbitrary units describing the PPI-parameters.

Brain Region	k	Log Odds	l coord	peak linates	MNI
			X	У	Z
Contol1st > Ambig1st					
Left hippocampus / amygdala	14	6.6	-30	-4	-25
Right hippocampus / amygdala / ITG	51	6.9	39	8	-25
Right SMA /Precentral gyrus	31	7	12	-13	50
Right Putamen / Insula	18		+33	-10	2
Right planum temporale / supramarginal gyrus	28	7.2	60	-37	20
Left SPL / precentral gyrus	189	8.8	-24	-43	62
Left planum temporale / Heschl`s gyrus / parietal opeculum	24	5.9	-42	-25	14
Left precuneous	28	6.25	-17	-73	17
Right cuneal cortex	39	5.9	18	-73	23
Right cerebellum	18	6.3	18	-40	-28

Table 4.15. Decreases in the BOLD signal associated with processing of a non-selected meaning revealed in the *Control1st* > *Ambig1st* contrast.

Denotations: L/R – left/right hemisphere; k – cluster size in voxels;; ITG – inferior temporal gyrus, SMA – supplementary motor area, SPL - superior parietal lobule

Searching for solution for the second appearance of the fragmented noun in pair with a new fragmented adjective under condition Ambig2nd as compared to condition Control2nd revealed increased BOLD-signal in the frontoparietal, temporal region of human brain and also basal ganglia including: the inferior frontal gyrus (IFG), frontal gyrus (MFG), insular cortex and caudate nucleus bilateral and also left superior and medial frontal gyri, left precuneus and thalamus (Fig. 4.19, Table 4.16). Our inverse linear contrasting Ambig2nd >Control2nd did not reveal any significant changes in BOLD-signal.



Figure 4.19. Enhanced BOLD signal associated with finding solution in Ambig2nd condition when fragmented noun having two solutions was paired with new fragmented adjective making previous solution to this nous inappropriate. Denotations: L/R left/right hemisphere, *IFG* inferior frontal gyrus, *MFG* middle frontal gyrus, *STG* superior temporal gyrus, *MTG* middle temporal gyrus, *g*. gyrus, *n*. nucleus.

Table 4.16. Increases of the BOLD signal associated with proactive interference between the previously chosen solution inappropriate in the new context and the correct alternative solution for fragmented word pairs in the *Ambig2nd* condition.

Location		Log	g Local		max
		odds	coordinates		in
			MNI	-	
			Х	у	Z
Ambig2nd > Control2nd					
L inferior/middle frontal gyrus (BA 44/45)/insula	897	13.4	-51	26	-7
L Middle frontal gyrus/paracingulate gyrus	424	14.4	0	32	47
R inferior/middle frontal gyrus (BA 44/45)	289	10	54	29	14
R water the frontal lobe	13	5.9	39	44	14
R Insula / caudate nucleus	104	9.6	36	23	2
L caudate nucleus	38	6.7	-12	8	8
L superior/middle temporal gyrus (BA 21)	109	12.3	-51	-22	-7
L Anterior cingulate cortex	11	7.6	-3	-10	29
L thalamus	13	6.5	-3	-28	5
L angular gyrus/lateral occipital cortex	157	11.4	-42	-61	44
P angular gyrus/lateral occipital cortex	64	8.6	36	-67	50
L precuneus/superior parietal lobe	13	5.9	-6	-70	35

Denotations: *L/R* left/right hemisphere, *k* cluster size in voxels, *BA* Brodmann area, *IFG* inferior frontal gyrus, *MFG* middle frontal gyrus, *STG* superior temporal gyrus, *MTG* middle temporal gyrus, *SPL* superior parietal lobule.

Thus, basing on the obtained data, a set of the regions of interest was formed for the analytical cohort study using the fMRI data in the operation rest, i.e. comparing the data obtained in patients with generalized anxiety and healthy subjects (see section 4.3.3, chapter 4). In particular, the obtained result reflects the involvement of the human brain structures associated with provision of executive control processes engaged in solving a task for completion of phrases with dropped letters. This effect reflects aftereffect of the solution found earlier, which prevents (interferes with) solution of the current task. In other words, when the solution for a certain word found earlier is not suitable for solution in the current context, we speak of a negative priming situation. It is necessary to suppress the previous solution in such situation. The revealed pattern of BOLD-signal changes corresponds to the data obtained earlier on the characteristics of local activity changes under conditions of negative aftereffect of the solutions found earlier [99, 340]. In accordance with this data, such negative aftereffect is accompanied by increased local activity in the region of the left dorsolateral cortex (including the inferior frontal gyrus), superior and medial temporal gyri and also in the region of basal ganglia in the human brain. Besides that, the above structures are often involved in semantically ambiguous word processing what reflects interference or competition processes between several senses of ambiguous verbal information (see, e.g., [254, 263]).

Thus, the revealed effect of BOLD-signal increase in the above structures can be associated with involvement of executive control required for resolving the conflict between dominating solution (but not appropriate for the current context) and relevant value (suppressed earlier). Basing on the tasks of the present study and also considering the association of the revealed structures with provision of the activity executive control, we selected this set of structures to use it at the next stages of the study as regions of interest for comparative analysis of fMRI data in the operational rest condition between healthy subjects and patients with GAD.

4.3. The intergroup analysis results of functional connectivity in healthy subjects and patients with generalized anxiety disorder in the operational rest condition

At the next stage of our thesis study, the regions of interest selected at the previous stages of the psychophysiological investigation were used as potential candidates for the role of diagnostics targets in the intergroup comparison of patients with GAD and healthy subjects.

4.3.1. GAD-associated changes in the human brain functional connectivity between the elements of the brain nonselective inhibitory control system in the operational rest condition

We revealed both lowering and increase of functional connectivity between brain structures included in the brain nonselective inhibitory control system and other brain regions in the operational rest condition in the patient group with generalized anxiety disorder. So, lowered functional connectivity was revealed between the orbital part of the right inferior frontal gyrus of the human brain and several clusters with significant FC change localized in the region of the left medial and superior frontal gyrus, right precentral gyrus, right occipital pole, right cerebellar hemisphere (Fig. 4.20). The anterior regions of NSIC element localized in the region of the right insula/frontal operculum demonstrated, on the contrary, increased FC with pole of the right frontal lobe and right medial temporal gyrus of the human brain (Fig. 4.21). The obtained results are presented in Table 4.17.



Figure 4.20. Areas of decreased functional connectivity with the non-selective inhibitory control system (green sphere), localized in the orbital part of the right inferior frontal gyrus, in patients with generalized anxiety disorder, compared to healthy subjects (pFDR(cluster)<0.05, minimum cluster size – 30 voxels). R – right hemisphere, L – left hemisphere.



L

Figure 4.21. Areas of increased functional connectivity with the non-selective inhibitory control system (green sphere), localized in the anterior insula/frontal operculum in the right hemisphere, in patients with generalized anxiety disorder, compared to healthy subjects (pFDR(cluster)<0.05, minimum cluster size -30 voxels). R – right hemisphere, L – left hemisphere.

Our correlation analysis between functional connectivity of revealed clusters with FC changes and psychodiagnostic parameter values of patients with GAD allowed to establish only negative correlations. So, FC between the orbital part of the right inferior frontal gyrus and several revealed clusters (left medial frontal gyrus, right precentral gyrus, left superior frontal gyrus) correlated negatively with Kerdo index (Fig. 4.22–4.25). FC between right anterior regions of the insula/frontal operculum and the right medial temporal gyrus correlated negatively with the situational anxiety level in patients with GAD according to Integrative Test for Anxiety (Fig. 4.22).

Table 4.17. Areas of changes in functional connectivity with parts of the nonselective inhibitory control system in patients with GAD, pFDR(cluster)<0.05, minimum cluster size - 30 voxels.

Nº ■ Location (L – left hemisph R – right hemisphere)		p-FDR cluster level	Cluster size	Local : coordi	Local max coordinates in MNI				
			5 -11 0	x	У	Z			
De	ecreased functional connectivity					·			
Re	egion of interest: orbital part of	the right infe	rior frontal	gyrus					
1	P: cerebellum	<0,001	958	+42	-66	-28			
2	L: middle frontal gyrus	0,012	195	-34	24	42			
3	P: precentral gyrus	0,0173	164	+02	-20	74			
4	L: superior frontal gyrus	0,02	148	-06	34	54			
5	P: occipital pole	0,043	114	+08	-100	-12			
Increased functional connectivity									
Region of interest: right anterior insula/frontal operculum									
1	P: frontal pole	0,025	157	+18	66	8			
2	P: middle temporal gyrus	0,034	121	+58	-2	-22			



Figure 4.22. Scatterplot of the values of the resting state functional connectivity between the right inferior frontal gyrus and the left middle frontal gyrus and the Kerdo index of patients with GAD. The red line is the trend line, r is the Pearson correlation coefficient.



Figure 4.23. Scatterplot of the values of the resting state functional connectivity between the right inferior frontal gyrus and the right precentral gyrus

and the Kerdo index of patients with GAD. The red line is the trend line, r is the Pearson correlation coefficient.



Figure 4.24. Scatterplot of the values of the resting state functional connectivity between the right inferior frontal gyrus and the left superior frontal gyrus and the Kerdo index of patients with GAD. The red line is the trend line, r is the Pearson correlation coefficient.



Figure 4.25. Scatter plot of the resting state functional connectivity values between the right anterior insula/frontal operculum and the right middle temporal gyrus and anxiety scores according to the Integrative Anxiety Test of patients with GAD. The red line is the trend line, r is the Pearson correlation coefficient.

Thus, it was found that an additional (respective to standard values) NSIC

element in the region of the anterior insula and opercular region of the inferior frontal

gyrus of the human brain, appearing in the generalized anxiety disorder was characterized by increased FC levels. This suggests the compensatory involvement of this additional element. Moreover, correlation analysis shows that high functional connectivity values are accompanied by relatively low situational anxiety levels what can be evidence of individual varying of compensatory NSIC involvement. This is in accord to a great degree with known literature data showing that lowered FC of the cingulo-opercular system structures is observed in case increased personal anxiety levels [53,138].

4.3.2. GAD-associated changes in the human brain functional connectivity between the elements of the system providing for socially significant information processing associated with social intelligence

Patients with generalized anxiety disorders had lowered FC between ROI localized in the right caudate nucleus (FC of which demonstrated correlation with the social intelligence level [303]) and several anatomical human brain regions including the supramarginal gyrus bilaterally, right post- and precentral gyri, right cerebellar hemisphere and its vermis, left inferior temporal and medial frontal gyri (Fig. 4.26, Table 4.18).



Figure 4.26. Areas of decreased human brain functional connectivity between a node of the system involved in a processing of socially significant information

(green sphere), localized in the right caudate nucleus, in patients with generalized anxiety disorder, compared to healthy subjects (pFDR(cluster)<0.05, minimum cluster size -30 voxels). R - right hemisphere, L - left hemisphere.

Table 4.18. Areas of decreased functional connectivity between the ROI localized in the right caudate nucleus and the remaining functional images' voxels in patients with anxiety disorder (pFDR(cluster) <0.05, minimum cluster size – 30 voxels).

Location (L – left hemisphere, R –	p-FDR cluster	Cluster	Loca coorc	Local max coordinates in MNI			
right hemisphere)	level	5121	X	У	Z		
R Supramarginal gyrus	<0,0011	546	58	-22	38		
R Postcentral gyrus	0,008	194	40	-42	64		
L Supramarginal gyrus	0,008	184	-48	-34	46		
L Inferior temporal lobule	0,013	158	-50	-52	-18		
R Precentral gyrus	0,013	151	28	-8	58		
R Cerebellum	0,027	117	42	-42	-32		
Cerebellar vermis	0,027	113	-6	-78	-24		
L Middle frontal gyrus	0,027	110	-30	34	26		

The correlation analysis revealed negative correlation between functional connectivity of the right caudate nucleus with the right postcentral gyrus and Kerdo index (Fig. 4.27), and also positive correlation between FC of the right caudate nucleus and cerebellar vermis and Vigilance Scale score of Melbourne Decision Making Questionnaire (Fig. 4. 28).



Figure 4.27. Scatterplot of functional connectivity values of the right caudate nucleus with the right postcentral gyrus and the Kerdo index of patients with GAD. The red line is the trend line, r is the Pearson correlation coefficient.



Figure 4.28. Scatterplot of functional connectivity values of the right caudate nucleus with the cerebellar vermis and Melbourne Decision Making Questionnaire (MDMQ) Alertness scale scores of patients with GAD. The red line is the trend line, r is the Pearson correlation coefficient.

Our analysis of functional connectivity between ROI selected according to results of activation investigation and gPPI-analysis using TAP-paradigm [270] and

165

other image voxels did not reveal statistically significant differences between the patient group with anxiety disorders and healthy subjects.

4.3.3. GAD-associated changes in the human brain functional connectivity between the elements of the brain executive control provision systems of cognitive activity in the operational rest condition

Patients with generalized anxiety disorder were characterized by lowered functional connectivity between elements of the systems providing for executive control processes revealed at the previous stage of our studies [285] and several brain regions including the right superior and medial frontal gyri, left supramarginal gyrus, right precuneus (Fig. 4.29, 4.30, Table 4.19).



Region of interest – left inferior and middle frontal gyrus, decreased functional connectivity

Figure 4.29. Areas of decreased functional connectivity with nodes of the system underlying executive control of cognitive activity for areas of interest in the left caudate nucleus and left inferior frontal gyrus (green spheres) in patients with generalized anxiety disorder, compared to healthy subjects (pFDR(cluster)<0.05, minimum cluster size – 30 voxels). R – right hemisphere, L – left hemisphere.



Figure 4.30. Areas of decreased functional connectivity with nodes of the system underlying executive control of cognitive activity for areas of interest in the left superior temporal gyrus and left thalamus (green spheres) in patients with generalized anxiety disorder, compared with healthy subjects (pFDR(cluster)<0.05, minimum cluster size – 30 voxels). R – right hemisphere, L – left hemisphere.

Table 4.19. Areas of functional connectivity changes with nodes of the system underlying executive control processes in patients with generalized anxiety disorder (pFDR(cluster)<0.05, minimum cluster size – 30 voxels)

Nº	Location (L – left hemisphere, R – right	p-FDR cluster	Cluster size	Local max coordinates in MNI				
	hemisphere)	level		X	у	Z		
The decrease of functional connectivity								
Region of interest – left inferior and middle frontal gyrus								
1	R superior frontal gyrus	0,028	164	2	26	48		
Regio	on of interest – left caudate m	ıcleus			1			
1	L Supramarginal gyrus	0,031	168	-52	-46	40		
Regio	on of interest – left superior to	emporal gy	rus	<u>I</u>	ļ			
1	R Precuneus	0,032	164	10	-70	26		
Region of interest – left thalamus								
1	R Middle frontal gyrus	0,001	306	48	28	30		
2	R Superior frontal gyrus	0,002	243	-2	34	44		

Our analysis of correlations between Kerdo index and vigilance level according to Melbourne Decision Making Questionnaire and GAD patients' functional connectivity between regions of interest in the caudate nucleus and superior temporal gyrus of the left human brain hemisphere and revealed clusters in the left supramarginal gyrus and right precuneus revealed only negative correlations (Fig. 4.31, 4.32).



Figure 4.31. Scatterplot of the values of functional connectivity between of the left caudate nucleus with the left supramarginal gyrus and the Kerdo index in patients with GAD. The red line is the trend line, r is the Pearson correlation coefficient.



Figure 4.32. Scatterplot of the values of functional connectivity of the left superior temporal gyrus with the right precuneus and scores on the Alertness scale of the Melbourne Decision Making Questionnaire in patients with GAD. Red line – trend line, r – Pearson correlation coefficient

Equally with correlation analysis, the revealed FC changes were contrasted with the results obtained by intergroup comparison of fMRI data of patients with GAD and healthy subjects regarding local activity changes when fulfilling the Go/NoGo test task and functional connectivity changes for NSIC elements and the neuronal system providing for social interactions. The results showed that GAD-associated FC decrease observed between ROI in the left thalamus and medial surface of the left superior frontal gyrus (Fig. 4.30) coincided by its localization with the cluster of GAD-associated lowered BOLD-signal in case of inhibition of prepared actions (NoGo tests, see Fig. 4.5). Localization of this crossing is presented in Figure 4.33 and corresponds to the medial surface of the medial frontal gyrus. According to the meta-analytical Internet resource "Neurosynth" [175] the above brain structure is included in the frontoparietal executive and cognitive control system is detected as activated under a wide range of test conditions varying from emotional reacting [109, 174], speech activity [68, 180] to working memory [190, 308] and cognitive interference [204, 296] or actual or imagined motor activity [59].

Basing on the literature data it will be correctly to acknowledge the revealed supramodal nature of functional specialization of this region what suggests directly the association of this structure with executive control of the current activity.



Figure 4.33. Spatial intersection of the GAD-induced decrease in local human brain activity during suppression of prepared actions (NoGo test) and the GAD-induced decrease in functional connectivity between ROIs in the left thalamus. Legend: red indicates clusters of decreased BOLD-signal when comparing "NoGo > baseline" contrasts between patients with GAD and healthy subjects (see Fig. 4.5); green indicates clusters with reduced functional connectivity values in patients with GAD relative to healthy subject according to the resting state fMRI-data for the region of interest in the left thalamus (see Fig. 4.30); yellow indicates the intersection between the two clusters described above, localized on the medial surface of the superior frontal gyrus (with coordinates x = -2, y = 11, z = 49).

4.3.4. GAD-associated changes in human brain functional connectivity in the operational rest condition between regions of interest covering the whole brain

The analysis of functional connectivity between ROI covering the whole brain volume according to collection of anatomical charts aal3 [47] revealed that patients with anxiety disorder were characterized by lowered FC between the caudate nuclei bilaterally and the right cerebellar hemisphere (Fig. 4.34, Table 4.20).



Figure 4.34. Decreased functional connectivity (red lines) between brain regions, revealed by pairwise comparisons of regions of interest covering the entire brain without attribution to preselected brain structures, in patients with generalized anxiety disorder compared with healthy subjects (pFDR(cluster)<0.05, minimum cluster size is 30 voxels). R – right hemisphere, L – left hemisphere

Table 4.20. Decrease in functional connectivity between ROIs covering the entire volume of the brain according to the atlas of the CONN software package in patients with anxiety disorder (p(connection)<0.05 without correction for multiple comparisons, pFDR(cluster)<0.5).

The de caudat	F/T values	
Cluster		F = 7,24
1	FC «right caudate nucleus – right cerebellar hemisphere (Crus1)»	T = 2,61
2	FC «left caudate nucleus - right cerebellar hemisphere (Crus2)»	T = 2,44
3	FC «left caudate nucleus - right cerebellar hemisphere (Crus1)»	T = 2,16

The correlation analysis performed by us between the functional connectivity degree and psychodiagnostic parameters of patients with GAD did not reveal any significant correlations.

The obtained result is in accords with the literature data suggesting GADassociated lowering of functional connectivity between the cerebellum in the operational rest condition and the following structures: right dorsolateral cortex [25.], posterior cingulate gyrus [250], right right cerebellar tonsil [155].

As it was shown in previous studies of topographic organization of the human cerebellum basing on fMRI data in the operational rest condition, the cerebellum region crus1 could be associated with provision of executive control functions [101, 102]. Basing from this, we can conclude that the revealed lowering of FC of this region with the caudate nuclei can reflect changes in control functions and, that our result supplements the previous data on the nature of integrative activity of NSIC elements in the operational rest condition in GAD.

Besides that, functional connectivity lowering revealed by us is also in compliance with a similar effect found in GAD when FC was analyzed in the mode "region of interest – all other image voxels" (see previous section 4.3.2): between the region of interest in the caudate nucleus and cluster in the cerebellum where lowered FC was also detected.

It is important to specify here that the region of interest in the right caudate nucleus of the human brain was selected basing on the analysis results of a relationship between FC in this structure and the social intelligence level [303]. As judged by the available literature data, a similar effect of cerebellum FC lowering in the operational rest condition was observed in numerous studies of social anxiety (GAD variant with involvement of emotion regulation processes) including FC with prefrontal cortex [69], basal ganglia (putamen) and right thalamus [283] and also right cerebellar tonsil [155].

Thus, our result not only clears up the potential commonality between brain processes providing for social intelligence, social anxiety and generalized anxiety, but suggests also the potential of revealed brain structures (cerebellum and caudate nuclei) as candidates for psychophysiological monitoring of control function disorder.

Summarizing the psychophysiological stage of our study we should conclude that when solving the set tasks of this stage we established previously unknown patterns of involvement of the brain nonselective inhibitory control system (NSIC) elements in provision of action control processes associated with generalized anxiety.

We showed for the first time that extension of the element composition of the brain NSIC system is observed in generalized anxiety disorder under conditions of uncertainty when previously prepared actions are suppressed and implemented (the Go and NoGo tests), as compared to the norm. This extension occurs due to additional involvement of the elements localized both in the region of the right anterior insula and frontal operculum and in the region of orbito-frontal cortex of the right brain hemisphere. The literature dedicated to studying neurophysiological manifestations of GAD attaches the critical importance in pathogenesis of this disease to the human brain region including the anterior regions of the insula and frontal opercular cortex in which our study revealed GAD-associated NSIC link [40, 117, 225]. Besides the established extension of the NSIC element composition, significant overlapping is observed between other links of the NSIC system in patients with GAD and NSIC elements revealed earlier in healthy volunteer group (see [188]).

It should be mentioned that the experimental search in such studies is focused to changes in the recorded brain activity (more often, its lowering relative to the norm) in changes of the brain functioning associated with the pathologic formation process of generalized anxiety disorder. In contrast to this, our study used a principally new methodical approach aimed at statistical analysis of practical equivalence of the brain activity parameters [244] and tested when studying functioning patterns of the brain NICS system in obsessions [156]. This allows to consider brain activity characteristics ignored earlier in the tomographic investigations of the brain. i.e to reveal those brain structures which demonstrate statistically verified absence of changes in their activity. As a result exactly such approach used in this study allowed to establish new elements of the neuronal nonselective inhibitory control system whose activity level does not differ from the norm. It should be mentioned also that another location pattern of the

brain NSIC system elements is observed and local lowered activity of these elements is recorded [156] in obsessive compulsory disorder under the same test conditions of activities implementation. This is in compliance with concepts of different pathophysiological neurobiological principles of GAD and obsessions.

At the same time, GAD-associated changes in the functional activity were found by us also for other brain structures: our studies showed lowered local activity in the anterior cingulate cortex when it was involved in provision of action implementation (Go tests) and their suppression (NoGo tests). Moreover, the higher individual anxiety levels were, the more the BOLD-signal in this region decreased. Our results are in accord with the known literature data because it is known that the anterior cingulate cortex is one of the brain structures whose activity changes are associated with GAD pathogenesis and are part of the cingulo-opercular neuronal network (sometimes this neuronal network is considered in the literature as salience network (neuronal network providing for processing/perception processes of behavioral significance)). So, lowered activity in the anterior cingulate cortex is explained by disturbance of descending control influences (including regulation of emotional experiences) in GAD [23] and this structure is an important element in their brain provision.

Thus, this effect of relatively lowered involvement of the anterior cingulate cortex in action control processes in GAD was demonstrated by us for the first time for experimental conditions implying involvement of action inhibitory control processes under uncertainty conditions modelled by the Go/NoGo test task. The previous studies of other authors observed brain structure activity changes in GAD comparable by their nature only under conditions of provoking anxiety or emotional experiences and there were no purposeful studies focused to investigation of the brain provision of inhibitory control in GAD using tomographic neurovisualization methods. Our result complies with modern understanding of GAD brain base and evidences correctness of the hypothesis on GAD-associated lowering of the capability to control actions not only in situations associated with emotional experiences but also when controlling actions under emotionally neutral conditions. Besides that, the presence of brain activity change pattern in GAD revealed by us is in accord with the concepts of the association between control functions and psychodiagnostic parameters of personal anxiety which is manifested in GA clearly and consistently: a respective brain activity parameter is lowered with growth of personal anxiety. Thus, the results of our correlation analysis additionally suggest the potential diagnostic value of neurophysiological activity parameters of revealed GAD-associated set of structures which can be useful for psychophysiological monitoring of control functions.

At the same time we did not observe lowered activities efficiency in patients with GAD at the behavioral level in terms of response time to Go-stimuli or number of mistakes. Our result reproduced data of single previous studies of motor (Go/NoGo test) and cognitive (using Stroop test) inhibition processes in GAD, in which GAD was manifested not only in increased response time and number of mistakes in Stroop test (see, e.g., [74]). To our opinion, this can be caused by compensatory involvement of additional (relative to the norm) elements of the neuronal nonselective inhibitory control system revealed in our study, namely GAD-associated NSIC element in the anterior insula and frontal operculum.

To our opinion, the compensatory nature of extension of NSIC element composition in GAD (due to involvement of the anterior region of insula of the right brain hemisphere) is confirmed additionally by the data obtained by us when analyzing functional connectivity in the operational rest condition. So, it was established that functional connectivity of GAD-associated NSIC element localized in the region of the anterior insula/frontal operculum is characterized by increased (relative to the norm) FC parameter values with the pole of the frontal lobe and medial temporal gyrus of the right hemisphere. It should be mentioned also that AI/FO is the only one brain structure of all analyzed regions of interest which demonstrates increased FC in GAD relative to the norm in the operational rest condition. Moreover, it demonstrates inverse correlation with the personal anxiety level.

Besides that, in GAD the effect of increased functional connectivity of GADassociated NSIC element was observed with simultaneous lowering of functional connectivity of both other NSIC elements and elements of other brain systems analyzed in our study: neuronal systems of socially significant information processes [303] and cognitive activity executive control [285]. To our opinion, the nature of revealed correlation between FC of this NSIC element with individual situational anxiety levels in patients with GAD can be an additional evidence suggesting its compensatory role in the behavioral control: relatively low FC of this GADassociated element in the operational rest condition was observed at high anxiety levels. It is important to emphasize that before obtaining the results of our study, previous studies interpreted the functional role played by involvement of the anterior region of the insular cortex in GAD pathogenesis from viewpoints of providing the affective aspect of anxiety disorders (see, e.g., [225]). In such studies the matter concerned that part of the insular cortex, which, along with the anterior cingulate cortex, is included in the cingulo-opercular neuronal network composition (so-called salience network). Our analysis of literature data shows also that elements of this system are characterized exactly by another type changes in brain functional activity parameters in GAD, namely, lowering of FC parameter values and local activity level in GAD [61, 126]. It is important to emphasize here once more that GADassociated NSIC element detected for the first time, was revealed thanks to a new method of brain function mapping [244] developed within the limits of our thesis study.

Functional specialization of this element relatively to control functions is confirmed not only by coincidence with the meta-analysis results obtained in fMRI investigation of inhibitory control but also by comparison with meta-analysis study findings using larger literature data body associated with investigations of the executive control brain provision. So, it is known that the region of insular cortex (together with anterior cingulate cortex) included in the neuronal network associated with provision of behavioral significance (so-called salience network) demonstrates, as a rule, lowered FC parameter values and local activity level in GAD [61, 126]. Our analysis comparing localization of GAD-associated NSIC element in the anterior insula and neuronal executive network, visualized using the Neurosynth.org meta-analytical software [175], shows that this element coincides by its localization with the brain structures included in the neuronal executive control system. This suggests additionally the conclusion on the compensatory role played by involvement of GAD-associated element in AI/FO in providing nonselective inhibitory control processes for action control under conditions of the Go/NoGo test task.

Besides the compensatory nature of the anterior insular cortex involvement, the extension of NSIC element composition itself can suggest the increased activities control level which can lead to certain choking. As it was mentioned above, the chocking phenomenon can be associated with increased activity control what can result in confusing action in case of excess development of these phenomena, especially in sportsmen going in for technically complex sports [364, 409]. Moreover, the increased anxiety factor can result in increased control of the current activities implementation, neuronal manifestations of which are observed in our study, most likely, as NSIC element composition extension.

As it was already mentioned above, other analyzed regions of interest related to neuronal nonselective inhibitory control system demonstrate lowered functional connectivity in the operational rest condition in GAD as compared to the norm. This was confidently demonstrated for GAD-associated neuronal NSIC system element localized in the right orbitofrontal cortex. In combination with the data on lowered local activity in the anterior cingulate cortex when fulfilling the Go and NoGo tests, one can state the complicated nature of action control brain systems restructuring demonstrated in the clinical model of GAD-associated changes in control functions. Thus, one of the key brain systems providing for behavior control, i.e. nonselective inhibitory control system, is characterized in GAD by additional (relative to the norm) inclusion of elements with multidirectional values of functional connectivity in the rest condition. The patterns revealed by us can be considered as neurobiological signs of changes in control functions which can be required in practice of psychophysiological monitoring within the limits of TME of sportsmen.

Thus, two brain regions revealed in the present study, being GAD-associated elements of the brain nonselective inhibitory control system involved in provision of action control under uncertainty conditions can be considered as candidates for the role of regions of interest which can be used for psychophysiological monitoring of changes in the control functions as potentially associated with lowered efficiency of the current activities implementation (Fig. 4.35).

Besides the above brain structures, the results obtained by us in the clinical model of GAD-associated changes in the brain provision of executive control allow to suggest additional regions of interest as candidates for diagnostics of control function changes. So, one of GAD variants, so-called social anxiety, is closely connected with sports in which productivity depends on the experts' external assessment, or so-called spectator sports attracting large masses of observers. In this connection, the finding seems promising, which suggests involvement in GAD pathogenesis of the brain structures associated with providing for socially significant behavior aspect processing/perception. So, we found lowered functional connectivity between the caudate nuclei and cerebellum in the operational rest condition in patients with GAD as compared to the norm using two independent methods for analysis of fMRI data in the operational rest condition. In one case GAD-associated FC lowering between these structures was observed in the operational rest condition when the caudate nuclei were selected as regions of interest as ones associated with neuronal processes supporting the social intelligence level [303]. In other case, this effect was demonstrated in paired comparison of all regions of interest covering the brain without preliminary selection of a region of interest in any brain structure (see section 4.3.4). It is important to emphasize in this respect that, basing on the literature data, the lowered FC of the cerebellum in the operational rest condition is a reproducible effect not only in GAD but also in case of social anxiety what determines the selection of the caudate nuclei
and cerebellum as candidates for potential regions of interest for diagnostics of control function changes caused by anxiety (see Fig. 4.35).

The comparison of the patterns found by us with the literature data analyzed within the limits of the purposeful meta-analytical study for revealing the brain structures providing for inhibitory action control [118] showed that lowered functional activity with simultaneously high anxiety levels was observed in the anterior cingulate and supplementary motor cortex (ACC/SMC) which are associated with provision of central inhibition processes (but these brain structures are not included in NSIC). It should be mentioned here that ACC is one of those brain structures which are closely connected with GAD pathogenesis and changes in its functioning are associated with emotion dysregulation in GAD [290]. It was found additionally that GAD-associated local activity lowering on the medial surface of the medial frontal gyrus during action suppression was combined with GAD-associated functional connectivity lowering with the region of interest in the left thalamus in the operational rest condition. To our opinion, taking into account the polyfunctional specialization of this brain structure and its element belonging to the frontoparietal executive control system, the effect revealed by us is also the reflection of control function changes caused by generalized anxiety disorder. Basing on the above, the regions of the anterior cingulate cortex and medial surface of the medial frontal gyrus are suggested as candidates to target structures for psychophysiological monitoring of control function changes (see Fig. 4.35).



Figure 4.35. Human brain structures as a result of our research selected as target structures for psychophysiological diagnostics of changes in the brain mechanisms of executive functions. Functional activity parameters in these areas can be used as objective indicators of a possible decrease in the effectiveness of the implementation and performance of sports activities within the framework of athletes' mental training.

Thus, changes of the brain provision of behavior control processes in case of increased anxiety level are much wider and are not limited to the NSIC brain system. The obtained experimental data suggest the possible unidirectional restructuring nature of neuronal provision of the brain activities control mechanisms in generalized anxiety notwithstanding absence of rough behavioral disorders and statistically significant deviations of behavioral activity efficiency parameters from the standard values. Thus, the pattern of changes established by us indicates hypoactivity of the brain structures providing for control functions in GAD.

Weakening of distant functional interactions in the operational rest condition, which is similar in its pattern, was revealed by us for the elements of the executive control system localized in the structures associated with cognitive control processes.

The global analysis of our data shows that local lowering of the brain structure functional activity associated with provision of behavioral control in its different aspects and weakening of distant interaction combined with it suggest generalized character of the influence exerted by increased anxiety on functioning of the analyzed brain systems. Weakening of distant functional connections between the brain structures revealed in GAD using the fMRI data obtained in the operational rest condition in practically all analyzed regions of interest (except for GADassociated NSIC element in the right insula/operculum of the frontal cortex) indicates the high potential for diagnostic use of the information on these brain structures activity.

In order to check the above at the next stage of our thesis study, the formed set of the brain structures selected as target structures for fMRI monitoring was used to test a data analysis method which allows to consider differences between group parameter values of the functional brain activity (patients with GAD and healthy subjects) in individual diagnostics. To solve this task and achieve the objectives of our thesis study, the fMRI data body used at the previous study stages was processed in order to obtain the data of another modality (as compared to that used at the previous study stage). The fMRI data recorded by us in the operational rest condition was used to obtain another parameter of the brain functional condition, i.e. the amplitude of low-frequency fluctuations of BOLD-signal in the operational rest condition (ALFF) [31]. This brain activity parameter is calculated as square root of low frequency activity power spectrum (0.01–0.1 Hz) and, as considered in the literature, is an index of brain spontaneous neuronal activity level which reflects its functional condition [90]. The covariation approach based on principal component method (so-called PCA-based scaled subprofiled model (SSM-PCA)) was applied to use ALFF values of all human brain structures from the set suggested by us in individual diagnostics. Initially this approach was suggested to analyze positron emission tomography data [256] and allowed to consider glucose accumulation

levels in all image voxels, i.e. it is essentially a kind of multivariate analysis. Later this approach was successfully used for analysis of fMRI data [223, 274]. Application of SSM-PCA to analysis of group data (e.g., when comparing fMRI images of healthy subjects and patients) allows to obtain the change pattern of the recorded signal in the scanned brain volume, the degree of which can be assessed in an individual patient or study participant. Thus, this statistical approach allows to pass from the assessment of group differences to individual diagnostics. So, the use of this method in our thesis study is substantiated by the need to achieve its objective.

4.4. Individual diagnostics of functional condition of the brain structures providing for control functions using rest fMRI data in healthy subjects and patients with generalized anxiety disorder

At the final stage of our thesis study, a task was solved to test a fMRI data processing method which would allow to use the intergroup comparison data (within our clinical model of GAD-associated changes in the brain provision of control functions) in individual fMRI diagnostics of possible changes in control functions associated with possibly productivity lowering. The positron emission tomography using 18-fluorine deoxyglucose (FDG PET) is today a golden standard in diagnostics of the functional brain condition. But the use of PET under conditions of existing radiation safety standards when investigating the diseases, accompanied by the disturbed functional brain condition, is restricted by several factors one of which consists in presence of the effective dose for the patient. This restricts the use of PET in practice of TME of sportsmen. But the literature contains a sufficient number of studies which show high correlation between fMRI data in the operational rest condition (including ALFF) and FDG PET results using different radiopharmaceuticals (18-FDG, 15-H2O both in the healthy population [311] and in case of pathologic conditions [60, 317]. As follows from the modern literature data, the fMRI method in the operational rest condition can be used for obtaining the the parameter of human brain functional condition not only in patients but also in

healthy subjects, therefore, it is applicable in principle to assessment of the sportsmen's functional condition.

Taking account the above, the final stage of our thesis study included: 1) methodical testing of the method for individual diagnostics of the functional brain condition basing on PCA/SSM applicably to PET data which allows in principle to use the results of intergroup comparison between the reference and target group of study participants (e.g., patients (and healthy subjects)), for which purpose we used PET data from the database of the Institute of Human Brain of RAS obtained in diagnostics of schizophrenia [222], 2) adaptation of this method for analysis of fMRI data obtained in the operational rest condition and testing such method in the clinical model of GAD-associated change in the brain provision of control functions, using the amplitude of low-frequency fluctuations of BOLD-signal recorded in the patient group with generalized anxiety order and healthy subject group with low and medium anxiety scores according to Spielberger-Khanin test [522].

The SSM-PCA method includes Scaled Subprofile Model (SSM) and principal component analysis (PCA). SSM-PCA decomposes the obtained data to group mean profile (GMP), individual residual profile (SRP) and scalar value of global scaling factor (GSF) [275]:

 $P_{sv} = GSF_s^*(GMP_v + SRP_{sv})$

where P – matrix s×v (s – total number of subjects, v – number of voxels in one 3D image after using the mask).

SRP, in its turn, can be considered as product of vectors group invariant subprofiles (GIS) by scalar values of subprofile scaling factor (SSF) [256].

According to literature data [256, 273, 275] the use of SSM-PCA method consists of the following stages:

1. Transformation of 3D image for each subject into vector with length v. Formation of matrix P with size $s \times v$, each line of which is a totality of all voxels of one subject after using the mask.

2. Logarithm data transformation

 $P_{sv} \rightarrow Log P_{sv}$

3. Data centering by lines. At this stage mean for this stage is substracted from each value in the line. After that data is deviation from the mean value of the line.

 $Q_{sv} = Log P_{sv} - mean_v(Log P_{sv})$

where Q is matrix with data centered by lines.

4. Date centering by columns is performed similarly to centering by lines. Initially a column is a totality of values of the given voxel in each subject after taking logarithms and centering by lines.

 $SRP_{sv} = Q_{sv} - GMP_{v}$

where $GMP_v = mean_s(Log Q_{sv})$.

5. The principal component analysis is used to decompose the obtained matrix of SRP (individual residual profiles) to vectors GIS (principal components) and their respective scalar values of SSF.

6. The pattern is a product of respective vector GIS by square of its singular value. Notwithstanding the fact that GIS and its respective SSF can be used already as pattern and expression values for specific patients, respectively, this step allows to effectively compare different patterns between each other taking into account their explained variance.

7. The pattern expression for a specific subject is scalar product of SRP by respective pattern.

Our analysis of literature data shows that pattern expression values are used, as a rule, for studying differences between the control healthy subject group and patient group. E.g., expression values of obtained patterns can be used as variables within the standard methods for statistical testing of null hypotheses: it is considered that the pattern with statistically significant difference of scalar values between the groups reflects spatial covariance structure associated with the disease [273]. As a rule, in such cases t-test for independent samples is used: for test and control group, respectively. The pattern was considered significant if p-value was less than 0.05 in the intergroup comparison.

As a rule, SSM-PCA method is described in the literature as an effective way for differential diagnostics of change in the functional brain basing on neurovisualization data (fMRI or PET). Different authors reported in their studies on obtaining and validation of SSM-PCA diagnostic pattern of Parkinson's disease [28, 97], multiple system atrophy, progressive supranuclear palsy [83], behavior disorder in sleep phase with rapid eye movements [306], diffuse Lewy body disease, Alzheimer's disease [188, 298] and other diseases [322]. It was shown that quantitative expression values obtained for each subject correlated significantly with disease severity which was reflected by this pattern [107; 202].

Basing on the above, we performed the study to assess the possibilities of SSM-PCA method in precise differential diagnostics of drug-induced parkinsonism with the purpose of methodical testing of this method using PET data [222]. For this purpose we used fluorine-deoxyglucose (18F) PET data allowing to map the brain energy metabolism. Basing on this data, we used PCA-SSM method to suggest a diagnostic tool (in the form of regression component contribution pattern) allowing to forecast the possible development of drug-induced parkinsonism in patients with schizophrenia [222]. It is known that drug-induced parkinsonism is one of the common side effects caused by pharmacotherapy of psychic disorders including psychoses which can make the treatment quite difficult and lower its efficiency [189, 265]. But diagnostic and prognostic criteria of drug-induced parkinsonism have been not developed today what is associated to a great degree with insufficient knowledge of its pathogenetic mechanisms. When performing the methodical testing of the SSM-PCA method, new data was obtained, on the base of which it became possible to determine that PET-pattern expression typical of idiopathic Parkinson's disease can be used as a neuromarker of drug-induced parkinsonism [222]. In addition to the fact that the obtained result opens a new potential for PER-diagnostics and prognosis of drug-induced parkinsonism, the successful methodical testing of the SSM-PCA

method determined its application to fMRI data for achieving the objectives of our thesis study.

The advantage of the SSM-PCA method applicably to the data of patients with generalized anxiety consists in the fact that manifestations of generalized anxiety in fMRI are extremely variable [126]. The point is that the use of SSM-PCA neutralizes the influence of the mean inside the group and between brain regions and, thus, the possibility of error associated with different functional activity profiles in different subjects (belonging to different groups) is ruled out. The principal component assay (PCA) allows to construct the pattern reflecting spatial distribution of variance associated with a certain attribute – presence of GAD disease in our study. Moreover, comparing pattern expression in different groups, in its turn, makes it possible to isolate the pattern corresponding to a differential attribute such as presence of generalized anxiety disorder which can be used in the individual analysis. The degree of such pattern allows to determine objectively presence of such manifestation of brain activity changes which indicates presence of GAD or changes in control functions.

In accordance with the above, in order to obtain 3D images of voxel-based distribution of BOLD-signal amplitude of low-frequency fluctuations (ALFF), temporal BOLD-signal series from each voxel were subject to fast Fourier transform with subsequent determination of BOLD-signal fluctuation spectrum power in low-frequency range (0.01–0.1 Hz).

Similarly to our analysis of human brain functional connectivity basing on fMRI data in the operational rest condition, the patient group with GAD included data for 25 participants with generalized anxiety disorder. The control group involved 33 healthy subjects with low and medium personal anxiety levels, which was determined by the data of Spielberger-Khanin psychodiagnostic test [522]; these subjects were selected out of 100 healthy subjects, whose data was used at the previous stages of our thesis study (see section 4.3). The clustering algorithm k-means++ [44], tested by us successfully earlier in the analysis of psychodiagnostic data obtained in the Dark Triad Questionnaire [91], was applied with this purpose to

psychodiagnostic data of personal anxiety. The peculiarity of this method consists in principal possibility to use it in small samples (but not less than 50) what allows to cluster any data, including psychodiagnostic data. Earlier when testing the application of this method to analysis of psychodiagnostic data, we used the clustering algorithm k-means++ for analysis of psychological data obtained by the Dark Triad Questionnaire in healthy subjects for their dividing in comparison groups in order to use them for performing the morphometric analysis of structural MRI data [91]. It was decided to use the experience of successful testing of this clustering method in our thesis study. As a result, the use of the method k-means++ allowed to isolate the group of 33 persons with medium and low anxiety levels out of the group of 100 healthy subjects whose data was used at the previous stages of out thesis study for analyzing the brain functional connectivity.

At the next stage, the BOLD-signal amplitudes of low-frequency fluctuation in the operational rest condition were obtained for these subjects for each voxel of fMRI images. The selection of this parameter for suggesting a diagnostic tool was determined by both close association of this parameter with functional brain condition and necessity to use independent data not connected with that, which was used for selection of a set of diagnostically significant brain regions.

In accordance with the above, before using SSM-PCA, our ALFF data was spatially normalized and smoothed using Gaussian function (point size = 14 mm). Smoothing and normalization of 3D images were performed in the SPM-12 software application in MATLAB R2023a medium for Windows (Mathworks Inc, Sherborn, MA). In order to process the data using the SSM-PCA method and perform t-tests of obtained pattern expression values, we wrote a software code in Python 3.11.5 language, fulfilled in the local web-interface Jupyter Notebook 6.5.4. The code was checked by generating test patterns based on the brain gray and white matter and comparing ScAnVP/SSM-PCA application also by with software (www.feinsteinneuroscience.org), which is widely used as a method for obtaining the functional activity pattern [75, 307]. Then a so-called 3D mask was generated to apply the SSM-PCA method to ALFF data obtained only in the brain structures

which were selected as a result of our neurophysiological fMRI investigations (see Fig. 4.36).



Figure 4.36. The mask used during SSM-PCA (axial slice coordinates: Z = -40, -30, -22, 12; sagittal slice coordinates: X = -10, 10, 20).

As a result of our analysis of the amplitude of low-frequency fluctuations of the brain structures BOLD-signal selected by us a diagnostically significant ones at the previous stage of the thesis study, we used the SSM-PCA method to obtain several patterns which were ranked in accordance with explained variance. So, e.g., we obtained expression values of each pattern for each patient with GAD and each healthy object from respective groups and after that we performed two-sample t-test for respective pattern expression values. As a result it turned out that only first pattern could be determined as significant (explained variance 6.3% at p = 0.002). In other words, we calculated the SSM-PCA pattern (see Fig. 4.37), expression values of which differed significantly between GAD patient and healthy subject groups. In particular, patients with G=GAD were characterized by: 1) increased pattern expression values (first model component) in the caudate nuclei, insula, medial part of the cingulate cortex and cerebellum (human brain regions designated by red color in Fig. 4.37); lowered pattern expression values in the cerebellum

bilaterally (human brain regions designated by blue color in Fig. 4.37) as compared to healthy subjects.



Figure 4.37. The pattern of changes in the amplitude of resting state low-frequency oscillations of BOLD-signals obtained as a result of comparing patients with generalized anxiety disorder and healthy subjects. Designations: coordinates of axial sections - Z = -40, -30, -22, 12; coordinates of sagittal slices - X = -10, 10, 20).

At the next stage of our study, in order to determine BOLD-signal ALFF value for regions with different expression degree of the first model component in patients with GAD, we obtained averaged ALFF values for the above clusters comprising the revealed pattern. The averaged BOLD-signal ALFF values in the human brain region, which demonstrated high values of the revealed component expression in patients with GAD (as compared to the data of healthy subjects) are presented in Fig. 4.38. Basing on ALFF data distribution it is seen that there are not significant differences between patients with GAD and healthy subjects what is confirmed by the statistical analysis results (p = 0.92).



Figure 4.38. Averaged values of the low-frequency BOLD-signal oscillations amplitude for human brain areas that demonstrated greater expression values of the identified component (according to SSM-PCA analysis) in patients with GAD, compared to healthy subjects. Designations: along the ordinate axis – values of the low-frequency BOLD-signal oscillations amplitude (ALFF), green triangle – group average ALFF values, horizontal line – median of ALFF values

The similar analysis of averaged BOLD-signal ALFF values in the human brain regions (the cerebellum regions designated by blue color in Fig. 4.37), which demonstrated negative values of the first component expression in SSM model for patients with GAD (designated by blue color in Fig. 4.37), revealed significant differences between healthy subjects and patients with GAD (p = 0.015, see Fig. 4.39). The obtained results are in accordance with previous data of other researchers, in which ALFF values were increased in patients with GAD as compared to the data of healthy subjects [26] and reproduce the effects of ALFF decrease in the cerebellum in GAD revealed earlier [159]. At the same time, a recent review published in the end of 2023 [24] states an insufficient number of the studies using ALFF for investigating the functional human brain condition in GAD.



Figure 4.39. Averaged values of the low-frequency BOLD-signal oscillations amplitude for human brain areas that demonstrated lower expression values of the identified component (according to SSM-PCA analysis) in patients with GAD, compared to healthy subjects. Designations: along the ordinate axis – values of the low-frequency BOLD-signal oscillations amplitude (ALFF), green triangle – group average ALFF values, horizontal line – median of ALFF values

Thus, basing on fMRI data on the functional human brain condition, its structures associated with control function provision, we obtained the diagnostic SSM-PCA pattern, the expression level of which can be used as an objective marker of the sportsman's functional condition. The obtained result is not only in compliance with the results of independent studies performed by other authors but it also outlines further field for future studies for specifying and developing the procedure for individual diagnostics of the functional human brain condition linked with control functions. The issue of introducing the suggested diagnostic method in practice of thorough medical examination of sportsmen is a subject for future and purposeful studies (including longitudinal ones).

SUMMARY

Our study is dedicated to analyzing the modern situation concerning the use of medical and medico-biological monitoring (MBM) technologies assessing the sportsman's functional condition in connection with scientific medical studies in the field of sports medicine and also searching for and development of new diagnostical approaches to psychophysiological monitoring. The conceptual limits of the technology within the limits of medico-biological and especially psychological studies can be defined as a science on the mastery to carry out transformations in the preset space of problems, objects, knowledge or information. In this connection MBM is an integral part of the more general concept of "control" designating the process of change in the condition of some biological object or system resulting in achievement of a certain target [455, 459]. Basing on this, the main task for MBM, as applicable to control in sports medicine, can be considered as achievement of a desired or predetermined effect in a controlled biological objector system. The effect achieved by this can be training, preventive, therapeutic or rehabilitation [455, 459]. Our analysis of the state-of-art of MBM in our country suggests a problem of delay in introduction of the scientific study results into practice of thorough medical examination (TME). While accumulation of the scientific data results in gradual increase of the list of diagnostic methods, we have to acknowledge lack of parallelism between these processes. This is clearly seen by the example of the data on functioning of the sportsman immune [351, 352] and cardiovascular system [399, 530], which remained for long time without normative consolidation. In particular, the literature data accumulated over the recent years and results of our own studies of lipid metabolism, endothelial dysfunction and autoimmune processes shows that high physical and psycho-emotional loads influencing the organism of highly qualified sportsmen cause considerable immunological readjustment as a result of which, diagnostic signs in intensified tissue destroying are observed because of autoimmune response, therefore, the sportsman's heart is under constant autoimmune shock all the year round [351, 352, 353, 531]. In spite of the fact that the totality of accumulated scientific data suggests convincingly the necessity to

include diagnostics of endothelial dysfunction in the thorough medical examination this did not receive due attention in any Procedure version beginning from 2010 [531, 351, 352, 353, 462].

Such situation of a certain disagreement between the level and results of modern scientific studies and content of the documents regulating medical examinations of sportsmen is even more pronounced regarding TME associated with participation of a medical psychologist/psychotherapist in diagnostic investigation of the psycho-emotional status. Traditionally, the dominating approach in diagnostics and control of the sportsman's functional condition within the limits of MBM is associated with an emphasis on somatometry parameters, assessment of clinical-and-laboratory and functional-and-diagnostic parameters of the organism focusing on health preservation and providing for sports implementation of the sportsman's main physical qualities (endurance, strength, coordination, flexibility, speed) and basic functional systems. By the regulated extent of diagnostic investigations, the assessment of the sportsman's physical (somatic) condition, when implementing the "Procedure for Healthcare Delivery", takes more than 99%, and psychological investigations take only 1%. This contradicts the most important principle of Olympic sports stated by Pierre de Coubertin according to which "Psychology wins in the struggle of equal rivals". While it is evident that achievement of the sports result, provided that the somatic and psychic health parameters are preserved, is possible only in case of the sportsman's certain psychophysiological condition in most sports, the instructions in the "Procedure of TME" concerning the necessity to investigate the psycho-emotional status do not describe its content. This suggests high urgency of evidence-based selection of diagnostic procedures both from viewpoint of their methodical organization [455, 459], and from viewpoints of their neurophysiological and psychophysiological content.

Thus, today a situation has been formed, in which it is evident that achievement of the preset sports result is possible in case of high quality and evidence-based assessment of the sportsman's psychological condition and carrying out monitoring of his functional condition. In this situation its negative role is played by a known problem of insufficient objective parameters showing the human psychological condition, the so-called neuromarkers. This problem is closely associated with absence of generally accepted non-contradicting understanding of the relationship between psychic activity patterns and its brain provision what cannot fail to influence introduction of methods for objective assessment of the sportsman's psychophysiological condition into the regulated practice of TME.

Although investigating the associations between characteristics of the psychic activity course and efficiency of the sports activities implementation is, as earlier, a focus for a large number of psychological and neurophysiological studies what allows in principle to outline several investigational directions having the potential for inclusion in TME. Nevertheless, the selection of a target function, the objective psychophysiological assessment of which would allow to suggest possible candidates for the role of effective diagnostic criteria (whether an individual parameter of the brain total electric activity or characteristic of the neurophysiologic activity in a specific brain region) is difficult to a certain degree due to absence of a consensus regarding the nature of some or other psychic processes or mechanisms associated with such function.

Thus, the work performed within the limits of our thesis study included, on the one hand, selection of such target function and, on the other hand, analysis of the informal description of processes and psychologic operations attributed to such function and also their neurobiological provision. Considering the above, the present study was aimed at the development of potential candidates for the role of diagnostically significant parameters of the brain functional activity reflecting such condition of its structures regulating the current activities and behavior, which can be evidence of a possible change in the sportsman's psychophysiological condition associated with potentially worsened implementation of the sports activities and lowered productivity.

The studies within the limits of this thesis performed using the material of the psychological investigation of professional sportsmen group who are representatives

of precise sports – women gymnasts from the representative team of Russia and representative team of St. Petersburg, allowed to determine the target function and factors telling upon the efficiency of its implementation. Our psychological investigation showed that the efficiency of the women gymnasts' sports activities implementation could be influenced by the personal anxiety level which is closely associated with the activities control function.

Thus, the results of our study allowed to form a specific request for performing an independent psychophysiological investigation in order not only to assess the neurophysiological base of association between anxiety level and control functions but to suggest also a set of potential markers which can be useful in assessment of the sportsman's psychophysiological condition associated with those behavior control processes which can be altered due to change in personal anxiety level.

In order to solve the set task, it is necessary to select a procedure for recording the human brain activity which later could be applicable in practice of thorough medical examination taking into account time deficit and complex organization of the highly qualitied sportsmen' training process. Then we had to perform a series of psychophysiological investigations in a clinical model, which would allow to suggest evidence-based parameters for psychophysiological monitoring. As a result, functional magnetic resonance tomography was selected as such method within the limits of this study; we planned to assess its use under experimental conditions of the operational rest from viewpoint of possible diagnostic application. The essence of this approach consists in analysis of the functional connectivity between the analyzed brain regions (correlation of fMRI signal changes between selected regions of interest). This approach is widely used not only with the investigational but also diagnostic and prognostic purposes.

In addition to the tested procedure for psychophysiological monitoring, it was necessary to select a clinical model, which would allow to perform the evidencebased assessment of the suggested approach. Taking into account the results of the psychological investigation, we selected a clinical model of change in the brain provision of control functions in generalized anxiety disorder (GAD). At the next stage it was necessary to select experimental test conditions which should be adequate to the selected clinical model.

Taking into account the association between change in anxiety levels and control functions, the inhibitory control processes were used as a study object; in order to model their involvement we used the Go/NoGo test task, which was used earlier not only when studying the action control processes, but also in the studies of the correlation between sports activities characteristics and individual levels of the cognitive/inhibitory control capability. The modification with equally probable presentation of Go and NoGo stimuli used by us allowed also to model the uncertainty conditions of activity implementation, which, on the one hand, are observed often in the situation of sports activities implementation, and on the other hand, are important for investigating the anxiety, because uncertainty intolerance is one of the typical symptoms of GAD. Besides that, the uncertainty situation creates conditions for studying the brain nonselective inhibitory control system (NSIC system) discovered relatively not long ago, which is known to be involved in provision of both implementation and suppression of actions under conditions of uncertainty. The latter circumstance is especially important for the tasks of our thesis study because, in accordance with one of probable hypotheses, the lowered efficiency of the current activities implementation can be caused by the excessive control, which can be provided for also as a result of NSIC involvement.

As a result of the performed fMRI investigations of patients with GAD and healthy subjects we showed for the first time that in GAD implementation and suppression of the prepared actions under conditions of uncertainty was characterized by extension of the element composition of the neuronal NSIC system due to additional (relatively to the norm) involvement of the human brain structures localized in the anterior region of the insula (adjacent with the frontal opercular cortex) and orbital part of the inferior frontal gyrus of the right hemisphere. Moreover, the pattern of correlations between individual anxiety levels and the brain activity level in these NSIC elements involved additionally suggested the compensatory nature of the anterior insula involvement. It should be mentioned that the activity level of these brain structures did not differ significantly when comparing patients with GAD and healthy subjects. At the same time, we found lowered (relative to the norm) local brain activity during action implementation under conditions of the Go/NoGo test task in patients with GAD in several brain structures functionally associated with provision of the reactive inhibitory control and executive functions in different types of cognitive activities, among which one should mention the adjacent regions of the anterior cingulate cortex and medial surface of the superior and medial frontal gyri. The comparison of our results with the literature data allowed to consider the revealed brain activity change patterns in GAD as signs of changes in the control functions. This enabled us to select, on the base of the obtained experimental data, the brain regions as regions of interest – candidates for the role of targets for testing at the third stage of the thesis study using the experimental fMRI findings in the operational rest condition.

It is evident that the sports activities go beyond the limits of a narrow task for inhibition and implementation of actions modelled during the neurovisualization study. Therefore, besides the regions of interest associated with functioning of the brain nonselective inhibitory control system in a series of independent fMRI investigations of healthy subjects, we selected additionally the brain structures associated with provision of: 1) processes of social interactions and socially significant information processing, 2) executive control processes of cognitive activities (when solving cognitive tasks associated with verbal multi-meaning).

Our testing of the selected set of regions of interest in the intergroup comparison of fMRI findings in the operational rest in patients with GAD and a large sample of healthy subjects provided new data on characteristics of the functional connectivity at rest of the elements of neuronal NSIC systems, systems providing social interactions and executive control.

So, the additional evidences were obtained in favor of compensatory involvement of GAD-associated element of the neuronal NSIC system, localized in the anterior region of the right insula, in provision of action suppression and implementation processes because in the operational rest condition this structure proved to be only one which demonstrated intensified functional connectivity in GAD. At the same time, functional connectivity of all other analyzed regions of interest was characterized by lowering in GAD relative to the norm. This effect was seen also for the regions of interest localized on the caudate nuclei and cerebellum of the human brain, which, as our studies showed, are associated with provision of social intelligence and demonstrated, according to known literature reports, the same pattern of functional connectivity in case of social anxiety (FC lowering relative to the norm). A similar effect was obtained also for regions of interest associated with provision of executive control during realization of cognitive activities localized in the medial part of the medial frontal gyrus demonstrating also lowered local activity in patients with GAD during action suppression in NoGo tests of the Go/NoGo test task.

Thus, when summarizing our clinical data it is possible to state that lowering of functional connectivity in the operational rest condition in the basal ganglia structures, cerebellum, anterior cingulate gurus, medial surface of the medial frontal gyrus and orbital part of the right inferior frontal gyrus, which is recorded against a background of the compensatorily intensified functional connectivity of the element in the neuronal nonselective inhibitory control system in the anterior region of the right insula in the human brain, is a diagnostic sign of lowered efficiency of activity implementation and productivity in GAD. Basing on our data, an evidence-based set of regions of interest is formed which is recommended for use in practice of the of of thorough medical examination sportsmen with the purpose psychophysiological monitoring of the brain provision for control functions.

Thus, the totality of our results allows to determine a set of human brain structures whose parameters of functional activity in the operational rest condition can be used as signs showing change in the control functions associated potentially with lowered efficiency of the activities implementation and productivity. Within the limits of our work, a diagnostic approach is suggested, which allows to use the data of intergroup comparison in individual diagnostics of the functional condition of the human brain structures selected in out study. The results obtained when applying the statistical methods of multidimensional modeling to the data on amplitude of low-frequency fluctuations of BOLD-signal allowed to receive a diagnostic pattern of its redistribution, the degree of which can be used in the individual monitoring of the brain provision for control functions. Our results not only suggest the expediency of including fMRI monitoring in the MBM program of sportsmen in order to reveal neurophysiological signs of changes in the sportsmen's functional condition potentially associated with lowered productivity but also allow to suggest diagnostic tools for carrying out such monitoring.

Detecting in a sportsman fMRI signs coinciding with parameter values of the brain activity which were demonstrated by us in a clinical model of GAD-associated changes in the brain provision for control functions can be the grounds for thorough psychological investigation of a sportsman and possible correction of revealed disorders. Besides that, our results allow to establish the area for practice-oriented studies in order to develop new diagnostic fMRI criteria and psychophysiological monitoring programs and also determine ways for further studying the practical use of the functional MRT method in TME of sportsmen.

CONCLUSIONS

1. The systemic analysis of the structure and content of the "Procedure for Healthcare Delivery to Sportsmen" (three versions) revealed the following problems:

- the list of procedures has clear disbalance in favor of parameters characterizing working capacity, physical qualities and somatic health;

- the rapidness and substantiation of new scientific data transfer retards considerably both by somatic and, especially, by psychophysiological parameters;

- the volume of fundamental studies and knowledge transformed into medical technologies, especially in the field of neuropsychology, is very limited.

2. The results obtained in the psychological investigation of highly qualified representatives of precise sport (rhythmic-sportive gymnastics) demonstrate the important role of personal anxiety level as an indicator of efficiency of the sports activities implementation and productivity and suggest the significance of the control function assessment: levels of personal anxiety in women-gymnasts from the representative team of the country were lowered as compared to women-gymnasts from the representative team of St. Petersburg.

3. We showed for the first time in the clinical model of GAD-associated changes in the brain provision of control functions that the high anxiety is associated with involvement of the neuronal system of nonselective inhibitory control (NSIC).

4. Our results showed neurophysiological significance of GAD-associated changes in the brain functional activity observed earlier under experimental conditions implying anxiety provocation or emotion generation and also allowed to establish that emotional reacting dysregulation in GAD is caused by the changes in the brain provision of inhibitory control processes.

5. It is shown that in generalized anxiety disorder there takes place extension of the element composition of the neuronal nonselective inhibitory control system, which is one of the key neuronal systems for action control, which is active both during implementation and during inhibition of prepared actions. Such extension is realized due to additional (relatively to the norm) elements which are localized in the anterior region of insula and orbital part of the inferior frontal gyrus of the right human brain hemisphere.

6. Changes in the brain provision of control functions in generalized anxiety disorder are accompanied by lowering of the brain functional activity in the prefrontal cortex structures associated with the reactive inhibitory and executive control.

7. We demonstrated for the first time the compensatory nature of involvement of the element of the brain nonselective inhibitory control system, localized in the anterior insula region of the right human brain hemisphere, in processes providing for actions in GAD. This is confirmed by GAD-associated increase of functional connectivity of this element in operational rest condition correlating positively with personal anxiety level.

8. The study revealed for the first time different direction of GAD-associated changes in functional connectivity in the operational rest condition of those elements of the brain nonselective inhibitory control system, which are localized in the anterior insula/frontal operculum and orbital part of the inferior frontal gyrus in the right hemisphere.

9. It is shown for the first time that in the operational rest condition GAD is characterized by unidirectional and combined changes in the local activity and functional connectivity of the brain structures associated with provision of processes of nonselective inhibitory control, executive control and socially significant information processing.

10. The study found the human brain structures and diagnostic signs of their functional condition associated with change in control functions, lowered efficiency of the activity implementation and productivity.

Practical recommendations

1. In order to determine signs of changes in the brain provision of sportsmen's control functions it is recommended to perform studies for scanning the brain activity in the operational rest condition (in wake state) using functional MRI with duration from 5 to 10 minutes.

2. Performing the fMRI-investigation in the operational rest condition with collection of functional T2*-images should be combined with obtaining structural 3D-T1-weighted images with subsequent export of the obtained images from the working station.

3. The obtained functional and structural images are converted using the dii2nifti module of the mricron software package to NIFTI-format and after that they are assessed visually for artefacts.

4. In order to obtain the correct data on the brain functional activity the obtained fMRI data should be corrected regarding: 1) slice realignment with counting of six parameters of head shift relative to the initial position; 2) slice-timing correction; 3) determination of outlier scans by the maximum spatial shift (2 mm) and change of global signal intensity (z > 5); 4) structural image segmentation to gray and white matter, cerebrospinal fluid; 5) normalization of structural and functional images to the standard anatomical space (MNI152); 6) smoothing of functional images with diameter of convolution nucleus of 8 mm.

5. Preprocessed functional images are subject to the procedure for physiologic denoising using a multiple regression model: regressors are the following: a) the first 5 main signal components from the white matter and b) from cerebrospinal fluid, c) 6 parameters of the head shift and their first-order derivatives, d) outlier scans by the maximum movement or change of global signal intensity; then a band pass filter is applied to functional images to isolate low-frequency fluctuations (0.01–0.1 Hz).

6. Then the amplitude of low-frequency fluctuations (ALFF) maps corresponding to the power of BOLD-signal fluctuation spectrum in the low-frequency range (0.01–0.1 Hz) are calculated.

7. In order to reveal signs of changes in the brain provision of control functions, it is necessary to calculate the pattern expression developed basing on results of our thesis study using the multidimensional modeling methods as applicable to comparative analysis of fMRI date in the operational rest obtained in patient with generalized anxiety disorder.

REFERENCES

1. On Science and State Scientific and Technical Policy: Federal Law of 23.08.1996 № 127-FZ (ed. of 17.02.2023) / Collection of Legislation of the Russian Federation. - 1996. - № 35. - Art. 4137.

2 On Physical Culture and Sports in the Russian Federation: Federal Law of 04.12.2007 № 329-FZ / Rossiyskaya Gazeta. - № 276, 08.12.2007.

3. On the fundamentals of protection of the public health: Federal Law of 21.11.2011 № 323-FZ (ed. 28.12.2022) / Rossiyskaya Gazeta. - № 263, 23.11.2011.

4. On Amendments to Some Acts of the Government of the Russian Federation: Decree of the Government of the Russian Federation from 17.10.2009 N_{2} 812 / Collection of Legislation of the Russian Federation. - 2009. - N_{2} 43. - Art. 5064.

5. On Approval of the Charter of the Federal State Budgetary Institution "Russian Academy of Education": Resolution of the Government of the Russian Federation from 14.03.2014 № 187 (ed. from 29.06.2021) / Collection of Legislation of the Russian Federation. GOST R 52623.0-2006 2021. - No. 27 (part III). - Art. 5432.

6. On the procedure for organizing the provision of medical care to persons engaged in physical culture and sports (including in the preparation and conduct of physical culture events and sports events), including the procedure for medical examination of persons wishing to undergo sports training, engage in physical culture and sports in organizations and (or) perform norms of tests (tests) of the All-Russian physical culture and sports complex "Ready for Labour and Defence": Order of the Ministry of Health of Russia from 01.03.2016 Nº 134n (ed. of 21.02.2020) // Bulletin of normative acts of the Federal - Nº 31, 01.08.2016.

7. On approval of the Administrative Regulations of the Federal Service for Supervision of Health Care and Social Development for the execution of the state function to issue permits for the use of new medical technologies: Order of the Ministry of Health and Social Development of the Russian Federation from $20.07.2007 \text{ N}_{2} 488 / \text{Rossiyskaya Gazeta.} - \text{N}_{2} 34. - 16.02.2007.$ 8. On approval of the nomenclature of medical services: Order of the Ministry of Health of Russia from 13.10.2017 № 804n (ed. from 24.09.2020, amended from 26.10.2022) / Official Internet portal of legal information http://www.pravo.gov.ru, 08.11.2017.

9. On approval of the order of medical care during physical culture and sports events: Order of the Ministry of Health and Social Development of the Russian Federation from 09.08.2010 № 613n // Rossiyskaya Gazeta. - № 222, 01.10.2010.

10. On approval of the procedure for the organisation of medical care for persons engaged in physical culture and sports (including in the preparation and conduct of physical culture and sports events), including the procedure for medical examination of persons wishing to undergo sports training, engage in physical culture and sports in organisations and (or) perform the standards of tests (tests) of the All-Russian physical culture and sports complex "Ready for Labour and Defence" (GTO) and forms of medical reports on admission to participation in physical culture and sports events.

11. On approval of the procedure for organising medical and biological support for athletes of sports national teams of the Russian Federation: Order of the Federal Medical and Biological Agency of 08.09.2023 № 178 / Official Internet portal of legal information http://pravo.gov.ru, 03.10.2023.

12. GOST R 52379-2005. Good Clinical Practice = Good Clinical Practice (GCP): National standard of the Russian Federation : official edition : approved by Order of the Federal Agency for Technical Regulation and Metrology from 27 September 2005 No 232-st : date of introduction 2006-04-01 / Prepared by the Association of International Pharmaceutical Manufacturers (AIPM), International Confederation of Consumer Societies (ConfOP), Russian Academy of Medical Sciences (RAMS) on its own authentic translation, specified in paragraph 4. - Moscow : Standardinform, 2006. - 39 p.

13. GOST R 52623.0-2006. Technologies of simple medical services: General = Technologies of medical services: General: national standard of the Russian Federation: official edition: approved and put into effect by the Order of the Federal Agency for Technical Regulation and Metrology from December 27, 2006 N° 341-st: introduced for the first time: date of introduction 2008-01-01 / Developed by the Interregional Public Organization for Standardization and Quality Improvement of Medical Care. - Moscow: Standartinform, 2007. - 9 p.

14. GOST R 56034-2014. Clinical recommendations (protocols of treatment): General regulations = Clinical recommendations (Protocols for patient's cure): General regulations : national standard of the Russian Federation : official edition : approved and put into effect by Order of the Federal Agency for Technical Regulation and Metrology of the Russian Federation from 04 June 2014 N_{2} 503-st: introduced for the first time: date of introduction 2015-06-01 / Developed by Interregional public organization "Society for Pharmacoeconomic Research". - Moscow: Standardinform, 2015. - 23 p.

15. GOST R 56044-2014. Evaluation of medical technologies: General provisions = Evaluation of medical technologies. General regulations: national standard of the Russian Federation: official edition: approved and put into effect by the Order of the Federal Agency for Technical Regulation and Metrology of the Russian Federation from 11 June 2014 No 568-st: introduced for the first time: date of introduction 2015-06-01 / Developed by Interregional public organization "Society for Pharmacoeconomic Research". - Moscow: Standardinform, 2015. - 49 p.

16. GOST R 57272.1-2016 Risk management of new technologies using: Part 1: General requirements = Risk management of new technologies using: Part 1: General requirements: national standard of the Russian Federation : official edition : approved and put into effect by Order of the Federal Agency for Technical Regulation and Metrology 21 November 2016 № 1717-st: introduced for the first time: date of introduction 2017-12-01 / Developed by Open Joint Stock Company "Research Centre for Control and Diagnostics of Technical Systems" (JSC "NRC CD"). - Moscow: Standardinform, 2016. - 24 p. A component based noise correction method (CompCor) for BOLD and perfusion based fMRI / Behzadi Y., Restom K., Liau J., Liu T.T. // Neuroimage. – Vol. 37. – P. 90–101. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.04.042.

18. A fMRI study of differences in brain activity among elite, expert, and novice archers at the moment of optimal aiming. Kim, W., Chang, Y., Kim, J., Seo, J., Ryu, K., Lee, E., ... Janelle, C. M. (2014). Cognitive and Behavioural Neurology, 27, 173–182.

 A functional magnetic resonance imaging predictor of treatment response to venlafaxine in generalized anxiety disorder / Whalen P.J., Johnstone T., Somerville L.H. [et al.] // Biological Psychiatry. – 2008. – Vol. 63(9). – P. 858–863. – DOI: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.08.019.

20. A generalized form of context-dependent psychophysiological interactions (gPPI): A comparison to standard approaches / D.G. McLaren [et al.] // NeuroImage. – 2012. – Vol. 61(4). – P. 1277–1286. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.03.068.

21. A psychophysiological analysis of inhibitory motor control in the stopsignal paradigm / van Boxtel G.J., van der Molen M.W., Jennings J.R., Brunia C.H. // Biological Psychology. – 2001. – V. 58(3). – P. 229–62. – DOI: 10.1016/s0301-0511(01)00117-x.

A set of functionally-defined brain regions with improved representation of the subcortex and cerebellum / Seitzman B.A., Gratton C., Marek S. [et al.] // Neuroimage. – 2020. – Vol. 206. – e116290. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.116290.

23. A systematic review of fMRI studies in generalized anxiety disorder: evaluating its neural and cognitive basis / Mochcovitch M.D., da Rocha Freire R.C., Garcia R.F., Nardi A.E. // Journal of Affective Disorders. – 2014. – V. 167. – P. 336–342. – DOI: 10.1016/j.jad.2014.06.041.

24. A systematic review and meta-analysis of resting-state fMRI in anxiety disorders: Need for data sharing to move the field forward / Zugman A, Jett L,

Antonacci C, Winkler AM, Pine DS. // J Anxiety Disord. 2023 Oct;99:102773. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2023.102773.

25. Aberrant functional connectivity between the amygdala and the temporal pole in drug-free generalized anxiety disorder / W. Li, H. Cui, Z. Zhu [et al.] // Frontiers in Human Neuroscience. – 2016. – Vol. 10, № 2016 Nov. – P. 549. – DOI: 10.3389/fnhum.2016.00549.

26. Aberrant regional neural fluctuations and functional connectivity in generalized anxiety disorder revealed by resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging / Wang W., Hou J., Qian S., Liu K., Li B., Li M., Sun, G. // Neurosci. Lett. - 2016a. – Vol. 624. – P. 78–84. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neulet.2016.05.005.

27. Abnormal metabolic brain network associated with Parkinson's disease: replication on a new European sample / Tomše P., Jensterle L., Grmek M., Zaletel K., Pirtošek Z., Dhawan V., Peng S., Eidelberg D., Ma Y., Trošt M. // Neuroradiology. – 2017. – Vol. 59 (5). – P. 507-515. – DOI: 10.1007/s00234-017-1821-3.

28. Abnormal pattern of brain glucose metabolism in Parkinson's disease: replication in three European cohorts / Meles S.K., Renken R.J., Pagani M., Teune L.K., Arnaldi D., Morbelli S., Nobili F., van Laar T., Obeso J.A., Rodríguez-Oroz M.C., Leenders K.L. // European Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging. – 2020. – Vol. 47 (2). – P. 437–450. – DOI: 10.1007/s00259-019-04570-7.

29. Acevedo, E.A. Psychobiology of physical activity / E.A. Acevedo,P. Ekkejaris. – Champaign: Human Kinetics, 2006. – 279 p.

30. Action anticipation beyond the action observation network: A functional magnetic resonance imaging study in expert football players. / Abreu A. M., Macaluso E., Azevedo R. T., Cesari P., Urgesi C., Aglioti S. M. // European Journal of Neuroscience. – 2012. – Vol. 35. – P. 1646–1654. – DOI: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2012.08104.x.

31. Altered baseline brain activity in children with ADHD revealed by restingstate functional MRI / Zang Y.F., He Y., Zhu C.Z., Cao Q.J., Sui M.Q., Liang M., [et al.]. // Brain Dev. – 2007. – Vol. 29(2). – P. 83-91. – DOI: 10.1016/j.braindev.2006.07.002. 32. Angst J. From psychoanalysis to epidemiology: autobiographical notes /
J. Angst // Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica. – 2009. – Vol. 119. № 2. – P.87–97.

33. Aging and inhibitory control of action: cortico-subthalamic connection strength predicts stopping performance / Coxon J. P., Van Impe A., Wenderoth N., Swinnen S.P. // Journal of Neuroscience. – 2012. – Vol. 32(24). – P. 8401–8412.

34. Alexeeva, S. StimulStat: A lexical database for Russian / S. Alexeeva, N.
Slioussar, D. Chernova // Behavior Research Methods. – 2018. – Vol. 50, № 6. – P.
2305–2315. – DOI: 10.3758/s13428-017-0994-3.

35. Altered resting brain function and structure in professional badminton players. / Di X., Zhu S., Jin H. [et al] // Brain Connect. – 2012. – Vol. 2. – P.225–233.
– DOI: 10.1089/brain.2011.0050.

36. Amirkhan, J. A Factor Analytically Derived Measure of Coping: The Coping Strategy Indicator / J.H. Amirkhan // Journal of Personality and Social Psychology. – 1990. – Vol. 59. – P. 1066–1074. – DOI: 10.1037/0022-3514.59.5.1066.

37. An Update on Anxiety Disorders. Etiological, Cognitive & Neuroscientific Aspects. – Cham: Springer Verlag, 2022. – 226 p. – ISBN 978-3-031-19362-0. – DOI: 10.1007/978-3-031-19362-0.

38. Anxiety and cognitive performance: attentional control theory / Eysenck
M.W., Derakshan N., Santos R., Calvo M.G. // Emotion. – 2007. – Vol. 7. – № 2. – P.
336–353. – DOI: 10.1037/1528-3542.7.2.336.

39. Anxiety and depression in tension-type headache: A population-based study / T. J. Song, S. J. Cho, W. J. Kim [et al.] // PLoS ONE. – 2016. – Vol. 11, № 10.
– P. e0165316. – DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0165316.

40. Anxious brain networks: A coordinate-based activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis of resting-state functional connectivity studies in anxiety / Xu J., Van Dam N. T., Feng C., Luo Y., Ai H., Gu R., & Xu, P. // Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews. – 2019. – Vol. 96. – P. 21–30. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.11.005

41. Aron, A.R. From reactive to proactive and selective control: developing a richer model for stopping inappropriate responses / Aron A.R. // Biological Psychiatry.
- 2011. – Vol. 69(12). – e55-68. – DOI: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.07.024.

42. Aron, A.R. Inhibition and the right inferior frontal cortex: one decade on
/ Aron A.R., Robbins T.W., Poldrack R.A. // Trends in Cognitive Sciences. – 2014. –
V. 18(4). – P. 177–185. – DOI: 10.1016/j.tics.2013.12.003.

43. Aron, A.R. The Neural Basis of Inhibition in Cognitive Control / A.R. Aron // The Neuroscientist. – 2007. – Vol. 13(3). – P. 214–228.

44. Arthur, D. k-means++: The advantages of careful seeding / Arthur D., & Vassilvitskii S. // Soda. – 2007. – Vol. 7. – P. 1027-1035.

45. Assessing cognitive performance in badminton players: a reproducibility and validity study / van de Water T., Huijgen B., Faber I., Elferink-Gemser M. // Journal of Human Kinetics. 2017. – Vol. 55 (1). – P. 149–159. – DOI: 10.1515/hukin-2017-0014.

46. Association between inhibitory control and tactical performance of under15 soccer players / Albuquerque M.R., dos Santos Gonzaga A., Greco P.J., da Costa
I.T. // Revista de Psicologia del Deporte. – 2019. – V. 28 (1). – P. 63–69.

47. Automated anatomical labelling atlas 3 / E.T. Rolls, C.C. Huang, C.P. Lin [et al.] // Neuroimage. – 2020. – Vol. 206. – 116189. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.116189.

48. Baars, B.J. Cognition, Brain, and Consciousness: Introduction to Cognitive Neuroscience / B.J. Baars, N.M. Gage. – Ed. 2. – Oxford: Academic Press, 2010. – 653 p.

49. Baddeley, A. Working memory and the control of action: evidence from task switching / A. Baddeley, D. Chincotta, A. Adlam // Journal of Experimental Psychology. General. -2001. - Vol. 130, No 4. - P. 641-657.

50. Bandelow, B. Epidemiology of anxiety disorders in the 21st century / Bandelow B., Michaelis S. // Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience. – 2015. – Vol. 17 (3).
– P. 327–335. – DOI: 10.31887/DCNS.2015.17.3/bbandelow.

51. Barkley, R. A. Behavioral inhibition, sustained attention, and executive functions: constructing a unifying theory of ADHD / R. A. Barkley // Psychological Bulletin. – 1997. – Vol. 121. – P. 65–94.

52. Barkley, R.A. Problems with the concept of executive functioning / R.A. Barkley // Executive Functions: What they Are, How they Work and Why they Evolved / Ed. R.A. Barkley. – NY: The Guilford Press, 2012. – P. 1–36.

53. Basten, U. Trait anxiety modulates the neural efficiency of inhibitory control / U. Basten, C. Stelzel, C.J. Fiebach // Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience. – 2011. – Vol. 23(10). – P. 3132–3145. – DOI: 10.1162/jocn_a_00003.

54. Baumeister R.F. Choking under pressure: self-consciousness and paradoxical effects of incentives on skillful performance / Baumeister R.F. // Journal of Personality and Social Psychology. – 1984. – V. 46(3). – P. 610–620. – DOI: 10.1037//0022-3514.46.3.610.

55. Bechtereva, N.P. Physiological foundations of mental activity / N.P.
Bechtereva, V.B. Gretchin // International Review of Neurobiology. – 1968. – Vol. 11.
– P. 329–352.

56. Benikos, N. Short-term training in the Go/Nogo task: Behavioural and neural changes depend on task demands / N. Benikos, S.J. Johnstone, S.J. Roodenrys // International Journal of Psychophysiology. – 2013. – Vol. 87, № 3. – P. 301–312. – DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2012.12.001.

57. Berlin, G.S. Response inhibition and error-monitoring processes in individuals with obsessive-compulsive disorder / Berlin G.S., Lee H.J. // Journal of obsessive-compulsive and related disorders. – 2018. – V. 16. – P. 21–27. – DOI: 10.1016/j.jocrd.2017.11.001.

58. Bissett P.G. Selective stopping? Maybe not / Bissett P.G., Logan G.D. // Journal of Experimental Psychology. General. – 2014. – Vol. 143(1). – P. 455–472. – DOI: 10.1037/a0032122.

59. Brain activation during execution and motor imagery of novel and skilled sequential hand movements / M.G. Lacourse, E.L. Orr, S.C. Cramer, M.J. Cohen //

Neuroimage. – 2005. – Vol. 27(3). – P. 505–519. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.04.025.

60. Brain Intrinsic Functional Activity in Relation to Metabolic Changes in Alzheimer's Disease: A Simultaneous PET/fMRI study / Sun W., Zhang M., Zhang Y., Li B., Li Y // Annu Int Conf IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc. – 2021. – P. 3467-3470. – DOI: 10.1109/EMBC46164.2021.9630966.

61. Bressler, S.L. Large-scale brain networks in cognition: emerging methods and principles / S.L. Bressler, V. Menon // Trends in Cognitive Sciences. – 2010. – Vol. 14, № 6. – P. 277–290. – DOI: 10.1016/j.tics.2010.04.004.

62. Botvinick, M.M. Conflict monitoring and cognitive control / M.M. Botvinick, T.S. Braver, D.M. Barch // Psychological Review. – 2001. – Vol. 108, № 3. – P. 624–652.

63. Brain regions concerned with the identification of deceptive soccer moves by high-skilled and low-skilled players. / Wright M. J., Bishop D., Jackson R. C., Abernethy B. // Frontiers in Human Neuroscience. – 2013. – Vol. 7. – DOI: 10.3389/fnhum.2013.00851.

64. Braver, T.S. The variable nature of cognitive control: a dual mechanisms framework / T.S. Braver // Trends in Cognitive Sciences. – 2012. – Vol. 16(2). – P. 106–113.

65. Brick, N.E. Thinking and action: a cognitive perspective on self-regulation during endurance performance / Brick N.E., MacIntyre T.E., Campbell M.J. // Frontiers in Physiology. – V. 7. – e159. – DOI: 10.3389/fphys.2016.00155.

66. Brunet, E. A PET investigation of the attribution of intentions with a nonverbal task / Brunet E., Sarfati Y., Hardy-Baylé M.C., Decety J. // Neuroimage. – 2000. – V. 11(2). – P. 157–166. – DOI: 10.1006/nimg.1999.0525.

67. Buhr, K. The intolerance of uncertainty scale: Psychometric properties of the english version / K. Buhr, M.J. Dugas // Behaviour Research and Therapy. – 2002. – Vol. 40, № 8. – P. 931–945.

68. Can skilled readers perform a second task in parallel? A functional connectivity MRI study / Newman A.J., Kenny S., Saint-Aubin J., Klein R.M. // Brain and Language. – 2013. – Vol. 124(1). – P. 84–95. – DOI: 10.1016/j.bandl.2012.11.009.

69. Cerebellar neural circuits involving executive control network predict response to group cognitive behavior therapy in social anxiety disorder / Minlanyuan, Ya. Meng, Ya. Zhang [et al.] // Cerebellum. – 2017. – Vol. 16, № 3. – P. 673–682. – DOI: 10.1007/s12311-017-0845-x.

70. Cheng, W.-N.K. Toward a three-dimensional conceptualization of performance anxiety: Rationale and initial measurement development / Cheng W.-N.K., Hardy L., Markland D. // Psychology of Sport and Exercise. – 2009. – Vol. 10(2). – P. 271–278. – DOI: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2008.08.

71. Cisler, J.M. Mechanisms of attentional biases towards threat in anxiety disorders: An integrative review / Cisler J.M., Koster E.H. // Clinical Psychology Review. – 2010. – Vol. 30(2). – P. 203–216. – DOI: 10.1016/j.cpr.2009.11.003.

Classical and Bayesian inference in neuroimaging: Theory / K.J. Friston,
W. Penny, C. Phillips [et al.] // NeuroImage. – 2002. – Vol. 16, № 2. – P. 465–483. –
DOI: 10.1006/nimg.2002.1090.

73. Cognitive control in autism spectrum disorders / Solomon M., Ozonoff S.J., Cummings N., Carter C.S. // International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience. – 2008. – Vol. 26, N_2 2. – P. 239–247. – DOI: 10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2007.11.001.

74. Cognitive control in generalized anxiety disorder: Relation of inhibition impairments to worry and anxiety severity / L.S. Hallion, D.F. Tolin, M. Assaf [et al.] // Cognitive Therapy and Research. – 2017. – Vol. 41, № 4. – P. 610–618. – DOI: 10.1007/s10608-017-9832-2.

75. Cognitive Deficits in Parkinson's Disease Are Associated with Neuronal Dysfunction and Not White Matter Lesions / Schröter N., Bormann T., Rijntjes M., Blazhenets G., Berti R., Sajonz B.E.A., Urbach H., Weiller C., Meyer P.T., Rau A., Frings L. // Movement Disorders Clinical Practice. – 2023. – Vol. 10 (7). – P. 1066-1073.

Cognitive functioning in obsessive-compulsive disorder: a meta-analysis
/ Shin N.Y., Lee T.Y., Kim E., Kwon J.S. // Psychological Medicine. – 2014. – V. 44(6).
– P. 1121–30. – DOI: 10.1017/S0033291713001803.

77. Cognitive functions in elite and sub-elite youth soccer players aged 13 to 17 years / Huijgen B. C. H., Leemhuis S., Kok N. M., Verburgh L., Oosterlaan J., Elferink-Gemser M. T., & Visscher C. // PLOS ONE. – 2015. – Vol. 10(12). – P. e0144580.

78. Cognitive rehabilitation interventions for executive function: moving from bench to bedside in patients with traumatic brain injury / Cicerone K., Levin H., Malec J. [et al.] // Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience. -2006. - Vol.18, $N_{2}7. - P. 1212-1222$.

79. Collins F.S. A new initiative on precision medicine / Collins F.S., Varmus
H. // New England Journal of Medicine. – 2015. – V. 372(9). – P. 793–795. – DOI: 10.1056/NEJMp1500523.

80. Collins F.S. Implications of the Human Genome Project for medical science / Collins F.S., McKusick V.A. // The Journal of the American Medical Association. – 2001. – V.: 285(5). – P. 540–544. – DOI: 10.1001/jama.285.5.540.

81. Comorbidity of chronic insomnia with medical problems / Taylor D.J.,
Mallory L.J., Lichstein K.L. [et al.] // Sleep. – 2007. – Vol. 30. № 2. – P. 213–218.

82. Comparative study of sports competition anxiety among contact and noncontact sports persons / Kumar V., Singh A., Sandhu J.S. [et al.] // International Journal of Physiology, Nutrition and Physical Education. – 2017. – Vol. 2(2). – P. 77–79.

83. Comparison of univariate and multivariate analyses for brain [18F]FDG
PET data in α-synucleinopathies / Carli G., Meles S.K., Reesink F.E., de Jong B.M.,
Pilotto A., Padovani A., Galbiati A., Ferini-Strambi L., Leenders K.L., Perani D. //
NeuroImage: Clinical. – 2023. – Vol. 39. – P. 103475.

84. Competitive trait anxiety and general self-esteem of athletes according to the sport type and gender / Sanader A.A., Petrović J.R., Bačanac L. [et al.] // Primenjena Psihologija. – 2021. – Vol. 14(3). – P. 277–307. – DOI: 10.19090/pp.2021.3.277-307.
85. Concussions in Athletics. From Brain to Behavior / Ed. S.M. Slobounov,
W.J. Sebastianelli. – Second Edition. – Cham: Spriger, 2021. – 407 p. – ISBN 978-3-030-75563-8. – DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-75564-5.

86. Core executive functions are associated with success in young elite soccer players / Torbj[°]orn Vestberg [et al.] // PLoS One. – 2017. V. 12 (2). – e0170845. – DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0170845.

87. Correia, M. Anxiety in athletes: Gender and type of sport differences / Correia M., Rosado A. // International Journal of Psychological Research. – 2019. – Vol. 12(1). – P. 9–17. – DOI: 10.21500/20112084.3552. PMID: 32612783; PMCID: PMC7110169.

88. Correlation and regression analysis of athletes` complex traits, based on their personal data, genetic and biochemical parameters / O.S. Glotov, I.V. Poliakova, D.V. Leshchev [et al.] // Theory and Practice of Physical Culture. $-2015. - N_{\rm P} 10. - P$. 18.

89. Coxon, J.P. Selective Inhibition of Movement / Coxon J.P., Stinear C.,
Byblow W.D. // Journal of Neurophysiology. – 2007. – Vol. 97(3). – P. 2480–2489.

90. Current methods and new directions in resting state fMRI / Yang J., Suril
G., and Behroze V. // Clinical imaging. – 2020. – Vol. 65. – P. 47-53.

91. Dark triad personality traits are associated with decreased grey matter volumes in 'social brain' structures / Myznikov A., Korotkov A., Zheltyakova M., Kiselev V., Masharipov R., Bursov K., Yagmurov O., Votinov M., Cherednichenko D., Didur M. and Kireev M. // *Front. Psychol.* – 2024. – Vol. 14. – P: 1326946. DOI: 10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1326946

92. Determinants of anxiety in elite athletes: A systematic review and metaanalysis / Rice S.M., Gwyther K., Santesteban-Echarri O. [et al.] // British Journal of Sports Medicine. – 2019. – Vol. 53(11). – P. 722–730.

93. Di Russo, F. Sport is not always healthy: Executive brain dysfunction in professional boxers / Di Russo F., Spinelli D. // Psychophysiology. – 2010. – V. 47(3).
– P. 425–434. – DOI: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2009.00950.x.

94. Diamond, A. Executive Functions / A. Diamond // Annual Review of Psychology. – 2013. – Vol. 64(1). – P. 135–168.

95. Diamond, A. The early development of executive functions / A. Diamond
// Lifespan CognitionMechanisms of Change / Eds. Ellen Bialystok, Fergus I. M. Craik.
– NY: Oxford University Press, 2006. – P. 70–95.

96. Diesburg, D.A. The Pause-then-Cancel model of human action-stopping: Theoretical considerations and empirical evidence / D.A. Diesburg, J.R. Wessel // Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews. – 2021. – Vol. 129. – P. 17–34. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2021.07.019.

97. Differential diagnosis of parkinsonism: a metabolic imaging study using pattern analysis / Tang C.C., Poston K.L., Eckert T., Feigin A., Frucht S., Gudesblatt M., Dhawan V., Lesser M., Vonsattel J.P., Fahn S., Eidelberg D. // The Lancet. Neurology. – 2010. – Vol. 9(2). – P. 149-158.

98. Different proactive and reactive action control in fencers' and boxers' brain
/ Bianco V., Di Russo F., Perri R.L., Berchicci M. // Neuroscience. – 2017. – V. 343. –
P. 260–268. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.12.006.

99. Direct evidence for the role of inhibition in resolving interference in memory / Healey M. K. [et al.]. // Psychological Science. – 2010. – Vol. 21(10). – P. 1464–1470. – DOI: 10.1177/0956797610382120 (2010).

100. Discovering relations between mind, brain, and mental disorders using topic mapping / Poldrack R.A., Mumford J.A., Schonberg T. [et al.] // PLoS computational biology // 2012. – Vol. 8(10). – e1002707. – DOI: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002707.

101. Distinct and overlapping functional zones in the cerebellum defined by resting state functional connectivity / O'Reilly J.X. [et al.] // Cerebral Cortex. – 2010. – Vol. 20(4). – P. 953–965. – DOI: 10.1093/cercor/bhp157.

102. Distinct cerebellar contributions to intrinsic connectivity networks /
C. Habas, N. Kamdar, D. Nguyen [et al.] // Journal of Neuroscience. – 2009. – Vol.
29(26). – P. 8586–8594. – DOI: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1868-09.2009.

103. Distinct frontal systems for response inhibition, attentional capture, and error processing / Sharp D.J., Bonnelle V., De Boissezon X. [et al.] // Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA. – 2010. – Vol. 107(13). – P. 6106–6111. – DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1000175107.

104. Distinct response inhibition patterns in obsessive compulsive disorder patients and pathological gamblers / Kertzman S.G., Poyurovski M., Faragian S. [et al.]
// Frontiers in Psychiatry. – 2018. – Vol.9: Dec. – P. 652. – DOI: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00652.

105. Distinctive neuropsychological profiles differentiate patients with functional memory disorder from patients with amnestic-mild cognitive impairment / Wakefield S.J., Blackburn D.J., Harkness K. [et al.] // Acta Neuropsychiatrica. – 2018. – Vol. 30(2). – P. 90–96. – DOI: 10.1017/neu.2017.21.

106. Dynamic properties of human brain structure: learning-related changes in cortical areas and associated fiber connections / Taubert M., Draganski B., Anwander A., Müller K., Horstmann A., Villringer A. // J. Neurosci. – 2010. – Vol. 30. – P. 11670–11677. – DOI: 10.1523/jneurosci.2567-10.2010.

107. Eidelberg D. Metabolic Brain Networks in Neurodegenerative Disorders:
A Functional Imaging Approach // Trends in neurosciences. – 2009. – Vol. 32, – № 10.
– P. 548-557. – DOI: 10.1016/j.tins.2009.06.003.

108. Effects of acute aerobic exercise on motor response inhibition: An ERP study using the stop-signal task / Chu C.-H., Alderman B.L., Wei G.-X., Chang Y.-K.
// Journal of Sport and Health Science. - 2015. - V. 4(1). - P. 73–81. - DOI: 10.1016/j.jshs.2014.12.002.

109. Effects of ketamine on cognition-emotion interaction in the brain / M Scheidegger, A. Henning, M. Walter [et al.] // Neuroimage. – 2016. – Vol. 124(Pt A). – P. 8–15. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.08.070.

110. Effects of Open Versus Closed Skill Exercise on Cognitive Function: A
Systematic Review / Q. Gu [et al.] // Frontiers in Psychology. – 2019. – Vol. 10 (Jul).
– e707. – DOI: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01707.

111. Effects of physical activity on executive functions, attention and academic performance in preadolescent children: a meta-analysis / J.W. de Greeff [et al.] // Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport. – 2018. – Vol. 21(5). – P. 501–507. – DOI: 10.1016/j.jsams.2017.09.595.

112. Eitam, B. Nonconscious goal pursuit in novel environments: The case of implicit learning / Eitam B., Hassin R.R., Schul Y. // Psychological Science. – 2008. – Vol. 19(3). – P. 261–267. – DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2008.02078.x.

113. Enhanced inhibitory control during re-engagement processing in badminton athletes: An event-related potential study / Chen J., Li Y., Zhang G. [et al.] // Journal of Sport and Health Science. – 2019. – Vol. 8 (6). – P. 585–594. – DOI: 10.1016/j.

114. Erciş, S. Comparison of mental skills of elite and non-elite athletes /
S. Erciş // Journal of Education and Training Studies. – 2018. – Vol. 6 (4a). – P. 72–75.
– DOI: 10.11114/jets.v6i4a.3425.

115. Eriksen, B.A. Effects of noise letters upon the identification of a target letter in a nonsearch task / B.A. Eriksen, Ch.W. Eriksen // Perception and Psychophysics. -1974. -Vol. 16, N 1. -P. 143–149. -DOI: 10.3758/bf03203267.

116. Error detection mechanisms of the brain: Background and prospects / N.P.
Bekhtereva, N.V. Shemyakina, M.G. Starchenko [et al.] // International Journal of
Psychophysiology. – 2005. – Vol. 58, № 2-3 SPEC. ISS. – P. 227. – DOI:
10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2005.06.005.

117. Etkin, A. Functional neuroimaging of anxiety: a meta-analysis of emotional processing in PTSD, social anxiety disorder, and specific phobia / Etkin A., Wager T.D. // American Journal of Psychiatry. – 2007. – Vol. 164(10). – P. 1476–88. – DOI: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.07030504.

118. Evidence for non-selective response inhibition in uncertain contexts revealed by combined meta-analysis and Bayesian analysis of fMRI data / R. Masharipov, A. Korotkov, S. Medvedev, M. Kireev // Scientific Reports. – 2022. – Vol. 12, N_{2} 1. – DOI: 10.1038/s41598-022-14221-x.

119. Evidence that response inhibition is a primary deficit in ADHD /
E.L. Wodka [et al.] // Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology. – 2007.
– V. 29(4). – P. 345–356. – DOI:10.1080/13803390600678046.

120. Executive functions predict the success of top-soccer players / T. Vestberg [et al.] // PLoS One. – 2012. – Vol. 7 (4). – e34731. – DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0034731.

121. Executive functioning in highly talented soccer players / Verburgh L.,
Scherder E. J. A., van Lange P. A. M., Oosterlaan J. // PLOS ONE. – 2014. – Vol.9(3).
DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0091254.

122. Exogenous testosterone and the monoamine-oxidase A polymorphism influence anger, aggression and neural responses to provocation in males / L. Wagels, M. Votinov, U. Habel [et al.] // Neuropharmacology. – 2019. – Vol. 156. – P. 107491. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2019.01.006.

123. Expertise effects on decision-making in sport are constrained by requisite response behaviours: A meta-analysis. / Travassos B., Araújo D., Davids K., O'Hara K., Leitão J., Cortinhas A. // Psychology of Sport and Exercise. – 2013. – Vol. 14(2). – P. 211–219. – DOI: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2012.11.002

124. Eysenck, M.W. Anxiety and performance: The processing efficiency theory / Eysenck M.W., Calvo M.G. // Cognition & Emotion. -1992. - N = 6. - P. 409-434. - DOI: 10.1080/02699939208409696.

125. Eysenck, M.W. Anxiety: The cognitive perspective. – Hove: Erlbaum, 1992. – 192 p. – DOI: https://DOI.org/10.4324/9780203775677.

126. Fonzo, G.A. Affective neuroimaging in generalized anxiety disorder: an integrated review / Fonzo G.A., Etkin A. // Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience. – 2017.
– Vol. 19(2). – P. 169–179. – DOI: 10.31887/DCNS.2017.19.2/gfonzo.

127. Frank, M.J. Hold your horses: a dynamic computational role for the subthalamic nucleus in decision making / M.J. Frank // Neural Networks. – 2006. – Vol. 19, № 19(8). – P. 1120–1136. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neunet.2006.03.006.

128. Friston, K.J. Functional and effective connectivity: a review / K.J. Friston // Brain Connectivity. – 2011. – Vol. 1(1). – P. 13–36. – DOI: 10.1089/brain.2011.0008.

129. Friston, K.J. Testing for anatomically specified regional effects / K.J. Friston // Human Brain Mapping. – 1997. – V. 5(2). – P. 133–136. – DOI: 10.1002/(sici)1097-0193(1997)5:2<133::aid-hbm7>3.0.co;2-4.

130. From provocation to aggression: the neural network / J. Repple, Ch.M. Pawliczek, B. Voss [et al.] // BMC Neuroscience. -2017. - Vol. 18, $N \ge 1. - P$. 1–9. – DOI: 10.1186/s12868-017-0390-z.

131. Frontosubthalamic Circuits for Control of Action and Cognition / Aron A.R., Herz D.M., Brown P. [et al.] // Journal of Neuroscience. – 2016. – Vol. 36(45). – P. 11489–11495. – DOI: 10.1523/jneurosci.2348-16.2016.

132. Functional activation and neural networks in women with posttraumatic stress disorder related to intimate partner violence / A.N. Simmons, M.P. Paulus, S.R. Thorp [et al.] // Biological Psychiatry. – 2008. – Vol. 64(8). – P. 681–690.

133. Functional and structural correlates of motor speed in the cerebellar anterior lobe / Wenzel U., Taubert M., Ragert P., Krug J., Villringer A. // PLoS One. – 2014. – Vol. 9. – P. 1–8.

134. Functional brain activation associated with inhibitory control deficits in older adults / Coxon J.P., Goble D.J., Leunissen I. [et al.] // Cerebral cortex. – 2016. – Vol. 26(1). – P. 12–22.

135. Functional cognitive disorders: Identification and management / Poole N.,
Cope S., Bailey C., Isaacs J. // BJPsych Advances. – 2019. – Vol. 25. – № 6. – Р. 342–
350. – DOI: 10.1192/bja.2019.38.

136. Functional connectivity in the motor cortex of resting human brain using echo-planar MRI / B. Biswal, F.Z. Yetkin, V. M. Haughton, J.S. Hyde // Magnetic Resonance in Medicine. – 1995. – Vol. 34(4). – P. 537–541. – DOI: 10.1002/mrm.1910340409.

137. Functional indexes of reactive cognitive control: ERPs in cued go/no-go tasks / J.D. Kropotov, V.A. Ponomarev, M. Pronina, L. Jäncke // Psychophysiology. –
2017. – Vol. 54, № 12. – P. 1899–1915. – DOI: 10.1111/psyp.12960.

138. Functional network dysfunction in anxiety and anxiety disorders /
C.M. Sylvester, M. Corbetta, M.E. Raichle [et al.] // Trends in Neurosciences. – 2012.
– Vol. 35(9). – P. 527–535. – DOI: 10.1016/j.tins.2012.04.012.

139. Genovese, C.R. Thresholding of statistical maps in functional neuroimaging using the false discovery rate / C.R. Genovese, N.A. Lazar, T. Nichols // NeuroImage. – 2002. – Vol. 15(4). – P. 870–878. – DOI: 10.1006/nimg.2001.1037.

140. Goldberg E. The new executive brain: Frontal lobes in a complex world /E. Goldberg. – N.Y.: Oxford University Press, 2009. – 334 p.

141. Grupe, D.W. Uncertainty and anticipation in anxiety: an integrated neurobiological and psychological perspective / Grupe D.W., Nitschke J.B. // Nature Reviews Neuroscience. – 2013. – Vol. 14(7). – P. 488–501. – DOI: 10.1038/nrn3524.

142. Haggard, P. Human volition: towards a neuroscience of will / P. Haggard
// Nature Reviews Neuroscience. - 2008. - Vol. 9(12). - P. 934–946. - DOI: 10.1038/nrn2497.

143. Hajcak, G. Anxiety and error-related brain activity / G. Hajcak.,
N. McDonald, R.F. Simons // Biological Psychology. – 2003. – Vol. 64(1-2). – P. 77–
90. – DOI: 10.1016/s0301-0511(03)00103-0.

144. Hampshire, A. Contrasting network and modular perspectives on inhibitory control / Hampshire A., Sharp D.J. // Trends in Cognitive Sciences. – 2015.
– Vol. 19(8). – P. 445–452. – DOI: 10.1016/j.tics.2015.06.006.

145. Hampshire, A. Putting the brakes on inhibitory models of frontal lobe function / A. Hampshire // Neuroimage. – 2015. – V. 113. – P. 340–355. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.03.053.

146. Hanin, Y.L. Emotions and athletic performance: Individual Zones of Optimal Functioning model / Y.L. Hanin // European Yearbook of Sport Psychology. – 1997. – Vol. 1. – P. 29–72.

147. Hardy, L. A catastrophe model of anxiety and performance / L. Hardy, G. Parfitt // British Journal of Psychology. – 1991. – Vol. 82. – P. 163–178.

148. Hartmann, L. Enhancing frontal top-down inhibitory control with Go/NoGo training / L. Hartmann, E. Sallard, L. Spierer // Brain Structure and Function. -2016. - Vol. 221, № 7. - P. 3835-3842. - DOI: 10.1007/s00429-015-1131-7.

149. Haynes, W.I.A. The organization of prefrontal-subthalamic inputs in primates provides an anatomical substrate for both functional specificity and integration: Implications for basal ganglia models and deep brain stimulation / Haynes W.I.A., Haber S.N. // Journal of Neuroscience. – 2013. – Vol. 33(11). – P. 4804–4814. – DOI: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4674-12.2013.

150. Headache, anxiety and depressive disorders: the HADAS study / E. Beghi, G. Bussone, D. D'amico [et al.] // The Journal of Headache and Pain. -2010. - Vol. 11, $N_{2} 2. -$ P. 141–150. - DOI: 10.1007/s10194-010-0187-2.

151. Heterogeneous neuroimaging findings, damage propagation and connectivity: an integrative view / F. Cauda, L. Mancuso, A. Nani, T. Costa // Brain. – 2019. – Vol. 142(5). – e17. – DOI: 10.1093/brain/awz080.

152. Hull, C.L. Principles of behavior: An Introduction to Behavior Theory /C.L. Hull. – New York: Appleton-Century-Crofts, 1943. – 444 p.

Identification of cortical activation and white matter architecture 153. according to short-term motor learning in the human brain: functional MRI and diffusion tensor tractography study / Kwon Y. H., Nam K. S., Park J. W. // letters. 2012. Neuroscience _ Vol. 520. P. 11–15. _ _ DOI: 10.1016/j.neulet.2012.05.005.

154. Identification of Disease-related Spatial Covariance Patterns using Neuroimaging Data / Spetsieris P., Ma Y., Peng S., Ko J.H., Dhawan V., Tang C.C., Eidelberg D. // Journal of Visualized Experiments: JoVE. – 2013. – № 76, – P. 50319.

155. Illness severity moderated association between trait anxiety and amygdala-based functional connectivity in generalized anxiety disorder / Y. Du, H. Li, H. Xiao [et al.] // Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience. – 2021. – Vol. 15. – e637426.
– DOI: 10.3389/fnbeh.2021.637426.

156. Impaired Non-Selective Response Inhibition in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder / R.S. Masharipov, A. Korotkov, I. Knyazeva [et al.] // International Journal

of Environmental Research and Public Health. – 2023. – Vol. 20, № 2. – P. 1171. – DOI: 10.3390/ijerph20021171.

157. Implicit Learning: 50 Years On / Eds. A. Cleeremans, V. Allakhverdov,M. Kuvaldina. – Abingdon: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group, 2019. – 262 p.

158. Increased Cortical Activity in Novices Compared to Experts During Table Tennis: A Whole-Brain fNIRS Study Using Threshold-Free Cluster Enhancement Analysis / Carius D., Herold F., Clauß M. // Brain Topography. – 2023. – Vol. 36. – P. 500–516 – DOI: 10.1007/s10548-023-00963-y.

159. Increased subcortical brain activity in anxious but not depressed individuals / Hou J, Liu S, van Wingen G. // J Psychiatr Res. – 2023. – Vol. 160. – P. 38-46. – DOI: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2023.02.013.

160. Individual differences in executive functions are almost entirely genetic in origin / N.P. Friedman [et al.] // Journal of Experimental Psychology: General. – 2008.
– Vol. 137(2). – P. 201–225. – DOI: 10.1037/0096-3445.137.2.201.

161. Inhibitory control across athletic expertise and its relationship with sport performance / Hagyard J., Brimmell J., Edwards E.J., Vaughan R.S. //. Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology. -2021. - V. 43 (1). - P. 14-27.

162. Insomnia in older adults with generalized anxiety disorder / Brenes G.A.,
Miller M.E., Stanley M.A. [et al.] // American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. – 2009.
– Vol. 17(6). – P. 465–472. – DOI: 10.1097/jgp.0b013e3181987747.

163. Intolerance of Uncertainty and Information Processing: Evidence of Biased Recall and Interpretations / M.J. Dugas, M. Hedayati, A. Karavidas [et al.] // Cognitive Therapy and Research. – 2005. – Vol. 29, № 1. – P. 57–70. – DOI: 10.1007/s10608-005-1648-9.

164. Introduction: A History of Executive Functioning as a Theoretical and Clinical Construct / S. Goldstein [et al.] // Handbook of Executive Functioning / Eds.
S. Goldstein, J.A. Naglieri. – NY: Springer Science, 2014. – P. 3–12.

165. Investigating neuroanatomical features in top athletes at the single subject level / Taubert M., Wenzel U., Draganski B., Kiebel S., Ragert P., Krug J., Villringer A. // PLoS One. – 2015. – Vol. 10. – P.1–15. – DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0129508. 166. Is the level of eye-hand coordination and executive functioning related to performance in para table tennis players? – An explorative study / I.R. Faber [et al.] // International Journal of Racket Sports Science. – 2019. - V. 1 (1). - P. 45-60. - DOI: 10.30827/Digibug.57326.

167. Ishihara, T. Competitive achievement may be predicted by executive functions in junior tennis players: An 18-month follow-up study / Ishihara T., Kuroda Y., Mizuno M. // Journal of Sports Sciences. – 2019. – V. 37(7). – P. 755–761. – DOI: 10.1080/02640414.2018.1524738.

168. It's a matter of mind! Cognitive functioning predicts the athletic performance in ultra-marathon runners / G. Cona [et al.] // PLoS One. -2015. - V. 10 (7). -e0132943.

169. Jayanthi N.A. Health Consequences of Youth Sport Specialization. /
Jayanthi N.A., Post E.G., Laury T.C., Fabricant P.D. // Journal of Athletic Training. –
2019. – Vol. 54, № 10. – P. 1040–1049. – DOI: 10.4085/1062-6050-380-18.

170. Kalisch, R. The functional neuroanatomy of reappraisal: time matters / R.
Kalisch // Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews – 2009. – Vol. 33, № 8. – P. 1215–
1226. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.06.003.

171. Kropotov, J.D. Functional Neuromarkers for Psychiatry: Applications for
Diagnosis and Treatment / J.D. Kropotov. – Cambridge, MA: Academic Press, 2016. –
452 p.

172. Kropotov, J.D. Differentiation of neuronal operations in latent components of event-related potentials in delayed match-to-sample tasks / J.D. Kropotov, V.A. Ponomarev // Psychophysiology. -2015. -Vol. 52, $N_{\rm P} 6$. -P. 826– 838. -DOI: 10.1111/psyp.12410.

173. Kweon, C.Y. What's New in Sports Medicine / Kweon C.Y., Hagen M.S.,
Gee, A.O. // The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery. – 2019. – Vol. 101(8). – P. 669–
674. – DOI: 10.2106/JBJS.19.00007.

174. Ladouceur, C.D. Positive reinforcement modulates fronto-limbic systems subserving emotional interference in adolescents / C.D. Ladouceur, M.W. Schlund,

A.M. Segreti // Behavioural Brain Research. – 2018. – Vol. 338. – P. 109–117. – DOI: 10.1016/j.bbr.2017.10.019.

175. Large-scale automated synthesis of human functional neuroimaging data
/ Yarkoni T. [et. al.] // Nature Methods. - 2011. - Vol. 8(8). - P. 665–670. - DOI: 10.1038/nmeth.1635.

176. Large Stakes and Big Mistakes / D. Ariely, U. Gneezy, G. Loewenstein,
N. Mazar // The Review of Economic Studies. – 2009. – Vol. 76. – I. 2. – P.451–469.
– DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-937X.2009.00534.x.

177. Laurens, K.R. A supramodal limbic-paralimbic-neocortical network supports goal-directed stimulus processing / Laurens K.R., Kiehl K.A., Liddle P.F. // Human Brain Mapping. – 2005. – Vol. 24(1). – P. 35–49. – DOI: 10.1002/hbm.20062.

178. Lee, T.G. Out of control: diminished prefrontal activity coincides with impaired motor performance due to choking under pressure / Lee T.G., Grafton S.T. // Neuroimage. – 2015. – Vol. 105. – P. 145–55. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.10.058.

179. Leunissen, I. A proactive task set influences how response inhibition is implemented in the basal ganglia / Leunissen I., Coxon J.P., Swinnen S.P. // Human Brain Mapping. – 2016. – Vol. 37(12). – P. 4706–4717. – DOI: 10.1002/hbm.23338.

180. Lexical-semantic search under different covert verbal fluency tasks: an fMRI study / Y. Li, P. Li, Q.X. Yang [et al.] // Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience. – 2017. – Vol. 11. – 131 p. – DOI: 10.3389/fnbeh.2017.00131.

181. Level of play and coach-rated game intelligence are related to performance on design fluency in elite soccer players / T. Vestberg, R. Jafari, R. Almeida [et al.] // Scientific Reports. – 2020. – Vol. 10, № 1. – P. 1–10. – DOI: 10.1038/s41598-020-66180-w.

182. Logan, G.D. On the ability to inhibit thought and action: A theory of an act of control / G.D. Logan, W.B. Cowan // Psychological Review. – 1984. – Vol. 91(3).
– P. 295–327.

183. Mar, R.A. The neural bases of social cognition and story comprehension /
R.A. Mar // Annual Review of Psychology. – 2011. – Vol. 62. – P. 103–134. – DOI:
10.1146/annurev-psych-120709-145406.

184. Martens, R. Competitive Anxiety in Sport / Martens R., Vealey R.S.,
Burton D. — Illinois: Human Kinetics Publishers, 1990. – 277 p.

185. Martens, R. Social psychology and physical activity / R. Martens. – N. Y.:
Harper and Row, 1975. – 180 p. – ISBN10: 006044231X.

186. Martens, R. Sport competition anxiety test / R. Martens. – Illinois: Human Kinetics Publishers, 1977. – 150 p.

187. Masters R.S.W. The Theory of Reinvestment / Masters R.S.W., Maxwell
J. // International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology. – 2008. – № 1. – P. 160–
183. – DOI: 10.1080/17509840802287218.

188. Metabolic brain pattern in dementia with Lewy bodies: Relationship to Alzheimer's disease topography / Perovnik M., Tomše P., Jamšek J., Tang C., Eidelberg D., Trošt M // NeuroImage: Clinical. – 2022. – Vol. 35. – P. 103080. – DOI: 10.1016/j.nicl.2022.103080.

189. Milestones in atypical and secondary Parkinsonisms / Wenning G.K.;
Litvan I.; Tolosa E. // Mov. Disord. – 2011. – V. 26. – P. 1083–1095.

190. Modality specificity in the cerebro-cerebellar neurocircuitry during working memory / H.B. Ng, K.L. Kao, Y.C. Chan [et al.] // Behavioural Brain Research. – 2016. – Vol. 305. – P. 164–173. – DOI: 10.1016/j.bbr.2016.02.027.

191. Modeling regional and psychophysiologic interactions in fMRI: the importance of hemodynamic deconvolution / D.R. Gitelman [et al.] // NeuroImage. – 2003. – Vol. 19(1). – P. 200–207. – DOI: 10.1016/s1053-8119(03)00058-2.

192. Modulating brain networks associated with cognitive deficits in Parkinson's disease / Beheshti I., Ko J.H. // Molecular Medicine. – 2021, – Vol. 27. – P. 24. – DOI: 10.1186/s10020-021-00284-5.

193. Moon, C.M. Whole-brain gray matter volume abnormalities in patients with generalized anxiety disorder: voxel-based morphometry / Moon C.M., Kim G.W.,

194. Mostofsky, S.H. Response inhibition and response selection: two sides of the same coin / Mostofsky S.H., Simmonds D.J. // Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience.
2008. – V. 20(5). – P. 751–761. – DOI: 10.1162/jocn.2008.20500.

195. Motion correction and the use of motion covariates in multiple-subject
fMRI analysis / T. Johnstone [et al.] // Human Brain Mapping. – 2006. – Vol. 27 (10).
– P. 779–788. – DOI: 10.1002/hbm.20219.

196. Motor inhibition efficiency in healthy aging: the role of γ-aminobutyric acid / L. Pauwels, C. Maes, L. Hermans, S.P. Swinnen // Neural Regeneration Research. – 2019. – Vol. 14(5). – P. 741–744. – DOI: 10.4103/1673-5374.249216.

197. Mouse Tracking to Explore Motor Inhibition Processes in Go/No-Go and Stop Signal Tasks / Benedetti V., Gavazzi G., Giovannelli F. [et al.] // Brain Sciences. – 2020. – Vol. 10(7). – e464. – DOI: 10.3390/brainsci10070464.

198. Movement-related effects in fMRI time-series / Friston K.J., Williams S.,
Howard R. [et al.] // Magnetic Resonance in Medicine. – 1996. – V. 35(3). – P. 346–
355. – DOI: 10.1002/mrm.1910350312.

199. Musculus, L. Do the best players "take-the-first"? Examining expertise differences in the option-generation and selection processes of young soccer players // Sport Exercise and Performance Psychology. – 2018. – Vol. 7(3). – P. 271–283.

200. Nakamoto, H. Effects of stimulus-response compatibility in mediating expert performance in baseball players / Nakamoto H., Mori S. // Brain Research. – 2008 – Vol. 1189(1). – P.179–188. – DOI: 10.1016/j.brainres.2007.10.096.

201. Nakamoto, H. Experts in fast-ball sports reduce anticipation timing cost by developing inhibitory control / Nakamoto H., Mori S. // Brain and Cognition. – 2012.
– V. 80(1). – P. 23–32. – DOI: 10.1016/j.bandc.2012.04.004.

202. Metabolic Brain Networks in Translational Neurology: Concepts and Applications / Niethammer M., Eidelberg D. // Annals of Neurology. – 2012, – Vol. 72(5). – P. 635–647.

203. Neumann, J. Bayesian second-level analysis of functional magnetic resonance images / J. Neumann, G. Logmann // NeuroImage. – 2003. – Vol. 20(2). –
P. 1346–1355. – DOI:10.1016/S1053-8119(03)00443-9.

204. Neural congruency effects in the multi-source interference task vanish in healthy youth after controlling for conditional differences in mean RT / K. Kim, J. Carp, K.D. Fitzgerald [et al.] // PLoS One. – 2013. – Vol. 8(4). – e60710. – DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0060710.

205. Neural correlates of fast stimulus discrimination and response selection in top-level fencers / Di Russo F. Taddei F. Apnile T. Spinelli D. // Neuroscience Letters. - 2006. – V. 408(2). – P. 113–118. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neulet.2006.08.085.

206. Neural mechanisms underlying paradoxical performance for monetary incentives are driven by loss aversion / Chib V.S., De Martino B., Shimojo S., O'Doherty J.P. // Neuron. – 2012. – Vol. 74(3). – P. 582–594. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.02.038.

207. Neural processing of cognitive control in an emotionally neutral context in anxiety patients / N. König, S. Steber, A. Borowski [et al.] // Brain Sciences. – 2021. – Vol. 11, № 5. – DOI: 10.3390/brainsci11050543.

208. Neuroanatomical Correlates of Social Intelligence Measured by the Guilford Test / A. Myznikov, M. Zheltyakova, A. Korotkov [et al.] // Brain Topography. – 2021. – Vol. 34, № 3. – P. 337–347. – DOI: 10.1007/s10548-021-00837-1.

209. Neurocognitive Performance of 425 Top-Level Football Players: Sportspecific Norm Values and Implications / Prien A., Junge A., Brugger P. [et al.] // Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology / – 2019. – Vol. 34(4). – P. 575–584. – DOI: 10.1093/arclin/acy056.

210. Neuroimaging in social anxiety disorder – a meta-analytic review resulting in a new neurofunctional model / Brühl A.B., Delsignore A., Komossa K., Weidt S. // Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews. – 2014. – Vol. 47. – P. 260–80. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.08.003.

211. Neuronal correlates of theory of mind and empathy: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study in a nonverbal task / Völlm B.A., Taylor A.N., Richardson P.
[et al.] // Neuroimage. - 2006. - V. 29(1). - P. 90–98. - DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.07.022.

212. Neural correlates of fast stimulus discrimi- nation and response selection in top-level fencers. Di Russo, F., Taddei, F., Apnile, T., & Spinelli, D. (2006). Neuroscience Letters, 408(2), 113–118.

213. Neuropsychological parameters indexing executive processes are associated with independent components of ERPs / J.F. Brunner, A. Olsen, I.E. Aasen [et al.] // Neuropsychologia. – 2015. – Vol. 66. – P. 144–156. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2014.11.019.

214. Neurostructural abnormalities associated with axes of emotion dysregulation in generalized anxiety / Makovac E., Meeten F., Watson D.R. [et al.] // Neuroimage Clinical. – 2015. – Vol. 10. – P. 172–181. – DOI: 10.1016/j.nicl.2015.11.022.

215. No evidence for true training and transfer effects after inhibitory control training in young healthy adults / Enge S., Behnke A., Fleischhauer M. [et al.] // Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition. – 2014. – V. 40(4). – P. 987–1001. – DOI: 10.1037/a0036165.

216. Noreen, S. What Do We Really Know about Cognitive Inhibition? Task Demands and Inhibitory Effects across a Range of Memory and Behavioural Tasks / Noreen S., MacLeod M.D. // PLoS One. – 2015. – Vol. 10(8). – e0134951. – DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0134951.

217. Norman, D.A. Attention to Action: Willed and Automatic Control of Behaviour / D.A. Norman, T. Shallice // Consciousness and Self-Regulation / Eds. R.J. Davidson, G.E. Schwartz, D.E. Shapiro. – New York: Plenum Press, 1986. – P. 1-14.

218. Obsessive-compulsive disorder is associated with broad impairments in executive function: A meta-analysis / Snyder H.R., Kaiser R.H., Warren S.L., Heller W. // Clinical Psychology Science and Practice. – 2015. – V. 3(2). – P. 301–330. – DOI: 10.1177/2167702614534210.

219. Oldfield, R.C. The assessment and analysis of handedness: the Edinburgh inventory / R.C. Oldfiled // Neuropsychologia. – 1971. – V. 9(1). – P. 97–113. – DOI: 10.1016/0028-3932(71)90067-4.

220. O'Sullivan, M. Four factor tests of social intelligence (behavioral cognition) manual of instructions and interpretations / O'Sullivan M., Guilford J.P. – CA.: Sheridan Psychological Services, 1976. – 21 p.

221. Pacing Profiles in Competitive Track Races: Regulation of Exercise Intensity Is Related to Cognitive Ability / Van Biesen D., Hettinga F.J., McCulloch K., Vanlandewijck Y. // Frontiers in Physiology. – 2016. – V. 7. – e624. – DOI: 10.3389/fphys.2016.00624.

222. Parkinson's Disease-Related Brain Metabolic Pattern Is Expressed in Schizophrenia Patients during Neuroleptic Drug-Induced Parkinsonism / Kotomin I., Korotkov A., Solnyshkina I., Didur M., Cherednichenko D., Kireev M // Diagnostics. – 2023. – Vol. 13. – P. 74. – DOI:10.3390/diagnostics13010074.

223. Parkinson's disease-related spatial covariance pattern identified with resting-state functional MRI / Wu T., Ma Y., Zheng Z., Peng S., Wu X., Eidelberg D., Chan P. // J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. – 2015. – Vol. – 35(11). – P. 1764-70. DOI: 10.1038/jcbfm.2015.118.

224. Parsing the neural correlates of moral cognition: ALE meta-analysis on morality, theory of mind, and empathy / D. Bzdok, L. Schilbach, K. Vogeley [et al.] // Brain Structure and Function. – 2012. – Vol. 217, №. 4. – P. 783–796. – DOI: 10.1007/s00429-012-0380-y.

225. Paulus, M.P. An insular view of anxiety / M.P. Paulus, M.B. Stein // Biological Psychiatry. – 2006. – Vol. 60(4). – P. 383–387. – DOI: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.03.042.

226. Peltonen, L. Genomics and medicine. Dissecting Human Disease in the Postgenomic Era / L. Peltonen, V.A. Mckusick // Science. – 2001. – Vol. 291, № 5507.
– P. 1224–1229. – DOI: 10.1126/science.291.5507.1224.

227. Perceptual-cognitive expertise in elite volleyball players / Alves H., Voss M.W., Boot W.R. [et al.] // Frontiers in Psychology. – 2013. – Vol. 4: Jul. – e36. – DOI: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00036.

228. Training Monitoring in Sports: It Is Time to Embrace Cognitive Demand / Perrey S. // Sports. – 2022. – Vol. 10(4). – P. 56. – DOI: 10.3390/sports10040056.

229. Physiological Markers of Motor Inhibition during Human Behavior /
Duque J., Greenhouse I., Labruna L., Ivry R.B. // Trends in Neurosciences. – 2017. –
Vol. 40(4). – P. 219–236. – DOI: 10.1016/j.tins.2017.02.006.

230. Plasticity in gray and white: neuroimaging changes in brain structure during learning / Zatorre R. J., Fields R. D. and Johansen-Berg H. // Nat. Neurosci. – 2012. – Vol. 15. – P. 528–536. – DOI: 10.1038/nn.3045

231. Poldrack, R.A. Can cognitive processes be inferred from neuroimaging data? / R.A. Poldrak // Trends in Cognitive Sciences. – 2006. – Vol. 10(2). – P. 59–63. – DOI: 10.1016/j.tics.2005.12.004.

232. Poldrack, R.A. From Brain Maps to Cognitive Ontologies: Informatics and the Search for Mental Structure / Poldrack R.A., Yarkoni T. // Annual Review of Psychology. – 2016. – Vol. 67. – P. 587–612. – DOI: 10.1146/annurev-psych-122414-033729.

233. Poldrack, R.A. Handbook of Functional MRI Data Analysis / Poldrack
R.A., Mumford J.A., Nichols T.E. – Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2011. –
225 p. – ISBN 9780511895029.

234. Poldrack, R.A. Inferring mental states from neuroimaging data: from reverse inference to large-scale decoding / R.A. Poldrak // Neuron. – 2011. – Vol. 72(5).
– P.692–697. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.11.001.

235. Porter, K. The Mental Athlete / Kay Porter. – Champaign: Human Kinetics, 2003. – 211 p. – ISBN 9781492578475.

236. Posner, M.I. Attention and cognitive control / Posner M.I., Snyder C.R.R.
// Cognitive psychology: Key readings // Eds. D.A. Balota, E.J. Marsh. – Abingdon:
Psychology Press, 2004. – P. 205–223.

237. Possible requirement of executive functions for high performance in soccer / S. Sakamoto [et al.] // PLoS ONE. – 2018. – Vol. 13 (8). – e0201871.

238. Premack, D. Does the chimpanzee have a theory of mind? / D. Premack,
G. Woodruff // Behavioral and Brain Sciences. – Vol. 1. – P. 515–526. – DOI: 10.1017/S0140525X00076512.

239. Preparation for action: Psychophysiological activity preceding a motor skill as a function of expertise, performance outcome, and psychological pressure / Cooke A., Kavussanu M., Gallicchio G., Willoughby A., Mcintyre D., Ring C. // Psychophysiology. – 2014. – Vol. 51(4). – P. 374–384 – DOI:10.1111/psyp.12182.

240. Prevalence of anxiety in the COVID-19 pandemic: An updated metaanalysis of community-based studies / Santabárbara J., Lasheras I., Lipnicki D.M. // Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry. – 2021. – Vol. 109. – P. 110207. – DOI: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2020.110207.

241. Prevalence of symptoms in glioma patients throughout the disease trajectory: a systematic review / M. Ijzerman-Korevaar, T.J. Snijders, A. De Graeff [et al.] // Journal of Neuro-Oncology. – 2018. – Vol. 140, № 3. – P. 485–496. – DOI: 10.1007/s11060-018-03015-9.

242. Prevalence, Psychological Responses and Associated Correlates of Depression, Anxiety and Stress in a Global Population, During the Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Pandemic / S.M.A. Shah, D. Mohammad, M.F.H. Qureshi [et al.] // Community Mental Health Journal. – 2021. – Vol. 57, № 1. – P. 101–110. – DOI: 10.1007/s10597-020-00728-y.

243. Principles of Frontal Lobe Function / Eds. Donald T. Stuss, Robert T.
Knight. – New York: Oxford Academic, 2002. – 800 p. – DOI:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195134971.001.0001.

244. Providing Evidence for the Null Hypothesis in Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging Using Group-Level Bayesian Inference / R. Masharipov, I. Knyazeva, Y. Nikolaev [et al.] // Frontiers in Neuroinformatics. – 2021. – Vol. 15. – P. 738342. – DOI. 10.3389/fninf.2021.738342.

245. Psychological balance in high level athletes: gender-based differences and sport-specifc patterns / K. Schaal, M. Taffet, H. Nassif [et al.] // PLoS One. – 2011. – Vol. 6(5). – e19007. – DOI: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0019007.

246. Psychophysiological Interactions Underlying Meaning Selection in Ambiguity Resolution / M. Kireev, A. Korotkov, M. Zheltyakova [et al.] // Advances in Cognitive Research, Artificial Intelligence and Neuroinformatics : Intercognsci: International Conference on Cognitive Sciences, Moscow, Russia, 10–16 октября 2020 года. – Cham: Springer, 2021. – P. 213–221. – DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-71637-0_25.

247. Reading the mind in cartoons and stories: an fMRI study of 'theory of mind' in verbal and nonverbal tasks / Gallagher H.L., Happé F., Brunswick N. [et al.] // Neuropsychologia. – 2000. – V. 38(1). – P. 11–21. – DOI: 10.1016/s0028-3932(99)00053-6.

248. Response inhibition and interference control in obsessive-compulsive spectrum disorders / van Velzen L.S., Vriend C., de Wit S.J., van den Heuvel O.A. // Frontiers in Human Neuroscience. – 2014. – V. 8 (Jun). – P. 419. – DOI: 10.3389/fnhum.2014.00419.

249. Response timing in the lunge and target change in elite versus mediumlevel fencers / Guti'errez-Davila M., Rojas F.J., Antonio R., Navarro E. // European Journal of Sport Science. – 2013. – Vol. 13 (4). – P. 364–371. – DOI: 10.1080/17461391.2011.635704.

250. Resting functional connectivity in social anxiety disorder and the effect of pharmacotherapy / A. Doruyter [et al.] // Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging. – 2016.
– Vol. 251. – P. 34–44. – DOI: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2016.04.009.

251. Resting State fMRI: Going Through the Motions / S. Maknojia, N.W. Churchill, T.A. Schweizer, S.J. Graham // Frontiers in Neuroscience. – 2019. – Vol. 13 (Aug). – 825. – DOI: 10.3389/fnins.2019.00825.

252. Resting state networks and consciousness: alterations of multiple resting state network connectivity in physiological, pharmacological, and pathological

consciousness States / L. Heine, A. Soddu, F. Gómez // Frontiers in psychology. – 2012. – Vol. 3 (Aug). – P. 295–306. – DOI: 10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00295.

253. RNA Sequencing of Whole Blood Defines the Signature of High Intensity Exercise at Altitude in Elite Speed Skaters / A.S. Glotov, E.S. Vashukova, A.R. Shuvalova [et al.] // Genes. – 2022. – Vol. 13, № 4. – DOI: 10.3390/genes13040574.

254. Rodd, J.M. Dissociating Frontotemporal Contributions to Semantic Ambiguity Resolution in Spoken Sentences / Jennifer M. Rodd, Ingrid S. Johnsrude, Matthew H. Davis // Cerebral Cortex. – 2012. – Vol. 22 (8). – P. 1761–1773. – DOI: 10.1093/cercor/bhr252.

255. Rosha, V.V. Associations between competitive anxiety, athlete characteristics and sport context: Evidence from a systematic review and meta-analysis / V.V. Rosha, F.D.L. Osório // Archives of Clinical Psychiatry. – 2018. – Vol. 45, №. 5. – P. 67–74. – DOI: 10.1590/acp.v45i3.152986.

256. Scaled Subprofile Model: A Statistical Approach to the Analysis of Functional Patterns in Positron Emission Tomographic Data / Moeller J.R., Strother S.C., Sidtis J.J., Rottenberg D.A. // Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism – 1987. – Vol. 7. – No. 5, – P. 649-658. – DOI: 10.1038/jcbfm.1987.118.

257. Scharfen, H.Measurement of cognitive functions in experts and elite athletes: A meta-analytic review / Scharfen, H., Memmert, D. // Applied Cognitive Psychology. – 2019. – Vol. 33(5). – P.843–860. – DOI:10.1002/acp.3526.

258. Schmidt, R.A Pause-then-Cancel model of stopping: Evidence from basal ganglia neurophysiology / Schmidt R., Berke J.D. // Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. – 2017. – V. 372(1718). – e20160202. – DOI: 10.1098/rstb.2016.0202.

Schurz, M. Cross-network interactions in social cognition: a review of 259. findings on task related brain activation and connectivity / M. Schurz, L. Maliske, P. 2020. Vol. 130. — P. Kanske || Cortex. — — 142–157. _ DOI: 10.1016/J.CORTEX.2020.05.006.

260. Seger, C.A. The visual corticostriatal loop through the tail of the caudate:
Circuitry and function / C.A. Seger // Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience. – 2013. – Vol.
7. – e104. – DOI: 10.3389/fnsys.2013.00104.

261. Seidel-Marzi, O. Neurodiagnostics in Sports: Investigating the Athlete's Brain to Augment Performance and Sport-Specific Skills / Seidel-Marzi O., Ragert P. // Front. Hum. Neurosci. – 2020 – Vol. 14. – P.133. – DOI: 10.3389/fnhum.2020.00133.

262. Self-harm in schizophrenia is associated with dorsolateral prefrontal and posterior cingulate activity / Lee K.H., Pluck G., Lekka N. [et al.] // Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry. – 2015. – Vol. 61. – P. 18–23. – DOI: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2015.03.005.

263. Semantic ambiguity processing in sentence context: Evidence from eventrelated fMRI / Zempleni M. Z. [et al.] // Neuroimage. – 2007. – Vol. 34 (3). – P. 1270–1279. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.09.048.

264. Shiffrin, R.M. Controlled and automatic human information processing:
2: Perceptual learning, automatic attending and a general theory / R.M. Shiffrin, W. Schneider // Psychological Review. – 1977. – Vol.84, № 2. – P. 127–190.

265. Shin, H.W. Drug-induced parkinsonism / Shin H.W., Chung S.J. // J. Clin Neurol. –2012. – Vol. 8(1). – P. 15-21. DOI: 10.3988/jcn.2012.8.1.15/

Shouman K., Benarroch E.E. Central Autonomic Network. / Chokroverty
 S., Cortelli P. // Autonomic Nervous System and Sleep. – 2021 – P. 9–18. – DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-62263-3_2.

267. Similar brain activation during false belief tasks in a large sample of adults with and without autism / Dufour N., Redcay E., Young L. [et al.] // PLoS One. – 2013.
– Vol. 8(9). – e75468. – DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0075468.

268. Simon, J.R. Auditory S-R compatibility: The effect of an irrelevant cue on information processing / Simon J.R., Rudell A.P. // Journal of Applied Psychology. – 1967. – Vol. 51(3). – P. 300–304. – DOI: 10.1037/h0020586.

269. Sports and brain morphology – a voxel-based morphometry study with endurance athletes and martial artists / Schlaffke L., Lissek S., Lenz M., Brune M.,

Juckel G., Hinrichs T, Schmidt-Wilcke T. // Neuroscience. – 2014. – Vol. 259. – P. 35– 42. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.11.046.

270. Social Interaction With an Anonymous Opponent Requires Increased Involvement of the Theory of Mind Neural System: An fMRI Study / M. Zheltyakova, A. Korotkov, R. Masharipov [et al.] // Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience. – 2022. – Vol. 16. – P. 807599. – DOI: 10.3389/fnbeh.2022.807599.

271. Spatiotemporal brain mapping during preparation, perception, and action
/ F. Di Russo, M. Berchicci, D. Spinelli [et al.] // NeuroImage. – 2016. – Vol. 126. – P.
1–14. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.11.036.

272. Specifically altered brain responses to threat in generalized anxiety disorder relative to social anxiety disorder and panic disorder / Buff C., Brinkmann L., Neumeister P. // Neuroimage Clinical. – 2016. – Vol. 12. – P. 698–706.

273. Spetsieris, P.G. Scaled Subprofile Modeling of Resting State Imaging Data in Parkinson's Disease: Methodological Issues / Spetsieris P.G., Eidelberg D. // NeuroImage. – 2011. – Vol. 54(4). – P.2899-291

274. Spetsieris P.G. Spectral guided sparse inverse covariance estimation of metabolic networks in Parkinson's disease / Spetsieris P.G., Eidelberg D. // Neuroimage. – 2021. – Vol. 1 (226). – P. 117568. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2020.117568.

275. Spetsieris P.G. Parkinson's disease progression: Increasing expression of an invariant common core subnetwork / Spetsieris P.G., Eidelberg D. // NeuroImage: Clinical. – 2023. – V. 39. – P. 103488. – DOI: 10.1016/j.nicl.2023.103488.

276. Sport-related anxiety: current insights / Ford J.L., Ildefonso K., Jones M.L., Arvinen-Barrow M. // Open Access Journal of Sports Medicine. – 2017. – Vol. 8. – P. 205–212. – DOI: 10.2147/OAJSM.S125845.

277. Spurious but systematic correlations in functional connectivity MRI networks arise from subject motion / Power J.D. [et al.] // Neuroimage. – 2012. – Vol. 59. – P. 2142–2154. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.10.018.

278. Statistical Parametric Mapping // Functional Imaging Laboratory, UCL Queen Square Institute of Neurology, London, UK. – URL: https://www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm.

279. Statistical Parametric Mapping: The Analysis of Functional Brain Images/ Eds. K.J. Friston [et al.]. – London: Academic Press, 2006. – 656 P.

280. Stop-signal inhibition disrupted by damage to right inferior frontal gyrus in humans / Aron A.R., Fletcher P.C., Bullmore E.T. [et al.] // Nature Neuroscience. – 2003. – V. 6(2). – P. 115.–116. – DOI: 10.1038/nn1003.

281. Stroop, J.R. Studies of interference in serial verbal reactions / J.R. Stroop
// Journal of Experimental Psychology. – 1935. – Vol. 18(6). – P. 643–662. – DOI:
10.1037/h0054651.

282. Structural brain plasticity in Parkinson's disease induced by balance training / Sehm B., Taubert M., Conde V., Weise D., Classen J., Dukart J. // Neurobiology of Aging. – 2014. – Vol. 35. – P. 232–239. DOI: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013.06.021.

283. Structural and functional deficits and couplings in the cortico-striatothalamo-cerebellar circuitry in social anxiety disorder / X. Zhang, X. Suo, X. Yang [et al.] // Translational Psychiatry. – 2022. – Vol. 12, № 1. – P. 1–11. – DOI: 10.1038/s41398-022-01791-7.

284. Structural brain correlates associated with professional handball playing / Hanggi J., Langer N., Lutz K., Birrer K., Merillat S., Jancke L. // PLoS One. – 2015. – Vol. 10, – P. 1–27. – DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0124222.

285. Suppression of non-selected solutions as a possible brain mechanism for ambiguity resolution in the word fragment task completion task / M. Kireev, V. Gershkovich, N. Moroshkina [et al.] // Scientific Reports. – 2022. – Vol. 12, № 1. – DOI: 10.1038/s41598-022-05646-5.

286. Sustained enhancements in inhibitory control depend primarily on the reinforcement of fronto-basal anatomical connectivity / C. Chavan, M. Mouthon, M. Simonet [et al.] // Brain Structure and Function. – 2017. – Vol. 222, № 1. – P. 635–643. – DOI: 10.1007/s00429-015-1156-y.

287. Swick, D. Left inferior frontal gyrus is critical for response inhibition / D.
Swick, V. Ashley, A.U. Turken // BMC Neuroscience. – 2008. – Vol. 9, № 1. – P. 1–
11. – DOI: 10.1186/1471-2202-9-102.

288. Swick, D. Ten years of inhibition revisited / Swick D., Chatham C.H. //
Frontiers in Human Neuroscience. – 2014. – V.21(8). – P. 329. – DOI: 10.3389/fnhum.2014.00329.

289. Swingle, P.G. Biofeedback for the Brain. How Neurotherapy Effectively Treats Depression, ADHD, Autism, and More / P.G. Swingle. – New Brunswick Rutgers University Press, 2008. – 232 p.

290. Systematic review and meta-analyses of neural structural and functional differences in generalized anxiety disorder and healthy controls using magnetic resonance imaging / Kolesar T. A., Bilevicius E., Wilson A. D., Kornelsen J. // *NeuroImage: Clinical.* – 2019. – Vol. 24 (102016). – DOI: 10.1016/j.nicl.2019.102016.

291. Taylor, S.P. Aggression as a function of the interaction of the sex of the aggressor and the sex of the victim / S.P. Taylor, S. Epstein // Journal of Personality. – Vol. 35. – I. 2. – P. 474–486. – DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.1967.tb01441.x.

292. Taylor, S.P. Aggressive behavior and physiological arousal as a function of provocation and the tendency to inhibit aggression / S.P. Taylor // Journal of Personality. – V. 35. – I. 2. – P. 297–310. – DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.1967.tb01430.x.

293. Team sport athletes may be less likely to suffer anxiety or depression than individual sport athletes / E. Pluhar, C. McCracken, K.L. Griffth // Journal of Sports Science and Medicine. – 2019. – Vol. 18(3). – P. 490–496.

294. Team sport expertise shows superior stimulus-driven visual attention and motor inhibition / Meng F.W., Yao Z.F., Chang E.C., Chen Y.L. // PLoS ONE. – 2019. – Vol. 14, № 5. – e0217056. – DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0217056.

295. Testing the physiological plausibility of conflicting psychological models of response inhibition: A forward inference fMRI study / Criaud M., Longcamp M., Anton J.L. // Behavioural Brain Research. – 2017. – V. 333. – P. 192–202. – DOI: 10.1016/j.bbr.2017.06.030.

296. Thakral, P.P. Familiarity and priming are mediated by overlapping neural substrates / P.P. Thakral, E.A. Kensinger, S.D. Slotnick // Brain Research. – 2016. – Vol. 1632. – P. 107–118. – DOI: 10.1016/j.brainres.2015.12.008.

297. Thalamo-Sensorimotor Functional Connectivity Correlates with World Ranking of Olympic, Elite and High Performance Athletes / Huang Z., Davis H.H. IV, Wolff A., Northoff G. // Neural Plasticity. – 2017. – Vol. 2017. DOI: 10.1155/2017/1473783.

298. The Alzheimer's disease-related glucose metabolic brain pattern / Teune L.K., Strijkert F., Renken R.J., Izaks G.J., de Vries J.J., Segbers M., Roerdink J.B.T.M., Dierckx R.A.J.O., Leenders K.L. // Current Alzheimer Research. – 2014. – V. 11(8). – P. 725–732. – DOI: 10.2174/156720501108140910114230.

299. The cognitive atlas: toward a knowledge foundation for cognitive neuroscience / Poldrack R.A, Kittur A., Kalar D. [et al.] // Frontiers in Neuroinformatics. -2011. - V. 5. - P. 17-28. - DOI: 10.3389/fninf.2011.00017.

300. The effects of discrimination on the adoption of different strategies in selective stopping / A.J. Sánchez-Carmona, I. Rincón-Pérez, S. López-Martín [et al.] // Psychonomic Bulletin and Review. – 2021. – Vol. 28, № 1. – P. 209–218. – DOI: 10.3758/s13423-020-01797-6.

301. The field of expertise modulates the time course of neural processes associated with inhibitory control in a sport decision-making task / M. Simonet, J. Barral, P. Ruggeri, E. Sallard // Scientific Reports. – 2022. – Vol. 12, № 1. – DOI: 10.1038/s41598-022-11580-3.

302. The influence of expertise on brain activation of the action observation network during anticipation of tennis and volleyball serves / Balser N., Lorey B., Pilgramm S., Naumann T., Kindermann S., Stark R., Munzert J. // Frontiers in Human Neuroscience. – 2014. –Vol. 8. – P. 1–13. – DOI: 10.3389/fnhum.2014.00568.

303. The Interaction Between Caudate Nucleus and Regions Within the Theory of Mind Network as a Neural Basis for Social Intelligence / M. Votinov, A. Myznikov, M. Zheltyakova [et al.] // Frontiers in Neural Circuits. – 2021. – Vol. 15. – P. 727–960. – DOI: 10.3389/fncir.2021.727960.

304. The lifetime prevalence and impact of generalized anxiety disorders in an epidemiologic Italian National Survey carried out by clinicians by means of semistructured interviews / A. Preti, R. Demontis, G. Cossu [et al.] // BMC Psychiatry. – 2021. – Vol. 21, № 1. – P. 1–8. – DOI: 10.1186/s12888-021-03042-3.

305. The mental health of elite athletes: a narrative systematic review / S.M. Rice, R. Purcell, S. De Silva [et al.] // Sports Medicine. -2016. -Vol. 46, N_{2} 9. - P. 1333–1353. - DOI: 10.1007/s40279-016-0492-2.

306. The Metabolic Pattern of Idiopathic REM Sleep Behavior Disorder Reflects Early-Stage Parkinson Disease / Meles S.K., Renken R.J., Janzen A., [et al.] // Journal of Nuclear Medicine – 2018. – Vol. 59(9). – P. 1437–1444. – DOI: 10.2967/jnumed.117.202242.

307. The metabolic spatial covariance pattern of definite idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus: an FDG PET study with principal components analysis / Rau A., Schröter N., Blazhenets G. [et al.] // Alzheimer's Research & Therapy. – 2023 – Vol. 15. – P. 202. – DOI: 10.1186/s13195-023-01339-x.

308. The neural implementation of task rule activation in the task-cuing paradigm: an event-related fMRI study / Shi Y., Zhou X., Müller H.J., Schubert T. // Neuroimage. – 2010. – Vol. 51(3). – P. 1253–1264. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.01.097.

309. The neuropsychology of obsessive compulsive disorder: the importance of failures in cognitive and behavioural inhibition as candidate endophenotypic markers / Chamberlain S.R., Blackwell A.D., Fineberg N.A. [et al.] // Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews. – 2005. – Vol. 29(3). – P. 399–419. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2004.11.006.

310. The prevalence of depression, anxiety and stress and their associated factors in college students / E. Ramón-Arbués, V. Gea-Caballero, J.M. Granada-López [et al.] // International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. – 2020. – Vol. 17(19). – P. 1–15. – DOI: 10.3390/ijerph17197001.

311. The relationship among glucose metabolism, cerebral blood flow, and Functional Activity: a Hybrid PET/fMRI Study / Wang J, Sun H, Cui B, Yang H, Shan

Y, Dong C, Zang Y, Lu J. // Mol Neurobiol. – 2021. – Vol. 58(6). – P. 2862. DOI:10.1007/s12035-021-02305-0.

312. The relationship between executive functions and sports experience, relative age effect, as well as physical maturity in youth soccer players of different ages / Heilmann F., Memmert D., Weinberg H., Lautenbach F. // International Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology. – 2022. – Vol. 21. – P. 271–289. – DOI: 10.1080/1612197X.2021.2025141.

313. The Relative Contribution of Executive Functions and Aging on Attentional Control During Road Crossing / Nicholls V.I., Wiener J.M., Meso A.I., Miellet S. // Frontiers in Psychology. – 2022. – Vol. 13. – 912446. – DOI: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.912446.

314. The role of domain-specific and domain-general cognitive functions and skills in sports performance: A meta-analysis / Kalén A., Bisagno E., Musculus L., Raab M., Pérez-Ferreirós A., Williams A.M., Ivarsson, A. // Psychological Bulletin. – 2021. – V. 147(12). – P. 1290–1308. – DOI: 10.1037/bul0000355.

315. The role of executive function in the self-regulation of endurance performance: A critical review / R. Hyland-Monks, L. Cronin, L. Mcnaughton, D. Marchant // Progress in Brain Research. – 2018. – Vol. 240. – P. 353–370. – DOI: 10.1016/bs.pbr.2018.09.011.

316. The role of resting-state functional MRI for clinical preoperative language mapping / V.A. Kumar, I.M. Heiba, S.S. Prabhu [et al.] // Cancer Imaging. – 2020. – Vol. 20(1). – P. 1–9. – DOI: 10.1186/s40644-020-00327-w.

317. The value of resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging for detecting epileptogenic zones in patients with focal epilepsy / Chen Z., An Y., Zhao B., Yang W. [et al.] // PLoS One. – 2017. –Vol. 15(12). – P. e0172094. – DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0172094.

318. Top-down and bottom-up interaction: manipulating the dichotic listening ear advantage / R. Westerhausen, M. Moosmann, K. Hugdahl [et al.] // Brain Research.
2009. – Vol. 1250. – P. 183–189. – DOI: 10.1016/j.brainres.2008.10.070.

319. Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation Reveals Dissociable Mechanisms for
Global Versus Selective Corticomotor Suppression Underlying the Stopping of Action
/ D.S.A. Majid [et al.] // Cerebral Cortex. – 2012. – Vol. 22(2). – P. 363–371.

320. Transdiagnostic neural correlates of affective face processing in anxiety and depression / MacNamara A., Klumpp H., Kennedy A.E. [et al.] // Depression and Anxiety. – 2017. – Vol. 34(7). – P. 621–631. – DOI: 10.1002/da.22631.

321. Ullsperger, M. Neuroimaging of performance monitoring: error detection and beyond / Ullsperger M., von Cramon D.Y. // Cortex. – 2004. – Vol. 40(4-5). – P. 593–604. – DOI: 10.1016/s0010-9452(08)70155-2.

322. Validation of parkinsonian disease-related metabolic brain patterns / Teune L.K., Renken R.J., Mudali D., De Jong B.M., [et al.]// Movement Disorders: Official Journal of the Movement Disorder Society. – 2013. – Vol. 28 (4). – P. 547–551. – DOI: 10.1002/mds.25361.

323. van Veen, V. Conflict and Cognitive Control in the Brain / V. van Veen,
C. Carter // Current Directions in Psychological Science. – 2006. – Vol. 15(5). – P. 237–240.

324. Verbruggen, F. Automatic and controlled response inhibition: associative learning in the go/no-go and stop-signal paradigms / Verbruggen F., Logan G.D. // Journal of Experimental Psychology: General. – 2008. – Vol. 137(4). – P. 649–672. – DOI: 10.1037/a0013170.

325. Visual Cognition and Experience Mediate the Relation between Age and Decision Making in Youth Volleyball Players / S. De Waelle [et al.] // Optometry and Vision Science. – 2021. – V. 98(7). – P. 802–808. – DOI: 10.1097/OPX.00000000001724.

326. Vitale, K.C. Sleep Hygiene for Optimizing Recovery in Athletes: Review and Recommendations / Vitale K.C., Owens R., Hopkins S.R., Malhotra A. // International Journal of Sports Medicine. – 2019. – Vol. 40, № 87. – P. 535–543. – DOI: 10.1055/a-0905-3103.

327. Wadsley, C.G. Between-hand coupling during response inhibition / Wadsley C.G., Cirillo J., Byblow W.D. // Journal of Neurophysiology. – 2019. – Vol. 122, № 4. – P. 1357–1366. – DOI: 10.1152/jn.00310.2019.

328. Wadsley, C.G. Decoupling countermands nonselective response inhibition during selective stopping / Wadsley C.G., Cirillo J., Nieuwenhuys A., Byblow W.D. // Journal of Neurophysiology. – 2022. – Vol. 127, № 1. – P. 188–203. – DOI: 10.1152/jn.00495.2021.

329. Wagner, A.D. Building memories: Remembering and forgetting of verbal experiences as predicted by brain activity / A.D. Wagner, D.L. Schacter // Science. – 1998. – Vol. 281, № 5380. – P. 1188–1191. – DOI: 10.1126/science.281.5380.1188.

330. Walter, W.G. Slow potential changes in the human brain associated with expectancy, decision and intention / W.G. Walter // Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology. – 1967. – Suppl 26. – P. 123–130.

331. Weinberg, A. Increased error-related brain activity in generalized anxiety disorder / Weinberg A., Olvet D.M., Hajcak G. // Biological Psychology. – 2010. – Vol. 85(3). – P. 472–480. – DOI: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2010.09.011.

332. Wessel, J.R. It's not too late: the onset of the frontocentral P3 indexes successful response inhibition in the stop-signal paradigm / Wessel J.R., Aron A.R. // Psychophysiology. – 2015. – V. 52(4). – P. 472–480. – DOI: 10.1111/psyp.12374.

333. Which type of exercise is more beneficial for cognitive function? A metaanalysis of the effects of open-skill exercise versus closed-skill exercise among children, adults, and elderly populations / H. Zhu [et al.] // Applied Sciences (Switzerland). – 2020. – Vol. 10, N_{2} 8. – P. 2737. – DOI: 10.3390/app10082737

334. Whitfield-Gabrieli, S. Conn: a functional connectivity toolbox for correlated and anticorrelated brain networks / Whitfield-Gabrieli S., Nieto-Castanon A.
// Brain Connectivity. - 2012. - Vol. 2(3). - P. 125–141. - DOI: 10.1089/brain.2012.0073.

335. Wilk, H.A. Brain regions associated with moment-to-moment adjustments in control and stable task-set maintenance / Wilk H.A., Ezekiel F., Morton

J.B. // NeuroImage. – 2012. – V. 59(2). – P. 1960–1967. – DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.09.011.

336. Winning the game: Brain processes in expert, young elite and amateur table tennis players / Wolf S., Brolz E., Scholz D., Ramos-Murguialday A., [et al.] // Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience. – 2014. – Vol. 8. – P 1–12. – DOI:10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00370.

337. Woodman, T. Stress and anxiety / T. Woodman, L. Hardy // Handbook of research on sport psychology / Eds. R. Singer, H.A. Hausenblas, C.M. Janelle. –New York: Wiley, 2001. – P. 290–318.

Xu, J. Selective inhibition of a multicomponent response can be achieved without cost / Xu J., Westrick Z., Ivry R.B.// Journal of Neurophysiology. – 2015. – Vol. 113(2). – P. 455–465. – DOI: 10.1152/jn.00101.2014.

339. Yang, J. The influence of motor expertise on the brain activity of motor task performance: A metaanalysis of functional magnetic resonance imaging studies / Yang J. // Cognitive, Affective & Behavioral Neuroscience. – 2015. – Vol. 15(2), – P. 381–394. – DOI:10.3758/s13415-014-0329-0.

340. Yaple, Z. Negative priming: a meta-analysis of fMRI studies / Z. Yaple,
M. Arsalidou // Experimental Brain Research. – 2017. – Vol. 235, № 11. – P. 3367–
3374. – DOI: 10.1007/s00221-017-5065-6.

341. Eysenck, H.J. Uses and Abuses of Psychology. Sense and Nonsense in Psychology. Fact and Fiction in Psychology / H.J. Eysenk. - Minsk: Harvest, 2003. - 912 p.

342. Current issues of formation of the system of training sports reserve in the Russian Federation / Vyrupaev V.K., Antonov D.P., Titova N.A., Naidanov B.N. // sovremennye 2018. 3. Nauka i sport: tendentsii. --№ -URL: https://cyberleninka.ru/article/n/aktualnye-voprosy-formirovaniya-sistemypodgotovki-sportivnogo-rezerva-v-rossiyskoy-federatsii.

343. Algorithm of allocation of correction programs for functional and adaptive reserves of highly qualified athletes: Methodological recommendations / A.S. Samoilov, S.M. Razinkin, P.A. Fomkin [et al.]; Federal Scientific-Clinical Centre of

Sports Medicine and Rehabilitation FMBA; Federal Medical and Biological Agency; Burnasyan Federal Medical Biophysical Center of Federal Medical Biological Agency. - Moscow: Federal Scientific and Clinical Centre of Sports Medicine and Rehabilitation FMBA, 2018. - 37 p.

344. Alekseev, A.A. The concept of executive functions in psychological research: perspectives and controversies / A.A. Alekseev, G.E. Rupchev // Psikhologicheskie Issledovaniya. - 2010. - N_{2} 4(12). - P. 1-6.

345. Alekseeva, E.V. Approaches to the definition of the quality of life / E.V. Alekseeva // Aspirant i Soiskatel. - 2006. - N_{2} 6(37). - P. 28-32.

346. Aliev, N.I. The paradigm of synergetic justification in medical diagnostics / N.I. Aliev, R.N. Aliev // Filosofiya i obshchestvo. - 2012. - № 1(65). - P. 138-143.

347. Andreeva, V.E. Conjugate development of flexibility and speed and strength qualities at the stage of basic training in rhythmic gymnastics: speciality 13.00.04 "Theory and methodology of physical education, sports training, recreational and adaptive physical culture": dissertation for the degree of candidate of pedagogical sciences / Andreeva Vera Evgenievna. - St. Petersburg, 2010. - 170 P.

348. Antonov, D.P. Basic principles of development of the regional model of medical, biological and scientific and methodological support of training of sports reserve: Methodical recommendations / D.P. Antonov; Ministry of Sports of the Russian Federation; Federal State Budgetary Institution "Federal Centre for Training of Sports Reserves". - Moscow: Federal Centre of Sports Reserve Training, 2021. - 40 P.

349. Arakelov, N.E. Psychophysiological method of anxiety assessment / N.E.
Arakelov, E.E. Lysenko, E.K. Shott // Psikhologicheskiy Zhurnal. - 1997. - T. 18, № 2.
- P. 102-113.

350. Arvisto, M.A. Motivation of physical culture and sports activity / M.A. Arvisto. - Moscow: Mysl, 2014. - 169 p.

351. Autoimmune processes in athletes of the highest qualification in different periods of the training cycle / M.Y. Levin, P.G. Nazarov, D.V. Cherednichenko, I.A. Afanasyeva // Teoriya i praktika fizicheskoy kultury. - 2012. - № 9. - P. 54-57.

352. Autoimmune reactions in athletes with inflammatory periodontal diseases / P.G. Nazarov, M.Y. Levin, D.V. Cherednichenko, I.A. Afanasyeva // Teoriya i praktika fizicheskoy kultury. - 2012. - № 9. - P. 58-61.

353. Afanasyeva, I.A. Immune homeostasis in highly qualified athletes: speciality 03.03.01 'Physiology': abstract of the dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Biological Sciences / Afanasyeva Irina Aleksandrovna. - Smolensk, 2012. - 46 p.

354. Ahutina, T.V. Neuropsychological testing: a review of modern trends. To the 110th anniversary of the birth of A.R. Luria / T.V. Ahutina, Z.A. Melikyan // Klinicheskaya i spetsialnaya psychologiya. - 2012. - N_{2} 2. - P. 1-18.355.

355. Babichev, I.V. Criteria of psychological preparedness of athletes in the aspect of assessing the effectiveness of their psychological training / I.V. Babichev, S.A. Lubshev // Psikhologiya cheloveka v obrazovanii. - 2022. - T. 4, № 3. - P. 372-380. -DOI: 10.33910/2686-9527-2022-4-3-372-380.

356. Babushkin, G.D. Intellectual-psychological preparation of the athlete: monograph / G.D. Babushkin, K.V. Dikikh. - Omsk: SibGUFK, 2013. - 240 p.

357. Bajova, N.A. Success and efficiency of local alpha-stimulating training application in athletes of situational sports: dissertation for the degree of the candidate of biological sciences: 03.00.13. - Tyumen, 2003. - 180 p.

358. Barabanov, A.G. Relationship of adaptation potential and emotional burnout in female field hockey athletes / A.G. Barabanov, N.Y. Veprintseva // Fizicheskaya kultura, sport - nauka i praktika. - 2012. - № 1. - p. 52-55.

359. Batarshev, A.V. Basic psychological properties and self-determination of personality: Practical guide to psychological diagnostics / A.V. Batarshev. - SPb.: Rech, 2005. - 208 p.

360. Belyaeva, L.A. Level and quality of life. Problems of measurement and interpretation / L.A. Belyaeva // Sociologicheskie issledovaniya. - 2009. - № 1(297). - p. 33-42.

361. Berezin, F.B. Methodology of multilateral personality research: structure, basics of interpretation, some areas of application / F.B. Berezin, M.P. Miroshnikov,

E.D. Sokolova. - 3rd ed. (revised and supplement.). - Moscow: Consultant Plus - New Technologies, 2011. - 318 p.: with illustration. - ISBN 978-5-9903210-1-4.

362. Berilova, E.I. Adaptation of the questionnaire T. Raedeke, A. Smith to assess mental burnout in Russian athletes / E.I. Berilova // Fizicheskaya kultura, sport - nauka i praktika. - 2016. - № 4. - P. 79-84.

363. Berilova, E.I. Personal factors of overcoming burnout syndrome in female football players / E.I. Berilova // Fizicheskaya kultura, sport - nauka i praktika. - 2018.
- № 4. - P. 109-114.

364. Bernstein, N.A. About agility and its development / N.A. Bernstein. -Moscow: Fizkultura i Sport, 1991. - 288 p.

365. Bekhtereva, N.P. Neurophysiological aspects of human mental activity / N.P. Bekhtereva. - ed. 2nd, revision and supplement. - L.: Meditsina, 1974. - 246 p.

366. Bekhtereva, N.P. Some fundamental issues of studying the neurophysiological basis of mental phenomena in humans / N.P. Bekhtereva // Deep structures of the human brain in healthy and pathology. - Л., 1966. - Р. 18-21.

367. Biktimirova, Z.Z. Quality of life: problems of measurement and evaluation / Z.Z. Biktimirova // Ekonomika regiona. - 2005. - № 2(2). - P. 147-162.

368. Biomedical analysis of factors affecting life expectancy and longevity of highly qualified athletes / D.S. Lysenko, L.E. Kiseleva, A.V. Lysenko, A.V. Petrov // Biomeditsinskaya radioelektronika. - 2018. - № 4. - P. 57-62.

369. Bobrov, A.E. Cognitive disorders in organic and anxiety-depressive disorders in primary care patients / A.E. Bobrov, D.M. Tsarenko // Psikhicheskie rasstroystva v obschey meditsine. - 2012. - № 1. - P. 21-25.

370. Boyko, V.V. The energy of emotions in communication: a look at yourself and others / V.V. Boyko. - Moscow: ID 'Filin', 1996. - 469 p. - ISBN 5-900855-60-0.

371. Borisova, O.N. Diagnostics of the effectiveness of non-medicamentous methods of treatment in the clinic of internal diseases: speciality 14.00.51: dissertation for the degree of doctor of medical sciences / Borisova Olga Nikolaevna. - Tula, 2004.
- 266 p.

372. Vodopyanova, N.E. Burnout syndrome: diagnostics and prevention / N.E. Vodopyanova, E.S. Starchenkova. - SPb: Piter, 2008. - 439 p.

373. Voznesenskaya, T.G. Generalised anxiety disorder: differential diagnosis and treatment / T.G. Voznesenskaya // Nevrologia, neyropsikhiatriya, psikhosomatika.
- 2013. - № 2. - P. 18-22.

374. Occurrence of repetitive errors in the process of sensorimotor learning and ways of their correction / V.A. Gershkovich, N.V. Moroshkina, V.M. Allakhverdov [et al] // // Vestnik Sankt-Peterburgskogo Universiteta. Series 16. Psikhologia. Pedagogika. - 2013. - № 3. - P. 43-54.

375. Restorative medicine / A.A. Khadartsev, V.M. Yeskov, B.L. Vinokurov [et al]. Volume I. - Tula: Tula State University, 2010. - 298 p. - ISBN 5-7679-0841-9.

376. Restorative medicine / A.A. Khadartsev, V.M. Yeskov, B.L. Vinokurov [et al]. Vol. II. - Tula: Tula State University, 2010. - 264 p. - ISBN 5-7679-0841-9.

377. Gabelkova, O.E. Manifestation of stress factors in different sports / O.E. Gabelkova // Pedagogika, psichologiya i mediko-biologicheskie problemy fizicheskogo obrazovaniya i sporta. - 2009. - № 1. - P. 38-42.

378. Gavrilova, E.A. Stressor cardiomyopathy in sportsmen: Myocardial dystrophy of physical overstrain: speciality 14.01.05 'Cardiology': dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Medical Sciences / E.A. Gavrilova. - St. Petersburg, 2001. - 34 p.

379. Human genome and predisposition genes. Introduction to predictive medicine / V.S. Baranov, E.V. Baranova, T.E. Ivashchenko, M.V. Aseev. - St. Petersburg: Intermedica, 2000. - 271 p. - ISBN 5-89720-030-0.

380. Goldberg, E. Governing Brain: Frontal Lobes, Leadership and Civilisation/ E. Goldberg; translation from eng. D. Bugakov. - Moscow: Smysl, 2003. - 335 p.

381. Goloborodko, E.V. Development and substantiation of the expert evaluation system of medical technologies for highly qualified sportsmen: speciality 3.1.33: abstract of the dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Medical Sciences / Goloborodko Evgeny Vladimirovich. - Moscow, 2022. - 44 p. 382. Golovkin, S.I. Possibilities of application of the adapted questionnaire Sf36 in the pediatric population / S.I. Golovkin, N.A. Shabaldin // Mat' i ditya v Kuzbasse.
- 2017. - № 4(71). - P. 16-19.

383. Gorbunov, G.D. Psychology of physical culture and sport: a textbook for students of higher educational institutions studying in the direction of 'Physical Culture' / G.D. Gorbunov, E.N. Gogunov. Gogunov. - Moscow: Academy, 2009. - (Higher professional education. Pedagogical specialities). - ISBN 978-5-7695-5736-1.

384. Gordeev, V.I. Quality of Life (QOL) - a new tool for assessing the development of children / V.I. Gordeev, Y.S. Aleksandrovich. - St. Petersburg: Rech, 2001. - 200 p. - (Child psychology and psychotherapy). - ISBN 5-9268-0059-5.

385. Gorskaya, G.B. Psychological resources of overcoming long-term mental loads at different stages of professional career of team sports athletes / G.B. Gorskaya, Z.R. Sovmiz // Fizicheskaya kultura, sport - nauka i praktika. - 2018. - № 3. - P. 88-93.

386. Gorsky, V.B. The use of PSR in sport. The effect of using some forms of mental self-regulation in sports practice (on the example of swimming) / V.B. Gorsky // Centre of Advanced Technologies Dmitry Petukhov. - URL: http://egoland.ru/ispolzovanie-psr-v-sporte/. - (Date of reference: 26.07.2023).

387. Goryacheva, A.A. System analysis of treatment and recovery measures in arterial hypertension: speciality 05.13.01 'System analysis, control and information processing (by branches)': dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Medical Sciences / Anna Aleksandrovna Goryacheva. - Tula, 2008. - 250 p.

388. Grigoryants, I.A. Psychological reserves of sportsmanship / I.A. Grigoryants // Teoriya i praktika fizicheskoy kultury. - 2014. - № 7. - P. 21-25.

389. Grin, E.I. Influence of gender, qualification, sport type on mental burnout of sportsmen / E.I. Grin // Chelovek. Soobschestvo. Upravlenie. - 2010. - № 3. - P. 43-54.

390. Grin, E.I. Personal regulators of emotional burnout in athletes of different qualification and gender / E.I. Grin // Vestnik of N.A. Nekrasov Kostroma State

University. Series: Pedagogika. Psikhologia. Yuvenologiya. Sotsiokinetika. - 2008. - Vol. 14, № 3. - P. 163-168.

391. Grin, E.I. Personal resources of overcoming mental burnout in athletes: speciality 13.00.04 'Theory and methodology of physical education, sports training, health-improving and adaptive physical culture': abstract of the dissertation for the degree of candidate of psychological sciences / Grin Elena Igorevna. - Krasnodar, 2009. - 24 p.

392. Grin, E.I. Personal factors causing the development of professional burnout in athletes of different sex / E.I. Grin // Fizicheskaya kultura, sport - nauka i praktika. - 2009. - № 1. - P. 33-37.

393. Grin, E.I. Mental burnout in sport: theoretical models and causes of the phenomenon / E.I. Grin // Chelovek. Soobschestvo. Upravlenie. - 2009. - № 4. - P. 68-75.

394. Gurin, V.V. The problem of anxiety as an emotional experience affecting the physical activity of an athlete / V.V. Gurin. Gurin // Vestnik Maykopskogo Gosudarstvennogo Tekhnologicheskogo universiteta. - 2009. - № 2. - URL: https://cyberleninka.ru/article/n/problema-trevozhnosti-kak-emotsionalnogoperezhivaniya-vliyayuschego-na-fizicheskuyu-deyatelnost-sports.

395. Dementiy, L.I. Life strategies / L.I. Dementiy, V.E. Kupchenko. - Omsk:F.M. Dostoevsky Omsk State University, 2010. - 192 p. - ISBN 978-5-7779-1158-2.

396. Diagnostics of psychosomatic disorders in athletes of Russian national teams: Methodical recommendations / I.N. Mitin, E.I. Razumets, A.V. Zholinsky [et al]; Federal Scientific-Clinical Centre of Sports Medicine and Rehabilitation FMBA; Federal Medical and Biological Agency. - Moscow: Federal Scientific-Clinical Centre for Sports Medicine and Rehabilitation FMBA, 2018. - 137 p.

397. Diversification of the results of scientific discoveries in medicine and biology / A.B. Belevitin, Y.K. Gusak, V.N. Darmogray [et al.] Vol. 1. - Tula: Tula polygraphist, 2009. - 256 p. - ISBN 978-5-88422-406-3.

398. Didur, M.D. Endurance training and lipid metabolism disorders in professional athletes / M.D. Didur, D.V. Cherednichenko, V.N. Lebedev // Safe Sport:
Proceedings of the National Scientific and Practical Conference, St. Petersburg, 19-20 June 2014. - St. Petersburg: I.I. Mechnikov NWGMU, 2014. - P. 45-47.

399. Didur, M.D. Endothelial dysfunction in high-class athletes / M.D. Didur,
D.V. Cherednichenko, V.N. Lebedev // Sportivnaya meditsina. - 2012. - Vol. 2012, №
2. - P. 26-30.

400. Design of scientific research in medicine / N.M. Bulanov, O.B. Bluss, D.B. Munblit [et al] // Sechenovskiy vestnik. - 2021. - Vol. 12, № 1. - P. 4-17. - DOI: 10.47093/2218-7332.2021.12.1.1.4-17.

401. Dubrovina, S.V. Strategy of behaviour in a conflict situation with different personality orientation (according to the parameter of extraversion-introversion) / S.V. Dubrovina, T.A. Klimontova, Y.V. Chepurko // Azimut nauchnykh issledovaniy: pedagogika i psikhologiya . - 2016. - Vol. 5, issue 17, No. 4. - P. 335-337.

402. Zherebin, V.M. Indicators of the quality of life of the population / V.M. Zherebin // Voprosy statistiki. - 2012. - № 3. - P. 25-36.

403. Zherebtsova, V.A. System analysis of the mechanisms of organisation of higher mental functions in ontogenesis: speciality 05.13.01 'System analysis, control and information processing (by branches)': dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Biological Sciences / Valentina Aleksandrovna Zherebtsova. - Tula, 2004. - 473 p.

404. Zagainov, R.M. Psychology of modern sport of highest achievements: Notes of a practical sports psychologist / R.M. Zagainov. - Moscow: Sovetskiy Sport, 2012. - 290 p.

405. Zotov, M.V. Mechanisms of regulation of cognitive activity under the influence of stressogenic factors (in healthy and pathology): speciality 19.00.04 'Medical psychology': dissertation for the degree of doctor of psychological sciences / Zotov Mikhail Vladimirovich. - St. Petersburg, 2012. - 395 p.

406. Selected lectures on sports medicine. 2nd edition, supplemented and revised: a monograph / S.M. Razinkin [et al]; under the general editorship of Dr. M.Sc., Professor S.M. Razinkin, corresponding member of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Dr. M.Sc., Professor A.S. Samoilov. In 2 vol.: Vol. 1. Lectures 1-10. - Moscow: FGBU Burnazyan GSC FMBC FMBA of Russia, 2022. - 382 p. - ISBN 978-5-93064-197-4.

407. Selected lectures on sports medicine. 2nd edition, supplemented and revised: a monograph / S.M. Razinkin [et al]; under the general editorship of Dr. M.Sc., Professor S.M. Razinkin, Corresponding Member of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Dr. M.Sc., Professor A.S. Samoilov. In 2 vol. 2. Lectures 11-16. - Moscow: FGBU Burnazyan GSC FMBC FMBA of Russia, 2022. - 382 p. - ISBN 978-5-93064-197-4.

408. Changes in electroencephalogram parameters and serotonin concentration in depressive and anxiety disorders // Nevrologia, neyropsikhiatriya, psikhosomatika. - 2016. - Vol. 8, № 3. - P. 34-38. - DOI: 10.14412/2074-2711-2711-2016-3-34-38.

409. Ilyin, E.P. Skills: unresolved issues / E.P. Ilyin // Voprosy psikhologii. -1986. - № 2. - P. 138-148.

410. Isaeva, E.R. Coping behaviour and psychological protection of personality in conditions of health and illness: a monograph / E.R. Isaeva; E.R. Isaeva; First St. Petersburg State Medical University named after academician I.P. Pavlov. - St. Petersburg: I.P. Pavlov First St. Petersburg State Medical University, 2009. - 135 p. -ISBN 978-5-88999-069-7.

411. Yerkes, R.M. Relation of stimulus strength to the rate of habit formation / Yerkes R.M., Dodson D.D. // Zhurnal sravnitelnoy nevrologii i psikhologii. - 1908. -Vol. 18, № 5. - P. 459-482. - DOI: 10.1002/cne.920180503.

412. To the question of the need to optimise psychological measures of medical and biological support for athletes of the highest qualification / S.I. Barshak, A.E. Igolkina, K.S. Nazarov [et al] // Sportivnaya meditsina: nauka i praktika. - 2019. - Vol. 9, N_{2} 4. - P. 60-66. - DOI: 10.17238/ISSN2223-2524.2019.4.60.

413. Kartashova, N.M. Systemic reactions of biological dynamic systems to external influences: speciality 05.13.01 'System analysis, control and information processing (by branches)': dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Biological Sciences / Kartashova Natalia Mikhailovna. - Tula, 2005. - 317 p.

414. Kireev, M.V. Systemic organisation of brain function in providing goaldirected behaviour: speciality 03.03.01 'Physiology': dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Biological Sciences / Kireev Maxim Vladimirovich. - St. Petersburg, 2017. -304 p. 415. Clinical recommendations for stage and current medical examinations, medical and pedagogical observations in athletes of sports teams of the Russian Federation in Olympic sports: Clinical recommendations / I.T. Vykhodets, V.I. Danilova-Perley, M.D. Didur [et al.]; Federal Scientific-Clinical Centre for Sports Medicine and Rehabilitation FMBA; Federal Medical and Biological Agency. - Moscow: Federal Scientific-Clinical Centre for Sports Medicine and Rehabilitation FMBA; Federal Medical and Rehabilitation FMBA, 2018. - 79 p.

416. Book, V.V.. Formation of new approaches to normative-legal regulation of the use of medical technologies / V.V. Book, M.Yu. Kupriyanov // Vestnik Roszdravnadzora. - 2011. - № 4. - P. 64-70.

417. Kovalenko, A.N. Anxiety as a criterion of readiness of young track and field athletes specialising in middle-distance running to competitive activity / A.N. Kovalenko, N.V. Khrisanfova // Pedagogiko-psichologicheskie i mediko-biologicheskie problemy fizicheskoy kultury i sporta. - 2017. - № 2. - URL: https://cyberleninka.ru/article/n/trevozhnost-kak-kriteriy-gotovnosti-yunyh-legkoatletov-spetsializiruyuschihsya-v-bege-na-srednie-distantsii-k-sorevnovatelnoy.

418. Cognitive and emotional disorders in patients with protracted anxietyphobic disorders / L.S. Chutko, S.Y. Surushkina, E.A. Yakovenko [et al] // Terapevticheskiy archiv. - 2014. - Vol. 86, № 12. - P. 61-65. - DOI: 10.17116/terarkh2014861261-65.

419. Cognitive disorders in anxiety disorders / B.A. Volel, D.S. Petelin, R.V.
Akhapkin, A.A. Malyutina // Nevrologia, neyropsikhiatria, psikhosomatika. - 2018. Vol. 10, № 1. - P. 78-82. - DOI: 10.14412/2074-2711-2711-2018-1-78-82.

420. Kravchenko T.I. Technologies of diagnostics and medical rehabilitation of patients with posttraumatic neurological syndromes: speciality 14.01.11: dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Medical Sciences / Kravchenko Tamara Ivanovna. - St. Petersburg, 2016. - 287 p.

421. Kuznetsova, Zh.A. Ideas of synergetics in medicine / Zh.A. Kuznetsova // Molodoy ucheniy. - 2018. - № 3(189). - P. 242-244. 422. Kuzmin, D.V. Features of the mechanisms of psychological adaptation of athletes and their influence on self-assessment of health-related quality of life / D.V. Kuzmin, M.V. Beglov, Y.K. Kulchitskaya // Uchenye zapiski universiteta im. P.F. Lesgaft. - 2018. - № 3(157). - P. 370-374.

423. Kulakov, S.A. Bio-psycho-socio-spiritual and synergetic model of psychosomatic disorders development: system approach / S.A. Kulakov // Psikhicheskoe zdorov'e. - 2009. - Vol. 7, № 9(40). - P. 66-70.

424. Kulchitskaya, Y.K. Personal prerequisites of psychological fatigue in gymnasts at the stage of sports perfection / Y.K. Kulchitskaya // Teoriya i praktika fizicheskoy kul'tury. - 2010. - № 10. - P. 31-34.

425. Kulchitskaya, Y.K. System of complex control in rhythmic gymnastics: (medico-biological, pedagogical and psychological aspects) / Y.K. Kulchitskaya, D.V. Cherednichenko. - St. Petersburg: 24th Line, 2012. - 237 p.

426. Kupeev, V.G. Diagnostic and therapeutic and restorative technologies in combined pathology of the spine, internal organs and systems: speciality 14.00.51: dissertation for the degree of doctor of medical sciences / Kupeev Vladimir Georgievich. - Tula, 2003. - 277 p.

427. Kierkegaard, S. Fear and trembling / Seren. Kierkegaard; [translated from Danish by N.V. Isaev, S.A. Isaev]. - Moscow: Kulturnaya revolutsia, 2010. - 488 p.

428. Levin, M.Ya. Physical loads and morbidity in young sportsmen [Text]: abstract of the dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Medical Science / Central Institute for Advanced Training of Doctors. - Moscow, 1987. - 407 p.

429. Leonova, A.B. Psychological technologies of human condition management / A.B. Leonova, A.S. Kuznetsova. - Moscow: Smysl, 2007. - 311 p. - ISBN 978-5-89357-241-4.

430. Lieb, R. Anxiety Disorders / Lieb R., Withen G.U. // Clinical Psychology / Edited by M. Perret and U. Baumann. - SPb, 2003. - P. 836-858.

431. EPI personality questionnaire (G. Eysenck's methodology) / Almanakh psikhologicheskikh testov. - M., 1995. - P.217-224.

432. Lyashevskaya, O.N. Frequency dictionary of the modern Russian language on the materials of the National corpus of the Russian language / O.N. Lyashevskaya, S.A. Sharov. - Moscow: Publishing Centre 'Azbukovnik', 2009. - 1087 p. - ISBN 978-5-91172-024-7.

433. Makarova, G.A. Sports Medicine: Textbook / G.A. Makarova. - Moscow: Sovetskiy Sport, 2009. - 480 p. with ill. - ISBN 5-85009-765-1.

434. Malygin, Ya.V. Methodological basis for the preparation of literature reviews when writing dissertations on medical specialities / Ya.V. Malygin // Meditsinskie tekhnologii. Otsenka i vybor. - 2012. - N_{2} 4(10). - P. 64-68.

435. Martyushev-Poklad, A.V. Stress-limiting systems and neuronal plasticity in the pathogenesis of psychiatric and neurological disorders / A.V. Martyushev-Poklad, T.A. Voronina // Obzory po klinicheskoy pharmakologii i lekarstvennoy terapii. - 2003. - Vol. 2, № 4. - P. 15-25.

436. Machinskaya, R.I. Controlling systems of the brain / R.I. Machinskaya // Zhurnal vysshey nervnoy deyatelnosti im. I.P. Pavlov. - 2015. - Vol. 65, № 1. - P. 33. -DOI: 10.7868/S0044467715010086.

437. Masharipov, R.S. Brain mechanism of non-selective inhibitory control of actions in norm and obsessive-compulsive disorder: dissertation for the degree of candidate of biological sciences / Masharipov Ruslan Sulaimanovich. - St. Petersburg, 2022. - 307 p.

438. Medvedev, S.V. Dynamic organisation of brain systems / S.V. Medvedev,S.V. Pakhomov. - L.: Nauka, 1989. - 246 p.

439. Medico-psychophysiological support of in-depth medical examination of athletes of Russian national teams / I.N. Mitin, V.Y. Scheblanov, A.P. Sereda [et al] // Meditsina ekstremal'nykh situatsiy. - 2015. - N_{2} 4(54). - P. 56-61.

440. Melnikov, A.H. System mechanisms of physiological rhythms organisation during adaptation: speciality 05.13.09: dissertation abstract for the degree of candidate of medical sciences / Alexander Khristoforovich Melnikov. - Tula, 1997. - 38 p.

441. Melnikov, V.M. Experimental study of anxiety in athletes depending on motivation (Yerkes-Dodson law in sport) / V.M. Melnikov, I.A. Yurov // Sportivnyj psikholog. - 2016. - № 2(41). - P. 70-74.

442. Methodological recommendations for diagnosis and programs of medical and psychological correction of athletes' reactions associated with erroneous actions, taking into account the strategies of behaviour after the performance of such actions: Methodical recommendations / I.T. Vykhodets, V.N. Kasatkin, A.V. Kovaleva [et al]; Federal Scientific-Clinical Centre for Sports Medicine and Rehabilitation FMBA, Federal Medical and Biological Agency, ANO 'New Sports Technologies'. - Moscow: Federal Scientific-Clinical Centre for Sports Medicine and Rehabilitation FMBA, 2018. - 47 p.

443. Methods of biocontrol: theory and practice, application in sports psychophysiology / S.M. Razinkin, A.M. Chernorizov, S.A. Isaichev [et al] // Bulleten nevrologii, psikhiatrii i neyrokhirurgii. - 2017. - № 5-6. - P. 56-61.

444. Methods of mathematical biology: [Textbook for biology specialities of universities. In 8 books] / Ed. by V.M. Glushkov [et al]. - Kiev: Vishcha Shk. - Book 7: Methods of Analysis and Synthesis of Biological Control Systems / [L.S. Aleev, N.M. Amosov, M.Y. Antomonov et al]; Edited by Y.G. Antomonov. - Kiev: Vishcha shk., 1983. - 272 p.

445. Milchakov, K.S. Performing information researches in medicine: tips on strategies and literature review resources / K.S. Milchakov // Nauka i zdravookhranenie. - 2019. - Vol. 21, № 3. - P. 68-76.

446. Mitin, I.N. Medical and psychological aspects of children's and youth sports / I.N. Mitin // Children's sports medicine: Author's lectures on pediatrics. Volume 10. - Moscow: LLC 'Buki Vedi', 2017. - P. 458-471.

447. Mikhailova, E.S. Test of J. Guilford and M. O'Sullivan. Diagnostics of social intelligence [Text] / E.S. Mikhailova. - St. Petersburg: IMATON, 1996. - 55 p. - (IMATON. Professional psychological toolkit). - ISBN 978-5-7822-0089-3.

448. Nazarenko, L.D.. The role of intelligence in sports activity/ L.D. Nazarenko// Teoriya I praktika fizicheskoy kultury. - №10. - 2013. - P. 9-12.

449. Narkevich, A.N. Medical research design / A.N. Narkevich, K.A. Vinogradov // Sotsialnye aspekty zdorovya naseleniya. - 2019. - Vol. 65, № 5. - P. 13. DOI: 10.21045/2071-5021-2019-65-5-13.

450. Naumova, E.M. The systemic controlling effects of exogenous adaptogens: speciality 05.13.01 'System analysis, control and information processing (by branches)': dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Biological Sciences / Naumova Elvina Muratovna. - Tula, 2005. - 279 p.

451. Scientific and methodological maintenance of physical culture and sport / N.V. Parshikova, E.R. Yashina, B.N. Shustin [et al]. - Moscow: LLC 'Izdatelstvo MBA', 2017. - 404 p. - ISBN 978-5-9500240-1-6.

452. Nikitina, T.P. Quality of life assessment in clinical practice: realities and perspectives / T.P. Nikitina, V.Y. Melnichenko, T.I. Ionova // Vestnik mezhnatsionalnogo tsentra issledovaniya kachestva zhizni. - 2022. - № 39-40. - P. 7-18.

453. Nikolaev, E.L. Adaptation and adaptation potential of personality: the relationship of modern research approaches / E.L. Nikolaev, E.Y. Lazareva // Vestnik psikhiatrii i psikhologii Chuvashii. - 2013. - № 9. - P. 18.

454. Nkamua, T.A.J. Dynamics of haemodynamic and biochemical characteristics of high-performance athletes in conditions of submaximal physical load: dissertation for the degree of Candidate of medical sciences: 14.00.51 / Tegia Arnaud James Nkamua. - St. Petersburg, 2007. - 111 p.

455. On the legal harmonisation of medical massage activity in structural units of manual therapy and osteopathy / Didur, M.D., Kurnikova, M.V., Cherednichenko, D.V., Kravchenko, A.S. // Manualnaya terapiya. - 2020. - № 3-4. - P. 65-70.

456. Oleinikova, M.M. Psychosomatic disorders in cardiovascular pathology (modelling, prognosis and correction): dissertation for the degree of Doctor of medical sciences: 14.00.51 / Marina Mikhailovna Oleynikova; [Place of defence: GOUVPO 'Tula State University']. - Tula, 2006. - 376 p.

457. Basics of the organisation of complex scientific groups in the system of scientific-methodological and medico-biological support of sports reserve training in

the subjects of the Russian Federation / Lidov, P.I., Polyaev B.A., Kurashvili, V.A.. [et al.] // Vestnik sportivnykh innovatsiy - 2017. - № 55. - P. 13-31.

458. Fundamentals of sports immunology: teaching manual / M.Y. Levin, V.M. Shubik, L.Y. Orekhova [et al.]; P.F. Lesgaft National State University of Physical Culture, Sports and Health. - St. Petersburg: FGBOU VPO 'P.F. Lesgaft National State University of Physical Culture, Sports and Health, St. Petersburg', 2006. - 224 p.

459. Features of the choice of functional criteria evaluating the direct effect of manual influence / M.D. Didur, M.V. Kurnikova, D.V. Cherednichenko, A.S. Kravchenko // Manualnaya terapia. - 2022. - Vol. 86. № 2. - P. 10-14.

460. Features of psychosomatic disorders of highly qualified athletes / I.N.
Mitin, A.E. Gorovaya, D.A. Kravchuk [et al] // Sportivnaya meditsina: nauka i praktika.
2018. - Vol. 8, № 2. - P. 54-61. - DOI: 10.17238/ISSN2223-2524.2018.2.54.

461. Features of emotional regulation in children with anxiety disorders / S.Y. Surushkina, L.S. Chutko, E.A. Yakovenko, [et al.] // Zhurnal nevrologii i psikhiatrii im. S.S. Korsakova - 2021. - Vol. 121. - № 11-2. - P. 95-102.

462. Evaluation in experiment nephroprotective and cardioprotective effects of long-term use of low-protein diet including ketosteril / G.T. Ivanova, A.G. Kucher, O.N. Veresneva [et al] // Nefrologiya. - 2011. - Vol. 15. - № 4. - P. 45-50.

463. Assessment of informativeness and prognostic significance of psychophysiological and psychological techniques in high performance sports / A.S. Samoilov, S.E. Nazaryan, P.A. Fomkin, E.V. Korolev // Bulleten nevrologii, psikhiatrii i neyrokhirurgii. - 2017. - № 5-6. - P. 62-66.

464. Evaluation of the psychological state of highly qualified athletes during the UMO: Methodological recommendations / A.S. Samoilov, S.M. Razinkin, A.V. Khan [et al.]. - Moscow: Burnazyan Federal Medical Biophysical Centre , 2018. - 56 p. - ISBN 978-5-905926-54-9.

465. Parastaev, S.A. Systemic approach to the correction of disorders of the functional movement system: speciality 14.00.51: dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Medical Sciences / Parastaev Sergey Andreevich. - Moscow, 2003. - 391 c.

466. Petrov, I.B. Mathematical modelling in medicine and biology on the basis of continuum mechanics models / I.B. Petrov // Proceedings of Moscow Institute of Physics and Technology (National Research University). - 2009. - Vol. 1, № 1. - P. 5-16.

467. Piskunov, V.A. Medicine of active recreation of sustainable health in healthy people (fundamental and organisational bases): abstract of the dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Medical Sciences: speciality 05.13.09 / Piskunov Victor Andreyevich; [State Unitary Enterprise Research Institute of New Medical Technologies]. - Tula: B.I., 2000. - 33 p.

468. Platonov, V.N. System of training athletes in Olympic sport: General theory and its practical applications. - Kyiv: Olimpiyskaya literatura, 2015. - Book 1. - 680 p. - Book 2. - 752 p.

469. Platonov, V. Overtraining in sport / V. Platonov // Nauka v olimpiyskom sporte. - 2015. - № 1. - P. 19-34.

470. Pluzhnikov, I.V. Emotional intelligence in affective disorders: abstract of the dissertation for the degree of candidate of psychological sciences: speciality 19.00.04 'Medical psychology' / Pluzhnikov Ilya Valerievich. - Moscow, 2010. - 34 p.

471. Indicators of sensorimotor coordination development in rhythmic gymnastics at the stages of preliminary basic and specialised basic training / N.O. Andreeva, A.V. Zhirnov, V.N. Boloban // Fizicheskoe vospitanie studentov. - 2011. - N 4. - P. 6-15.

472. Polevshchikov, M.M. Management of an athlete's training on the basis of the organism state diagnostics / M.M. Polevshchikov, V.V. Rozhentsov, N.P. Rozhentsov, N.P. Shabrukova // Avtonomia lichnosti. - 2010. - Vol. 1, № 1. - P. 122-126.

473. Poluektov, M.G. Sleep disorders and anxiety / M.G. Poluektov, P.V. Pchelina // Effektivnaya farmakoterapiya. - 2017. - № 35. - P. 80-89.

474. Porfirieva, N.M. Assessment of quality of life and cognitive impairment in elderly and senile people / N.M. Porfirieva, T.P. Nikitina, T.I. Ionova // Vestnik mezhnatsionalnogo centra issledovaniya kachestva zhizni. - 2022. - № 39-40. - P. 83-96.

475. Posokhova, S.T. Adaptation potential of personality [Electronic resource] / S.T. Posokhova // St. Petersburg State University, National forum 'Pirogov Surgical Week' to the 200th anniversary of N.I. Pirogov. - 2010. - № 1. - Access mode: https://cyberleninka.ru/article/n/adaptatsionnyy-potentsial-lichnosti.

476. Posokhova, S.T. Personality phenomena of adaptation / S.T. Posokhova // Zdorovaya lichnost / ed. by G.S. Nikiforov. - SPb.: Rech, 2013. - P. 276.

477. Potapchuk, A.A. Means of therapeutic physical training in the management of physical condition of preschoolers with disorders of the musculoskeletal system: speciality 14.00.51: dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Medical Sciences / Potapchuk Alla Askoldovna. - St. Petersburg, 2005. - 250 p.

478. Prikhozhan A.M. Psychology of anxiety: preschool and school age / A.M.Prikhozhan. - 2nd ed. - St. Petersburg: Piter, 2007. - 192 p.: with illustrations.

479. Prevention and correction of pathological conditions associated with sports - functional / non-functional overstrain and fatigue (overtraining syndrome: Methodical recommendations / S.A. Parastaev, E.A. Anisimov, I.V. Kruglova [et al.]; Federal Scientific-Clinical Centre for Sports Medicine and Rehabilitation FMBA; Federal Medical and Biological Agency. - Moscow: Federal Scientific-Clinical Centre for Sports Medicine and Rehabilitation FMBA, 2019. - 33 p.

480. Psychological factors of success of sports activity: a monograph / V.A. Salnikov, G.D. Babushkin, I.F. Andruschishin [et al]. - Omsk: SIBADI, 2020. - 326 p.

481. Psychology of coping in sport: a monograph / V.V. Andreev [et al]; Ministry of Sport of the Russian Federation; P.F. Lesgaft National State University of Physical Culture, Sport and Health; Petrovskaya Academy of Sciences and Arts. Moscow: Sam Polygraphist, 2022. - 303 p.: with illustrations.

482. Psychology of sport of highest achievements [Text]: Textbook for institutes of physical culture / [A.V. Alekseev, A.D. Ganyushkin, E.A. Kalinin, etc.]; Under general ed. by A.V. Radionov. - Moscow: Fizkultura i Sport, 1979. - 144 p. (P. 18-45, 46-76).

483. Psychology of sport: science, art, profession: [collection of scientific articles] / Moscow Institute of Psychoanalysis; ed. by K.A. Bochaver, L.M. Dovzhik. - Moscow: Cogito Centre, 2019. - 268 p.

484. Psychology of physical education and sport [Text]: Textbook for institutes of physical culture / D.Y. Bogdanova, G.D. Gorbunov, T.T. Jamgarov et al; Under general ed. T.T. Jamgarov, A.Ts. Puni. - Moscow: Fizkultura i Sport, 1979. - 143 p. (P. 89-90).

485. Psychology of physical culture and sport: a textbook for students of higher educational institutions studying in the speciality 'Physical Culture and Sport' / [A.V. Rodionov et al.]; ed. by A.V. Rodionov. - Moscow: Academy, 2010. - (Higher Professional Education. Physical Culture and Sport). - ISBN 978-5-7695-6833-6.

486. Psychophysiological correlates of cognitive control of activity in highly qualified athletes / Y.D. Kropotov, O.V. Kara, S.I. Barshak, K.S. Nazarov, I.N. Mitin // Lechebnaya fizkultura i sportivnaya meditsina. - 2022. - № 1(163). - P. 21-25

487. Pushina, N.P. Development of executive functions in preschool age / N.P. Pushina // Sovremennaya zarubezhnaya psikhologiya. - 2014. - Vol. 3, № 1. - P. 26-42.

488. Development and justification of the criterion apparatus for assessing the athlete's health level / S.M. Razinkin, V.V. Petrova, I.A. A. Petrova, I.A. Artamonova, P.A. Fomkin // Vestnik nevrologii, psikhiatrii i neyrokhirurgii - 2015. - № 2. - P. 72-80.

489. Development and justification of the unified scale for assessing the level of functional reserves of the members of the Russian national teams / Yu.V. Miroshnikova, S.M. Razinkin, A.S. Samoilov [et al.] // Meditsina ekstremalnykh situatsiy. - 2015. - № 4(54). - P. 38-44.

490. Rozhdestvensky, M.E.. Criteria for management decisions in preventive pulmonology (Early diagnosis and prognosis of chronic non-specific lung diseases): speciality 14.00.43: abstract of dissertation for the degree of doctor of medical sciences / Rozhdestvensky Mikhail Evgenievich. - Tula, 1996. - 51 p.

491. Savosina, M.N. Normativity in the field of physical culture and sport: the development of scientific views on the problem / M.N. Savosina // Sovremennye problem nauki i obrazovaniya. - 2015. - N_{2} 4. - P. 96- 104.

492. Sagova, Z.A. Goal-setting as a method of self-regulation of curling athletes with different levels of pre-competition anxiety / Z.A. Sagova // Vestnik Moskovskogo Universiteta. Series 14. Psychology. - 2019. - № 3. P.113-124.

493. Safonov, V.K. Psychology in sport: theory and practice / V.K. Safonov. -SPb: St. Petersburg State University, 2013. - 232 p. - ISBN 978-5-288-05484-6.

494. Safonov, V.K. Psychology of sport as a direction of psychological science
/ V.K. Safonov // Vestnik Sankt-Peterburgskogo Universiteta. Series 16. Psikhologiya.
Pedagogika. - 2012. - № 2. - P. 42-49.

495. Sakharova, O.V. Management: technologies, methods and functions /
O.V. Sakharova // Sovremennye problemy nauki i obrazovaniya. - 2012. - № 1. - P.
228-235

496. Certificate of State Registration of Computer Programme No. 2023665868 Russian Federation. BayInf toolbox: № 2023663641: avv. 29.06.2023: publ. 20.07.2023 / R.S. Masharipov, M.V. Kireev, A.D. Korotkov [and others]; applicant Federal State Budgetary Institution of Science N.P. Bekhtereva Institute of Human Brain of the Russian Academy of Sciences.

497. Sereda, A.P. Recommendations on the design of the study / A.P. Sereda, M.A. Andrianova // Travmatologiya i ortopediya Rossii. - 2019. - Vol. 25, № 3. - P. 165-184. - DOI: 10.21823/2311-2905-2019-25-3-165-184.

498. Overtraining syndrome as a functional disorder of the cardiovascular system caused by physical exertion / V.A. Badtieva, V.I. Pavlov, A.S. Sharykin [et al] // Rossiyskiy kardiologicheskiy zhurnal. - 2018. - Vol. 23, № 6. - P. 180-190. - DOI: 10.15829/1560-4071-2018-6-180-190.

499. Sirota, N.A. Coping behaviour in adolescence: specialty 19.00.04 'Medical psychology': dissertation for the degree of doctor of medical sciences / Sirota Natalia Aleksandrovna. - St. Petersburg, 1994. - 283 p. 500. System analysis, control and information processing in biology and medicine / M.Y. Braginsky, I.N. Vechkanov, A.A. Glushchuk [et al]. Vol. VIII. - Samara: Limited Liability Company 'Ofort', 2009. - 198 p. - ISBN 978-5-473-00517-2.

501. Smolentseva, V.N. Formation of psychoregulation skills in the process of long-term training of athletes: speciality 13.00.04 'Theory and methodology of physical education, sports training, health-improving and adaptive physical culture': dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Psychological Sciences / Smolentseva Valentina Nikolaevna. - Omsk, 2006. - 314 p.

502. Co-operative behaviour: Current state and prospects / Edited by A.L. Zhuravlev, T.L. Kryukova, E.A. Sergienko. - Moscow: Institute of Psychology RAS, 2008. - 474 p. (Integration of academic and university psychology).

503. Sowmiz, Z.R. Relationship of individual and team coping-strategies with personal and socio-psychological characteristics of subjects of group activity / Z.R. Sowmiz // Vestnik Adygeyskogo gosudarstvennogo universiteta. Series 3: Pedagogika i psikhologiya. - 2016. - № 3(183). - P. 142-146.

504. Modern methods of screening-diagnostics of psychophysiological state, functional and adaptive reserves of the organism / K.V. Kotenko, S.M. Razinkin, N.V. Kotenko, I.I. Ivanova // Fizioterapevt. - 2013. - № 4. - P. 11-19.

505. Solovieva, S.L. Anxiety: theory and practice / S.L. Solovieva // Meditsinskaya psikhologia v Rossii. - 2012. - № 6(17). - P. 14.

506. Sopov, V.F. Determinants of demotivation in sports activity / V.F. Sopov,
B.H. Mnatsakanyan // Sportivnyj psikholog. - 2014. - № 1. - P. 14-18.

507. Starostina, E.G. Anxiety and anxiety disorders in the practice of a cardiologist / E.G. Starostina // Kardiovaskularnaya terapiya i profilaktika. - 2006. - Vol. 5. № 3. - P. 111-120.

508. Stress and anxiety in sport: International collection of scientific articles / [Compiled by Y.L. Khanin]. - Moscow: Fizkultura i Sport, 1983. - 287 p.

509. Stress: causes and consequences, treatment and prevention: Clinical Recommendations / E.S. Akarachkova, A.I. Baidauletova, A.A. Belyaev [et al]. - St. Petersburg: 'OOO Skifia-print', 2020. - 138 p. - ISBN 978-5-98620-480-2.

510. Taitz, B.M. '10P medicine' in solving the issues of reducing mortality, increasing the duration and improving the quality of life of the elderly population / B.M. Taitz // Klinicheskaya gerontologiya. - 2021. - Vol. 27, № 11-12. - P. 76-79. - DOI: 10.26347/1607-2499202111-12076-079.

511. Taitz, B.M. Practical predictive, preventive and personalised medicine: '10P medicine' in solving the issues of prevention, active longevity, reducing mortality and increasing life expectancy / B.M. Taitz; Ministry of Health of the Russian Federation, I.I. Mechnikov NWGMU. - Saint-Petersburg: Typography 'Beresta', 2019. - 380 p. - ISBN 978-5-6041342-6-9.

512. Anxiety disorders in general medical practice: Guidelines for doctors /
L.S. Chutko, E. Belyaeva, M.P. Biletskaya [et al]; edited by L.S. Chutko. - St.
Petersburg: ELBI-SPb, 2010. - 192 c. - ISBN 978-5-93979-258-5.

513. Management of functional systems of the human organism: [In 2 vol. / Zasl. deyat. nauki RF, acad. IAS, MAN, MANEB, AMTN, Dr. M.Sc., Prof. A.A. Khadartsev, Honoured Dean of Science of the Russian Federation, Acad. A.A. Khadartsev and V.E. Friesen; Edited by A.A. Khadartsev and V.E. Friesen. - Tula: TulSU, 1999. (Series: Management in Biological and Medical Systems; Book 2): Vol. 1: Possibilities of controlling influences on the human organism in conditions of adaptation to environmental factors. - 1999. - 207 p.

514. Ukhtomsky, A.A. Dominanta / A.A. Ukhtomsky. - St. Petersburg: Peter, 2002. - 448 p.

515. Factor structure of regional cerebral blood flow values and glucose metabolic rate as a tool to study the spontaneous brain activity in the default mode / G.V. Kataeva, A.D. Korotkov, M.V. Kireev, S.V. Medvedev // Fiziologiya cheloveka. - 2013. - Vol. 39, № 1. - P. 60-66. - DOI: 10.7868/S0131164613010050.

516. Physiological bases of some methods of optimising the functional state of the organism / Yu.E. Malyarenko, A.V. Matyukhov, G.A. Kuraev, T.N. Malyarenko //

Vestnik Tambovskogo Universiteta. Series: Natural and Technical Sciences. - 2001. - Vol. 6, № 2. - P. 241-247.

517. Frizen, V.E. Motor activity and external physical factors in the control of functional systems of the human organism: speciality 05.13.00 'Informatics, Computer Science and Control': dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Biological Sciences / Frizen Vladimir Eduardovich. - Tula, 1999. - 266 p.

518. Fudin, N.A. Medico-biological technologies in physical culture and sport / N.A. Fudin, A.A. Khadartsev, V.A. Orlov. - Moscow: Limited Liability Company Publishing House 'Sport', 2018. - 320 p. - ISBN 978-5-9500178-7-2.

519. Fudin, N.A. Medico-biological support of physical culture and sports of highest achievements / N.A. Fudin, A.A. Khadartsev // Vestnik novykh meditsinskikh tekhnologiy. - 2010. - P. 17, № 1. - P. 149-150.

520. Fudin, N.A. Physiological mechanisms of arbitrary regulation of breathing in sports: a monograph / N.A. Fudin. - Moscow: Sport, 2020. - 224 p. - ISBN 978-5-907225-09-1.

521. Functional states (psychology) // ru.wikipedia.org: Wikipedia. The free encyclopaedia [Electronic resource]. 2022. - URL: https://ru.wikipedia.org/wiki/Функциональные_состояния_(psychology) (Date of reference: 26.10.2023).

522. Khanin Y.L. Brief guide to the reactive and personality anxiety scale of C.D. Spielberger. - L., 1976. - 18 p.

523. Khanin, Yu.L. Russian variant of the scale of competitive personality anxiety / Yu.L. Khanin // Stress and anxiety in sport / Compiled by Yu.L. Khanin. Y.L. Khanin. - M., 1983. - P. 146-156.

524. Kholomogorova, A.B. Integrative psychotherapy of affective spectrum disorders / A.B. Kholomogorova. - Moscow: Medpraktika-M, 2011. - 479 p.

525. Khromushin, V.A. System analysis and information processing of medical registers in the regions: speciality 05.13.01 'System analysis, management and information processing (by branches)': dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Biological Sciences / Khromushin Victor Aleksandrovich. - Tula, 2006. - 348 p.

526. Hutiev, T.V. Managing the physical state of the organism: Training therapy / T.V. Hutiev, Y.G. Antomonov, A.B. Kotova, O.G. Pustovoit. - Moscow: Medicine, 1991. - 254 p.: with illustration. - ISBN 5-225-01029-6.

527. Cherednichenko, D.V. Dyslipoprotein proteinemia and endothelial dysfunction in athletes training endurance / D.V. Cherednichenko, M.D. Didur // Proceedings of the II National Congress 'Medicine for Sports': Moscow: 31 May-01 June 2012. - Moscow, 2012. - P.188-190.

528. Cherednichenko, D.V. Proatherogenic and antiatherogenic lipoproteins in high-class athletes / D.V. Cherednichenko, M.D. Didur, V.N. Lebedev // Sportivnaya meditsina. - 2013. - Vol. 2013, № 2. - P. 23-26.

529. Cherednichenko, D.V. Physical loads and endothelial dysfunction / D.V. Cherednichenko, M.D. Didur, V.N. Lebedev // Proceedings of the IV International Scientific and Practical Conference 'Modern approaches of rehabilitation, adaptive physical culture in work with persons with limited health capabilities'. - Nizhny Novgorod, 2013. - P.149-150.

530. Cherednichenko, D.V. Endothelial dysfunction - is it the result of damage in physical exercise? / D.V. Cherednichenko, M.D. Didur, V.N. Lebedev // Sportivnaya meditsina: nauka I praktika. - 2013. - № 1. - P. 301.

531. Cherednichenko, D.V. Endothelial dysfunction in high-class athletes / D.V. Cherednichenko, M.D. Didur // Proceedings of the II National Congress 'Medicine for Sports': Moscow: 31 May-01 June 2012. - Moscow, 2012. - P. 187-188.

532. Cherednichenko, D.V. Psychological monitoring of anxiety in highly qualified sportswomen / D.V. Cherednichenko, Y.K. Kulchitskaya // Safe Sport: Proceedings of the X International Congress 'Safe Sport-2023. Overtraining in sport. Interdisciplinary approach'. - SPb.: FGBOU VO I.I. Mechnikov SZSMU of the Ministry of Health of Russia, 2023. - P.555-561.

533. Chudnovsky, V.E. Experience of studying the pedagogical conflict as a factor in the formation of meaning and life orientations of the teacher / V.E. Chudnovsky, L.I. Sutormina // Psikhologicheskaya nauka I obrazovanie. - 2003. - № 4. - P. 23-29.

534. Chutko, L.S. Functional cognitive disorders / L.S. Chutko, S.Y.
Surushkina // Zhurnal nevrologii i psikhiatrii im. S.S. Korsakova. - 2022. - № 122(2). P. 43-48.

535. Chutko, L.S. Neurological aspects of anxiety disorders / L.S. Chutko, S.Y.
Surushkina, E.A. Yakovenko, Cherednichenko D.V. // Meditsinskiy alfavit. - 2022. - № 10. - P. -11.

536. Scherbakova, V.P. Social and psychological mechanism of adaptation /
V.P. Scherbakova // Izvestia TulGU. Gumanitarnye nauki. - 2010. -№ 1. - P. 215.

537. Evolution of predictive medicine / M.V. Aseev, V.S. Baranov, E.V. Baranova [et al]. - St. Petersburg: OOO 'Eco-Vector', 2021. - 359 p. - ISBN 978-5-907201-48-4.

538. Electroencephalographic correlates of psychovegetative syndrome in neurasthenia and generalised anxiety disorder / S.A. Gordeev, G.V. Kovrov, S.I. Posokhov [et al] // Mezhdunarodnyj nevrologicheskiy zhurnal. - 2013. - № 2(56). - P. 78-82.

539. Yavorsky, V.M. Management of physical condition of students of pedagogical university: speciality 13.00.04 'Theory and methodology of physical education, sports training, health-improving and adaptive physical culture': abstract of the dissertation for the degree of candidate of pedagogical sciences / Yavorsky Vladimir Mironovich. - Khabarovsk, 2009. - 24 p.

540. Yaltonsky, V.M. Coping-strategies of behaviour in drug addicts and healthy people: dissertation for the degree of candidate of psychological sciences: speciality 19.00.04 'Medical psychology' / Yaltonsky Vladimir Mikhailovich. - St. Petersburg, 1996. - 187 p.

541. Yaltonsky, V.M. Overcoming emotional stress by teenagers. A model of research / V.M. Yaltonsky, N.A. Sirota // Obozrenie psikhiatrii i meditsinskoy psikhologii im. V.M. Bekhtereva. - 1993. - № 1. - P. 53-60.

List of abbreviations

- NSIC non-selective inhibitory control
- GAD generalized anxiety disorder
- fMRI functional magnetic resonance imaging
- PET positron emission tomography
- TME thorough medical examination
- SM sport medicine
- MT medical technology
- MBS medical-biological support
- EEG electroencephalography
- ROI region of interest
- FC functional connectivty